



Edited by Helen M. Blau Elaine Fuchs

# Stem Cells and Their Promise for Regenerative Medicine



Proceedings of a Workshop held at Casina Pio IV, Vatican City, 5-6 May 2022



## Stem Cells and Their Promise for Regenerative Medicine



The Proceedings of the Workshop on

## Stem Cells and Their Promise for Regenerative Medicine

5-6 May 2022

Edited by

Helen M. Blau Elaine Fuchs



EX AEDIBVS ACADEMICIS IN CIVITATE VATICANA • MMXXIV



The Pontifical Academy of Sciences Casina Pio IV, 00120 Vatican City Tel: +39 0669883195 • Fax: +39 0669885218 Email: pas@pas.va • Website: www.pas.va

The opinions expressed with absolute freedom during the presentation of the papers of this meeting, although published by the Academy, represent only the points of view of the participants and not those of the Academy.

This work is dedicated to Nicole Le Douarin who, among the world's foremost development biologists, established the foundations of tissue stem cell biology with her fundamental discovery that precursor cells within the neural crest are multipotent. Through her active and integral roles in the Pontifical Academy of Sciences, Dr. Le Douarin has contributed greatly to the concept of this workshop and to educating the public on the importance of stem cells and their promise for regenerative medicine.

Cover design: Lorenzo Rumori Photos: Gabriella Clare Marino

© 2024 Amministrazione del Patrimonio della Sede Apostolica © 2024 Dicastero per la Comunicazione – Libreria Editrice Vaticana 00120 Città del Vaticano Tel. 06.698.45780 E-mail: commerciale.lev@spc.va www.libreriaeditricevaticana.va

ISBN: 978-88-266-0898-3



Let us thank the Lord for the progress that medical science has made, especially in recent times; new technologies have made it possible to prepare therapies that are of great benefit to the sick; research continues to make a valuable contribution to eliminating old and new pathologies; rehabilitation medicine has greatly expanded its expertise and skills. None of this, however, must make us forget the uniqueness of each patient, his or her dignity and frailties.

Message of His Holiness Pope Francis for the Thirtieth World Day of the Sick, February 11, 2022.



## Contents

Concept Note 7
Advances in iPSC Technology
Recent Progress in iPS Cell Research and Application Shinya Yamanaka
Retinal Cell Therapy Using iPS Cells Masayo Takahashi
Pluripotent Stem Cell for Treating Parkinson's Disease Lorenz Studer
Embryonic Development
Stem Cells, Embryos and Embryo Models Janet Rossant
Hematopoietic Cell Therapies from Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Ran Jing and George Daley
• How Studying Stem Cells in Model Systems can Advance Regenerative Medicine
<b>Understanding the Sources of Regeneration in Animals</b> Alejandro Sánchez Alvarado
The Salamander Limb – An Exemplary Model of Natural Regeneration Relies on Positional Memories and Cellular Interactions
Elly M. Tanaka

#### CONTENTS

• How Stem Cells Cope With Changing Tissue Environments and Assaults
Stem Cells: Coping with Stress Elaine Fuchs
Leptin Receptor <sup>+</sup> Stromal Cells are Critical Regulators of the Adult Bone Marrow Environment, Controlling Hematopoiesis and Osteogenesis Through Several Mechanisms Corbin E. Meacham and Sean J. Morrison
Innate Allergy and Intestinal Cell Fate Richard M. Locksley 122
• Organoids
The Use of Organoids to Model Human DiseaseHans Clevers
Organoid Assays For In Vitro and In Vivo Models of Lung Disease & Cancer Carla E Kim and Andrea Shehai
Modeling the Human Brain in Development and Disease         Juergen Knoblich         155
STEM CELLS AND DISEASE STATES
Targeting the Gerozyme 15-PGDH to Regenerate and RejuvenateAged MusclesHelen M. Blau179
Cellular Reprogramming Approaches to Cardiovascular DiseaseDeepak Srivastava193
Towards Combined Ex Vivo Cell and Gene Therapy for Epidermolysis Bullosa
Nichele De Luca

Treatments for Leukemia through Understanding Hematopoietic Stem Cells: Emergence from the Cave		
Catriona H.M. Jamieson	218	
• Looking to the Future		
Informational Molecules and Delivery Systems for Regenerative Medicine		
Robert Langer	233	
Statement	243	
List of Participants	255	

### **Concept Note**

The discovery of stem cells was a remarkable breakthrough in biological research. Two major types of stem cells exist during the lifecycle of multicellular organisms: embryonic stem cells, resulting from the early divisions of the fertilized egg, characterized by their "pluripotency", i.e. the capacity to produce all the cell types found in the adult organism, and the tissue-specific stem cells present in the tissues and organs of the adult. Pluripotent stem cells can now be genetically engineered from any cell type in the body and used to model human diseases in culture. The tissue-specific stem cells play an important role in renewing the cells of the various organs throughout life. They are particularly active in tissues and organs in which the lifespan of the differentiated cells is short, like blood. skin and intestine, as well as skeletal muscle. Moreover, they are required to regenerate the tissues in response to damage. These adult stem cells are highly specialized and are dedicated to producing the tissue in which they reside. They are "unipotent" or "multipotent". These adult stem cells are the subject of this workshop. Scientists have learned to grow many of them in a dish into mini-versions of the mouse and human organs from which they derive. First established for skin and mammary gland, this so-called "organoid technology" has now been applied broadly to most tissues and organs of the body, opening new avenues for the study of development, physiology and disease and for personalized medicine. In the future, cultured mini-organs may replace organ transplants from donors and open the way to regenerative medicine.

ADVANCES IN iPSC TECHNOLOGY

### **RECENT PROGRESS IN IPS CELL RESEARCH AND APPLICATION**

#### Shinya Yamanaka

Center for iPS Cell Research and Application (CiRA), Kyoto University Gladstone Institute of Cardiovascular Disease Public Interest Incorporated Foundation, CiRA Foundation

#### Abstract

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) can proliferate almost indefinitely and differentiate into multiple lineages, giving them wide medical applications. As a result, they are being used for new cell-based therapies, disease models, and drug development around the world. We are proceeding with an iPSC stock project in which clinical-grade iPSC clones are being established from healthy donors with homologous HLA haplotypes to lower the risk of transplant rejection. We started distributing the iPSC stock to organizations in Japan, and related clinical studies have begun for age-related macular degeneration (AMD), Parkinson's disease, corneal epithelial stem cell deficiency, cancer immunotherapy, and other diseases, giving expectation that iPSC-based regenerative medicine will be widely used in the future. However, donors with HLA homozygous are rare. Genome editing technology could be used as an alternative to reduce the transplant-rejection risk. Indeed, we reported HLA gene-edited iPSCs that could expand the range of patients who benefit from iPSC therapies faster than the homologous HLA haplotype strategy. This technology also has the potential to prevent or treat genetic diseases and gives great hope to patients. Finally, we are automating iPS cell production to reduce costs for autologous transplantation to deliver better regenerative medicine.

#### \*\*\*

The genome is the code for our entire body. It decides the color of our hair, the size of our nose, and whether we look more like our mother or our father. It is now recognized that a single cell in one's body has all the genes required to produce an entire body, but this was not always the case. Scientific experiments had suggested that some genes were lost or permanently inactivated with development so that cells could only access the genes necessary for their function. However, in 1962, a landmark study by John Gurdon would show otherwise. By inserting the nucleus of a frog's intestine cell into an enucleate egg, Gurdon successfully grew a normally developing tadpole, demonstrating that all the genetic code in a single intestinal cell was enough. [1]

Decades later, scientists would report embryonic stem (ES) cells. [2] These cells are extraordinary but also controversial. Extraordinary because they show incredible developmental potential, with the ability to differentiate into just about any cell type in the adult body. [2] They therefore have excited the scientific and medical community for the opportunities they provide to study human development and disease. The existence of ES cells has greatly advanced scientific understanding of how the brain, heart and other organs develop from an embryo. Controversial because they are procured from human embryos, a process that requires the destruction of the embryo. In response, national laws and international guidelines have restricted the use of ES cells compared with other human cell types.

Considering Gurdon's work, scientists hypothesized that any cell could be transformed into an ES cell-like state if the appropriate portions of the genome were activated and inactivated. The question had long remained, however, which parts? While it was certain that not all several billion base pairs in the human genome would need manipulation, narrowing down the precise combination was viewed a daunting task. And it was, but the answer turned out to be far simpler than anticipated.

We showed that by transiently activating just four genes (Yamanaka factors) in adult cells is sufficient to reprogram them into induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells. [3] Adding to the amazement is that the same four genes successfully produced iPS cells from the adult cells of a number of species.4 The degree to which iPS cells behave as ES cells is remarkable, and years of study from laboratories around the world have confirmed that iPS cells and ES cells are functionally equivalent. From an ethical perspective, the impact of this research is profound, because we can acquire iPS cells from the very same blood samples one may donate to the Red Cross rather than an embryo. [5]

From a medical perspective, iPS cells have two attractive features. First, as mentioned above about ES cells, is their ability to differentiate into many cell types. Second, again like ES cells, is their ability to proliferate. The embryo is a rapidly growing structure, in which cells are replicating and developing constantly. iPS cells share this feature. Thus, from a relatively small sample of human blood, we can generate a massive number of iPS cells from which we can prepare an assortment of different cell types.

#### Regenerative medicine using iPS cells

Human iPS cells were first reported in 2007. Yet within seven years, cell products made from them were already being used as regenerative medicine in human trials, and many more clinical trials have since begun.

The first in-human transplantation was selected both because of remarkable scientific accomplishments and the relative safety of the treatment. Masayo Takahashi and her research team prepared retinal epithelial sheets prepared from iPS cells that they transplanted into one eye of a patient suffering from age-related macular degeneration (Fig. 1). [6]



Figure 1. Images of the retinal epithelial sheets used in the first in-human iPS cell trial.

This condition can be treated symptomatically with drugs, but the transplantation was expected to retard the degeneration if not stop it completely. Indeed, several years later, the patient's vision has stabilized, and no serious complications have occurred.

This study is an example of autologous cell therapy, because the iPS cells were reprogrammed patient cells. However, it was obvious from this work that current reprogramming technology is inadequate for widescale iPS cell-based autologous therapies. The time and cost to reprogram the iPS cells, validate their safety and finally prepare the cell product for the therapy (in this case, retinal epithelial sheets) are too high. Particularly for degenerative diseases such as age-related macular degeneration, time is precious to the patient.



**Figure 2.** Whereas an HLA heterozygous donor must match both HLA haplotypes of the patient, an HLA homozygous donor need to match only one haplotype to minimize the risk of immune rejection.

In response, the manufacturing of clinical-grade iPS cell stocks has been investigated. However, like any transplantation, immune rejection is always a concern. Therefore, to prepare stocks that serves a wide population, in Japan, the CiRA Foundation has been cooperating with the Japanese Red Cross Society (JRCS) to recruit HLA homozygous donors. Compared to HLA heterozygous donors, cells from these donors have a higher probability of immune matching (Fig. 2).

This strategy does not completely eliminate the risk, which is why almost all iPS cell-based transplantation therapies will be accompanied by immune suppressants, but for now it is perceived to be the best choice when adding the considerations of time and cost. Along with the JRCS, the CiRA Foundation is working with cord blood banks to find more HLA homozygous donors.

Once finding these donors, the CiRA Foundation reprograms the blood cells into iPS cells while assuring homogeneously high quality. To date, the CiRA Foundation has manufactured and distributed the cell stock from HLA homozygous donors for 9 ongoing clinical trials, with many more planned (Fig. 3). Furthermore, the stock is being distributed to institutes across the world who aim to develop iPS cell-based therapies. Even the aforementioned age-related macular degeneration project has shifted to this allogeneic iPS cell strategy by using iPS cells provided by the CiRA Foundation.



**Figure 3.** A list of all iPS cell-based regenerative medicine in Japan as of May 2022. All projects are using iPS cells prepared from the CiRA Foundation except head and neck carcinoma.

Degenerative diseases are not the only targets for iPS cell-based regenerative medicine. Koji Eto and his team have developed technology to produce a cell product as an alternative to current platelet transfusions. [7] Depending on the country, several million platelet transfusions are performed in a year. [8] All of these transfusions depend on donors, but with aging populations across the world, many nations are anticipating a serious donor shortage. Adding to the challenge is that platelets are particularly difficult to store, because they only have a shelf life of a few days. Therefore, a steady supply of donors is required in the current scheme. As a practical solution, Dr. Eto and colleagues are mimicking natural thrombopoiesis to produce platelets from iPS cells. [7] Following their iPS cell scheme, progenitor cells can be manufactured from the iPS cell stocks from HLA homozygous donors and stored for many months, and only when they are needed the platelets are produced from the stored progenitors. An in-human trial using these platelets is ongoing.

Another example is cancer. The latest generation of cancer therapy, following chemotherapy and radiotherapy, is immunotherapy, where a patient's immune cells are processed and transplanted. There have been many encouraging results from immunotherapy studies, but ultimately the



**Figure 4.** New immunotherapy that combines iPS cell and CAR technologies. Because iPS cells are easier to proliferate than other cell types, the CAR is genetically incorporated into them. In this example, iPS cells with CAR targeting GPC<sub>3</sub> are then differentiated into anti-cancer cells (in this case, NK cells) for immunotherapy against ovarian clear cell carcinoma.

condition of the patient is a major factor in the outcome. As a solution, Dr. Shin Kaneko and his team are combining iPS cell and CAR (chimeric antigen receptor) technologies to manufacture anticancer immune cells for the next generation of immunotherapy.9 Here, CAR technology determines the effectiveness of the treatment by specifically attacking cancer cells but remaining unresponsive to healthy cells, while iPS cell technology assures the quality and abundance of the cells. Having adopting CAR that targets glypican-3 (GPC3), the research team is now scheduled to begin a therapy for ovarian clear cell carcinoma (Fig. 4).

#### Other iPS cells for clinical use

Currently, the iPS cell stock at the CiRA Foundation can match approximately 40% of the Japanese population, praiseworthy progress in just several years. However, to provide stock that matches the entire population and then the world's entire population, the task becomes exponentially more difficult, and finding donors for extremely rare HLA haplotypes is almost impossible.



**Figure 5.** CRISPR-Cas gene editing of HLA to enhance the probability of donor-patient matching. HLA class 1 genes are deleted in chromosome 6, and C2TA is deleted in chromosome 16.

One solution may come in the form of gene editing technology, namely, CRISPR-Cas. Rather than trying to recruit HLA homozygous haplotype donors, some scientists are editing the HLA genes to increase the percentage of the population for which iPS cell products are available. Here, HLA-A and HLA-B are knocked out, but HLA-C is preserved so as to avoid an innate immune response. In addition to manipulating these HLA class I genes, we are knocking out C2TA trans co-activator to suppress all HLA class II genes10 (Fig. 5). If successful, it has been estimated that only 10 iPS cell lines made through this genome editing approach will sufficiently cover most of the world's population.

Finally, while autologous iPS cells are currently unfeasible, they are ideal, since one's own cells have the lowest risk of triggering an immune response. Cost (around US\$ 400,000 per iPS cell line), however, prohibits this option. Automation is one way to reduce cost by at least a magnitude. While automation is a worthwhile consideration in any manufacturing, the infancy of iPS cell technology leaves many unknowns that require further study. Therefore, an equal or greater effort must be devoted to basic research before a full commitment to manufacturing. Nevertheless, the CiRA Foundation is pushing forward with the "myiPS" project, which aims to reduce the cost of one iPS cell line to just US\$ 10,000. Optimistically, this service will open beginning 2025.

In summary then, to expand the number of patients who can benefit from iPS cells, three parallel tracts for generating clinical-grade iPS cells are being pursued. The first and most progressed is the reprogramming of cells from HLA homozygous donors. The second involves the gene editing of HLA and related genes. The final is a system in which individuals can reprogram and store their own cells for future autologous treatments.

#### References

- 1. Gurdon, J.B. (1962) The developmental capacity of nuclei taken from intestinal epithelium cells of feeding tadpoles. *J. Embryol. Exp. Morphol.* 10: 622-640.
- Thomson, JA., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Shapiro, SS., Waknitz, MA., J. Swiegiel, JJ., Marshall,VS. and Jones, LM. (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science* 282, 1145-7.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell* 131, 861–872.
- Takahashi, K. & Yamanaka, S. (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* 126, 663-676.
- Okita, K., Yamakawa, T., Matsumura, Y., Sato, Y., Amano, N., Watanabe, A., Goshima, N., and Yamanaka, S. (2013) An Efficient Non-viral Method to Generate Integration-Free Human iPS Cells from Cord Blood and Peripheral Blood Cells. *Stem Cells* 31, 458-466.
- Masayo ENJM Mandai, M., Watanabe, A., Kurimoto, Y., Hirami, Y., Morinaga, C., Daimon, T., Fujihara, M., Akimaru, H., Sakai, N., Shibata, Y., Terada, M., Nomiya, Y., Tanishima, S., Nakamura, M., Kamao, H., Sugita, S., Onishi, A., Ito, T., Fujita, K., Kawamata, S., Go, M.J., Shinohara, C., Hata, K., Sawada, M., Yamamoto, M., Ohta, S., Ohara, Y., Yoshida, K., Kuwahara, J., Kitano, Y., Amano, N., Umekage, M., Kitaoka, F., Tanaka, A., Okada, C., Takasu,

N., Ogawa, S., Yamanaka, S., and Takahashi, M. (2017) First-in-human Clinical Study of Transplantation of Autologous iPSC-Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cell Sheet for Wet Age Related Macular Degeneration. *The New England Journal* of Medicine 376, 038-1046.

- 7. Ito Y, Nakamura S, Sugimoto N, Shigemori T, Kato Y, Ohno M, Sakuma S, Ito K, Kumon H, Hirose H, Okamoto H, Nogawa M, Iwasaki M, Kihara S, Fujio K, Matsumoto T, Higashi N, Hashimoto K, Sawaguchi A, Harimoto KI, Nakagawa M, Yamamoto T, Handa M, Watanabe N, Nishi E, Arai F, Nishimura S, Eto K. (2018) Turbulence activates platelet biogenesis to enable clinical scale ex vivo production. *Cell*, 174, 636-648.
- https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC6986537/
- Ueda T, Kumagai A, Iriguchi S, Yasui Y, Miyasaka T, Nakagoshi K, Nakane K, Saito K, Takahashi M, Sasaki A, Yoshida S, Takasu N, Seno H, Uemura Y, Tamada K, Nakatsura T, Kaneko S. (2020) Non-clinical efficacy, safety, and stable clinical cell processing of iPSC-derived anti-GPC3 CAR-expressing NK/ILC cells. *Cancer Science*, 111, 1478-1490.
- 10. Xu H, Wang B, Ono M, Kagita A, Fujii K, Sasakawa N, Ueda T, Gee P, Nishikawa M, Nomura M, Kitaoka F, Takahashi T, Okita K, Yoshida Y, Kaneko S, and Hotta A. (2019) Targeted disruption of HLA genes via CRISPR-Cas9 generates iPSCs with enhanced immune compatibility. *Cell Stem Cell*, 24, 566-578.e7.

## **RETINAL CELL THERAPY USING IPS CELLS**

#### Masayo Takahashi MD, PhD

Vision Care Inc. & Kobe City Eye Hospital

#### Background

Fourteen years have passed since the publication of the human iPS cell paper in 2007 by Prof. Yamanaka's group. During that time, we conducted the first clinical study of iPS cells, that was autologous iPS cell-derived retinal pigment epithelial cell (iPSC-RPE) sheet transplantation, from 2013 to 2015 and the second clinical study of HLA-matched allogeneic iPSC-RPE suspension transplantation from 2017 to 2019. More than 10 different clinical studies using iPS cells in Japan, including a clinical trial for Parkinson's disease (dopamine cells), corneal epithelial cells, cardiac muscle sheets, spinal cord transplantation, and platelets has been approved. The fact that clinical applications are progressing at such a rapid pace is largely due to the environment and legal framework that is suitable for regenerative therapies, that is completely different from small molecule drugs.



Figure 1.

#### The 1st Clinical Study – autologous iPSC-RPE sheet transplantation (1 case)

In 2012 we were the first in the world to submit a clinical research protocol using human iPS cells to the "Review Committee on Human Stem Cell Clinical Research". For autologous transplantation, it was necessary to be certain that (1) iPSCs of clinically usable quality could be generated from any case and (2) safe, mature iPSC-RPE could always be produced with a purity of almost 100% (effectively 99% or more = no more than 500 non-purpose cells mixed in the final product). Based on many years of experience in stem cell research, we thought that the special characteristics of RPE would be advantageous to make the cells absolutely safe nevertheless, given that stem cells are always a heterogeneous population even if they look the same and that cell culture is always subject to genetic mutation at each pass. Conversely, if the above two conditions can be achieved, RPEs can be used safely even if the slightest genetic mutation occurs, as far as RPEs with no reports of primary metastatic tumors are concerned. During the five years since the announcement of human iPS cells, we repeatedly verified the safety of the final product by modifying the differentiation method that had been established for human ES cells. Once we were confident of the safety of the final product, we applied for a protocol. In parallel with the scientific verification, we decided on the direction of the clinical study while keeping abreast of the direction and trends of the new regenerative medicine law that was being drafted. Finally, the cell risk was reduced to almost zero, and the cells went into clinical trials with only a few percent surgical risk, just as in ordinary retinal surgery.

#### Accumulation of information for risk

The reason why we can draw such a clear line of safety is because we performed a long period of stem cell research and also knew well about RPE cells' behavior in the eye through ophthalmic surgery. In other words, we knew the risks from basic research to clinical surgery, so that we could consider the risk matrix (significance and frequency of the risks) and apply the clinical study. The risks associated with RPE transplantation and the degree of efficacy in each case can be predicted to some extent based on our experience in treating age-related macular degeneration (AMD).

The RPE, which has been working almost irreplaceably in the eye for its entire life, has, as expected, survived in the same sheet shape even 5 years after transplantation, maintaining the photoreceptor cells only in the area where the transplanted sheet exists. Retinal photoreceptor cells will always degenerate without pigment epithelium, so it is clear that the iPSC-RPE is still functioning in this case. Before the surgery, her visual acuity deteriorated although she got 13 times anti-VEGF injection. After the surgery her visual acuity is still stable.

We planned two cases for the first clinical study, but different from the first case, the patient's visual acuity in the second case had stabilized at 0.3 during the 10 months of cell preparation, so that the risk of surgery (visual acuity loss) was greater than in the first case, so we decided to stop RPE transplantation, although the safety was confirmed by intensive tumorigenicity tests.

Thus, only one case, but we showed the safe way to use the iPS cells, that many people thought dangerous to use for humans at that time.



Figure 2. Postoperative course of the first case (rf. Mandai et al. N Engl J Med. 2017).

## The 2nd Clinical Study – HLA-matched allogeneic iPSC-RPE suspension transplantation (5 cases)

The reason why we first started with autologous sheet transplants, which are technically difficult, was to do the scientifically best treatment for the first iPS application. Even though it is costly and time-consuming, autologous transplantation is the best treatment from the viewpoint of immunity. We think the autologous transplantation will eventually become an option, but for the time being, allogeneic transplantation, which can be applied to many people by preparing several types of cells, is desired as the actual standard treatments.

CiRA in Kyoto University produced HLA6 homozygous iPS cells, which covered 17% of the Japanese population, so that we conducted clinical research on HLA-matched allogeneic transplants using this iPS cell line. The reason for using iPS cells in the development of a treatment for age-related macular degeneration, which had originally been conducted using ES cells, was because for the elder patients to use immunosuppressive drugs in the treatment of age-related macular degeneration, in which more than 70% of patients are over 70 years old, was not desirable. In fact, many of the side effects of retinal cell transplantation that have been reported in papers are caused by immunosuppressive drugs.[3]

The manufacturing method of RPE is the same, but in the second clinical study, the target was milder cases than the first clinical study and a suspension transplant was used. In those cases, RPE atrophy is often sparse and a large sheet is not necessary. It is less invasive and safer to inject the suspension through a small hole in the retina into the back of the retina (subretinal) to form a sheet within the eye to control the neovascularization.

#### Immune response – LGIR test

The primary endpoint of the second clinical study, as in the first study, was safety, but the key point was whether the rejection of HLA-matched allogeneic transplants could be suppressed by local treatment alone without systemic immune suppression. For this purpose, we created a test that can examine the patient's immune response in real time by examining the proliferation of mononuclear cells in mixed culture of patient peripheral blood mononuclear cells and transplanted RPE cells, which we call the LGIR (Lymph Graft Immune Reaction) test [4] (Figure 4). This test was very useful in clinical studies, and in the first case, we were able to confirm that the appearance of a small amount of subretinal fluid (a few  $\mu$ ) at 5 weeks after transplantation indicated the beginning of rejection, not the recurrence of the disease, which was suppressed by three injections of steroid outside the eye. In the other cases, there was no sign of rejection in this test or in the clinical findings during the one-year follow-up, and all five cases showed successful implantation of the transplanted RPE. In the case with the best control of the implantation site, polarized OCT showed that the transplanted cells were covering the neovascularization in a sheet-like pattern.[5]

In other cases, unlike in the animal model, it proved difficult to control the location of grafted suspension, and in all cases, epiretinal membrane formation was observed due to backflow of cells from the injection site. In one of the cases, retinal edema appeared, and surgery was performed to remove the epiretinal membrane, a procedure that is frequently performed in ophthalmology, with no serious effects on visual function. These clinical experiences were immediately returned to the laboratory to improve the RPE formulation and surgical technique. We now reached to the RPE strip, that can be transplanted from a small hole in the retina and expand to form small sheets beneath the retina several weeks after the surgery. We think this is the safest and most effective formulation of RPE.



Figure 3. Real time immune reaction test.

#### Learning from Clinical Research – Effectiveness

We have learned a great deal from our experience with these six cases in total. There are good reasons for the RPE to be the first case of iPS application to humans. In most of the cell types, it is difficult to induce differentiation of pluripotent stem cells to functionally mature cells in a culture dish, but RPE is one of the few cells that can be differentiated to mature cells and transplanted with almost the same properties as in vivo. Furthermore, the inner layer of the eye cup during the development in the fetus becomes the neural retina and the outer layer becomes the RPE, and the neural retina and RPE have no cell adhesive apparatus but just contact with each other. Thus, monolayer of RPE cells with a basement membrane is already a tissue, and the RPE sheet is a complete tissue graft. In other words, it is perfect tissue equivalent to the native RPE in the body.

Furthermore, the safety was obtained relatively easily because of the RPE that does not form tumors even with any gene mutations. These are the unique features of RPE that distinguish it from other tissues.

Thus, we proved the safety of autologous and allogeneic iPS-RPE. Now we move to the next step to evaluate the effectiveness of the RPE transplantation. For this, it is important to select the appropriate cases even in the same diseases while various conditions are referred to by a single disease name. The effect of the treatment is not determined by RPE cells that already have perfect function, but by patients' retinal environment, where the morphology and functions of cells change drastically depending on the microenvironment. That is the most different point of cell therapy compared to the current treatment. In regenerative medicine, the end products do not immediately make treatments like small molecule drugs.



Figure 4. RPE strip (rf. Nishida et al. Sci Rep. 2021).

#### Retinal Organoids Transplantation – photoreceptor replacement

In 2011, Dr. Yoshiki Sasai's group invented a method called "organoids" to create a three-dimensional retina from ES or iPS cells. Since then, organoid research is flourishing for various parts of the body in the world. Again, in the case of photoreceptor cells, the world's first organoid transplantation was done in the field of retina.

Dr. Michiko Mandai in our group worked diligently to create the POC. It took about 7 years to prove 1) whether the grafted immature retinal organoid sheets would mature and become a photoreceptor cell, 2) whether it would re-create synapses with the retina in the body, 3) whether it would function electrophysiologically, and 4) whether the photoreceptor degenerated model animals would be able to see the light after transplantation. After obtaining these POC in the animal, the Kobe City Eye Hospital performed the retinal sheet (photoreceptor) transplantation clinical study with two patients. The hospital reported the results at the Japanese Society of Clinical Ophthalmology meeting last month. In both cases, photoreceptor cells were successfully transplanted into the patient without any abnormal proliferation and survived for more than one year with some hint of functional recovery.



Figure 5. Photoreceptor transplantation POC in animal model.

In ophthalmology, microstructures such as OCT are observed to make decisions on pathological conditions and treatment. In replacement therapy in ophthalmology, anatomical effects (tissue reconstruction) are used as an indicator of effectiveness. We hope that we will be able to show the effect in the near future.

#### Conclusion

Surgical treatment has gone through a process of trial and error in its history, and at one point, through the ingenuity of many doctors, it was perfected. Having witnessed the development of cataract surgery these past 30 years. I think that regenerative medicine will trace the same course. Since safe and functional cells have been created, many doctors should be involved to accomplish the effective new treatment. A suitable path for regenerative medicine is necessary to deliver effective treatments to patients quickly and inexpensively.

#### References

- 1. Takahashi M, Palmer TD, Takahashi J, Gage FH. Widespread integration and survival of adult-derived neural progenitor cells in the developing optic retina. 6. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 12:340-348, 1998.
- 2. Kawasaki H, Suemori H, Mizuseki K, Watanabe K, Urano F, Ichinose H, Haruta M, Takahashi M, Yoshikawa K, Nishikawa S, Nakatsuji N, Sasai Y. Generation of dopaminergic neurons and pigmented epithelia from primate ES 7. cells by stromal cell-derived inducing activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Feb 5;99(3):1580-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.032662199. Epub 2002 Jan 29.
- 3. Haruta M, Sasai Y, Kawasaki H, Amem- 8. iya K, Ooto S, Kitada M, Suemori H, Nakatsuji N, Ide C, Honda Y, Takahashi M. In vitro and in vivo characterization of pigment epithelial cells differentiated from primate embryonic stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2004 Mar;45(3):1020-5. doi: 10.1167/io- 9. vs.03-1034.
- 4. Ikeda H, Osakada F, Watanabe K, Mizuseki K, Haraguchi T, Miyoshi H, Kamiya D, Honda Y, Sasai N, Yoshimura N, Takahashi M, Sasai Y. Generation of Rx+/Pax6+ neural retinal precursors from embryonic stem cells. 9;102(32):11331-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500010102. Epub 2005 Aug 2.
- 5. Osakada F. Ikeda H. Mandai M. Watava T, Watanabe K, Yoshimura N, Akaike A, Sasai Y, Takahashi M. Toward the generation of rod and cone photoreceptors

bryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2008 Feb;26(2):215-24. doi: 10.1038/ nbt1384. Epub 2008 Feb 3.

- Hirami Y, Osakada F, Takahashi K, Okita K, Yamanaka S, Ikeda H, Yoshimura N, Takahashi M. Generation of retinal cells from mouse and human induced pluripotent stem cells. Neurosci Lett. 2009 Jul 24;458(3):126-31. doi: 10.1016/j. neulet.2009.04.035. Epub 2009 Apr 18.
- Osakada F, Ikeda H, Sasai Y, Takahashi M. Stepwise differentiation of pluripotent stem cells into retinal cells. Nat Protoc. 2009;4(6):811-24. doi: 10.1038/ nprot.2009.51. Epub 2009 May 7.
- Jin ZB, Okamoto S, Osakada F, Homma K, Assawachananont J, Hirami Y, Iwata T, Takahashi M. Modeling retinal degeneration using patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One. 2011 Feb 10;6(2):e17084. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017084.
- Mandai M, Homma K, Okamoto S, Yamada C, Nomori A, Takahashi M. Adequate Time Window and Environmental Factors Supporting Retinal Graft Cell Survival in rd Mice. Cell Med. 2012 Apr 20;4(1):45-54. doi: 10.3727/215517912X639315. eCollection 2012 Jan.
- Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Aug 10. Kanemura H, Go MJ, Nishishita N, Sakai N, Kamao H, Sato Y, Takahashi M, Kawamata S. Pigment epithelium-derived factor secreted from retinal pigment epithelium facilitates apoptotic cell death of iPSC. Sci Rep. 2013;3:2334. doi: 10.1038/srep02334.
- from mouse, monkey and human em- 11. Maeda T, Lee MJ, Palczewska G, Marsi-

li S, Tesar PJ, Palczewski K, Takahashi M, Maeda A. Retinal pigmented epithelial cells obtained from human induced pluripotent stem cells possess functional visual cycle enzymes in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2013 Nov 29;288(48):34484-93. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M113.518571. Epub 2013 Oct 15.

- 12. Kanemura H, Go MJ, Shikamura M, Nishishita N, Sakai N, Kamao H, Mandai M, Morinaga C, Takahashi M, Kawamata S. Tumorigenicity studies of induced pluripotent stem cell (iP-SC)-derived retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration. PLoS One. 2014 Jan 14;9(1):e85336. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085336. eCollection 2014.
- Kamao H, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Sakai N, Suga A, Sugita S, Kiryu J, Takahashi M. Characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived retinal pigment epithelium cell sheets aiming for clinical application. Stem Cell Reports. 2014 Jan 23;2(2):205–18. doi: 10.1016/j. stemcr.2013.12.007. eCollection 2014 Feb 11.
- 14. Assawachananont J, Mandai M, Okamoto S, Yamada C, Eiraku M, Yonemura S, Sasai Y, Takahashi M. Transplantation of embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell-derived 3D retinal sheets into retinal degenerative mice. Stem Cell Reports. 2014 Apr 24;2(5):662-74. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.03.011. eCollection 2014 May 6.
- 15. Sugita S, Kamao H, Iwasaki Y, Okamoto S, Hashiguchi T, Iseki K, Hayashi N, Mandai M, Takahashi M. Inhibition of T-cell activation by retinal pigment epithelial cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015 Jan 20;56(2):1051-62. doi: 10.1167/iovs.14-15619.
- Sun J, Mandai M, Kamao H, Hashiguchi T, Shikamura M, Kawamata S, Sugita S, Takahashi M. Protective Effects of Hu-

man iPS-Derived Retinal Pigmented Epithelial Cells in Comparison with Human Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Human Neural Stem Cells on the Degenerating Retina in rd1 mice. Stem Cells. 2015 May;33(5):1543-53. doi: 10.1002/stem.1960.

- Kawamata S, Kanemura H, Sakai N, Takahashi M, Go MJ. Design of a Tumorigenicity Test for Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell (iPSC)-Derived Cell Products. J Clin Med. 2015 Jan 14;4(1):159-71. doi: 10.3390/jcm4010159.
- 18. Shirai H, Mandai M, Matsushita K, Kuwahara A, Yonemura S, Nakano T, Assawachananont J, Kimura T, Saito K, Terasaki H, Eiraku M, Sasai Y, Takahashi M. Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived retinal tissue in two primate models of retinal degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2016 Jan 5;113(1):E81-90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1512590113. Epub 2015 Dec 22.
- Daley GQ, Hyun I, Apperley JF, Barker RA, Benvenisty N, Bredenoord AL, Breuer CK, Caulfield T, Cedars MI, Frey-Vasconcells J, Heslop HE, Jin Y, Lee RT, McCabe C, Munsie M, Murry CE, Piantadosi S, Rao M, Rooke HM, Sipp D, Studer L, Sugarman J, Takahashi M, Zimmerman M, Kimmelman J. Setting Global Standards for Stem Cell Research and Clinical Translation: The 2016 ISSCR Guidelines. Stem Cell Reports. 2016 Jun 14;6(6):787-797. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.05.001. Epub 2016 May 12.
- Fujii M, Sunagawa GA, Kondo M, Takahashi M, Mandai M. Evaluation of Micro Electroretinograms Recorded with Multiple Electrode Array to Assess Focal Retinal Function. Sci Rep. 2016 Aug 2;6:30719. doi: 10.1038/srep30719.
- Sugita S, Iwasaki Y, Makabe K, Kimura T, Futagami T, Suegami S, Takahashi M. Lack of T Cell Response to iPSC-Derived Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells

from HLA Homozygous Donors. Stem Cell Reports. 2016 Oct 11;7(4):619-634. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.08.011. Epub 2016 Sep 15.

- 22. Sugita S, Iwasaki Y, Makabe K, Kamao H, Mandai M, Shiina T, Ogasawara K, Hirami Y, Kurimoto Y, Takahashi M. Successful Transplantation of Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells from MHC Homozygote iPSCs in MHC-Matched Models. Stem Cell Reports. 2016 Oct cr.2016.08.010. Epub 2016 Sep 15.
- 23. Mandai M, Fujii M, Hashiguchi T, Sunagawa GA, Ito SI, Sun J, Kaneko J, Sho J, Yamada C, Takahashi M. iPSC-Derived Retina Transplants Improve Vision in rd1 End-Stage Retinal-Degeneration Mice. Stem Cell Reports. 2017 Feb 14;8(2):489. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.01.018.
- 24. Mandai M, Watanabe A, Kurimoto Y, Hirami Y, Morinaga C, Daimon T, Fujihara M, Akimaru H, Sakai N, Shibata Y, Terada M, Nomiya Y, Tanishima S, Nakamura M, Kamao H, Sugita S, Onishi A, Ito T, Fujita K, Kawamata S, Go MJ, Shinohara C, Hata KI, Sawada M, Yamamoto M, Ohta S, Ohara Y, Yoshi-N, Umekage M, Kitaoka F, Tanaka A, Okada C, Takasu N, Ogawa S, Yamanaka S, Takahashi M. Autologous Induced Stem-Cell-Derived Retinal Cells for Macular Degeneration. N Engl J Med. 2017 Mar 16;376(11):1038-1046. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1608368.
- 25. Mandai M, Fujii M, Hashiguchi T, Sunagawa GA, Ito SI, Sun J, Kaneko J, Sho J, Yamada C, Takahashi M. iPSC-Derived Retina Transplants Improve Vision in rd1 End-Stage Retinal-Degeneration Mice. Stem Cell Reports. 2017 Apr 11;8(4):1112-1113. doi: 10.1016/j. stemcr.2017.03.024.
- 26. Iraha S, Tu HY, Yamasaki S, Kagawa T, Goto M, Takahashi R, Watanabe T, Su-

gita S, Yonemura S, Sunagawa GA, Matsuvama T, Fujii M, Kuwahara A, Kishino A, Koide N, Eiraku M, Tanihara H, Takahashi M, Mandai M. Establishment of Immunodeficient Retinal Degeneration Model Mice and Functional Maturation of Human ESC-Derived Retinal Sheets after Transplantation. Stem Cell Reports. 2018 Mar 13;10(3):1059-1074. 10.1016/j.stemcr.2018.01.032. doi: Epub 2018 Mar 1.

- 11;7(4):635-648. doi: 10.1016/j.stem- 27. Sugita S, Makabe K, Fujii S, Takahashi M. Detection of Complement Activators in Immune Attack Eyes After iPS-Derived Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cell Transplantation. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2018 Aug 1;59(10):4198-4209. doi: 10.1167/iovs.18-24769.
  - 28. Tu HY, Watanabe T, Shirai H, Yamasaki S, Kinoshita M, Matsushita K, Hashiguchi T, Onoe H, Matsuyama T, Kuwahara A, Kishino A, Kimura T, Eiraku M, Suzuma K, Kitaoka T, Takahashi M, Mandai M. Medium- to long-term survival and functional examination of human iPSC-derived retinas in rat and primate models of retinal degeneration. EBioMedicine. 2019 Jan; 39:562-574. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.11.028. Epub 2018 Nov 28.
- da K, Kuwahara J, Kitano Y, Amano 29. Akiba R, Matsuyama T, Tu HY, Hashiguchi T, Sho J, Yamamoto S, Takahashi M, Mandai M. Quantitative and Qualitative Evaluation of Photoreceptor Synapses in Developing, Degenerating and Regenerating Retinas. Front Cell Neurosci. 2019 Feb 11;13:16. doi: 10.3389/ fncel.2019.00016. eCollection 2019.
  - 30. Takagi S, Mandai M, Gocho K, Hirami Y, Yamamoto M, Fujihara M, Sugita S, Kurimoto Y, Takahashi M. Evaluation of Transplanted Autologous Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Retinal Pigment Epithelium in Exudative Age-Related Macular Degeneration. Ophthalmol Retina. 2019 Oct;3(10):850-859. doi: 10.1016/j.oret.2019.04.021. Epub 2019 Apr 26.

- 31. Kuwahara A, Yamasaki S, Mandai M, Watari K, Matsushita K, Fujiwara M, Hori Y, Hiramine Y, Nukaya D, Iwata M, Kishino A, Takahashi M, Sasai Y, Kimura T. Preconditioning the Initial State of Feeder-free Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Promotes Self-formation of Three-dimensional Retinal Tissue. Sci Rep. 2019 Dec 12;9(1):18936. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-55130-w.
- 32. Kuwahara A, Yamasaki S, Mandai M, Watari K, Matsushita K, Fujiwara M, Hori Y, Hiramine Y, Nukaya D, Iwata M, Kishino A, Takahashi M, Sasai Y, Kimura T. Publisher Correction: Preconditioning the Initial State of Feeder-free Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Promotes Self-formation of Three-dimensional Retinal Tissue. Sci Rep. 2020 Feb 5;10(1):2237. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-58892-w.
- 33. Sugita S, Mandai M, Hirami Y, Takagi S, Maeda T, Fujihara M, Matsuzaki M, Yamamoto M, Iseki K, Hayashi N, Hono A, Fujino S, Koide N, Sakai N, Shibata Y, Terada M, Nishida M, Dohi H, Nomura M, Amano N, Sakaguchi H, Hara C, Maruyama K, Daimon T, Igeta M, Oda T, Shirono U, Tozaki M, Totani K, Sugiyama S, Nishida K, Kurimoto Y, Takahashi M.HLA-Matched Allogeneic iPS Cells-Derived RPE Transplantation for Macular Degeneration. J Clin Med. 2020 Jul 13;9(7):2217. doi: 10.3390/jcm9072217.
- 34. Sugita S, Futatsugi Y, Ishida M, Edo A, Takahashi M. Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells Derived from Induced Pluripotent Stem (iPS) Cells Suppress or Activate T Cells via Costimulatory Signals. Int J Mol Sci. 2020 Sep 5;21(18):6507. doi: 10.3390/ijms21186507.
- 35. Yamanari M, Mase M, Obata R, Matsuzaki M, Minami T, Takagi S, Yamamoto M, Miyamoto N, Ueda K, Koide N, Maeda T, Totani K, Aoki N, Hirami Y, Sugiyama S, Mandai M, Aihara M, Takahashi M, Kato S, Kurimoto Y. Melanin

concentration and depolarization metrics measurement by polarization-sensitive optical coherence tomography. Sci Rep. 2020 Nov 11;10(1):19513. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76397-4.

- State of Feeder-free Human Pluripotent36. Sugita S, Mandai M, Kamao H, Taka-<br/>hashi M. Immunological aspects of RPE<br/>cell transplantation. Prog Retin Eye Res.<br/>2021 Sep;84:100950. doi: 10.1016/j.pret-<br/>eyeres.2021.100950. Epub 2021 Jan 19.
  - 37. Matsuyama T, Tu HY, Sun J, Hashiguchi T, Akiba R, Sho J, Fujii M, Onishi A, Takahashi M, Mandai M. Genetically engineered stem cell-derived retinal grafts for improved retinal reconstruction after transplantation. iScience. 2021 Jul 16;24(8):102866. doi: 10.1016/j.isci.2021.102866. eCollection 2021 Aug 20.
  - 38. Nishida M, Tanaka Y, Tanaka Y, Amaya S, Tanaka N, Uyama H, Masuda T, Onishi A, Sho J, Yokota S, Takahashi M, Mandai M. Human iPS cell derived RPE strips for secure delivery of graft cells at a target place with minimal surgical invasion. Sci Rep. 2021 Nov 2;11(1):21421. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-00703-x.
  - 39. Motozawa N, Miura T, Ochiai K, Yamamoto M, Horinouchi T, Tsuzuki T, Kanda GN, Ozawa Y, Tsujikawa A, Takahashi K, Takahashi M, Kurimoto Y, Maeda T, Mandai M. Automated evaluation of retinal pigment epithelium disease area in eyes with age-related macular degeneration. Sci Rep. 2022 Jan 18;12(1):892. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-05006-3.
  - 40. Kanda GN, Tsuzuki T, Terada M, Sakai N, Motozawa N, Masuda T, Nishida M, Watanabe CT, Higashi T, Horiguchi SA, Kudo T, Kamei M, Sunagawa GA, Matsukuma K, Sakurada T, Ozawa Y, Takahashi M, Takahashi K, Natsume T. Robotic search for optimal cell culture in regenerative medicine. Elife. 2022 Jun 28;11:e77007. doi: 10.7554/eLife.77007.

### PLURIPOTENT STEM CELL FOR TREATING PARKINSON'S DISEASE

#### LORENZ STUDER

Center for Stem Cell Biology, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY, USA

Parkinson's disease was first described by James Parkinson, an apothecary and surgeon in London, more than 200 years ago. In his essay, reprinted recently,[1] he defined the disease as "shaking palsy" to stress the fact that patients show aspects of both aberrant movement (such as shaking/ tremor) as well as lack or slowness of it. In honor of James Parkinson, the famous French neurologist Jean Martin Charcot was the first to refer to the disorder as Parkinson's disease,[2] and to describe in great scientific detail the specific motor as well as autonomic symptoms of the disease (Figure 1).

PD is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder affecting approximately 1 million patients in the US, and causes enormous health and financial burden, estimated at \$52 billion of direct and indirect costs to society within the US alone.[3] Today, we understand that the key mo-



**Figure 1.** First description of Parkinson's disease in the scientific literature. A) Title page of James Parkinson's essay on Shaking Palsy, published in 1817. B) Depiction of Jean Martin Charcot at the Salpêtrière Hospital in Paris. Among the clinical features, he described "myographic curves" to distinguish tremor present in patients with multiple sclerosis (upper trace) versus spontaneous tremor in patients with Parkinson's disease (lower trace). C) Depiction of the characteristic posture and gate disturbance in a PD patient and illustration of micrography, one of the lesser-known symptoms of PD, which is the tendency of patients to write smaller and smaller.

tor symptoms of PD are caused by the loss of dopamine neurons in the midbrain. A healthy individual has about 300,000-400,000 midbrain dopamine neurons[4] and the loss of greater than 50% of those neurons is thought to trigger symptoms of Parkinson's disease and bring the patient to seek help from a neurologist. As the brain is estimated to comprise about 50-100 billion neurons, dopamine neurons represent a tiny fraction of total neurons. The rather discrete loss of dopamine neurons in a defined brain region makes PD an attractive target for regenerative medicine, as only a limited number of new neurons might suffice to significantly impact motor function in an individual patient. On the other hand, while motor symptoms are the classic feature of the disease, it is important to stress that PD affects many systems of the human body beyond those relevant to the movement disorder. Early symptoms that often precede movement-related symptoms include a loss of smell, sleep disturbances such as restless leg syndrome and chronic constipation. Some of the feared long-term complications include a progressive cognitive loss which can occur many years after onset of motor symptoms and can lead to PD-associated dementia.[5] It is important to note that both cognitive loss and peripheral disease symptoms are thought to be mostly independent of the dopamine dysfunction. Therefore, even a permanent "cure" of the dopamine-related movement disorder would likely not result in a true cure of the broader disease.

There is an increasing understanding of specific genetic factors that predispose an individual to PD. Those findings are based on studies of familial forms of the disease implicating more than 20 PD genes and on human genetic studies that define about 90 PD genetic risk loci in sporadic patients. [6] PD-related genes point to vulnerabilities in mitochondrial and lysosomal function that may underlie disease pathogenesis. Vulnerabilities related to energy demand and protein homeostasis may be particularly acute in midbrain dopamine neurons, given the remarkable size and complexity of their neurite arbors. It is estimated that a single human midbrain dopamine neuron in the substantia nigra has an axonal arbor with a combined length of about 4–5 meters and comprises 1–2.4 million synapses each.[4] The enormous size of dopamine neurons may also contribute to challenges in protein homeostasis, particularly for synaptic proteins of high abundance such as a-synuclein. The aggregation of a-syn into Lewy bodies is one of the key pathological hallmarks of the disease.[7]

Despite the considerable progress in unraveling genetic and biochemical pathways involved in PD pathogenesis, no disease-modifying therapy is available today that can halt or significantly slow down disease progression.
The currently approved therapies are symptomatic and include strategies to replace the neurotransmitter dopamine by supplying L-Dopa pharmacologically. L-Dopa is taken as an oral drug that enters the brain, where it gets converted into dopamine in the remaining dopamine neurons present in the brain. While highly effective at early stages of the disease, as the disease progresses, L-Dopa treatment becomes less and less effective and can trigger significant side effects such L-Dopa-induced abnormal movements (dyskinesia). The use of deep brain stimulation (DBS) represents another currently approved clinical treatment for PD patients that can improve several symptoms of the disease such as tremor or dyskinesia. However, DBS is not suitable for all patients and requires the implantation of hardware in the brain that needs to be serviced throughout life. Furthermore, the procedure can worsen speech-related or psychiatric symptoms in some of the patients. An experimental treatment approach that is not approved vet is gene therapy to either protect the remaining dopamine neurons or to boost their function via delivery of neurotrophic factors or genes that enhance the biochemical function respectively. Finally, there is the long-standing goal of replacing the dopamine neurons degenerated in PD via cell therapy, the main topic of this current paper.

#### The possibility of dopamine neuron replacement

While a plethora of cell types have been proposed in the past as a potential source of dopamine-producing neurons (ranging from adrenal medulla cells to peripheral neurons coaxed to produce dopamine), none of those non-midbrain cells has shown convincing evidence of long-term survival and dopamine function. In contrast, the use of human fetal midbrain dopamine neurons has offered valuable insights into the potential of achieving dopamine neuron replacement in PD patients.

This approach started in the late 1980s and has been performed since on more than 300 patients worldwide. The results showed convincingly that fetal dopamine neurons can survive when injected into the striatum of PD patients as illustrated by both histological data as well as by functional PET imaging using a radioactive F-Dopa tracer (Figure 2). However, two placebo controlled clinical trials,[10,11] assessing the efficacy of the approach at 12 months post-surgery in a larger set of patients, failed in their primary end point and showed some evidence of efficacy only in younger patients (< 60 years of age).[10] Furthermore, a subset of the patients showed unexpected side effects referred to as graft-induced dyskinesia that – combined with the modest evidence of efficacy – halted most fetal dopamine neuron



**Figure 2.** Demonstration of long-term survival of midbrain dopamine neurons following fetal tissue transplantation. A) Midbrain dopamine neurons were isolated from fetal tissue of 6.5-10 weeks post conception. B) PET imaging of PD patient brain after receiving fetal dopamine neurons at 6 months and 12 months after transplantation. Increase in the red signal suggests increased update of F-Dopa due to the surviving dopamine neurons. Image is modified from.8 C) Autopsy of a brain 24 years after receiving fetal dopamine neurons showing in brown expression of tyrosine-hydroxylase (TH), the rate-limiting enzyme in the production of dopamine (from the publication by Li et al.).9 TH staining suggests graft survival and the presence of dopaminergic fibers more than two decades old in a PD patient brain.

grafting trials. Nevertheless, some of the treated patients were followed for more extended time periods in studies that suggest that the optimal effects of the treatment may develop only at 2–3 years after transplantation.[12] In fact, a subset of patients was reported to do particularly well after being followed for 10 years and beyond, with several patients off any L-Dopa medication,[13] which is highly unusual for patients suffering from a chronic progressive disease such as PD. This suggested that the cell replacement approach can work at least in a subset of PD patients. However, it remained unclear which factors predict success regarding patient selection or graft preparation. Furthermore, the use of fetal tissue raised considerable logistical and ethical issues that have prevented the development of this approach for routine use in larger sets of patients.

To find a renewable source of midbrain dopamine neurons, several potential stem cell types were pursued starting around the mid-1990s. On a personal note, I got involved in this endeavor after working with Dr. Christian Spenger, a young neurosurgeon at the University of Bern, to drive the first human clinical study in Switzerland using human fetal dopamine neurons in 1995. This experience set me on a journey to explore the potential of neural stem cells as a possible source of dopamine neurons. Neural stem cells seemed to be an obvious choice as they are, unlike embryonic stem cells, already committed to a neural fate, and the remaining challenge is "only" generating the correct neuron subtype. Indeed, we were able to demonstrate the production of dopamine neurons from dividing midbrain rat neural precursors and their successful engraftment in a rat model of PD.[14] However, the extent of in vitro expansion via proliferation of the midbrain stem/precursor compartment was relatively modest and did not enable a truly unlimited source of dopamine neurons. Therefore, I got involved in a parallel effort using mouse embryonic stem cells (ESCs) that provided the first true proof-of-concept for generating potentially unlimited numbers of midbrain dopamine neurons, and one of the very first examples of generating a specific neuron subtype from a pluripotent stem cell source.[15] The use of pluripotent stem cells such as mouse ESCs resolved two major challenges, first, the ability to generate near unlimited numbers of differentiated cell types because ESCs (unlike midbrain stem cells) can be extensively expanded without losing fate potential. Second, the differentiation of ESCs offered access to the earliest stages of neural development. This turned out to be critical, as the key factors determining ventral midbrain identity such as FGF8 and SHH act during a very early and a very narrow temporal window that precedes the developmental stage when midbrain neural stem or precursor cells are isolated. Accordingly, the fate of the ESC-derived neural lineages can be readily directed to derive neurons specific to any brain region, while neural stem cells are largely restricted regarding their regional identity, even though they are still capable of committing to neuronal versus glial fate at this stage.

## Pluripotent stem cells as a renewable source of dopamine neurons

The rapid progress in directing the differentiation of mouse ESCs was illustrated in multiple follow-up papers in the early 2000s that applied the same technology to many ESC lines, including ESCs derived via nuclear transfer[16,17] or by performing more and more in-depth studies *in vivo* to demonstrate rescue of Parkinsonian symptoms in various models of PD.[18] Given such rapid progress, there was the expectation that within just a few years, similar results would be obtained using human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) that became available upon the isolation of human ESCs19 and subsequently human iPSCs, following the seminal work of Shinya Yamanaka.[20,21] However, it would take more than 10 years to develop differentiation protocols in hPSCs to generate midbrain dopamine neurons capable of efficient engraftment in mouse, rat, and primate models of PD.[22] In a series of papers between 2009 to 2011, we were able to greatly simplify and accelerate the differentiation of human ESC or iPSCs into neural cells using only two small molecule inhibitors to drive neural

specification, a widely used protocol termed dual-SMAD inhibition.[23] We had to combine dual-SMAD inhibition with the insight that dopamine neurons are derived from FOXA2+ floor plate precursors24 and the finding that activation of WNT signaling is critical for driving midbrain specification and neurogenic conversion of floor plate precursors to ultimately enable this breakthrough in human dopamine neuron generation. [22] We and many other groups went on to show that dopamine neurons derived via our floor plate protocol can restore motor deficits across various PD models, including drug-induced rotation behavior or measures of aberrant movement initiation. We further demonstrated how dopamine neurons achieve functional benefit in the host brain using an optogenetic switch in the grafted neurons. This switch allowed us to selectively turn off activity in grafted dopamine neurons without impacting neurons in the host brain. These studies showed that the functional benefit from the grafted cells is completely dependent on their neuronal activity and activity-dependent dopamine release. We further demonstrated that grafted neurons modulate synaptic input onto the striatum in a manner highly reminiscent of healthy endogenous midbrain dopamine neurons.[25] Given those promising proof-of-concept preclinical and mechanistic studies, there was a great impetus to translate those findings from animal studies towards actual clinical trials in human PD patients.

## From proof-of-concept to clinical trial

It would take nearly another 10 years to move from the proof-of-concept study[22] to a first-in-human clinical trial. A key step on this long journey includes the further optimization of the differentiation protocol under conditions that are suitable for clinical translation. In addition to using clinical grade reagents and cell lines, we further optimized the differentiation protocol to achieve better "on target" and "off target" performance.26 For "on target" performance we tracked makers such as engrailed-1, a transcription factor expressed in most dopamine neurons in vivo, but that was inconsistently expressed in human PSC-derived dopamine neurons. In addition, we optimized "off target" performance by avoiding lineages that were present in fetal preparations such as serotonergic neurons, implicated as the potential culprit in triggering graft-induced dyskinesia.[27] Other "off target" cell types that we can largely avoid using our clinical grade protocol include perivascular fibroblast and choroid plexus cell contaminants that have been reported in other dopamine neuron differentiation protocols as potential "off target" cell types.

After optimizing the differentiation protocol, the next step was the production of large batches of dopamine neurons to develop an "off-the-shelf" product. This means that we needed to produce very large numbers of dopamine neurons and define conditions suitable for cryopreservation to be ready for 'off-the-shelf' use in preclinical studies and for the actual clinical trial. In fact, we produced nearly 10 billion cells under clinical grade conditions in a series of 4 replicate differentiation batches. Each batch had to pass a set of detailed release criteria that determined the purity and viability of the dopamine neuron preparations. For example, we showed that nearly all the final cells express the marker FOXA2 (Figure 3). FOXA2 is expressed in the dopamine lineage both at the precursors stage and in postmitotic cells. Furthermore, we demonstrated the lack of any remaining pluripotent cells in the final preparation.

Beyond qualifying the in vitro product, it was essential to test the safety and performance of those cells in vivo. We performed detailed good laboratory practice (GLP)-grade studies on tumorigenicity, biodistribution and toxicity across hundreds of mice at an outside, independent contract research organization (CRO). This is required by the regulatory agencies as to assure that results are reported in an unbiased manner by an organization that has no personal or financial gain from the outcome of the study.

In addition, we performed efficacy studies in a cohort of 48 Parkinsonian rats to show that grafting the cryopreserved dopamine neurons fully restores some of the motor symptoms in this model such as drug-induced rotation behavior (Figure 4). Finally, we performed targeting studies in a



**Figure 3.** Examples of QC assays assessing the purity of clinical grade dopamine neurons. A) Midbrain dopamine neurons were characterized for the co-expression of TH and FOXA2 across each of the 4 clinical grade batches. B) Purity of FOXA2+ cell compartment measured by flow cytometry C) Lack of any detectable OCT4 (POU5F1) transcript to demonstrate the lack of any remaining undifferentiated hPSCs.

small number of non-human primates to assure that the clinical injection device proposed for human application is suitable to deliver the cells and to provide appropriate cell doses to the brain. All those studies supported the notion that our product is safe, does not form any tumors upon longterm engraftment or other signs of toxicity and reliably induces functional recovery.[28]

In parallel, we developed the clinical protocol for our phase I/IIa human study as detailed on www.clinicaltrials.gov (NCT#04802733). We proposed to enroll 12 patients: 5 patients at a lower dose and 7 patients at a higher dose level. The appropriate dose was calculated based on our preclinical studies and is aimed at replacing 100,000 versus 300,000 dopamine neurons respectively on each side of the patient's brain. We expect that the lower dose is the minimum number of dopamine neurons required to achieve clinical benefit, while the larger dose is closer to providing a



**Figure 4.** Transplantation of cryopreserved dopamine neurons in rat model of PD.28 The left panels show the unilateral loss of dopamine by histology in sham treated animal, while the animal treated with dopamine neurons shows restoration of the TH signal, a surrogate marker of dopamine in the brain. Right panels: Dopamine neuron transplantation rescued the rotational asymmetry in both male and female rats.

patient with a full complement of new dopamine neurons. The target patient population is moderate to severe PD. It includes patients that cannot be properly treated with conventional therapy such as L-Dopa treatment, but do not exhibit major cognitive deficits or psychiatric comorbidities. Patients have to undergo transient immunosuppression as this is an allogenic, off-the-shelf, product. However, we think that no long-term immunosuppression is required, based on the immune status of the brain and the experience with fetal dopamine neuron grafting that showed survival of dopamine neurons for up to 24 years after only transient immunosuppression.[9]

The surgical targeting involves the injection of cells along three tracts with three deposits each on both sides of the brain (Figure 5). The target region is the post-commissural putamen, a brain region that is part of the



**Figure 5.** Surgical targeting of the brain using MRI guided stereotactic injection of the cells with a total of 3 tracts with 3 deposits on each side of the brain. Image was kindly provided by Dr. Viviane Tabar, Chair of Neurosurgery at Memorial Sloan Kettering Center, a long-term partner, and collaborator on this project.

striatum and commonly represents the most severely, dopamine-depleted brain region in PD patients. We perform the surgery under intraoperative MRI guidance which allows for exquisite control of targeting the desired brain region and helps minimize risks associated with stereotactic injections, such as risk of causing bleeding by avoiding regions with high densities of blood vessels.

After our protocol was cleared by the FDA in late 2020 and by Health Canada in 2021, the trial started with the lower dose cohort of 5 patients who were all dosed by late 2021. Injections of the higher dose cohort of 7 patients started in early 2022 and is expected to be completed in 2022. The main endpoints of the study are safety and feasibility as typical for a Phase I study. In addition, we will look for early signs of efficacy based on clinical rating scales including UPDRS part III and based on F-Dopa PET imaging to look for evidence of graft survival and function at the 1-year and 2-year marks. While we are awaiting the results from this first clinical study, questions remain about optimal patient selection and cell dose. For example, even within the current study, there were slight differences in patient selection criteria among the two surgical sites. While Health Canada followed our initial proposal of targeting moderate to severe PD patients that are older than 50 years of age, clearance by the FDA required us to limit the study to severe PD patients only and individuals who are at least 60 years of age. This is just one example of how different regulatory bodies can impact clinical development in a manner that is difficult to predict and points to fact that both regulatory bodies and investigators have to learn how to best proceed with this new class of therapies.

## Other ongoing trials and efforts to coordinate efforts across the globe

The PD cell therapy community has made a significant effort to coordinate efforts among the various groups involved across the globe. To this end, in 2014 we founded G-Force PD, a global organization with members in Europe, North America and Asia that is aimed at streamlining preclinical and clinical development of PD cell therapies.29 For example, G-Force has developed guidelines for clinical trial design that have been adopted by several groups.[30] Among the G-force members, two groups have already started clinical studies prior to our current trial. In the US, a single patient was injected using autologous iPSC-derived dopamine neurons in a study led by Kwang-Soo Kim and colleagues.[31] The resulting data showed feasibility of the approach, albeit the results were not conclusive regarding graft survival or evidence of graft function. The group in Kyoto by Jun Takahashi started their trial even earlier using human PSC-derived dopamine neurons[32] from a single iPSC line donor, that is HLA homozygous, and expected to match about 16% of the Japanese population. However, the trial is not restricted to those individuals and all the grafted patients will receive transient immunosuppression similar to that used in our ongoing trial. Neither of those two trials were based on the use of a cryo-preserved, "off the shelf" product, which complicated the QC of the product and led to a protracted timing of those trials. While our current trial is expected to dose all 12 patients within a 12-month period, the Kyoto study has been ongoing for several years with the goal of completing all (n=7) patients.

#### Next steps - beyond Phase I

Some of the next steps include the production of a commercial-grade dopamine neuron product. This effort is currently ongoing at BlueRock Therapeutics, the company I co-founded in 2017 and that was recently acquired by Bayer. For a commercial-grade product, it is important to further increase lot size by at least 1 to 2 logs in cell number, while defining robust in vitro functional assays that are required by the FDA for qualification of a commercial cell product. Other next steps include the development of a simplified surgical injection device to make loading and cell delivery foolproof for any practicing neurosurgeon. Another important step is the planning of a pivotal phase IIB/phase III study that could lead to the clinical approval of the product for broader use in PD if successful.

In addition, there are also remaining scientific challenges. The current product is suitable for clinical use, but there is the possibility of genetically engineering the human PSC line as to prevent any immune response, and thereby avoiding the need for transient immunosuppression. Further engineering could include modifications to better protect the grafted dopamine neurons from the ongoing disease process such as by lowering alpha-synuclein levels. Another open question is whether cell identity or composition can be further improved to achieve maximal potency and clinical benefit with minimal clinical risk. Yet another interesting challenge is to better understand the in vivo engraftment process and the factors that determine initial graft survival. It is estimated that only about 10% of the dopamine neurons injected ultimately survive long-term in the host brain and the factors limiting survival remain largely unknown. Finally, there is the option of developing a clinical cell replacement strategy that involves not only the striatal target region but places the cells directly into the substantia nigra to achieve a more complete integration of the grafted neurons. All those areas for further improvement could yield the versions 2.0 or 3.0 of the dopamine neuron grafting paradigm in the future to come.

## **Conclusions and outlook**

The idea of dopamine neuron replacement has been pursued for more than 30 years. Today we have access to technologies that allows the production of nearly unlimited dopamine neurons, and there is a consensus that human PSCs are the currently most appropriate choice for those efforts. While our current trial is ongoing and additional clinical trials are expected to start soon, there are already several lessons from that 30-year journey. First, there is a critical and continuing need for basic research to understand the developmental biology underlying human dopamine neuron differentiation and subtype specification and the factors controlling in vivo engraftment. Further refinements of the dopamine neuron product will likely take advantage of our increasing ability to profile dopamine neurons, [33,34] as well as all the other lineages of the human body,[35,36] in detail using single cell-based approaches. Another lesson is the need to understand and streamline the process of translating findings from the bench to the bedside. While this initial effort took nearly 10 years from the first successful proof-of-concept[22] study to the actual use in PD patients, it is likely that future efforts will move more quicky as clinical grade cell production and regulatory processes become increasingly streamlined. Accordingly, the work currently performed with dopamine neurons in PD may pave the way for other cell-based therapies in the future. Finally, while it is exciting that regenerative approaches for PD are becoming a reality, it will be important to develop strategies that go beyond the standard paradigm of replacing dopamine neurons. There is a need to think outside the box and to develop the next generation of cell-based strategies that can tackle even more challenging problems such as treating the feared cognitive symptoms in late-stage PD, where a breakthrough could herald treatments for other major neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease. Just a few decades ago, the now imminent prospect of cell therapy for PD seemed to be science fiction rather than science. Over this coming decades, the community should strive to develop cell-based approaches that can combine cell replacement with genetic engineering to tackle many additional neural disorders and to bring novel treatment options to the millions of patients suffering from those currently intractable disorders.

Declaration of interests: L.S. is a scientific co-founder and paid consultant of BlueRock Therapeutics, a biotech company recently acquired by Bayer that sponsors the ongoing clinical trial of dopamine neuron grafting in PD.

## References

- Parkinson, J. An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 14, 223-236; discussion 222, doi:10.1176/jnp.14.2.223 (2002).
- 2 Charcot, J.M. Vol. 65 129-156 (New Sydenham Society, 1877).
- 3 Yang, W. et al. Current and projected future economic burden of Parkinson's disease in the U.S. NPJ Parkinsons Dis 6. 15. doi:10.1038/s41531-020-0117-1 (2020).
- 4 Pissadaki, E.K. & Bolam, J.P. The energy cost of action potential propagation in dopamine neurons: clues to susceptibility in Parkinson's disease. Front Comput Neurosci 7, 13, doi:10.3389/ fncom.2013.00013 (2013).
- 5 Postuma, R.B. et al. MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 30, 1591-1601, doi:10.1002/mds.26424 (2015).
- 6 Blauwendraat, C., Nalls, M.A. & Singleton, A.B. The genetic architecture of Parkinson's disease. The Lancet. Neurology 19, 170-178, doi:10.1016/ S1474-4422(19)30287-X (2020).
- 7 Spillantini, M.G., Crowther, R.A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M. & Goedert, M. alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with 14 Studer, L., Tabar, V. & McKay, R.D. lewy bodies. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 6469-6473, doi:10.1073/ pnas.95.11.6469 (1998).
- Kordower, J.H. et al. Neuropathologi- 15 Lee, S.H., Lumelsky, N., Studer, L., 8 cal evidence of graft survival and striatal reinnervation after the transplantation of fetal mesencephalic tissue in a pa-

tient with Parkinson's disease. N Engl I Med 332, 1118-1124, doi:10.1056/ NEJM199504273321702 (1995).

- 9 Li, W. et al. Extensive graft-derived dopaminergic innervation is maintained 24 years after transplantation in the degenerating parkinsonian brain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113, 6544-6549, doi:10.1073/pnas.1605245113 (2016).
- 10 Freed, C.R. et al. Transplantation of embryonic dopamine neurons for severe Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med 344, 710-719, doi:10.1056/NE-JM200103083441002 (2001).
- 11 Olanow, C.W. et al. A double-blind controlled trial of bilateral fetal nigral transplantation in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 54, 403-414, doi:10.1002/ ana.10720 (2003).
- 12 Ma, Y. et al. Dopamine cell implantation in Parkinson's disease: long-term clinical and (18)F-FDOPA PET outcomes. I Nucl Med 51, 7-15, doi:10.2967/ jnumed.109.066811 (2010).
- 13 Kefalopoulou, Z. et al. Long-term clinical outcome of fetal cell transplantation for Parkinson disease: two case reports. *JAMA neurology* 71, 83-87, doi:10.1001/ jamaneurol.2013.4749 (2014).
- Transplantation of expanded mesencephalic precursors leads to recovery in parkinsonian rats. Nat Neurosci 1, 290-295, doi:10.1038/1105 (1998).
- Auerbach, J.M. & McKay, R.D. Efficient generation of midbrain and hindbrain neurons from mouse embryonic

stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 18, 675-679, doi:10.1038/76536 (2000).

- 16 Wakayama, T. et al. Differentiation of embryonic stem cell lines generclear transfer. Science 292, 740-743, doi:10.1126/science.1059399 (2001).
- 17 Tabar, V. et al. Therapeutic cloning in individual parkinsonian mice. Nat Med 14, 379-381, doi:10.1038/nm1732 (2008).
- derived from embryonic stem cells function in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. Nature 418, 50-56, doi:10.1038/nature00900 (2002).
- 19 Thomson, J.A. et al. Embryonic stem cell 28 Piao, J. et al. Preclinical Efficacy and lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282, 1145-1147, doi:10.1126/ science.282.5391.1145 (1998).
- 20 Takahashi, K. et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. 29 Barker, R.A., Studer, L., Cattaneo, Cell 131, 861-872, doi:10.1016/j. cell.2007.11.019 (2007).
- 21 Takahashi, K. & Yamanaka, S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126, 663-676, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024 (2006).
- 22 Kriks, S. et al. Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Nature 480, 547-551, doi:10.1038/nature10648 (2011).
- 23 Chambers, S.M. et al. Highly efficient 31 neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. Nat Biotechnol 27, 275-280, doi:10.1038/nbt.1529 (2009).
- 24 Kittappa, R., Chang, W.W., Awatramacontrols the birth and spontaneous degeneration of dopamine neurons in old age. PLoS Biol 5, e325, doi:10.1371/ journal.pbio.0050325 (2007).
- 25 Steinbeck, J.A. et al. Optogenetics en- 34 Kamath, T. et al. Single-cell genomic ables functional analysis of human em-

bryonic stem cell-derived grafts in a Parkinson's disease model. Nat Biotechnol 33, 204-209, doi:10.1038/nbt.3124 (2015).

- ated from adult somatic cells by nu- 26 Kim, T.W. et al. Biphasic Activation of WNT Signaling Facilitates the Derivation of Midbrain Dopamine Neurons from hESCs for Translational Use. Cell Stem Cell 28, 343-355 e345, doi:10.1016/j. stem.2021.01.005 (2021).
- 18 Kim, J.H. et al. Dopamine neurons 27 Politis, M. et al. Serotonergic neurons mediate dyskinesia side effects in Parkinson's patients with neural transplants. Sci Transl Med 2, 38ra46, doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3000976 (2010).
  - Safety of a Human Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Midbrain Dopamine Progenitor Product, MSK-DA01. Cell Stem Cell 28, 217-229 e217, doi:10.1016/j. stem.2021.01.004 (2021).
  - E., Takahashi, J. & consortium, G.F.P. G-Force PD: a global initiative in coordinating stem cell-based dopamine treatments for Parkinson's disease. NPJ Parkinsons Dis 1, 15017, doi:10.1038/ npjparkd.2015.17 (2015).
  - Barker, R.A., Parmar, M., Studer, L. 30 & Takahashi, J. Human Trials of Stem Cell-Derived Dopamine Neurons for Parkinson's Disease: Dawn of a New Era. Cell Stem Cell 21, 569-573, doi:10.1016/j.stem.2017.09.014 (2017).
  - Schweitzer, J.S. et al. Personalized iP-SC-Derived Dopamine Progenitor Cells for Parkinson's Disease. N Engl J Med 382, 1926-1932, doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1915872 (2020).
  - 32 Normile, D. in Science (2018).
  - ni, R.B. & McKay, R.D. The foxa2 gene 33 La Manno, G. et al. Molecular Diversity of Midbrain Development in Mouse, Human, and Stem Cells. Cell 167, 566-580 e519, doi:10.1016/j. cell.2016.09.027 (2016).
    - profiling of human dopamine neurons

identifies a population that selectively degenerates in Parkinson's disease. Nat Neurosci 25, 588-595, doi:10.1038/ 36 Eraslan, G. et al. Single-nucleus cross-tiss41593-022-01061-1 (2022).

35 Tabula Sapiens, C. et al. The Tabula Sapiens: A multiple-organ, single-cell transcriptomic atlas of humans. Science 376, eabl4896, doi:10.1126/science.abl4896 (2022).

sue molecular reference maps toward understanding disease gene function. Science 376, eabl4290, doi:10.1126/science.abl4290 (2022).

# **EMBRYONIC DEVELOPMENT**

# STEM CELLS, EMBRYOS AND EMBRYO MODELS

#### JANET ROSSANT

Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto, The Gairdner Foundation janet.rossant@gairdner.org

### Background

The study of early embryonic development in mammals has provided fundamental information on how the fertilized egg transitions through successive developmental stages to form a complex organism such as ourselves. It is a remarkable journey that has fascinated me since my days as a graduate student in Cambridge. The mouse embryo has been my main study system of choice but this has always been in the service of understanding human development and improving human pregnancy outcomes. The Marshall Lab at Cambridge was also the research base for Bob Edwards when I was a student. So I was keenly aware of the direct translational implications of work from mouse embryo culture to human IVF. Working with Richard Gardner, I helped establish the mouse blastocyst as a model system to study lineage decision-making in development and identified that the epiblast cells of the inner cell mass were the original pluripotent cells (Gardner and Rossant, 1979).

The blastocyst in both the mouse and the human contains three distinct lineages by the time of implantation in the uterus. There is an outer



Figure 1. Lineages from the mouse blastocyst.

polarized epithelium, the trophectoderm (TE), which gives rise to the trophoblast cells in the placenta. The trophectoderm encloses a blastocoelic cavity, at one end of which is a group of cells called the inner cell mass (ICM). The ICM consists of the pluripotent epiblast which contributes to all cells and tissues of the embryo proper as well as some extraembryonic membranes such as the amnion. The layer of primitive endoderm (PrE) on the blastocoelic surface of the ICM gives rise primarily to extraembryonic endoderm of the yolk sac. Thus, of the three lineages of the blastocyst, only the epiblast can be considered to be truly pluripotent. However, it is not totipotent as it has lost the capacity to generate TE and PrE of the conceptus. The fate and potential of the different lineages has been determined by ever-increasingly sophisticated chimera and lineage tracing experiments and the signaling pathways and transcription factors involved in specifying cell fate are fairly well understood (reviewed (Rossant, 2018)).

The beginnings of pluripotent stem cell research also date back to the 1970s. Embryonal carcinoma cell lines with some properties similar to the ICM had been isolated from mouse teratocarcinomas (Cronmiller and Mintz, 1978; Martin and Evans, 1974). They could contribute to some normal tissues in chimeras, just like epiblast cells, but the resulting chimeras succumbed to growth of tumors derived from the cell lines (Papaioannou et al., 1978). The concept that it might be possible to capture the pluripotent state of the epiblast by directly culturing blastocysts in vitro was clearly in the wind. Many groups tried to derive such cell lines and two groups, Martin Evans and Matt Kaufman (Evans and Kaufman, 1981), and Gail Martin (Martin, 1981), succeeded in 1981. The derivation of mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells marked the beginning of a revolution in mouse genetics and the foundation of all future pluripotent stem cell research and applications. It was not until 1998, however, that Jamie Thomson first reported the derivation of human embryonic stem cells from excess IVF blastocysts (Thomson et al., 1998). The ethical concerns raised by the use of human embryos for this research was a definite concern for many inside and outside the field. It was the discovery of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) by Yamanaka and colleagues in 2006/7 (Takahashi et al., 2007; Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006) that really led to an exponential surge of interest in pluripotent stem cell research and its potential applications to understanding and treating human disease.

The correlation between the properties of the embryo itself and its derived stem cells is of ongoing interest and certainly generates some controversy.

## Different mouse stem cell states and their relationship to the early embryo

Mouse ES and iPSC grown under so-called 'naïve' conditions (Ying et al., 2008) show gene expression, epigenetic profiles and X-inactivation status that are highly similar to the epiblast of the blastocyst itself. Importantly they also behave like epiblast cells when reintroduced into the early embryo, contributing to all lineages of the fetus itself, including the germ line. It is actually possible to produce entirely ES-derived mice by aggregating ES cells with tetraploid embryos – the so-called 'tetraploid complementation assay' (Nagy et al., 1993). In fact, carefully maintained mouse ES cells can routinely generate complete mice when introduced into diploid precompaction 8-cell embryos (Poueymirou et al., 2007), a process that has allowed rapid phenotypic screening of genetic alterations (Cox et al., 2010).

What about the other lineages of the blastocyst? Can they produce stem cell lines in vitro? My lab derived permanent cell lines from both the TE and the PrE of the mouse blastocyst and showed that they could self-renew, differentiate appropriately in culture and contribute to the expected lineages in vivo in chimeras.



Figure 2. Three lineage-specific progenitor cell lines from the mouse blastocyst.

ES cells, trophoblast stem (TS) cells (Tanaka et al., 1998) and Extraembryonic endoderm (XEN) cells (Kunath et al., 2005) are derived under conditions that reflect the known growth factor requirements within the embryo itself. Most notably, different levels of FGF/ERK signaling act to specify cell fate (EPI vs PrE) or maintain proliferation (postimplantation TE) in the embryo itself. Other pathways, in particular the Hippo signaling pathway (Cockburn et al., 2013), also play key roles in establishing cell fate in the embryo itself. There are still many open questions on the details of the process of lineage commitment in the mouse embryo but the overall correlation between lineage behavior in the embryo and in its derived stem cells holds firm.

Recent work has improved the derivation of TS cells (Lee et al., 2019) and XEN cells (Ohinata et al., 2022) to resemble even more closely their progenitors at the blastocyst stage.

Capturing different cell states in stem cell lines *in vitro* has been extended to other stages of development. It is obviously of interest to ask whether it is actually possible to capture the earlier totipotent state in culture. A stem cell state that reflects some of the properties of the 2-cell stage of development, the 2C-like cell, has been reported to arise spontaneously in standard ES cell cultures and has been proposed to represent the totipo-



Figure 2. FGF/ERK signaling levels determine different stem cell states in mouse.

tent state of the 2-cell embryo (Macfarlan et al., 2012). In the mouse, the two-cell stage is the time of the major activation of the zygotic genome (ZGA), which is marked by transient activation of retroposons and a set of genes only found at this stage of development. 2C-like cells share many of these gene profiles and may well represent a useful model to study the mechanisms of ZGA. However, they cannot be maintained in a stable state indefinitely in culture (Genet and Torres-Padilla, 2020) and their ability to contribute to all lineages in later development is not well documented (Macfarlan et al., 2012).

There have been a number of studies claiming to derive pluripotent cell lines with extended potential to generate both ICM and trophectoderm derivatives, usually beginning with ES cells. Although many of these do show altered properties from standard ES cells and some gene expression typical of earlier stages, most of them do not show highly convincing capacity to generate TE either in vitro or in vivo. We reassessed the capacity of two of the best documented cell lines from the Liu (Yang et al., 2017b) and Deng (Yang et al., 2017b) labs for their chimeric potential and showed that, although the cells could occasionally be found in the TE lineages, they were not fully transformed into trophoblast and continued to express ES markers (Posfai et al., 2021). Two more recent papers have used spliceosome inhibition (Shen et al., 2021) and chemical-induced chromatin remodeling (Yang et al., 2022) respectively to shift the cellular state of ES cells towards a more stable totipotent blastomere-like cell. While closer to the blastomere state, the complex chemical interference needed to cause this shift in potential still requires to be understood in terms of its relationship to the progress of totipotency to pluripotency in the embryo itself.

The epiblast cells of the blastocyst undergo further morphological and gene expression changes as the embryo implants in the uterus, leading up to the major germ layer specification events of gastrulation. They do retain full pluripotency during these transition stages but undergo various epithelial reorganizations to form the egg cylinder stage. Epiblast stem cells (EpiSC) can be derived from early postimplantation embryos in the presence of FGF (Brons et al., 2007; Tesar et al., 2007) (see Fig 3) and represent the pre-gastrulation stage epiblast, the so-called primed state. They do not respond to induction of germ cell fate and they cannot contribute to normal development after injection into the blastocyst. More recently the Smith group has proposed that there is also a formative stage of the epiblast in the early post-implantation period during which the epiblast cells exit from the naïve pluripotent state, gain responsiveness to germ cell induction and are prepared for later lineage responsiveness at the gastrulation stage (Kalkan and Smith, 2014; Smith, 2017). Several groups have isolated stem cell lines with some properties of the formative state (reviewed [Pera and Rossant, 2021]). The relationship between these various cell lines and the stages of epiblast development in the embryo is by no means entirely clear. Pluripotency seems to be a somewhat flexible state of being!

## Human development and stem cell states

When human ES cells and iPSC were first derived, they were grown under conditions that included FGF and ERK activation, leading to the general conclusion that they were closer to mouse EpiSC than the naïve pluripotent state. It took time and considerable effort to develop culture conditions that could transform human ES cells to a stable naïve state, but this has now been achieved in a number of labs (Takashima et al., 2014; Theunissen et al., 2014). Expression profiling confirms that these cells are closer to the early ICM of the human blastocyst, including in their X-inactivation status, although this state seems to be relatively transient in the embryo itself. As the embryo implants there is a fairly extended period of 4-5 days where the post-implantation epiblast persists in a relatively stable state of gene expression (Nakamura et al., 2016) whilst undergoing expansion in numbers. Both formative and primed ES cells in humans can be considered to represent different phases of this transition. At this stage, as in the mouse, the exact identities of the different cell states and their comparison to the embryo itself are unclear (reviewed [Pera and Rossant, 2021]).

It is becoming clear, however, that human naïve stem cells do have a broader lineage potential than their mouse equivalents. Several groups have shown that naïve hES cells retain some potential to differentiate down the TE pathway, depending on appropriate culture conditions (Cinkornpumin et al., 2020; Dong et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2021; Io et al., 2021). This parallels experimental data showing that isolated ICMs from the mature human blastocyst can still generate TE in outgrowth culture (Guo et al., 2021). This is in contrast to results from the mouse where ICM cells clearly lose TE potential after initiation of blastocyst formation (Posfai et al., 2017).

Recently two groups have reported that it is possible to identify a subset of cells in naïve hES cultures that express many of the properties of the 8-cell blastomere stage of development, which marks the time of major ZGA in the human embryo (Mazid et al., 2022; Taubenschmid-Stowers et al., 2022). Similar to the mouse 2C-like cells, these 8C-like cells express features of zygotic genome activation and share common markers of ZGA like HERV-L and Trpx1. These cells may be useful for studying human ZGA but, like the mouse, this is not a stable state that can be used to promote totipotent development.

What about stable stem cell lines from the TE and hypoblast in human? Again, such lines have been derived but not with as much ease as from the mouse blastocyst. Human TS cells have been derived from both blastocysts and early villus biopsies (Okae et al., 2018). They seem to have the lineage potential of the early postimplantation cytotrophoblast, rather than the TE of the blastocyst. There have been two reports of isolating extraembryonic endoderm-like cells (Linneberg-Agerholm et al., 2019) or yolk sac-like cells (YSLC) (Mackinlay et al., 2021) from human ES cells, which may have some properties of the hypoblast.

More details on current understanding of human embryo development and its relationship to stem cell states is found in Rossant and Tam (Rossant and Tam, 2022).

## Stem-cell derived blastocyst models from mouse to human

There are still many gaps in our knowledge of the molecular processes of blastocyst formation in humans and there are several groups working to fill those gaps with direct data from human embryos in culture. However, use of human embryos for research is limited by regulation or legislation in many jurisdictions and, even where permissible, the supply is limited. As with other approaches to studying human development using stem cell-derived organoids, there is considerable interest in using stem cells to model early development. Here I focus on the production of so called blastoids as models of the blastocyst itself. The Rivron lab generated structures resembling blastocysts by controlled aggregation of mouse ES cells and TS cells (Rivron et al., 2018). The primitive endoderm lineage was not well represented in these original blastoids. They could cause a decidual response in the uterus but did not develop further.

Blastoids with more primitive endoderm cells were produced when mouse extended potential ES cells (Yang et al., 2017a; Yang et al., 2017b), were either combined with TS cells (Sozen et al., 2019) or cultured in suspension culture alone (Li et al., 2019). Although these blastoids were closer in morphology and expression profiles to the blastocyst, they still failed to show embryo development after implantation. In the case of blastoids derived entirely from extended potential ES cells (Li et al., 2019), our re-analysis of the gene expression profiles did not support a bona fide TE identity for all of the putative TE cells in the blastoids (Posfai et al., 2021).

Clearly even in the mouse, the blastoid is not yet really equivalent to the blastocyst. In the mouse one always has the gold standard of the embryo to fall back on when trying to validate the system. When generating human stem cell-based embryo models, it is still very important to be able to compare with the embryo itself, even though there is a limitation on the temporal extent of study. Thus, the potential to be able to generate large numbers of human embryo models from stem cells is very attractive. The logical place to start with generation of human blastoids might be expected to be combinations of human blastocyst-derived stem cells, in a similar manner to the mouse. However, there have been no published reports on successful generation of human blastoids from combining human ES and TS cells. Instead, there have been a series of reports claiming to generate blastoids directly from human ES cells by various culture manipulations without addition of any specific extraembryonic cell types (Fan et al., 2021; Kagawa et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2021; Sozen et al., 2021; Yanagida et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2021). One study claimed to produce iblastoids as an intermediate during the process of reprogramming adult cells to iPSC (Liu et al., 2021), while most other studies began with human ES cells in a putative naïve state. Given the reports that ES cells in the naïve state retain some TE potential (Cinkornpumin et al., 2020; Dong et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2021; Io et al., 2021), these groups claim to have revealed this potential in a relatively controlled manner so as to produce blastoids at reasonable efficiency. Some of the reported human blastoids do show quite striking resemblance to the blastocyst itself in both morphology and gene expression, but in-depth comparisons of the gene expression profile of the cell types in the blastoid with the embryo itself always need to be made. Formation of an epithelial cyst with enclosed pluripotent cells is not sufficient to confirm a functional TE phenotype. Our reanalysis of the published data shows that all human blastoids contain undefined cell types at various proportions (Zhao et al., BioRxiv). Further, the claimed TE lineage in the blastoids derived during reprogramming is closer in expression profile to amnion than TE. Clearly it is early days for generating reproducible, homogeneous human blastoids that can mimic early developmental stages in vitro. More refinement of culture conditions and careful comparison with normal blastocysts and early post-implantation stages will be needed to validate these potentially powerful experimental models.

It has been suggested that broader use of stem cell-derived blastoids could avoid some of the regulatory and ethical issues of human embryo research. A blastoid may resemble the products of conception but is not derived by the union of egg and sperm. Its genotype reflects the diploid genotype of its founding cell line. However, blastoids do come with their own legal and ethical concerns. Although currently blastoids, even in the mouse, are clearly not functional embryo equivalents, would further improvements bring them closer to such capacity? When would a stem cell model be considered to have crossed the line and become an embryo? In some jurisdictions such as Australia, blastoids are already considered as requiring the same regulatory oversight as embryos themselves (Matthews and Morali, 2020) and the US NIH is not currently funding such research. The recently revised ISSCR Stem Cell Guidelines took these issues into consideration and proposed that integrated stem cell models like blastoids (with cell types potentially able to generate a functional placenta and embryo) should be subject to special oversight and restricted to short term culture (Lovell-Badge et al., 2021), while still recognizing that they are not embryo equivalents. The guidelines also specifically prohibit transfer of any stem cell-based embryo model (including blastoids, gastruloids and other models) to the uterus of a human or animal host.

## Conclusions

Many years of research on mouse embryo development and differentiation have provided the tools, the fundamental knowledge and the practical applications that underlie the current excitement about exploring human development more directly. The advent of single cell genomics and transcriptomics, in vivo live imaging, CRISPR gene editing has provided new insights into understanding lineage development in both mouse and human embryos. The development of stem-cell based integrated and non-integrated embryo models (Rossant and Tam, 2021; Weatherbee et al., 2021) provides new avenues for human embryology research but with a clear need to be validated against normal embryonic processes. Overall, increased scientific knowledge of the mechanisms of embryogenesis will help us understand the basis of both genetic developmental anomalies and non-genetic congenital diseases, as well as shedding light on the causes of early embryo loss and pregnancy disorders. Embryo and stem cell research have always been closely intertwined and there is no doubt that will continue in the future to great effect.

## References

Brons, I.G., Smithers, L.E., Trotter, M.W., Rugg-Gunn, P., Sun, B., Chuva de Sousa Lopes, S.M., Howlett, S.K., Clarkson, A., Ahrlund-Richter, L., Pedersen, R.A., et Cinkornpumin, J.K., Kwon, S.Y., Guo, Y.,

Hossain, I., Sirois, J., Russett, C.S., Tseng, H.W., Okae, H., Arima, T., Duchaine, T.F., et al. (2020). Naive Human Embryonic Stem Cells Can Give Rise to Cells with a Trophoblast-like Transcriptome and Methylome. Stem Cell Reports 15, 198-213.

- Cockburn, K., Biechele, S., Garner, J., and Rossant, J. (2013). The Hippo pathway member Nf2 is required for inner cell mass specification. Curr Biol 23, 1195-1201.
- Biechele, S., Gertsenstein, M., van Campenhout, C., Floss, T., Kuhn, R., Wurst, W., et al. (2010). Phenotypic annotation of the mouse X chromosome. Genome Res 20, 1154-1164.
- Cronmiller, C., and Mintz, B. (1978). Karvotypic normalcy and quasi-normalcy of developmentally totipotent mouse teratocarcinoma cells. Dev Biol 67, 465-477.
- Dong, C., Beltcheva, M., Gontarz, P., S.A., Park, K.-m., Yoon, E.-J., Xing, X., et al. (2020). Derivation of trophoblast stem cells from naïve human pluripotent stem cells. eLife 9, e52504.
- Evans, M., and Kaufman, M.H. (1981). Establishment in culture of pluripotential 154-155.
- Fan, Y., Min, Z., Alsolami, S., Ma, Z., Zhang, E., Chen, W., Zhong, K., Pei, W., Kang, X., Zhang, P., et al. (2021). Generation of human blastocyst-like structures from pluripotent stem cells. Cell Discov 7, 81.
- Gardner, R.L., and Rossant, J. (1979). In- Li, R., Zhong, C., Yu, Y., Liu, H., Sakurai, vestigation of the fate of 4-5 day post-coitum mouse inner cell mass cells by blastocyst injection. J Embryol Exp Morphol 52, 141-152.
- Genet, M., and Torres-Padilla, M.E. (2020). The molecular and cellular features of Linneberg-Agerholm, 2-cell-like cells: a reference guide. Development 147.
- Guo, G., Stirparo, G.G., Strawbridge, S.E., Spindlow, D., Yang, J., Clarke, J., Dattani,

A., Yanagida, A., Li, M.A., Myers, S., et al. (2021). Human naive epiblast cells possess unrestricted lineage potential. Cell Stem Cell 28, 1040-1056 e1046.

- Io, S., Kabata, M., Iemura, Y., Semi, K., Morone, N., Minagawa, A., Wang, B., Okamoto, I., Nakamura, T., Kojima, Y., et al. (2021). Capturing human trophoblast development with naive pluripotent stem cells in vitro. Cell Stem Cell 28, 1023-1039 e1013.
- Cox, B.J., Vollmer, M., Tamplin, O., Lu, M., Kagawa, H., Javali, A., Khoei, H.H., Sommer, T.M., Sestini, G., Novatchkova, M., Scholte Op Reimer, Y., Castel, G., Bruneau, A., Maenhoudt, N., et al. (2022). Human blastoids model blastocyst development and implantation. Nature 601, 600-605.
  - Kalkan, T., and Smith, A. (2014). Mapping the route from naive pluripotency to lineage specification. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369.
  - Zhang, B., Popli, P., Fischer, L.A., Khan, Kunath, T., Arnaud, D., Uy, G.D., Okamoto, I., Chureau, C., Yamanaka, Y., Heard, E., Gardner, R.L., Avner, P., and Rossant, J. (2005). Imprinted X-inactivation in extra-embryonic endoderm cell lines from mouse blastocysts. Development 132, 1649-1661.
  - cells from mouse embryos. Nature 292, Lee, C.Q.E., Bailey, A., Lopez-Tello, J., Sferruzzi-Perri, A.N., Okkenhaug, K., Moffett, A., Rossant, J., and Hemberger, M. (2019). Inhibition of Phosphoinositide-3-Kinase Signaling Promotes the Stem Cell State of Trophoblast. Stem Cells 37, 1307-1318.
    - M., Yu, L., Min, Z., Shi, L., Wei, Y., Takahashi, Y., et al. (2019). Generation of Blastocyst-like Structures from Mouse Embryonic and Adult Cell Cultures. Cell 179, 687-702 e618.
    - M., Wong, Y.F., Romero Herrera, J.A., Monteiro, R.S., Anderson, K.G.V., and Brickman, J.M. (2019). Naive human pluripotent stem cells respond to Wnt, Nodal and LIF signalling

to produce expandable naive extra-embryonic endoderm. Development 146.

- Liu, X., Tan, J.P., Schroder, J., Aberkane, A., Ouyang, J.F., Mohenska, M., Lim, S.M., Sun, Y.B.Y., Chen, J., Sun, G., et al. (2021). Modelling human blastocysts by reprogramming fibroblasts into iBlastoids. Nature 591, 627-632.
- Lovell-Badge, R., Anthony, E., Barker, R.A., Bubela, T., Brivanlou, A.H., Carpenter, M., Charo, R.A., Clark, A., Clayton, E., Cong, Y., et al. (2021). ISSCR Guidelines for Stem Cell Research and Clinical Translation: The 2021 update. Stem cell reports.
- Macfarlan, T.S., Gifford, W.D., Driscoll, S., Lettieri, K., Rowe, H.M., Bonanomi, D., Firth, A., Singer, O., Trono, D., and Pfaff, S.L. (2012). Embryonic stem cell potency fluctuates with endogenous retrovirus activity. Nature 487, 57-63.
- Mackinlay, K.M., Weatherbee, B.A., Souza Rosa, V., Handford, C.E., Hudson, G., Coorens, T., Pereira, L.V., Behjati, S., Vallier, L., Shahbazi, M.N., et al. (2021). An in vitro stem cell model of human epiblast and yolk sac interaction. eLife 10.
- Martin, G.R. (1981). Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78, 7634-7638.
- Martin, G.R., and Evans, M.J. (1974). The morphology and growth of a pluripotent teratocarcinoma cell line and its derivatives in tissue culture. Cell 2, 163-172.
- Matthews, K.R., and Morali, D. (2020). National human embryo and embryoid research policies: a survey of 22 top research-intensive countries. Regen Med 15, 1905-1917.
- Mazid, M.A., Ward, C., Luo, Z., Liu, C., Li, Y., Lai, Y., Wu, L., Li, J., Jia, W., Jiang, Y., et al. (2022). Rolling back human bryo-like stage. Nature.
- Nagy, A., Rossant, J., Nagy, R., Abramow-New-

erly, W., and Roder, J.C. (1993). Derivation of completely cell culture-derived mice from early-passage embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 8424-8428.

- Nakamura, T., Okamoto, I., Sasaki, K., Yabuta, Y., Iwatani, C., Tsuchiya, H., Seita, Y., Nakamura, S., Yamamoto, T., and Saitou, M. (2016). A developmental coordinate of pluripotency among mice, monkeys and humans. Nature 537, 57-62.
- Ohinata, Y., Endo, T.A., Sugishita, H., Watanabe, T., Iizuka, Y., Kawamoto, Y., Saraya, A., Kumon, M., Koseki, Y., Kondo, T., et al. (2022). Establishment of mouse stem cells that can recapitulate the developmental potential of primitive endoderm. Science 375, 574-578.
- Okae, H., Toh, H., Sato, T., Hiura, H., Takahashi, S., Shirane, K., Kabayama, Y., Suyama, M., Sasaki, H., and Arima, T. (2018). Derivation of Human Trophoblast Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell 22, 50-63 e56.
- Papaioannou, V.E., Gardner, R.L., McBurney, M.W., Babinet, C., and Evans, M.J. (1978). Participation of cultured teratocarcinoma cells in mouse embryogenesis. I Embryol Exp Morphol 44, 93-104.
- Pera, M.F., and Rossant, J. (2021). The exploration of pluripotency space: Charting cell state transitions in peri-implantation development. Cell Stem Cell 28, 1896-1906.
- Posfai, E., Petropoulos, S., de Barros, F.R.O., Schell, J.P., Jurisica, I., Sandberg, R., Lanner, F., and Rossant, J. (2017). Position- and Hippo signaling-dependent plasticity during lineage segregation in the early mouse embryo. eLife 6.
- Posfai, E., Schell, J.P., Janiszewski, A., Rovic, I., Murray, A., Bradshaw, B., Yamakawa, T., Pardon, T., El Bakkali, M., Talon, I., et al. (2021). Evaluating totipotency using criteria of increasing stringency. Nat Cell Biol 23, 49-60.
- pluripotent stem cells to an eight-cell em- Poueymirou, W.T., Auerbach, W., Frendewey, D., Hickey, J.F., Escaravage, J.M., Esau, L., Dore, A.T., Stevens, S., Adams, N.C.,

Dominguez, M.G., et al. (2007). F0 generation mice fully derived from gene-targeted embryonic stem cells allowing immediate phenotypic analyses. Nat Biotechnol 25, 91-99.

- Rivron, N.C., Frias-Aldeguer, J., Vrij, E.J., Boisset, J.C., Korving, J., Vivie, J., Truckenmuller, R.K., van Oudenaarden, A., van Blitterswijk, C.A., and Geijsen, N. (2018). Blastocyst-like structures generated solely from stem cells. Nature 557, 106-111.
- Cell Lineages in the Mammalian Embryo. Annu Rev Genet 52, 185-201.
- Rossant, J., and Tam, P.P.L. (2021). Opportunities and challenges with stem cellbased embryo models. Stem cell reports 16, 1031-1038.
- Rossant, J., and Tam, P.P.L. (2022). Early human embryonic development: Blastocyst formation to gastrulation. Dev Cell 57, 152-165.
- Shen, H., Yang, M., Li, S., Zhang, J., Peng, B., Wang, C., Chang, Z., Ong, J., and Du, P. (2021). Mouse totipotent stem cells captured and maintained through spliceosomal repression. Cell 184, 2843-2859 e2820.
- Smith, A. (2017). Formative pluripotency: the executive phase in a developmental continuum. Development 144, 365-373.
- Sozen, B., Cox, A.L., De Jonghe, J., Bao, M., Hollfelder, F., Glover, D.M., and Zernicka-Goetz, M. (2019). Self-Organization of Mouse Stem Cells into an Extended Potential Blastoid. Dev Cell 51, 698-712 e698.
- Sozen, B., Jorgensen, V., Weatherbee, B.A.T., Chen, S., Zhu, M., and Zernicka-Goetz, M. (2021). Reconstructing aspects of human embryogenesis with pluripotent stem cells. Nature communications 12, 5550.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2007). Induction of fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131, 861-872.

- Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126, 663-676.
- Takashima, Y., Guo, G., Loos, R., Nichols, J., Ficz, G., Krueger, F., Oxley, D., Santos, F., Clarke, J., Mansfield, W., et al. (2014). Resetting transcription factor control circuitry toward ground-state pluripotency in human. Cell 158, 1254-1269.
- Rossant, J. (2018). Genetic Control of Early Tanaka, S., Kunath, T., Hadjantonakis, A.K., Nagy, A., and Rossant, J. (1998). Promotion of trophoblast stem cell proliferation by FGF4. Science 282, 2072-2075.
  - Taubenschmid-Stowers, J., Rostovskaya, M., Santos, F., Ljung, S., Argelaguet, R., Krueger, F., Nichols, J., and Reik, W. (2022). 8C-like cells capture the human zygotic genome activation program in vitro. Cell Stem Cell 29, 449-459 e446.
  - Tesar, P.J., Chenoweth, J.G., Brook, F.A., Davies, T.J., Evans, E.P., Mack, D.L., Gardner, R.L., and McKay, R.D. (2007). New cell lines from mouse epiblast share defining features with human embryonic stem cells. Nature 448, 196-199.
  - Theunissen, T.W., Powell, B.E., Wang, H., Mitalipova, M., Faddah, D.A., Reddy, J., Fan, Z.P., Maetzel, D., Ganz, K., Shi, L., et al. (2014). Systematic identification of culture conditions for induction and maintenance of naive human pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell 15, 471-487.
  - Thomson, J.A., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Shapiro, S.S., Waknitz, M.A., Swiergiel, J.J., Marshall, V.S., and Jones, J.M. (1998). Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282, 1145-1147.
  - Weatherbee, B.A.T., Cui, T., and Zernicka-Goetz, M. (2021). Modeling human embryo development with embryonic and extra-embryonic stem cells. Dev Biol 474, 91-99.
  - pluripotent stem cells from adult human Yanagida, A., Spindlow, D., Nichols, J., Dattani, A., Smith, A., and Guo, G. (2021). Naive stem cell blastocyst model captures

human embryo lineage segregation. Cell Stem Cell.

- Yang, J., Ryan, D.J., Wang, W., Tsang, J.C., Lan, G., Masaki, H., Gao, X., Antunes, L., Yu, Y., Zhu, Z., *et al.* (2017a). Establishment of mouse expanded potential stem cells. *Nature* 550, 393–397.
- Yang, M., Yu, H., Yu, X., Liang, S., Hu, Y., Luo, Y., Izsvak, Z., Sun, C., and Wang, J. (2022). Chemical-induced chromatin remodeling reprograms mouse ESCs to totipotent-like stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 29, 400-418 e413.
- Yang, Y., Liu, B., Xu, J., Wang, J., Wu, J., Shi, C., Xu, Y., Dong, J., Wang, C., Lai, W., et al. (2017b). Derivation of Pluripo-

tent Stem Cells with In Vivo Embryonic and Extraembryonic Potency. *Cell 169*, 243-257.e225.

- Ying, Q.L., Wray, J., Nichols, J., Batlle-Morera, L., Doble, B., Woodgett, J., Cohen, P., and Smith,
- A. (2008). The ground state of embryonic stem cell self-renewal. *Nature* 453, 519-523.
- Yu, L., Wei, Y., Duan, J., Schmitz, D.A., Sakurai, M., Wang, L., Wang, K., Zhao, S., Hon, G.C., and Wu, J. (2021). Blastocyst-like structures generated from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* 591, 620– 626.

## HEMATOPOIETIC CELL THERAPIES FROM HUMAN INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS

### RAN JING AND GEORGE Q. DALEY

Stem Cell Program and Division of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School Boston, MA 02138

As universal precursors for any cell type in the human body, human induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) hold great promise for cell replacement therapies and regenerative medicine. Similar to embryonic stem (ES) cells, but avoiding ethical controversy and regulatory burdens, iPSCs can be expanded indefinitely and induced to differentiate into multiple cell types. With genetic manipulation to ensure immune compatibility, iPSCs can in principle serve as an unlimited source for "off-the-shelf" therapies (Lanza et al., 2019). Among the multitude of cell types that could be used to treat human disease, iPSC-derived blood cells are arguably the most amenable to clinical use, as human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs), red blood cells, and platelets have been used in all corners of the globe to treat blood malignancies, genetic disorders, and cytopenias for decades with great success (Appelbaum, 2007). Bone marrow, red cell and platelet procurement entail a cumbersome and expensive blood donation system that critically depends on donor altruism and availability, and can be disrupted by unpredictability, supply chain inefficiency, and shortages and is subject to pathogen contamination (viral, parasitic, and bacterial). Largescale manufacture of HSPCs, red blood cells, platelets, lymphoid and myeloid lineages from iPSCs provides an appealing alternative source for bone marrow transplantation and various hematopoietic therapies, and consequently has great therapeutic importance. Efficient in vitro differentiation of iPSCs into HSPCs and other blood lineages relies on lessons learned from developmental studies of embryonic hematopoiesis. In mammals, blood cells are produced in "waves" in temporally and anatomically distinct sites that support the emergence, maintenance, or proliferation of HSPCs. The first wave of hematopoiesis arises in the mammalian yolk sac, an extra-embryonic tissue that produces so-called "primitive" erythroid cells (Palis et al., 1999; Whitelaw et al., 1990), macrophages (Takahashi et al., 1989), and megakaryocytes (Tober et al., 2007). The multipotent erythromyeloid progenitors (EMPs) and HSCs capable of supporting lifelong production of all mature blood lineages emerge later during the "definitive" wave of hematopoiesis in the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM) region of embryonic mesoderm (Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996). It has been shown in multiple vertebrate animal models, from zebrafish to human, that definitive hematopoiesis happens through a highly conserved trans-differentiation process known as endothelial-to-hematopoietic transition (EHT), during which a subset of endothelial cells with hemogenic (blood-forming) potential differentiate and egress from the ventral wall of the aorta to enter the circulation as multipotential EMPs as well as a cohort of *bone fide* HSCs (Jaffredo et al., 1998; Kissa and Herbomel, 2010; Zovein et al., 2008). The HSCs generated from EHT later colonize fetal liver to further mature and expand significantly before they seed the bone marrow to maintain life-long adult hematopoiesis (Houssaint, 1981; Kieusseian et al., 2012).

A detailed roadmap of the underlying mechanisms of embryonic blood ontogeny and the emergence of definitive hematopoiesis has been summarized in depth in several recent reviews (Dzierzak and Bigas, 2018; Liggett and Sankaran, 2020; Sugden and North, 2021). Employing principles of morphogen-induced mesodermal patterning and fate-sustaining cytokines, multiple groups have established protocols that direct the differentiation of human iPSCs into HSPCs in vitro that can give rise to a variety of more terminally differentiated blood lineages. In the first such study, stromal cell lines derived from mouse hematopoietic tissues were used to support the differentiation of human ES cells into progenitor cells that formed hematopoietic colonies (Kaufman et al., 2001). Subsequently, culture systems employing the spontaneous differentiation of ES cells into embryoid bodies (EBs) enabled stromal-free differentiation of ES cells into HSPCs (Chadwick et al., 2003; Zambidis et al., 2005). Most early in vitro differentiation protocols recapitulated the primitive wave of hematopoiesis, though subsequent methods enabled the generation of CD34+ cells with lymphoid potential (Kyba et al., 2002; Vodyanik et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2005). More recent studies have used T cell differentiation as an indication of definitive multilineage potential, and have established that activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling combined with inhibition of Activin/Nodal signaling can pattern mesoderm towards definitive hematopoiesis (Kennedy et al., 2012; Sturgeon et al., 2014). Small molecule-based manipulation of these signaling pathways during the EB stage of differentiation enables the generation of definitive hemogenic endothelium (HE; defined as CD34+ KDR+ CD184- CD73-) from human pluripotent stem cells (PSCs). In the presence of a cocktail of cytokines and chemicals that promote hematopoiesis, these HE cells can go through a Notch-dependent EHT-like conversion to form CD34+ CD45+ HSPCs that are capable of giving rise to erythroid, myeloid, and lymphoid cells (Ditadi et al., 2015). Such a strategy has also been applied to human iPS cells (Kennedy et al., 2012). Chemical inhibition of ActivinA/TGFB pathway and aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) facilitates the generation of iPSC-derived HSPCs that produce erythroid cells expressing adult globin proteins (Leung et al., 2018). Despite considerable effort, to date no group has succeeded in deriving HSCs with long-term, self-renewing, multi-lineage hematopoietic reconstitution potential in lethally-irradiated murine hosts, considered the cardinal definition of the HSC. However, two groups including our own have leveraged transcription-factor driven conversion of embryoid-body derived hematopoietic progenitors into engrafting cells with durable multi-lineage differentiation potential, albeit with low efficiency (Sugimura et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2018). These studies produce iPSC-derived HSPCs that are capable of multilineage engraftment of primary and secondary mouse recipients, and establish that PSCs indeed hold promise as a source for HSPC transplantation. Nevertheless, such a system requires the expression of transgenes, which is not optimal for clinical translation. To date, in vitro protocols appear to lack key developmental and microenvironmental cues to promote proper differentiation of engraftable HSPCs. Key deficiencies are likely to include exposure to the proper dose and duration of retinoids, which are well known to pattern developmental processes (Luff et al., 2022), as well as biomechanical forces, as it is has been established that longitudinal shear and circumferential stress forces trigger the emergence of HSPCs from the HE of the aorta (Adamo et al., 2009; Diaz et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2015; Lundin et al., 2020; North et al., 2009).

Although the generation of *bona fide* HSC from iPSCs without genetic manipulation has not yet been achieved, considerably more success has been had by several groups in producing definitive HSPCs with the capacity to differentiate further into cells of the lymphoid lineage (Demirci et al., 2020; Kennedy et al., 2012; Park et al., 2018; Sturgeon et al., 2014). Given that chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy has shown remarkable efficacy against several types of blood cancer (June et al., 2018), there is growing interest in the prospect that iPSC-derived lymphoid cells could become a more facile and readily available source for adoptive immunotherapies. Current CAR-T therapies utilize patient-derived T cells that are collected via apheresis, cultured in the lab and engineered to express CARs that can specifically recognize tumor antigens. After expansion, autologous CAR T cells can be infused back to the patient to target tumor cells, with a recent study showing that CAR T cells can persist and lead to decade-long leukemia remissions (Melenhorst et al., 2022). Despite success against CD19-positive lymphoid leukemia and lymphoma and BCMA-positive multiple myeloma, and much promise for targeting a wider array of solid tumors, adoptive immunotherapy is currently limited by its dependence on autologous T cells, which renders the manufacturing process cumbersome, time-consuming, and expensive (Fesnak et al., 2016). iPSC-derived T cells provide an appealing alternative source for the production of CAR T cells, which if "cloaked" to reduce immunogenicity may enable precisely manufactured off-the-shelf adoptive T cells therapies. Compared to other blood lineages, production of T cells from iPSCs has proven challenging because T cell maturation relies on signaling via the Notch receptor pathway normally provided by thymic epithelial cells (De Smedt et al., 2005). As a surrogate, engineered mouse stromal cells that express Notch ligands, such as OP9-DL1/DL4, have been included in co-culture with HSPCs to support in vitro T cell differentiation from various stem cell types (Schmitt and Zúñiga-Pflücker, 2002; Timmermans et al., 2009). Exploiting such an approach, iPSCs harboring tumor-specific T cell receptors (TCR) or expressing CARs have been used to generate tumor antigen-specific T cells or CAR T cells showing antitumor activities in vitro and in animal models (Themeli et al., 2013; Vizcardo et al., 2013). These studies provide proof-of-concept that iPSC-derived T cells have the potential for clinical applications such as cancer immunotherapy. However, in the first studies, molecular characterizations of the iPSC-derived CAR T cells revealed a transcriptional signature more akin to innate-like T cells that express  $\gamma\delta$  T Cell Receptors (TCR) rather than mature T Cells that express  $\alpha\beta$  TCR. Moreover, the first reported iPSC-CAR T cells predominantly expressed CD8aa homodimer, which does not engage major histocompatibility complex (MHC) as efficiently as the CD8  $\alpha\beta$  co-receptors found on more mature  $\alpha\beta$  TCR-expressing T cells that circulate in our blood (Van Kaer et al., 2014). As a result of these innate-like features, iPSC-CAR T cells produced by these early methods were not as functionally robust as clinical grade CAR T cells derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) (Themeli et al., 2013). More recent studies have explored new strategies to generate iPSC-T cells via three-dimensional organoid-like culture systems, and have shown enhanced efficiency in producing  $\alpha\beta$  TCR+ CD8+ T cells from human iPSCs (Montel-Hagen et al., 2019; Seet et al., 2017). Studies to date on these enhanced in vitro

T cell culture systems have included only limited transcriptional analysis at the single cell level, thereby hindering comparison to PBMC-derived mature T cells. Moreover, the translational potential of some protocols remains limited by the usage of mouse stromal cells. To overcome these obstacles, the Daley lab has been using immobilized Notch ligands instead of stromal cells to support T cell differentiation from iPSCs. Similar stroma-free protocols have been used to generate T cells from iPSCs that are reprogrammed from T cells with pre-rearranged TCRs (Iriguchi et al., 2021; Shukla et al., 2017). We have further shown that in vitro stroma-free differentiation can recapitulate normal TCR rearrangement and vield T cells expressing a highly diverse TCR repertoire. Additionally, previous studies from the Daley lab have identified transcription factors and epigenetic modulators that act as important regulators for multilineage blood potential and lymphoid commitment (Doulatov et al., 2013; Vo et al., 2018). Leveraging this information, we have combined the stroma-free T cell differentiation protocol with epigenetic factor-mediated reprogramming to further facilitate T cell differentiation from iPSCs. As a result, we have generated iPSC-T cells that are more developmentally mature and functionally robust. These iPSC-derived T cells exhibit a molecular signature that resembles mature  $\alpha\beta$  TCR+T cells from PBMC, and when engineered to express tumor-specific CARs, display enhanced efficacy against tumor cells in xenograft mouse models. Such a strategy is compatible with large-scale production of iPSC-derived T cells and is highly amendable to immune-cloaking techniques that would be needed to realize "off-theshelf' adoptive T cell therapies.

In addition to T cells, immunotherapies using NK cells have likewise shown great promise in the treatment of both hematopoietic and solid tumors (Basar et al., 2020; Wrona et al., 2021). Unlike T cells, NK cell cytotoxicity is not restricted to specific MHC molecules but depends on a more versatile regulation of activating vs. inhibitory signals (Fauriat et al., 2010). As a result, NK cells have advantages in targeting MHC-downregulated tumor cells that can escape from T-mediated antitumor responses. Moreover, CAR NK cells are less likely to cause graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) and CAR T cell-associated toxicities such as cytokine release syndrome (Liu et al., 2020; Ruggeri et al., 2002). Multiple protocols have been developed to generate CD3-CD56+ NK cells from pluripotent stem cells for the production of CAR NK cells (Knorr et al., 2013; Woll et al., 2009; Zeng et al., 2017). Current studies on iPSC-derived NK cells are focusing on further engineering the NK cells to promote expansion capacity or enhance antitumor activities (Cichocki et al., 2020; Li et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2020). We have shown that a set of epigenetic modulators acts during early lymphoid commitment to regulate the NK cell vs. T cell fate decision. Using various genetic editing tools, we are able to temporally manipulate the expression of these epigenetic regulators and fine-tune the *in vitro* differentiation of iPSCs to produce mature NK cells. Compared to control iPSC-derived NK cells, these epigenetically reprogrammed NK cells exhibit elevated surface expression of CD16 and other activation receptors that are essential for the NK cell-mediated killing response. Whether such developmentally mature NK cells show enhanced anti-tumor activity remains to be proven.

In summary (Figure 1), iPSCs represent a compelling source for the generation of hematopoietic cells for applications in research and clinical medicine. Advances in genetic editing of iPSCs holds additional value for producing cell products with defined antigenic and receptor profiles (e.g., universal donor O-Red Blood Cells, PLA1-negative platelets, and TCR-deficient T cells), while advances in bioprocess engineering are re-



**Figure 1.** Generating blood cells from iPSCs. Human iPSCs can be induced to differentiate into primitive or definitive HSPCs. Primitive HSPCs are lineage-restricted and can only give rise to erythroid/myeloid cells, while definitive HSPCs can be used to generated NK and T cells of the lymphoid lineage. Epigenetic reprogramming during lymphoid differentiation allows the production of more mature, functional NK/T cells. These cells can be further engineered with tumor-specific CARs to produce CAR NK/T cells that are being clinically deployed for adoptive cancer immunotherapies.

quired to achieve efficient and cost-effective cell manufacture at clinical scale for truly off-the-shelf therapeutics. Clinical trials have already commenced for iPSC-derived platelets (Nakamura et al., 2021) and NK cells (Cichocki et al., 2020) with the expectation that T cells, red blood cells, and HSCs anticipated to follow, ushering in a future where cells become living medicines.

## References

- Adamo, L., Naveiras, O., Wenzel, P.L., McK- Demirci, S., Haro-Mora, J., Leonard, A., inney-Freeman, S., Mack, P.J., Gracia-Sancho, J., Suchy-Dicey, A., Yoshimoto, M., Lensch, M.W., Yoder, M.C., et al. (2009). Biomechanical forces promote embryonic haematopoiesis. Nature 459, 1131-1135. 10.1038/nature08073.
- Appelbaum, F. (2007). Hematopoietic-cell transplantation at 50. N Engl J Med 357, 1472-1475. 10.1056/NEJMp078166.
- Basar, R., Daher, M., and Rezvani, K. (2020). Next-generation cell therapies: the emerging role of CAR-NK cells. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2020, 570-578. 10.1182/hematology.2020002547.
- Chadwick, K., Wang, L., Li, L., Menendez, P., Murdoch, B., Rouleau, A., and Bhapromote hematopoietic differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Blood 102, 906-915. 10.1182/blood-2003-03-0832.
- Cichocki, F., Bjordahl, R., Gaidarova, S., Mahmood, S., Abujarour, R., Wang, H., Tuininga, K., Felices, M., Davis, Z., Bendzick, L., et al. (2020). iPSC-derived NK cells maintain high cytotoxicity and enhance in vivo tumor control in concert with T cells and anti-PD-1 therapy. Sci Transl Med 12. 10.1126/scitranslmed. aaz5618.
- De Smedt, M., Hoebeke, I., Reynvoet, K., Leclercq, G., and Plum, J. (2005). Different precursor cells toward B-, NK-, monocytic/dendritic-, or T-cell lineage in thymus microenvironment. Blood 106, 3498-3506. 10.1182/blood-2005-02-0496.

- Drysdale, C., Malide, D., Keyvanfar, K., Essawi, K., Vizcardo, R., Tamaoki, N., Restifo, N., et al. (2020). Definitive hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells from human embryonic stem cells through serum/feeder-free organoid-induced differentiation. Stem Cell Res Ther 11, 493. 10.1186/s13287-020-02019-5.
- Diaz, M.F., Li, N., Lee, H.J., Adamo, L., Evans, S.M., Willey, H.E., Arora, N., Torisawa, Y.S., Vickers, D.A., Morris, S.A., et al. (2015). Biomechanical forces promote blood development through prostaglandin E2 and the cAMP-PKA signaling axis. J Exp Med 212, 665-680. 10.1084/ jem.20142235.
- tia, M. (2003). Cytokines and BMP-4 Ditadi, A., Sturgeon, C., Tober, J., Awong, G., Kennedy, M., Yzaguirre, A., Azzola, L., Ng, E., Stanley, E., French, D., et al. (2015). Human definitive haemogenic endothelium and arterial vascular endothelium represent distinct lineages. Nat Cell Biol 17, 580-591. 10.1038/ncb3161.
  - Doulatov, S., Vo, L., Chou, S., Kim, P., Arora, N., Li, H., Hadland, B., Bernstein, I., Collins, J., Zon, L., and Daley, G. (2013). Induction of multipotential hematopoietic progenitors from human pluripotent stem cells via respecification of lineage-restricted precursors. Cell Stem Cell 13, 459-470. 10.1016/j.stem.2013.09.002.
- thresholds of Notch signaling bias human Dzierzak, E., and Bigas, A. (2018). Blood Development: Hematopoietic Stem Cell Dependence and Independence. Cell Stem Cell 22, 639-651. 10.1016/j. stem.2018.04.015.

- Fauriat, C., Ivarsson, M., Ljunggren, H., Kieusseian, A., Brunet de la Grange, P., Bur-Malmberg, K., and Michaëlsson, J. (2010). Education of human natural killer cells by activating killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors. Blood 115, 1166-1174. 10.1182/blood-2009-09-245746.
- Fesnak, A., Lin, C., Siegel, D., and Maus, M. (2016). CAR-T cell therapies from the transfusion medicine perspective. Transfusion medicine reviews.
- Houssaint, E. (1981). Differentiation of the mouse hepatic primordium. II. Extrinsic origin of the haemopoietic cell line. 6039(81)90007-5.
- Iriguchi, S., Yasui, Y., Kawai, Y., Arima, S., Kunitomo, M., Sato, T., Ueda, T., Minagawa, A., Mishima, Y., Yanagawa, N., et al. (2021). A clinically applicable and scalable method to regenerate T-cells from iPSCs for off-the-shelf T-cell immunotherapy. Nat Commun 12, 430. 10.1038/s41467-020-20658-3.
- Jaffredo, T., Gautier, R., Eichmann, A., and Dieterlen-Lièvre, F. (1998). Intraaortic hemopoietic cells are derived from endothelial cells during ontogeny. Development 125, 4575-4583.
- June, C., O'Connor, R., Kawalekar, O., Ghassemi, S., and Milone, M. (2018). CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer. Science 359, 1361-1365. 10.1126/ science.aar6711.
- Kaufman, D., Hanson, E., Lewis, R., Auerbach, R., and Thomson, J. (2001). Hematopoietic colony-forming cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 10716-10721. 10.1073/pnas.191362598.
- Kennedy, M., Awong, G., Sturgeon, C., Ditadi, A., LaMotte-Mohs, R., Zúñiga-Pflücker, J., and Keller, G. (2012). T lymphocyte potential marks the emergence of definitive hematopoietic progenitors in human pluripotent stem cell differentiation cultures. Cell Rep 2, 1722-1735. 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.11.003.

- len-Defranoux, O., Godin, I., and Cumano, A. (2012). Immature hematopoietic stem cells undergo maturation in the fetal liver. Development 139, 3521-3530. 10.1242/dev.079210.
- Kim, P.G., Nakano, H., Das, P.P., Chen, M.J., Rowe, R.G., Chou, S.S., Ross, S.J., Sakamoto, K.M., Zon, L.I., Schlaeger, T.M., et al. (2015). Flow-induced protein kinase A-CREB pathway acts via BMP signaling to promote HSC emergence. J Exp Med 212, 633-648. 10.1084/jem.20141514.
- Cell Differ 10, 243-252. 10.1016/0045- Kissa, K., and Herbomel, P. (2010). Blood stem cells emerge from aortic endothelium by a novel type of cell transition. Nature 464, 112-115. 10.1038/nature08761.
  - Knorr, D., Ni, Z., Hermanson, D., Hexum, M., Bendzick, L., Cooper, L., Lee, D., and Kaufman, D. (2013). Clinical-scale derivation of natural killer cells from human pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. Stem Cells Transl Med 2, 274-283. 10.5966/ sctm.2012-0084.
  - Kyba, M., Perlingeiro, R., and Daley, G. (2002). HoxB4 confers definitive lymphoid-mveloid engraftment potential on embryonic stem cell and yolk sac hematopoietic progenitors. Cell 109, 29-37. 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00680-3.
  - Lanza, R., Russell, D., and Nagy, A. (2019). Engineering universal cells that evade immune detection. Nat Rev Immunol 19, 723-733. 10.1038/s41577-019-0200-1.
  - Leung, A., Zulick, E., Skvir, N., Vanuytsel, K., Morrison, T., Naing, Z., Wang, Z., Dai, Y., Chui, D., Steinberg, M., et al. (2018). Notch and Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Signaling Impact Definitive Hematopoiesis from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cells 36, 1004-1019. 10.1002/stem.2822.
  - Li, Y., Hermanson, D., Moriarity, B., and Kaufman, D. (2018). Human iPSC-Derived Natural Killer Cells Engineered with Chimeric Antigen Receptors Enhance Anti-tumor Activity. Cell Stem Cell 23, 181-
192.e185. 10.1016/j.stem.2018.06.002.

- Liggett, L.A., and Sankaran, V.G. (2020). Unraveling Hematopoiesis through the 10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.030.
- Liu, E., Marin, D., Banerjee, P., Macapinlac, H., Thompson, P., Basar, R., Nassif Kerbauy, L., Overman, B., Thall, P., Kaplan, M., et al. (2020). Use of CAR-Transduced Natural Killer Cells in CD19-Positive Lymphoid Tumors. N Engl J Med 382, 545-553. 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607.
- Luff, S.A., Creamer, J.P., Valsoni, S., Dege, C., Scarfo, R., Dacunto, A., Cascione, S., Randolph, L.N., Cavalca, E., Merelli, I., et al. (2022). Identification of a retinoic acid-dependent haemogenic endothelial progenitor from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Cell Biol. 10.1038/s41556-022-00898-9.
- Lundin, V., Sugden, W.W., Theodore, L.N., Sousa, P.M., Han, A., Chou, S., Wrighton, P.J., Cox, A.G., Ingber, D.E., Goess- Ruggeri, L., Capanni, M., Urbani, E., Perling, W., et al. (2020). YAP Regulates Hematopoietic Stem Cell Formation in Response to the Biomechanical Forces of Blood Flow. Dev Cell 52, 446-460 e445. 10.1016/j.devcel.2020.01.006.
- Medvinsky, A., and Dzierzak, E. (1996). Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell 86, 897-906. 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80165-8.
- Melenhorst, J., Chen, G., Wang, M., Porter, D., Chen, C., Collins, M., Gao, P., Bandyopadhyay, S., Sun, H., Zhao, Z., et al. (2022). Decade-long leukaemia remissions with persistence of CD4. Nature 602, 503-509. 10.1038/s41586-021-04390-6 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842.
- Montel-Hagen, A., Seet, C., Li, S., Chick, B., Zhu, Y., Chang, P., Tsai, S., Sun, V., Lopez, S., Chen, H., et al. (2019). Organoid-Induced Differentiation of Conventional T Cells from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell 24, 376-389. e378. 10.1016/j.stem.2018.12.011.
- Nakamura, S., Sugimoto, N., and Eto, K. (2021). Development of platelet replace-

ment therapy using human induced pluripotent stem cells. Dev Growth Differ 63, 178-186. 10.1111/dgd.12711.

- Lens of Genomics. Cell 182, 1384-1400. North, T.E., Goessling, W., Peeters, M., Li, P., Ceol, C., Lord, A.M., Weber, G.J., Harris, J., Cutting, C.C., Huang, P., et al. (2009). Hematopoietic stem cell development is dependent on blood flow. Cell 137, 736-748. 10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.023.
  - Palis, J., Robertson, S., Kennedy, M., Wall, C., and Keller, G. (1999). Development of erythroid and myeloid progenitors in the volk sac and embryo proper of the mouse. Development 126, 5073-5084.
  - Park, M., Kumar, A., Jung, H., Uenishi, G., Moskvin, O., Thomson, J., and Slukvin, I. (2018). Activation of the Arterial Program Drives Development of Definitive Hemogenic Endothelium with Lymphoid Potential. Cell Rep 23, 2467-2481. 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.092.
  - ruccio, K., Shlomchik, W., Tosti, A., Posati, S., Rogaia, D., Frassoni, F., Aversa, F., et al. (2002). Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. Science 295, 2097-2100. 10.1126/science.1068440.
  - Schmitt, T., and Zúñiga-Pflücker, J. (2002). Induction of T cell development from hematopoietic progenitor cells by delta-like-1 in vitro. Immunity 17, 749-756. 10.1016/s1074-7613(02)00474-0.
  - Seet, C., He, C., Bethune, M., Li, S., Chick, B., Gschweng, E., Zhu, Y., Kim, K., Kohn, D., Baltimore, D., et al. (2017). Generation of mature T cells from human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in artificial thymic organoids. Nat Methods 14, 521-530. 10.1038/nmeth.4237.
  - Shukla, S., Langley, M., Singh, J., Edgar, J., Mohtashami, M., Zúñiga-Pflücker, J., and Zandstra, P. (2017). Progenitor T-cell differentiation from hematopoietic stem cells using Delta-like-4 and VCAM-1. Nat Methods 14, 531-538. 10.1038/ nmeth.4258.

- Sturgeon, C., Ditadi, A., Awong, G., Kennedy, M., and Keller, G. (2014). Wnt signaling controls the specification of definitive and primitive hematopoiesis from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol 32*, 554-561. 10.1038/nbt.2915.
- Sugden, W.W., and North, T.E. (2021). Making Blood from the Vessel: Extrinsic and Environmental Cues Guiding the Endothelial-to-Hematopoietic Transition. *Life* (Basel) 11. 10.3390/life11101027.
- Sugimura, R., Jha, D., Han, A., Soria-Valles, C., da Rocha, E., Lu, Y., Goettel, J., Serrao, E., Rowe, R., Malleshaiah, M., et al. (2017). Haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* 545, 432-438. 10.1038/nature22370.
- Takahashi, K., Yamamura, F., and Naito, M. (1989). Differentiation, maturation, and proliferation of macrophages in the mouse yolk sac: a light-microscopic, enzyme-cytochemical, immunohistochemical, and ultrastructural study. *J Leukoc Biol* 45, 87-96. 10.1002/jlb.45.2.87.
- Tan, Y.T., Ye, L., Xie, F., Beyer, A.I., Muench, M.O., Wang, J., Chen, Z., Liu, H., Chen, S.J., and Kan, Y.W. (2018). Respecifying human iPSC-derived blood cells into highly engraftable hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells with a single factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115*, 2180-2185. 10.1073/pnas.1718446115.
- Themeli, M., Kloss, C., Ciriello, G., Fedorov, V., Perna, F., Gonen, M., and Sadelain, M. (2013). Generation of tumor-targeted human T lymphocytes from induced pluripotent stem cells for cancer therapy. *Nat Biotechnol* 31, 928–933. 10.1038/nbt.2678.
- Timmermans, F., Velghe, I., Vanwalleghem, L., De Smedt, M., Van Coppernolle, S., Taghon, T., Moore, H., Leclercq, G., Langerak, A., Kerre, T., et al. (2009). Generation of T cells from human embryonic stem cell-derived hematopoietic zones. J Immunol 182, 6879-6888. 10.4049/jimmunol.0803670.

- Tober, J., Koniski, A., McGrath, K., Vemishetti, R., Emerson, R., de Mesy-Bentley, K., Waugh, R., and Palis, J. (2007). The megakaryocyte lineage originates from hemangioblast precursors and is an integral component both of primitive and of definitive hematopoiesis. *Blood* 109, 1433-1441. 10.1182/blood-2006-06-031898.
- Van Kaer, L., Algood, H., Singh, K., Parekh, V., Greer, M., Piazuelo, M., Weitkamp, J., Matta, P., Chaturvedi, R., Wilson, K., and Olivares-Villagómez, D. (2014). CD8 innate-type lymphocytes in the intestinal epithelium mediate mucosal immunity. *Immunity* 41, 451-464. 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.08.010.
- Vizcardo, R., Masuda, K., Yamada, D., Ikawa, T., Shimizu, K., Fujii, S., Koseki, H., and Kawamoto, H. (2013). Regeneration of human tumor antigen-specific T cells from iPSCs derived from mature CD8(+) T cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 12, 31-36. 10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.006.
- Vo, L., Kinney, M., Liu, X., Zhang, Y., Barragan, J., Sousa, P., Jha, D., Han, A., Cesana, M., Shao, Z., et al. (2018). Regulation of embryonic haematopoietic multipotency by EZH1. *Nature 553*, 506–510. 10.1038/ nature25435.
- Vodyanik, M., Bork, J., Thomson, J., and Slukvin, I. (2005). Human embryonic stem cell-derived CD34+ cells: efficient production in the coculture with OP9 stromal cells and analysis of lymphohematopoietic potential. *Blood* 105, 617-626. 10.1182/blood-2004-04-1649.
- Wang, L., Menendez, P., Shojaei, F., Li, L., Mazurier, F., Dick, J., Cerdan, C., Levac, K., and Bhatia, M. (2005). Generation of hematopoietic repopulating cells from human embryonic stem cells independent of ectopic HOXB4 expression. J Exp Med 201, 1603-1614. 10.1084/jem.20041888.
- Whitelaw, E., Tsai, S., Hogben, P., and Orkin, S. (1990). Regulated expression of globin chains and the erythroid transcription factor GATA-1 during erythropoiesis in

6596-6606. 10.1128/mcb.10.12.6596.

- Woll, P., Grzywacz, B., Tian, X., Marcus, R., Knorr, D., Verneris, M., and Kaufman, D. (2009). Human embryonic stem cells differentiate into a homogeneous population of natural killer cells with potent in vivo antitumor activity. Blood 113, 6094-6101. 10.1182/blood-2008-06-165225.
- Wrona, E., Borowiec, M., and Potemski, P. (2021). CAR-NK Cells in the Treatment of Solid Tumors. Int J Mol Sci 22. 10.3390/ ijms22115899.
- Zambidis, E., Peault, B., Park, T., Bunz, F., and Civin, C. (2005). Hematopoietic differentiation of human embryonic stem cells progresses through sequential hematoendothelial, primitive, and definitive stages resembling human yolk sac development. Blood 106, 860-870. 10.1182/ blood-2004-11-4522.

- the developing mouse. Mol Cell Biol 10, Zeng, J., Tang, S., Toh, L., and Wang, S. (2017). Generation of "Off-the-Shelf" Natural Killer Cells from Peripheral Blood Cell-Derived Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cell Reports 9, 1796-1812. 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.10.020.
  - Zhu, H., Blum, R., Bernareggi, D., Ask, E., Wu, Z., Hoel, H., Meng, Z., Wu, C., Guan, K., Malmberg, K., and Kaufman, D. (2020). Metabolic Reprograming via Deletion of CISH in Human iPSC-Derived NK Cells Promotes In Vivo Persistence and Enhances Anti-tumor Activity. Cell Stem Cell 27, 224-237.e226. 10.1016/j. stem.2020.05.008.
  - Zovein, A., Hofmann, J., Lynch, M., French, W., Turlo, K., Yang, Y., Becker, M., Zanetta, L., Dejana, E., Gasson, J., et al. (2008). Fate tracing reveals the endothelial origin of hematopoietic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 3, 625-636. 10.1016/j.stem.2008.09.018.

# HOW STUDYING STEM CELLS IN MODEL SYSTEMS CAN ADVANCE REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

# UNDERSTANDING THE SOURCES OF REGENERATION IN ANIMALS

### Alejandro Sánchez Alvarado, Ph.D.

Stowers Institute for Medical Research & Howard Hughes Medical Institute Kansas City, MO USA

Ever since antiquity the ideas of immortality, resistance to bodily injuries and the restoration of missing body parts have populated the myths of many civilizations. The ancient Greeks, for example, gave us the myth of Tithonus, immortal but still capable of aging; of Achilles who could not be injured – except at the proverbial heel – by either sword or spear; and Prometheus - bearer of fire - condemned by Zeus to regenerate his liver to perpetually feed voracious vultures. In America, Aztec records and even older Mayan mythology encompassed by the Popol Vuh are both abundantly imbued with the concept of perpetual regeneration (Bazzett, 2018). Irrespective of which civilization one may consider, it is highly improbable that such shared human beliefs were not inspired in some fashion by nature, which we know today has been a cauldron of biological invention for nearly 4 billion years. Thus, it is also extremely implausible that we have learned from Nature all that there is for us to know. On the contrary, we have but barely scratched the surface of biology. In fact, we do not know what is already possible. The sheer number of species out there waiting



**Figure 1.** The planarian *Schmidtea mediterranea* (top). Bottom, a planarian regenerating its head in 7 days after decapitation.

to show us what is indeed biologically possible is staggering. Equally remarkable is the fact that our species has the necessary tools to decode and understand them all if we so wished.

For the past 20 years, my laboratory has exploited the diversity of animal life to address the problem of regeneration. The central question for us is: why is regeneration so broadly but unevenly distributed in the animal kingdom? Likewise, in those animals with robust regenerative capacities: do they share common mechanisms to restore missing body parts or did unique mechanisms emerge independently in every species? Both are fundamental questions awaiting satisfactory mechanistic explanations. In an effort to carry out a rigorous molecular dissection of regeneration, we chose to study an organism with extraordinary regenerative capacities, the free-living, fresh-water flatworm planaria, *Schmidtea mediterranea* (Figure 1). We reasoned that if the wild type phenotypes were already extraordinary, i.e., regenerating a complete animal from a random body fragment, perturbing such biology should yield even more extraordinary phenotypes that would help illuminate the mechanisms underpinning regeneration.

RNA-mediated genetic interference (RNAi) provided us with a tool to perturb gene function (Sánchez Alvarado and Newmark, 1999) and regeneration screens were performed which identified hundreds of genes involved in regeneration (Reddien et al., 2005) and uncovered novel functions for key embryonic genes in an adult context (Arnold et al., 2019; Arnold et al., 2021; Gurley et al., 2008; Rink et al., 2009).

A key source of these animals' regeneration prowess is a group of abundant, adult stem cells known as neoblasts. These cells are the only known cells to proliferate in adult asexual planarians and thus can be completely eliminated by exposing the animals to ionizing radiation (Bardeen and Baetjer, 1904). When the stem cells are thus abrogated, animals survive for 3-4 weeks on the virtue of their differentiated cells, but as these turnover, the animals eventually lose structural integrity and die. We devised methods to purify planarian stem cells, defined their expression profiles by bulk and single-cell RNA sequencing, and discovered a remarkable diversity of transcriptional states associated with these stem cells (Zeng et al., 2018). We also were able to prospectively isolate the pluripotent neoblasts from this cell population and demonstrated that when a single isolated cell was injected into animals devoid of stem cells - and thus destined to perish such cells could rescue the viability of the stem cell-deficient animals and restore all the animal's functions and properties, including their capacity to regenerate (Figure 2).



**Figure 2.** Planarian neoblasts are adult pluripotent cells. Using single-cell RNA sequencing 12 clusters of neoblasts were identified. One of them, referred to as NB2, contained pluripotent neoblasts which could be purified using antibodies. A single, antibody purified cell (A) can be injected into animals in which all stem cells were eliminated using irradiation (B and B') 25% of all single cell injections were capable of both rescuing lethally irradiated animals and restoring the regenerative capacity of the host (C). Modified from Zeng et al., 2018.

Intriguingly, when we studied these cells under three different biological contexts (tissue homeostasis, in vivo clonal expansion and regeneration), we were surprised to see that the same cell type displayed significantly different expression profiles depending on the context in which they were operating (Figure 3A). Hence, we have shown these cells to be remarkably dynamic, constantly occupying diverse states of continuous fate determination. Because pluripotent stem cells are generally assumed to primarily exist transiently in early embryogenesis, and can only be perpetuated artificially in vitro, our findings that pluripotent stem cells can be maintained in adult animals despite showing distinct transcriptional changes dictated by either physiological homeostasis and/or injury, are all the more provocative. This led us to propose a probabilistic model of stem cells to explain the plasticity of genomic output (transcriptome) displayed by these cells (Figure 3B). In this model, self-renewal becomes a conceptual property not permanently possessed by a discrete population, but transiently held by a small number of cells and arising probabilistically depending on the demands of the animal (Adler and Sánchez Alvarado, 2015). If these stem cells stochastically express progenitor markers for specific organs, perhaps injury induces changes in the frequency or periodicity of expression, resulting in altered differentiation of stem cell progeny. Such a model allows us to frame the remarkable plasticity of planarian in terms of dynamic cell states rather than statically-defined cell types.



**Figure 3.** Pluripotent neoblasts display multiple transcriptional states. (A) Three different conditions were explored to measure the transcriptional profiles of pluripotent neoblasts: homeostasis, *in vivo* clonal expansion, and regeneration. (B) Three different profiles were detected for each condition from the same tetraspanin-1 (tspn-1) positive cells. Modified from Zeng et al., 2018. (C) Probabilistic model for transcriptional states of cell types. Each graph represents two different cells across time change the chorot and frequency of expression of genes in probabilistic rather than deterministic terms. Adapted from Adler et al., 2015.



**Figure 4.** Discovery of post-mitotic Transient Regeneration-Activating Cell States (TRACS). Shown are the expression kinetics of TRACS in adult derivatives of mesoderm (muscle), ectoderm (epidermis) and endoderm (gut). Image by Blair Benham-Pyle.

We then wondered whether the ability of stem cells to occupy multiple transcriptional states would be a property shared by postmitotic differentiated cells. To address this problem, we generated a comprehensive atlas of whole-body regeneration in S. mediterranea (Benham-Pyle et al., 2021). This work revealed the existence of wound-induced cell states. An analysis of ~300,000 single-cell transcriptomes captured from regeneration-competent and regeneration-incompetent tissues identified transient regeneration-activated cell states (TRACS) in the muscle, epidermis and intestine. We also found that TRACS occurred only in post-mitotic cells and that their manifestation did not require cell division per se. TRACS were also characterized by distinct spatiotemporal distributions, and RNAi depletion of TRACS-enriched genes produced specific regeneration defects, depending on the tissues targeted. Muscle TRACS were found to be essential for tissue polarity, while epidermal TRACS were important for stem cell proliferation and endodermal (gut) TRACS were found to regulate stem cell proliferation and tissue remodeling (Figure 4). Our results uncovered that regenerative ability can emerge from coordinated transcriptional plasticity across adult derivatives of all three germ layers (Benham-Pyle et al., 2021).

### **Concluding Remarks**

Our work on regeneration and in planarians has revealed previously unsuspected properties of both stem and postmitotic, differentiated cells. First, our work provides strong evidence that adult undifferentiated and differentiated cells possess unappreciated plasticity and can exist in multiple transcriptional states. In light of the current extensive reliance on induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) to produce differentiated cells for therapeutic interventions in regenerative medicine it is appropriate to consider whether or not these reprogrammed cells possess the ability to occupy different transcriptional states.

Second, the extensive adoption and growing use of single cell RNA sequencing is providing a strong body of evidence for the existence of reproducible transcriptional states elicited by different biological conditions. As such, it is also appropriate to ask how homogeneous or not are the transcriptional profiles of differentiated iPSCs after their transplantation and integration into host tissues. Given that it should be possible to label iPSCs and thus follow their fates in host tissues, it would be interesting to purify these cells after they have been functioning in host tissues for a reasonable period of time and determine their single cell transcriptional profiles. Will differentiated iPSCs possess more, less, or no transcriptional plasticity? What would those profiles look like when the host tissues are challenged by conditions in which injury or disease are introduced? Understanding whether the iPSC postmitotic differentiated progeny behave distinguishably or indistinguishably from host differentiated cells should help us better understand whether unsuspected limitations of iPSCs may exist that may limit their long-term utility as therapeutic agents.

Third, our data provide strong evidence for us to question what is meant in adult organisms by "terminal differentiation". Given the discovery of TRACS, that these transient transcriptional changes occur in postmitotic cells, and that they have essential roles in promoting regeneration, would it not be more accurate to think of "terminal differentiation" as "stable differentiation" instead? The implications here for regeneration biology and regenerative medicine are that if some cells are more stably differentiated than others, then their ability to regenerate or be restored may be more difficult. One corollary would be to ask whether differentiated iP-SCs integrated in tissues are "ultra-stable" or possess limited transcriptional plasticity and therefore are less fit than wild type adult cells to respond to environmental insults, for example.

Finally, one important conclusion from our work is that revealing the mechanisms promoting and suppressing stable differentiation states will likely be essential to better understand the differentiated state of adult cells. This has two important implications. First, a clear mechanistic understanding of how stable differentiation is promoted and suppressed will shed light on why regenerative capacities are broadly but unevenly distributed across animals, including humans. And second, it may help us identify better ways to generate mature, differentiated, postmitotic iPSCs for regenerative medicine

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all members of my laboratory, past and present, for their dedication, invaluable insights and scientific accomplishment in helping us advance our understanding of animal regeneration. I would also like to acknowledge Blair Benham-Pyle for providing Figure 4. ASA is an investigator of the Howard Hughes Medical Institute and the Stowers Institute for Medical Research.

#### References

- Adler, C.E., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2015. Types or States? Cellular Dynamics and Regenerative Potential. Trends Cell Biol 25.687-696.
- Arnold, C.P., Benham-Pyle, B.W., Lange, J.J., Wood, C.J., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2019. Wnt and TGFbeta coordinate growth and patterning to regulate size-dependent behaviour. Nature 572, 655-659. Arnold, C.P., Lozano, A.M., Mann, F.G., Jr., Nowotarski, S.H., Haug, J.O., Lange, J.J., Seidel, C.W., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2021. Hox genes regulate asexual reproductive behavior and tissue segmentation in adult animals. Nat Commun 12, 6706.
- Bardeen, C.R., Baetjer, F.H., 1904. The in- Rink, J.C., Gurley, K.A., Elliott, S.A., hibitive action of the Roentgen rays on regeneration in planarians. J. Exp. Zool. 1, 191-195.
- Bazzett, M.T., 2018. The Popol Vuh: A New Verse Translation. Seedbank Books.
- Benham-Pyle, B.W., Brewster, C.E., Kent, A.M., Mann, F.G., Jr., Chen, S., Scott, A.R., Box, A.C., Sánchez Alvarado, A.,

2021. Identification of rare, transient post-mitotic cell states that are induced by injury and required for whole-body regeneration in Schmidtea mediterranea. Nat Cell Biol 23, 939-952.

- Gurley, K.A., Rink, J.C., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2008. Beta-catenin defines head versus tail identity during planarian regeneration and homeostasis. Science 319, 323-327.
- Reddien, P.W., Bermange, A.L., Murfitt, K.J., Jennings, J.R., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2005. Identification of genes needed for regeneration, stem cell function, and tissue homeostasis by systematic gene perturbation in planaria. Dev Cell 8, 635-649.
- Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2009. Planarian Hh signaling regulates regeneration polarity and links Hh pathway evolution to cilia. Science 326, 1406-1410.
- Sánchez Alvarado, A., Newmark, P.A., 1999. Double-stranded RNA specifically disrupts gene expression during planarian regeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96,

5049-5054.

Zeng, A., Li, H., Guo, L., Gao, X., McKinney, S., Wang, Y., Yu, Z., Park, J., Semerad, C., Ross, E., Cheng, L.C., Davies, E., Lei, K., Wang, W., Perera, A., Hall, K., Peak, A., Box, A., Sánchez Alvarado, A., 2018. Prospectively Isolated Tetraspanin(+) Neoblasts Are Adult Pluripotent Stem Cells Underlying Planaria Regeneration. *Cell* 173, 1593-1608 e1520.

## THE SALAMANDER LIMB – AN EXEMPLARY MODEL OF NATURAL REGENERATION RELIES ON POSITIONAL MEMORIES AND CELLULAR INTERACTIONS

Elly M. Tanaka

Institute of Molecular Pathology, Vienna, Austria

Salamander appendage regeneration was discovered in the mid 1700s by Spallanzani, who first documented appendage regeneration in frogs and salamanders (Spallanzani, 1768). This and the work of others at this time demonstrating regeneration in hydra and worms showed that regeneration is a phenomenon widespread in nature, an observation which contributed substantially to the debate on whether organism development occurs from pre-existing germs (preformation) or by the unfolding of a series of events (epigenesis) (Bodemer, 1964). Since then, biologists have been fascinated by the concepts, rules and molecules that govern this remarkable process. The high degree of conservation among tetrapods is reflected in the



**Figure 1.** Lazzaro Spallanzani discovered salamander appendage regeneration. Sketches of tail and limb regeneration from his correspondences and writings.

similarity of molecular programs governing limb development between salamanders and mammals. Given this similarity, this unique limb regeneration system provides a guiding light for what kind of tissue organization and injury response is necessary to achieve functional regeneration, which may be emulated in the future to induce regeneration in mammals.

### Regenerating the correct part of the limb

Positional memories are at the basis of appropriate regeneration of the missing part. When a salamander arm is amputated at the wrist, only a hand is regenerated, while when the limb is amputated in the upper arm, the elbow, lower arm and hand are regenerated. Butler and others provided key insights into the nature of this problem (Butler, 1955). He was able to generate inversely oriented limbs by amputating a limb at the wrist and then suturing it back into the body. Blood vessels and presumably nerves repopulated the structure so that when the "circularized" limb was amputated in the upper arm, a normal stump as well as an inversely oriented stump was generated. The normal stump regenerated the lower arm and hand as expected. Interestingly, the inversely oriented limb similarly regenerated lower arm and hand.

These results revealed that the regenerating limb does not read directionality of limb tissue but rather the cells at the amputation plane have a memory of their positional identity, and newly formed blastema cells change their identity to more distal (direction fingertip) identities. This conclusion gave rise to the concept of "The rule of distal transformation".

The limb contains many different tissue types including epidermis, dermis, muscle nerve, Schwann cells, ligaments, tendons, bone and an interesting question is whether all tissues harbor this positional identity or only some tissues. To test this question, tissue-specific transplantation of GFP-expressing hand cells into the upper arm, followed by amputation



**Figure 2.** Grafting experiments that gave rise to the "Rule of Distal Transformation" by which it was concluded that cells at the amputation plane have a memory of their location in the limb, and cells in the blastema acquire more distal identities Image taken from (Nacu and Tanaka, 2011).

was implemented (Kragl et al., 2009; Nacu et al., 2013). The prediction of this experiment was that any tissue with positional memory would only contribute to the regenerated hand. Such work found that only cells from the lateral plate mesoderm lineage (connective tissue, namely dermis, tendons, ligaments, bone) showed hand determination. This meant that any molecular system controlling positional memory in the mature limb would be present in the connective tissue cells.

We investigated molecular correlates of positional memory. Upper arm, lower arm and hand development are strongly influenced by two clusters of genes called the HoxA and HoxD complexes. The genes HoxA/ D9, HoxA/D11, HoxA/D13 are expressed sequentially as the upper arm, lower arm and hand, respectively are specified. We compared the expression characteristics of the HoxA proteins during upper arm versus hand regeneration (Roensch et al., 2013). During upper arm regeneration, the blastema cells initially at 6 days express HoxA9 and then HoxA13 is expressed at the tip of the blastema by day 8. In contrast in a hand blastema, the HoxA13 protein and HoxA9 protein are simultaneously expressed already at day 6. This strongly suggested that upper arm and hand cells start with a different setpoint for initiating HoxA gene expression, and suggests that HoxA proteins may be functionally involved in positional memory. Our current work examining the chromatin organization in upper versus lower arm cells indeed shows that mature upper arm and hand cells have differential chromatin organization at the HoxA locus (Kawaguchi, Wang and Tanaka, unpublished).

Which tissues and processes distalize the identity of cells at the amputation plane has been a topic of long speculation and models. Some models suggested that the wound epidermis may be the most distal identity, while others proposed a series of cellular transformations based on cell interactions (Maden, 1977; Slack, 1980). Interestingly, many of the early models hypothesized that the first blastema cells generated had the most distal identity, with subsequent intercalation of values, based on averaging identities as cell proliferation produced an increasing number of cells (Bryant et al., 1977; Maden, 1977). In contrast, Meinhardt proposed a model in which a border generated between anterior and posterior cells resulted in the generation of a signaling center that supported growth of cells that recapitulated the progressive sequence of upper arm, lower arm and then hand regeneration as seen in development rather than by intercalation (Meinhardt, 1983). Our experiments observing HoxA protein expression during upper arm regeneration strongly support this progressive mode of



**Figure 3.** Treatment of regenerating limb blastemas with retinoic acid causes resetting of positional identity whereby wrist determined cells can regenerate an entire arm. Taken from (Maden, 1982).

upper arm, lower arm, and hand sequence of distalization rather than the intercalation model (Roensch et al., 2013).

The molecular identity of factors that distalize blastema cells is not fully understood. Based on limb development studies, it may be expected that fibroblast growth factors and possibly bone morphogenetic factors are involved, yet they seem insufficient alone to yield cell identity distalization and some models have suggested that the lower arm to hand transition occurs cell autonomously, yet nonetheless, this transition must occur spatially at the tip of the blastema (Capdevila et al., 1999; Mercader et al., 2000; Rosello-Diez et al., 2014). How this occurs in this spatially defined domain is not fully understood.

Interestingly, positional identity can be experimentally reset during regeneration, by exposing the blastema to retinoic acid (Maden, 1982). Upon generation of a hand blastema, if the animal is exposed to retinoic acid, a complete arm is regenerated from the wrist. Molecular studies showed that this effect is mediated by the Meis transcription factor, whose function during development is to specify upper arm development (Mercader et al., 2005).

# Specificity of regeneration to amputation – the role of anterior/posterior positional memory

Why does regeneration occur upon appendage amputation and not simply from wounding? The answer to this question also ultimately rests on the existence of positional memory in limb cells. Remarkably, transplantation of left blastemas to right limb stumps, results in the regeneration of two additional, ectopic limbs (for references see (Bryant et al., 1977; Nacu and Tanaka, 2011). These results were interpreted to mean that anterior and posterior cells in the mature limb harbor separate memories of their positional identity. Upon blastema formation, as anterior and posterior cells enter the blastema, it was hypothesized that either their interface or communication between anterior and posterior cells is required for limb outgrowth. The presence of both anteriorly and posteriorly-derived cells only occurs upon limb amputation and therefore explains why regeneration does not happen upon simple limb wounding.

Lheureux (Lheureux, 1977) followed by others, and most recently Endo and Gardiner (Endo et al., 2004), demonstrated this concept by generation of ectopic limbs. Ectopic limbs could be elicited by deviating nerves to an anterior lateral wound site in the upper limb, together with grafting of posterior full thickness skin to generate an ectopic anterior/posterior interface at that site. Nerve deviation alone resulted in formation of a blastema-like structure, but this tissue regressed after three weeks. With the combination of nerve and anterior/posterior skin interface a fully patterned limb grew from that site, demonstrating the central role of anterior/posterior interfaces in sustaining limb regeneration.

We recently defined the molecular nature of the anterior and posterior requirement for regeneration. Sonic hedgehog is a morphogen localized to the posterior limb bud required for limb development and is re-expressed in the regeneration limb blastema (Nacu et al., 2016). We hypothesized that the capability to express sonic hedgehog represents the posterior tissue requirement in regeneration. To test this hypothesis, we



**Figure 4.** Positional memory in anterior and posterior limb tissue defines amputation specificity of limb regeneration. Transplantation of left blastema onto right limb stump produces two ectopic anterior/posterior interfaces yielding regeneration of two ectopic limbs.

deviated nerves to the anterior side and treated animals with smoothened agonist to activate sonic hedgehog signalling in place of posterior skin. This treatment was sufficient to induce an ectopic limb on the anterior surface. Given the known developmental positive feedback loop between sonic hedgehog and Fgf8 in limb development, we asked whether anteriorly localized Fgf8 represents the anterior component for limb regeneration. To test this hypothesis, we deviated nerves to the posterior upper limb surface and then induced Fgf8 expression via baculoviral induction. This expression was sufficient to induce a limb-like outgrowth from the posterior surface.

Based on these results, the current model is that cells in the adult posterior limb have potential to express sonic hedgehog while cells in the adult anterior limb have the potential to express Fgf8. Amputation of the limb results in anterior and posterior cells migrating to the limb tip and forming blastema cells that then launch the expression of these developmental regulators. This initiates a positive feedback interaction between anterior and posterior cells reinforcing expression of sonic hedgehog and Fgf8 which are essential for outgrowth of the limb. An important future direction is how the genome and chromatin are organized differently in anterior and posterior cells to restrict the potential to express sonic hedgehog only posteriorly and Fgf8 only anteriorly.



**Figure 5.** Sonic hedgehog signalling can replace posterior limb tissue in the Accessory Limb Model. Lheureux (1977) and Endo et al. (2004) showed that anterior nerve deviation plus posterior tissue can induce an ectopic limb. Nacu et al. demonstrated that nerve-deviation plus Sonic Hedgehog pathway agonist can induce a limb. Panel on right from Nacu et al. (2016).

#### Tissue interactions required for regeneration

Regeneration involves the coordination of many different cell types, and these interactions occur dynamically to promote changes in cell differentiation, migration, proliferation, positional identity and maturation. Immediately after amputation, the blood clots at the wound site followed by migration of epithelial keratinocytes over the limb stump surface. The detection of injury by epithelial cells likely relies on changes in osmolarity, and the epithelial migration process appears to be controlled in part by TGFB signalling (For references, see (Bassat and Tanaka, 2021)). Subsequently, underlying connective tissue cells migrate to the amputation surface in response to Platelet-Derived Growth Factor, presumably from the clotted blood and later from blastema cells that express the ligand themselves (Currie et al., 2016).

These connective tissue cells form the majority of the blastema and direct the positioning and patterning events of limb regeneration described above. Cells are stimulated to undergo their first proliferative division by MARCKS-Like Protein released from the epidermis (Sugiura et al., 2016). This special wound epidermis also secretes a number of other factors such as Wnt3 Wnt5, Anterior Gradient and retinoic acid and is essential for the process of regeneration (See (Bassat and Tanaka, 2021)).

Interestingly, recent work suggests that infiltrating macrophages expressing Midkine, and nerve fibers are required for the wound epithelium to acquire its full properties (Tsai et al., 2020). Nerves release not only Anterior Gradient but also BMPs and FGFs that are important for the initial growth of the blastema cells (Kumar et al., 2007; Makanae et al., 2014). Finally, the anterior Fgf8 and posterior sonic hedgehog feedback loop is initiated in the blastema which sustains growth and patterning.

### **Conclusions and outlook**

This is an exciting time in stem cell biology where our ability to study organogenesis and recapitulate it in vitro is pointing our ambitions to elicit in vivo regeneration. So far, stem cell transplantation approaches have not taken the spatial map of a tissue very much into account. The salamander, which regenerates its limb with exquisite precision and functionality has shown that cellular memory states in many different parts of the limb are used as a template and starting place for appropriate regeneration. These observations point to the need to establish such landmarks in human scenarios of regeneration.

#### References

- Bassat, E., and Tanaka, E.M. (2021). The cellular and signaling dynamics of salamander limb regeneration. Curr Opin Cell Biol 73, 117-123.
- Bodemer, C.W. (1964). Regeneration and Makanae, A., Mitogawa, K., and Satoh, A. the Decline of Preformationism in Eighteenth Century Embryology. Bull Hist Med 38. 20-31.
- Bryant, P.J., Bryant, S.V., and French, V. tern formation. Sci Am 237, 66-76, 81.
- Butler, E.G. (1955). Regeneration of the urodele forelimb after reversal of its proximo-distal axis. J Morphol 96, 265-281.
- Capdevila, J., Tsukui, T., Rodriquez Esteban, C., Zappavigna, V., and Izpisua Belmonte, J.C. (1999). Control of vertebrate limb outgrowth by the proximal factor Gremlin. Molecular cell 4, 839-849.
- Currie, J.D., Kawaguchi, A., Traspas, R.M., Schuez, M., Chara, O., and Tanaka, E.M. (2016). Live Imaging of Axolotl Digit Rereography of Diverse Connective Tissue Progenitor Pools. Dev Cell 39, 411-423.
- Endo, T., Bryant, S.V., and Gardiner, D.M. (2004). A stepwise model system for limb regeneration. Dev Biol 270, 135-145.
- Kragl, M., Knapp, D., Nacu, E., Khattak, S., Maden, M., Epperlein, H.H., and Tanaka, E.M. (2009). Cells keep a memory of their tissue origin during axolotl limb regeneration. Nature 460, 60-65.
- Kumar, A., Godwin, J.W., Gates, P.B., Garza-Garcia, A.A., and Brockes, J.P. (2007). Molecular basis for the nerve dependence of limb regeneration in an adult vertebrate. Science 318, 772-777.
- Lheureux, E. (1977). [Importance of limb tissue associations in the development of nerve-induced supernumerary limbs in the newt Pleurodeles waltlii Michah (author's transl)]. J Embryol Exp Morphol 38, 151-173.
- Maden, M. (1977). The regeneration of positional information in the amphibian

limb. I Theor Biol 69, 735-753.

- Maden, M. (1982). Vitamin A and pattern formation in the regenerating limb. Nature 295, 672-675.
- (2014). Co-operative Bmp- and Fgf-signaling inputs convert skin wound healing to limb formation in urodele amphibians. Dev Biol 396. 57-66.
- (1977). Biological regeneration and pat- Meinhardt, H. (1983). A boundary model for pattern formation in vertebrate limbs. J Embryol Exp Morphol 76, 115-137.
  - Mercader, N., Leonardo, E., Piedra, M.E., Martinez, A.C., Ros, M.A., and Torres, M. (2000). Opposing RA and FGF signals control proximodistal vertebrate limb development through regulation of Meis genes. Development 127, 3961-3970.
- Meis2 and distal antagonism of BMPs by Mercader, N., Tanaka, E.M., and Torres, M. (2005). Proximodistal identity during vertebrate limb regeneration is regulated by Meis homeodomain proteins. Development 132, 4131-4142.
- generation Reveals Spatiotemporal Cho- Nacu, E., Glausch, M., Le, H.Q., Damanik, F.F., Schuez, M., Knapp, D., Khattak, S., Richter, T., and Tanaka, E.M. (2013). Connective tissue cells, but not muscle cells, are involved in establishing the proximo-distal outcome of limb regeneration in the axolotl. Development 140, 513-518.
  - Nacu, E., Gromberg, E., Oliveira, C.R., Drechsel, D., and Tanaka, E.M. (2016). FGF8 and SHH substitute for anterior-posterior tissue interactions to induce limb regeneration. Nature 533, 407-410.
  - Nacu, E., and Tanaka, E.M. (2011). Limb regeneration: a new development? Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 27, 409-440.
  - Roensch, K., Tazaki, A., Chara, O., and Tanaka, E.M. (2013). Progressive specification rather than intercalation of segments during limb regeneration. Science 342, 1375-1379.
  - Rosello-Diez, A., Arques, C.G., Delgado, I., Giovinazzo, G., and Torres, M. (2014). Diffusible signals and epigenetic timing

cooperate in late proximo-distal limb patterning. *Development 141*, 1534–1543.

- Slack, J.M. (1980). A serial threshold theory of regeneration. J Theor Biol 82, 105-140.
- Spallanzani L. (1768). Prodromo di un'opera da imprimersi sopra le riproduzioni animali. Giovanni Montanari, Modena.
- Sugiura, T., Wang, H., Barsacchi, R., Simon, A., and Tanaka, E.M. (2016). MARCKS-

like protein is an initiating molecule in axolotl appendage regeneration. *Nature 531*, 237-240.

Tsai, S.L., Baselga-Garriga, C., and Melton, D.A. (2020). Midkine is a dual regulator of wound epidermis development and inflammation during the initiation of limb regeneration. *eLife 9*.

# HOW STEM CELLS COPE WITH CHANGING TISSUE ENVIRONMENTS AND ASSAULTS

### **STEM CELLS: COPING WITH STRESS**

#### **ELAINE FUCHS**

Robin Chemers Neustein Laboratory of Mammalian Cell Biology and Development, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, The Rockefeller University, New York, USA fuchslb@rockefeller.edu

As defined by the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Farber and Carlarne, 2017), climate change is an unnatural change to our climate that is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters our world's atmosphere (Farber and Carlarne, 2017) (Farber DA, Carlarne CP. Climate change law. Ohio St Pub Law Work Paper. 2017;419). Plants are altering the pollens and allergens they generate. Air pollutants are becoming more complex and numerous. The ozone layer is thinning. Existing pathogens and microbes are shifting territories (Hauser et al., 2021). New pathogens and microbes are emerging that we've never seen before. As exemplified by SarsCoV2, we are all painfully aware of the consequences. Indeed, inflammatory disorders and cancers of the epithelia of the skin, the intestine and the lung are on the rise. This is because, bearing the brunt of these environmental changes are our epithelial tissues – they form the cellular barrier between our body and the outside world.

In studying the stem cells of the skin epithelium over the course of my career, I've learned that when epithelial stem cells malfunction, either in making a proper barrier or in communicating with the immune system upon a barrier breach, chronic inflammation occurs. Our first realization came back when I was just embarking on my academic career at The University of Chicago. I had just cloned and characterized the human skin keratins, which form an extensive infrastructure of filaments (cytoskeleton) that protects the epidermal stem cells and their differentiated progenv from mechanical stress. Given that our skin epidermis is at the body surface, this mechanical framework is essential. Indeed, as we showed, patients that lack the stem cell keratin network, composed of keratins 5 and 14, have a blistering skin disorder known as epidermolysis bullosa simplex (Coulombe et al., 1991; Fuchs and Green, 1980; Fuchs et al., 1981; Vassar et al., 1991). The disorder is rooted in the fact that when the stem cells lack this network, they are prone to rupturing upon rubbing the skin – in severe cases, even washing the face, or walking. By contrast, patients with mutations in keratins 1 and 10, which are only expressed in the differentiating progeny generated by the stem cells, have thickened, crusty skin, but are prone to bacterial infections and cancer (squamous cell carcinoma) (Cheng et al., 1992; Fuchs et al., 1992; Fuchs and Green, 1980). Seeking the underlying reasons for this, we learned that the healthy stem cells, recognizing that the skin barrier they made isn't right, respond in a futile attempt, by proliferating to create excess layers of cells to try to patch the barrier. In turn, since the barrier is defective, pathogens can enter, triggering a hyperproliferative response.

In more recent work, we examined another structural protein of the terminally differentiating cells of the epidermis (Fig. 1). Filaggrin has long been known to be expressed by the late-stage terminally differentiating cells of the epidermis. So-called granular cells because of the presence of electron dense granules in their cytoplasm, these epidermal cells represent the last transcriptionally active progeny of the stem cells. Soon after they form, all nuclei and organelles are lost as the granular cells flatten out to form the dead cells that are sloughed from our body surface, continually replaced by inner layer cells moving outward. In studying the human disorder, atopic dermatitis, affecting up to 3% of the world population,



Figure 1. Structure of the epidermis. The epidermis is a stratified squamous epithelium comprised of an innermost (basal) layer of progenitors (referred here as stem cells) that periodically commit to differentiate, creating progeny that depart from the basal layer and move outward to the skin surface. During this program, the stem cells cease to express keratins 5 and 14, and switch to the expression of keratins 1 and 10. These 'spinous layers' are typified by a robust network of keratin filaments that attach to specialized cadherin-mediated cell-cell junctions, called desmosomes. During differentiation, another protein, filaggrin, is expressed, but it must accumulate to a critical concentration before it undergoes a conformational change, forming oil-like protein aggregates, referred to as keratohyalin granules (green). As the protein concentration of filaggrin continues to rise, the granules put mechanical force on the nuclei and organelles, a process thought to contribute to their eventual loss, leading to the dead flattened squames that form the skin's barrier to exclude harmful microbes and retain essential body fluids (Quiroz et al., 2000). In skin homeostasis, the squames are sloughed from the skin surface, replaced by a continual flux of inner layer cells differentiating and moving outward. In humans, mutations in keratins 1/10 and filaggrin cause mechanical fragility, leading to breaches in the skin barrier, particularly at flexural joints (Fuchs et al., 1992; Cheng et al., 1992; Palmer et al., 2006). The result is often hyperproliferation of the stem cells to rescue the barrier breach and increased susceptibility of chronic inflammation and increased risk of skin cancer.

researchers identified mutations in filaggrin (Palmer et al., 2006). At the time, it was thought that this disorder was strictly an immune disorder, based upon mutations in immune cell genes (Kaltoft et al., 1994; Kawashima et al., 1998: Nishio et al., 2001: Osawa et al., 2007: van der Stoep et al., 1993). There has been skepticism as to whether filaggrin mutations even manifest the disorder (Spidale et al., 2020). Indeed, it is a big protein made up of unstructured protein repeat units, and the mutations are scattered throughout the protein, with no apparent consequence to the physiology. Recently, however, we learned that filaggrin undergoes conformational changes that are pH-sensitive and thermal sensitive (Quiroz et al., 2020). In epidermal cells, filaggrin protein begins to be made as epidermal stem cells give rise to differentiating progeny. As the protein accumulates in differentiating cells, it reaches its critical concentration sufficient to induce a conformational change. This change results in the protein transitioning to an oil-like granule which becomes more viscous as the epidermal cells differentiate and the protein accumulates. The granules also interact with K1 and K10 filaments, whose carboxy and amino terminal domains also undergo these liquid phase transitions. The result is a dense viscous network that puts mechanical pressure on the nuclei and organelles, contributing to their loss to form the barrier. The patient mutations create truncated filaggrins that fail to accumulate a sufficient concentration to undergo these liquid phase transitions, and the result is the retention of organelles and the failure to make a proper skin barrier (Quiroz et al., 2020). These data have brought clarity to our understanding of how the skin barrier is formed, and add further evidence that structural defects in the skin barrier can result in chronic inflammatory disorders and increased susceptibility to cancer. Currently AD patients are given immunosuppressive drugs, which have unwanted side effects, and often do not fix the problem. By investigating the basic science of skin stem cells, we hope to be able to uncover biology that will lead to improved therapeutics for disorders like AD.

Our studies of the skin and its stem cells have led us deeper into the biology of chronic inflammatory disorders, which as a cohort, include not only psoriasis, atopic dermatology and chronic wound healing disorders, but also inflammatory bowel disease and asthma. These are all disorders of barrier epithelia at the interface between the body and the external environment (Niec et al., 2021). A common feature of these disorders is that the epithelial hyperproliferation often occurs at flexural regions (elbows, knees for skin disorder, for example), and it typically comes and goes. Upon the next assault, it often occurs in the same spots and with increasing

severity. And curiously, the secondary trigger need not be the same as the initial irritant. The first stimulus might be poison ivy, while the next one might be a pathogen or other irritant.

In 2017, we decided to probe deeper into the biology that underlies these curious phenotypes. In watching how wounds heal, we noticed that if the skin of animals had been exposed briefly to an irritant that triggers an immune response known as a "Th17" inflammatory response, and then wounded a month after the skin pathology had returned to normal, the skin always healed its wound faster if it had been pre-exposed to inflammation (Fig. 2). Even 6 months after the initial inflammatory stimulus, the skin still responded more quickly to heal its wounds faster. We then exposed naïve skin to a yeast infection, a "Th2" inflammatory response, and a wound as primary and secondary stimulus. Each time, inflammation conditioned the skin to heal wounds better (Naik et al., 2017).

We thought at first that immune cells would be involved. Indeed, B and T cells can permanently rearrange their receptors so that they can recognize a pathogen the next time they encounter it. Indeed, this is how vaccines work. However, when we repeated the experiment on mice that lacked all B and T lymphocytes, we again found that after we exposed the skin to an inflammatory stimulus, let the pathology return to normal and then wounded the skin, it always healed the wound faster. We also looked at whether innate immune cells, including macrophages, might be involved. However, after eliminating these immune cells, we began to wonder whether the epidermal stem cells themselves might be the ones to harbor this memory. Indeed, this turned out to be the case (Naik et al., 2017).



**Figure 2.** The effects of inflammation on wound repair. In our studies, we exposed mice to an inflammatory stimulus, imiquimod, which induces a Th17 immune response. After withdrawal of the stimulus, the pathology returned to normal within 30bdays. If we then subjected the mice to a mild skin wound, we discovered that the wound always healed faster than if naïve mice were wounded (Naik et al., 2017). This ability was rooted in the ability of the epidermal stem cells to retain a memory of their inflammatory experience.

First, we looked at the transcriptional profile of the epidermal stem cells before treatment, at the height of inflammation and after the inflammation had resolved. Very few genes were changed at the transcriptional level. However, when we turned to chromatin, we found a different story. While >10,000 chromatin sites became open soon after the inflammatory stimulus was administered, >1000 of these sites – mostly in gene regulatory regions known as enhancers – remained open long after the stimulus was withdrawn. In testing these open sites for activity, we learned that they harbored inflammation-sensing activity, and in mice, had the capacity to activate a reporter gene following an inflammatory stimulus (Naik et al., 2017) (Fig. 3). Moreover, the genes associated with these "inflammation sensors" were rapidly activated upon a secondary stimulus, e.g., wounding.



**Figure 3.** The memory of inflammation in barrier epithelial cells is harbored within the chromatin and retained for months after the inflammation has resolved. Performing ATAC-seq (Assay for Transposase-Accessible Chromatin with high-throughput sequencing), we learned that >10,000 domains (red peaks) opened in the epidermal stem cell chromatin after imiquimod treatment (grey, naïve chromatin), and while most resolved following withdrawal of the stimulus, >1000 peaks remained open at least 6 months after the inflammatory experience (Naik et al., 2017). To test if these peaks have inflammation sensing activity, we excised the peaks and used them as enhancers to drive expression of the fluorescent reporter protein eGFP in mice. Using our powerful lentiviral delivery method to target mouse skin, we tested three reporters. Without inflammatory stimulation, they had no activity, but once imiquimod was administered, the inflammation memory peaks drove eGFP expression. The genes associated with these inflammation sensors were rapidly turned out upon exposure to a secondary assault (Naik et al., 2017).

In the past several years, we've now addressed three major questions: How is this memory established? How is memory retained? And how is memory recalled? In the first set of experiments, we simply scanned the transcription factor motif frequency of these inflammatory sensors and compared it to the motif frequency of the many genes that closed back following inflammation and the many genes whose expression was insensitive to inflammation (Larsen et al., 2021). Stat3 and Fos:Jun (AP1) sites were markedly enriched in these memory domains. Looking at inflammation, we learned that Stat3 is phosphorylated and rapidly activated following Th17 inflammation and FOS is rapidly induced as well. FOS's obligatory heterodimerizing partner, Jun, was already present in homeostatic epidermal stem cells. Using "CUT and RUN" technology to map whether these transcription factors bind to the DNA, we discovered that the inflammation-sensing chromatin is silent in homeostatic skin, but rapidly opened upon the Th17 response. pSTAT3 and FOS:JUN bind to these sites. By ablating these transcription factors in the skin epidermis, we learned that pSTAT3 is required to act as a "pioneer factor" in opening the chromatin at these sites, while FOS:JUN is necessary to remodel the chromatin to recruit RNA polymerase and transcribe the genes (Larsen et al., 2021).

What then happens after inflammation, when STAT3 and FOS are no longer there? Without FOS, transcription of the genes associated with memory domains shuts off. However, once the chromatin was open, not only JUN but also several other stem cell transcription factors gain access to the chromatin and bind. In addition, one histone modification in particular, H3K4me1, also gained access to the chromatin, and in contrast to H3K27ac, this mark persisted in the memory state. Hence the memory is retained because there are stem cell factors and histone modifiers that bind and remain bound to the memory domain once inflammatory transcription factors had opened it.

How is memory recalled? In this case, since the chromatin is open, STAT3 is no longer required, and if we ablate Stat3 after memory has been established, it does not prevent transcriptional activation following stress. However, in order to activate transcription at these sites, FOS must be induced. FOS, however is induced in response to a wide variety of different stresses. Within 4 hours after a general stressor, FOS is induced, and binds to the memory domains, chromatin is remodeled and the associated genes are transcribed (Larsen et al., 2021). Moreover, when we re-analyzed all the published data on inflammatory memory to look for parallels to this mechanism we unearthed, we found a remarkable conservation – in all cases,

AP1 factors, FOS/JUN appear to be integral to memory establishment and recall, while the initial transcription factor involved in opening chromatin appears to differ – Stat1, Stat4 or even NFkB. These factors appear to be integral in choosing what genes will be associated with a particular memory, whereas FOS/JUN appear to be general stress-induced factors crucial to remodel the chromatin in memory establishment and memory recall.

These findings begin to answer many long-standing puzzles. Since the 1930s it has been known that plants that survive one pathogen are often resistant to other pathogens that they've never seen before. Infants have long been vaccinated against Bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) acquiring resistance against tuberculosis. Epigenetic memory applies the lessons learned from one experience towards a new experience. Memory has an evolutionary advantage in enhancing protection against harmful microbes and also wound repair, as all stem cells must be mobilized to repair tissue injury. (However, it can also be maladaptive as in the case of chronic inflammation).

Since our original publication reporting the existence of epigenetic memory of inflammation in a stem cell, it has now been shown that hematopoietic stem cells have memory (de Laval et al., 2020) and multipotent hematopoietic progenitors possess inflammatory memory (Christ et al., 2018; Mitroulis et al., 2018). It has also been shown that BCG educates cells against tuberculosis (Kaufmann et al., 2018). Importantly, however, we now know that memory extends to other types of epithelial barrier cells: airway epithelia bear epigenetic memory of asthma (Ordovas-Montanes et al., 2018) and intestinal epithelia bear epigenetic memory of gut pathogens (Lim et al., 2021). In addition, epigenetic memory can be inherited. If a mom mouse eats a bacterial pathogen, the inflammation can be transmitted to the fetus through the circulation, and the offspring then carry the epigenetic memory into adulthood (Lim et al., 2021). In the case of pancreatic epithelium, exposure to inflammation predisposes the tissue to acinar ductal metaplasia, increasing the risk of pancreatic cancer (Del Poggetto et al., 2021; Quiroz et al., 2020).

These findings raise many questions: are there different kinds of memories? Are memories cumulative? In the last year, we addressed these questions by generating a wound model in mice in which we specifically mobilized hair follicle stem cells to exit their niche, migrate upward, confront the wound and associated inflammation, undergo a fate change to epidermal stem cells and repair the missing epidermis. Thereafter the hair follicle-derived stem cells behave as epidermal stem cells. Using chromatin landscaping at high throughput level, we showed that at each stem along this journey, the hair follicle stem cells retain epigenetic memories of their experiences: Memories that they used to be hair follicle stem cells and are now epidermal stem cells; memories that they migrated; memories that they encountered inflammation and signs of epigenetic adaptation indicative that the stem cells now have a different set of tasks than they had before (Gonzales et al., 2021). These memories have profound consequences. I've already discussed the consequences of inflammatory memory. But the stem cells also harbor memories that they used to be hair follicle stem cells. This memory confers increased plasticity to the stem cells: when challenged, they can make both hair and epidermis, while naïve epidermal stem cells only make epidermis. They also bear memories of migration. When challenged, the wound-memory stem cells can migrate much faster than their naïve counterparts.

In closing, since our studies in 2017, the field has exploded, as each day, new memories are uncovered in new cell populations. How long do these memories last? We've followed memory for up to 6 months in the skin stem cells of mice (equivalent of 5-6 years in humans). With the ability to accumulate memories, and the longevity of stem cells, these findings raise concern for our future. Neurons are long-lived and non-dividing - the prime situation for harboring memories. Increasingly it is becoming clear that neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's Disease are associated with inflammation in the brain, raising the question as to whether inflammatory memory in neurons may be at the roots of these disorders. Epigenetic memory of inflammation also raises potential consequences in aging. Will we show increased susceptibility to inflammatory stimuli that we've never encountered before? Could epigenetic memory explain why the COVID19 response has often be more severe in aging individuals? And what happens in a world where allergens, pollens, pollutants and other irritants are ever on the rise? Our next challenge will be to come up with therapeutic strategies to erase the bad memories and keep the good ones.

### Literature Cited

- Cheng, J., Syder, A.J., Yu, Q.C., Letai, A., Paller, A.S., and Fuchs, E. (1992). The genetic basis of epidermolytic hyperkeratosis: a disorder of differentiation-specific
- Christ, A., Gunther, P., Lauterbach, M.A.R., Duewell, P., Biswas, D., Pelka, K., Scholz, C.J., Oosting, M., Haendler, K.,

Bassler, K., et al. (2018). Western Diet Triggers NLRP3-Dependent Innate Immune Reprogramming. Cell 172, 162-175 e114.

epidermal keratin genes. Cell 70, 811-819. Coulombe, P.A., Hutton, M.E., Letai, A., Hebert, A., Paller, A.S., and Fuchs, E. (1991). Point mutations in human keratin 14 genes of epidermolysis bullosa simplex patients: genetic and functional analyses. Cell 66, 1301-1311.

- de Laval, B., Maurizio, J., Kandalla, P.K., Brisou, G., Simonnet, L., Huber, C., Gimenez, G., Matcovitch-Natan, O., Reinhardt, S., David, E., et al. (2020). C/ EBPbeta-Dependent Epigenetic Memory Induces Trained Immunity in Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell 26, 657-674 e658.
- Del Poggetto, E., Ho, I.L., Balestrieri, C., Yen, E.Y., Zhang, S., Citron, F., Shah, al. (2021). Epithelial memory of inflammation limits tissue damage while promoting pancreatic tumorigenesis. Science 373, eabj0486.
- Farber, D., and Carlarne, C.P. (2017). Climate Change Law (Concepts and Insights). Foundation Press.
- Fuchs, E., Esteves, R.A., and Coulombe, P.A. (1992). Transgenic mice expressing a mutant keratin 10 gene reveal the likely genetic basis for epidermolytic hyperkeratosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89, 6906-6910.
- Fuchs, E., and Green, H. (1980). Changes in keratin gene expression during terminal differentiation of the keratinocyte. Cell 19, 1033-1042.
- Fuchs, E.V., Coppock, S.M., Green, H., classes of keratin genes and their evolutionary significance. Cell 27, 75-84.
- Gonzales, K.A.U., Polak, L., Matos, I., Tierney, M.T., Gola, A., Wong, E., Infarinato, N.R., Nikolova, M., Luo, S., Liu, S., et al. (2021). Stem cells expand potency and alter tissue fitness by accumulating diverse epigenetic memories. Science 374, eabh2444.
- Hauser, N., Conlon, K.C., Desai, A., and Kobziar, L.N. (2021). Climate Change and Infections on the Move in North America. Infect Drug Resist 14, 5711-5723. Niec, R.E., Rudensky, A.Y., and Fuchs, E.
- Kaltoft, K., Pedersen, C.B., Hansen, B.H., Lemonidis, A.S., Frydenberg, J., and

Thestrup-Pedersen, K. (1994). In vitro genetically aberrant T-cell clones with continuous growth are associated with atopic dermatitis. Arch Dermatol Res 287, 42-47.

- Kaufmann, E., Sanz, J., Dunn, J.L., Khan, N., Mendonca, L.E., Pacis, A., Tzelepis, F., Pernet, E., Dumaine, A., Grenier, J.C., et al. (2018). BCG Educates Hematopoietic Stem Cells to Generate Protective Innate Immunity against Tuberculosis. Cell 172, 176-190 e119.
- R., Corti, D., Diaferia, G.R., Li, C.Y., et Kawashima, T., Noguchi, E., Arinami, T., Yamakawa-Kobayashi, K., Nakagawa, H., Otsuka, F., and Hamaguchi, H. (1998). Linkage and association of an interleukin 4 gene polymorphism with atopic dermatitis in Japanese families. J Med Genet 35, 502-504.
  - Larsen, S.B., Cowley, C.J., Sajjath, S.M., Barrows, D., Yang, Y., Carroll, T.S., and Fuchs, E. (2021). Establishment, maintenance, and recall of inflammatory memory. Cell Stem Cell 28, 1758-1774 e1758.
  - Lim, A.I., McFadden, T., Link, V.M., Han, S.J., Karlsson, R.M., Stacy, A., Farley, T.K., Lima-Junior, D.S., Harrison, O.J., Desai, J.V., et al. (2021). Prenatal maternal infection promotes tissue-specific immunity and inflammation in offspring. Science 373, eabf3002.
- and Cleveland, D.W. (1981). Two distinct Mitroulis, I., Ruppova, K., Wang, B., Chen, L.S., Grzybek, M., Grinenko, T., Eugster, A., Troullinaki, M., Palladini, A., Kourtzelis, I., et al. (2018). Modulation of Myelopoiesis Progenitors Is an Integral Component of Trained Immunity. Cell 172, 147-161 e112.
  - Naik, S., Larsen, S.B., Gomez, N.C., Alaverdyan, K., Sendoel, A., Yuan, S., Polak, L., Kulukian, A., Chai, S., and Fuchs, E. (2017). Inflammatory memory sensitizes skin epithelial stem cells to tissue damage. Nature 550, 475-480.
  - (2021). Inflammatory adaptation in barrier tissues. Cell 184, 3361-3375.

- Nishio, Y., Noguchi, E., Ito, S., Ichikawa, Quiroz, F.G., Fiore, V.F., Levorse, J., Polak, E., Umebayashi, Y., Otsuka, F., and Arinami, T. (2001). Mutation and association analysis of the interferon regulatory factor 2 gene (IRF2) with atopic dermatitis. J Hum Genet 46, 664-667.
- Ordovas-Montanes, J., Dwver, D.F., Nyquist, S.K., Buchheit, K.M., Vukovic, M., Deb, C., Wadsworth, M.H., 2nd, Hughes, T.K., Kazer, S.W., Yoshimoto, E., et al. (2018). Allergic inflammatory memory in human respiratory epithelial progenitor cells. Nature 560, 649-654.
- Osawa, K., Etoh, T., Ariyoshi, N., Ishii, I., Ohtani, M., Kariya, S., Uchino, K., and Kitada, M. (2007). Relationship between Kaposi's varicelliform eruption in Japanese patients with atopic dermatitis treated with tacrolimus ointment and genetic polymorphisms in the IL-18 gene promoter region. J Dermatol 34, 531-536.
- Palmer, C.N., Irvine, A.D., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Lee, S.P., Goudie, D.R., Sandilands, A., Campbell, L.E., Smith, F.J., et al. (2006). Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 38, 441-446.

- L., Wong, E., Pasolli, H.A., and Fuchs, E. (2020). Liquid-liquid phase separation drives skin barrier formation. Science 367, eaax9554.
- Spidale, N.A., Malhotra, N., Frascoli, M., Sylvia, K., Miu, B., Freeman, C., Stadinski, B.D., Huseby, E., and Kang, J. (2020). Neonatal-derived IL-17 producing dermal gammadelta T cells are required to prevent spontaneous atopic dermatitis. Elife 9, Feb 17;19:e51188.
- van der Stoep, N., van der Linden, J., and Logtenberg, T. (1993). Molecular evolution of the human immunoglobulin E response: high incidence of shared mutations and clonal relatedness among epsilon VH5 transcripts from three unrelated patients with atopic dermatitis. J Exp Med 177, 99-107.
- Vassar, R., Coulombe, P.A., Degenstein, L., Albers, K., and Fuchs, E. (1991). Mutant keratin expression in transgenic mice causes marked abnormalities resembling a human genetic skin disease. Cell 64, 365-380.

# LEPTIN RECEPTOR<sup>+</sup> STROMAL CELLS ARE CRITICAL REGULATORS OF THE ADULT BONE MARROW ENVIRONMENT, CONTROLLING HEMATOPOIESIS AND OSTEOGENESIS THROUGH SEVERAL MECHANISMS

#### CORBIN E. MEACHAM<sup>1</sup> AND SEAN J. MORRISON<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Children's Research Institute and Department of Pediatrics, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas TX 75390, USA

<sup>2</sup> Howard Hughes Medical Institute, UT Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas TX 75390, USA

Two physiologically important processes occur throughout adult life in the bone marrow: hematopoiesis (the production of blood and immune cells) and osteogenesis (the production of bone cells). Consistent with this, the bone marrow contains two types of stem cells – hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and skeletal stem cells (SSCs, often also called mesenchymal stem cells). A major focus of our laboratory has been to identify the cells that create the HSC niche - the specialized microenvironment that maintains HSCs by producing the factors they require. We discovered the Leptin Receptor-expressing (LepR<sup>+</sup>) stromal cells that are a key element of the HSC niche: they are the major source of known factors for the maintenance of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells in the bone marrow. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells also include the SSCs that are the major source of osteoblasts and adipocytes in adult bone marrow. Beyond these functions, LepR<sup>+</sup> cells regulate the bone marrow environment through several other mechanisms, including sensing and mediating the effects of load-bearing exercise on osteogenesis and lymphopoiesis, promoting vascular regeneration after myeloablation, and suppressing bone marrow inflammation. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells thus sustain HSCs and modulate adult osteogenesis through several different kinds of mechanisms.

The HSC niche: In 2005 we discovered that HSCs reside immediately adjacent to sinusoidal blood vessels in hematopoietic tissues, including in the bone marrow and spleen (Kiel et al., 2005). Sinusoids are a specialized form of venuole that is only present in hematopoietic tissues. Based on that observation, we proposed the existence of a perivascular niche for HSCs around the sinusoids. At the time, this was very controversial as the leading
(osteoblastic niche) model was quite different. During the subsequent 10 years we critically tested both models, ultimately proving that HSCs do reside in perisinusoidal niches (Figure 1) and disproving several key elements of the osteoblastic niche model (Morrison and Scadden, 2014).

One important step toward the identification of the HSC niche was identifying the stromal cells that are the critical source of factors for HSC maintenance. We discovered the LepR<sup>+</sup> mesenchymal stromal cells that surround sinusoids and arterioles throughout the bone marrow and that are the main source of known factors that are required for the maintenance of HSCs, including Stem Cell Factor (SCF) and the chemokine Cxcl12. To test whether LepR<sup>+</sup> cells were functionally important sources of factors for the maintenance of HSCs, we conditionally deleted Scf (Ding et al., 2012), Cxcl12 (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013) and other proposed niche factors (Zhou et al., 2015) from LepR<sup>+</sup> cells as well as all of the other candidate niche cell populations that had been proposed by other labs. This analysis showed that LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and endothelial cells (which expressed much lower levels of these factors) were functionally important sources of factors for the maintenance of HSCs. When we deleted Scf from LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and endothelial cells, all of the quiescent and serially transplantable HSCs disappeared from adult bone marrow, demonstrating that all



**Figure 1.** HSCs reside in perivascular niches in which factors required for HSC maintenance are produced by LepR+ cells and endothelial cells.

quiescent bone marrow HSCs rely upon perivascular niches for their maintenance (Oguro et al., 2013). Conversely, other cell populations that had been proposed as potential niche cells, such as osteoblasts, expressed little or none of these niche factors. Conditional deletion of these factors from these candidate niche cells had no effect on HSCs in adult bone marrow.

HSCs are adjacent to sinusoidal blood vessels (blue) throughout the marrow (Acar et al., 2015; Kiel et al., 2005), where LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and endothelial cells maintain HSCs by producing SCF (Ding et al., 2012), CX-CL12 (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013), and other factors (Fang et al., 2020; Himburg et al., 2018).

We went on to show that restricted progenitors reside in cellularly and spatially distinct niches as compared to HSCs. For example, a subset of common lymphoid progenitors reside in osteoblastic niches, at the endosteum (the interface of bone and bone marrow) where they derive factors for their maintenance from osteoblasts (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013). LepR<sup>+</sup> cells also synthesize SCF for the maintenance of many restricted hematopoietic progenitors, including early myeloid, lymphoid, and erythroid progenitors (Comazzetto et al., 2019; Cordeiro Gomes et al., 2016). At least some of these restricted progenitors localize adjacent to sinusoidal blood vessels, like HSCs (Comazzetto et al., 2019).



Figure 2. Distinct niches for HSCs and restricted progenitors in the bone marrow.

Daniel Lucas' laboratory extended these results by showing that there are likely to be distinct domains along the sinusoids in which different kinds of myeloid progenitors reside within distinct perisinusoidal neighborhoods that are specialized for cells at different stages of myeloid differentiation (Zhang et al., 2021). This suggests there are different kinds of LepR<sup>+</sup> cells that are specialized to create different kinds of niches in distinct locations within the bone marrow (Comazzetto et al., 2021). While HSCs and erythroid progenitors are sustained in peri-sinusoidal niches (blue) by factors from LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and endothelial cells (Comazzetto et al., 2019; Ding and Morrison, 2013; Ding et al., 2012) (colored dots), early lymphoid progenitors (CLPs) are sustained in peri-arteriolar niches (red blood vessel) by SCF from Osteolectin<sup>+</sup>LepR<sup>+</sup> cells that proliferate in response to mechanical activation of Piezo1 (Shen et al., 2021). Other CLPs are sustained in endosteal niches by CXCL12 from osteoblasts (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013). Adipocytes promote HSC regeneration by producing SCF and other factors (Zhou et al., 2017).

Consistent with these conclusions, recent single cell RNA sequencing studies of bone marrow stromal cells have confirmed that LepR<sup>+</sup> cells express the highest levels of niche factors within the bone marrow but that these cells are quite heterogeneous (Baccin et al., 2020; Baryawno et al., 2019; Tikhonova et al., 2019).

Skeletal stem cells (SSCs) in adult bone marrow: LepR<sup>+</sup> cells include the SSCs that give rise to all of the adipocytes and osteoblasts that form in adult bone marrow (Zhou et al., 2014). When bone marrow cells are cultured adherently to form mesenchymal stem cells, these mesenchymal stem cells arise from the LepR<sup>+</sup> cells (Zhou et al., 2014). The physiological function of the LepR<sup>+</sup> SSCs in the bone marrow is to give rise to the osteoblasts that contribute to the maintenance and repair of the adult skeleton (Zhou et al., 2014) and to form the adipocytes that accumulate during aging or after myeloablation (Zhou et al., 2017). LepR<sup>+</sup> cells, therefore, not only regulate HSC maintenance and hematopoiesis but are also a critical source of osteoblasts and adipocytes in adult bone marrow.

Peri-sinusoidal LepR<sup>+</sup> cells create niches for HSCs and certain restricted progenitors, including erythroid progenitors (Comazzetto et al., 2019). The adipocytes formed by adipocyte progenitors promote HSC maintenance and hematopoietic regeneration by synthesizing SCF (Zhou et al., 2017). The LepR<sup>+</sup>Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> progenitors create a peri-arteriolar niche for early lymphoid progenitors as well as giving rise to osteoblasts that maintain the adult skeleton (Shen et al., 2021). Osteoblasts create a distinct



**Figure 3.** LepR+ cells in adult bone marrow give rise to adipocyte progenitors and osteogenic progenitors (Shen et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2014).

endosteal niche for early lymphoid progenitors at the interface of bone and bone marrow (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013).

LepR<sup>+</sup> cells are also a critical source of growth factors that regulate osteogenesis. In an effort to identify new growth factors, we performed RNA sequencing on bone marrow LepR<sup>+</sup> cells. We looked for transcripts that are preferentially expressed by these cells and predicted to encode growth factor-like secreted proteins whose function had not been studied *in vivo*. This led to the identification of a new bone-forming growth factor that we named *Osteolectin*. Osteolectin promotes the maintenance of adult skeletal bone mass by acting on LepR<sup>+</sup> cells to promote their differentiation into osteoblasts (Yue et al., 2016).

Osteolectin is a C-type lectin domain protein, originally named CLEC11a (Bannwarth et al., 1998; Mio et al., 1998) that is expressed by a subset of LepR<sup>+</sup> cells as well as by osteoblasts, osteocytes, and chondrocytes (Yue et al., 2016). Others had detected Osteolectin/CLEC11a expression in the bone marrow and presumed it to be a hematopoietic growth factor (Hiraoka et al., 1997). We generated Osteolectin-deficient mice and found they are developmentally normal, with normal hematopoiesis (Yue et al., 2016); however, they exhibit accelerated bone loss throughout adulthood and delayed fracture healing. Osteolectin-deficient bone marrow stromal cells show impaired osteogenic differentiation, but normal adipogenic and chondrogenic differentiation. Recombinant Osteolectin promotes osteo-

genesis by LepR<sup>+</sup> cells in culture and injection of the recombinant protein into mice systemically increases bone formation.

Osteolectin thus maintains the adult skeleton by promoting the differentiation of LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and other mesenchymal progenitors into mature osteoblasts.

We identified  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  integrin as the Osteolectin receptor (Shen et al., 2019).  $\alpha 11$  integrin is highly restricted in its expression to osteogenic cells, including LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and osteoblasts.  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  binds *Osteolectin* with nanomolar affinity and is required for the osteogenic response to Osteolectin (Shen et al., 2019). Like Osteolectin-deficient mice, *Lepr-cre*;  $\alpha 11fl/fl$  mice are grossly normal but exhibit reduced osteogenesis and accelerated bone loss during adulthood (Shen et al., 2019). Osteolectin binding to  $\alpha 11\beta 1$  promotes Wnt pathway activation, which is necessary for the osteogenic response to Osteolectin.

Osteolectin appears to mediate much of the osteogenic effect of parathyroid hormone (PTH), an agent widely used to treat osteoporosis (Zhang et al., 2021). PTH promotes Osteolectin expression by bone marrow stromal cells and increases serum Osteolectin levels in mice and humans. Osteolectin deficiency attenuates Wnt pathway activation by PTH in bone marrow stromal cells and substantially reduces the osteogenic response to PTH *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The identification of Osteolectin, and its receptor  $\alpha 11\beta 1$ , thus revealed a new mechanism that is necessary for the maintenance of adult skeletal bone mass, fracture repair, and the response to an anabolic factor that is used to treat osteoporosis.

 $LepR^+$  cells mediate the effects of the bone marrow mechanical environment on osteogenesis and lymphopoiesis: One of the primary recommendations to people with osteoporosis is to engage in load-bearing exercise, because this increases the production of bone cells, thickening and strengthening of bones. However, the mechanism by which load-bearing exercise increases bone formation has been unclear.

We generated Osteolectin reporter mice to identify the LepR<sup>+</sup> cells in the bone marrow that synthesize Osteolectin. We found that Osteolectin expression distinguishes peri-arteriolar LepR<sup>+</sup> cells poised to undergo osteogenesis from peri-sinusoidal LepR<sup>+</sup> cells poised to undergo adipogenesis (Shen et al., 2021). We found that peri-arteriolar LepR<sup>+</sup>Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells are rapidly-dividing, short-lived, osteogenic progenitors that increase in number after fracture and are depleted during aging (Figure 3). Scf deletion from peri-arteriolar Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells does not affect the maintenance of HSCs or most restricted hematopoietic progenitors but it depletes common lymphoid progenitors, demonstrating the existence of a periarteriolar niche for lymphoid progenitors created by Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells. Deletion of *Scf* from these Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells broadly depletes lymphoid progenitors, impairing lymphopoiesis and survival after acute bacterial infection (Shen et al., 2021).

Remarkably, voluntary running increases, and hindlimb unloading decreases, the frequencies of peri-arteriolar Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells and lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow, demonstrating mechanical regulation of periarteriolar niches. Our results suggest that mechanical forces are transmitted along arterioles, from bone surfaces into the marrow, where they are sensed by LepR<sup>+</sup>Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells, increasing the division of these cells and expanding the numbers of osteogenic and lymphoid progenitors in the periarteriolar niche. The mechanism by which Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells sense these mechanical signals involves opening of the Piezo1 mechanically-regulated ion channel. Deletion of Piezo1 from Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells depletes Osteolectin<sup>+</sup> cells and lymphoid progenitors around arterioles. This identified a new mechanism by which load-bearing exercise promotes osteogenesis and immune function. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells thus sense the mechanical environment in the bone marrow and transduce mechanical signals into niche factor expression in a manner that regulates both osteogenesis and lymphopoiesis.

 $LepR^+$  cells regulate vascular regeneration in the bone marrow: Irradiation and chemotherapy not only deplete HSCs but also disrupt their niche in the bone marrow, particularly damaging the sinusoids (Hooper et al., 2009; Knospe et al., 1966; Kopp et al., 2005; Li et al., 2008).

Regeneration of the perivascular niche after injury, including endothelial and LepR<sup>+</sup> cells, is necessary for the regeneration of HSCs and hematopoiesis after myeloablation (Hooper et al., 2009; Kopp et al., 2005). After 5-fluorouracil treatment, Tie2 signaling (which is regulated by its ligands Angpt1, Angpt2, and possibly Angpt3 (also known as Angpt1) (Augustin et al., 2009; Eklund and Saharinen, 2013; Fagiani and Christofori, 2013; Thomson et al., 2014)) regulates the remodeling of blood vessels in the bone marrow (Kopp et al., 2005).

We systematically assessed the expression and function of *Angiopoietin-1* (*Angpt1*) in bone marrow (Zhou et al., 2015). *Angpt1* was not expressed by osteoblasts. *Angpt1* was most highly expressed by HSCs, and at lower levels by c-kit<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic progenitors, megakaryocytes, and LepR<sup>+</sup> stromal cells. Global conditional deletion of *Angpt1*, or deletion from osteoblasts, LepR<sup>+</sup> cells, *Nestin-cre*-expressing cells, megakaryocytes, endothelial cells or hematopoietic cells in normal mice did not affect hematopoiesis, HSC maintenance, or HSC quiescence.

Deletion of *Angpt1* from hematopoietic cells and LepR<sup>+</sup> cells had little effect on vasculature or HSC frequency under steady-state conditions but accelerated vascular and hematopoietic recovery after irradiation while increasing vascular leakiness. Hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells and LepR<sup>+</sup> stromal cells thus regulate vascular and niche regeneration by secreting Angpt1, reducing vascular leakiness but slowing niche recovery. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and endothelial cells also promote the regeneration of sinusoids after myeloablation by synthesizing VEGF-C (Fang et al., 2020).

LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and adipocytes maintain quiescent HSCs by suppressing inflammation: Adiponectin is a circulating factor that suppresses inflammation (Berg et al., 2001; Fruebis et al., 2001; Yamauchi et al., 2001). It is synthesized by adipocytes throughout the body (Hu et al., 1996; Maeda et al., 1996; Nakano et al., 1996; Scherer et al., 1995) as well as by LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and adipocytes in the bone marrow (Baccin et al., 2020; Baryawno et al., 2019; Tikhonova et al., 2019. Adiponectin suppresses the activation of macrophages (Ohashi et al., 2010; Yamaguchi et al., 2005), NK cells (Wilk et al., 2013), and T cells (Surendar et al., 2019) through multiple mechanisms, reducing their production of inflammatory factors, including IFNy (Surendar et al., 2019) and TNF (Maeda et al., 2002; Masamoto et al., 2016; Ohashi et al., 2010). Adiponectin deficiency has been reported to have no effect on HSCs or hematopoiesis in the bone marrow of specific pathogen free mice but after bacterial infection, adiponectin promotes hematopoietic progenitor proliferation by suppressing TNF expression (Masamoto et al., 2016).

The bone marrow becomes more inflammatory during aging (Chambers et al., 2007; Ergen et al., 2012; Henry et al., 2015; Valletta et al., 2020; Yamashita and Passegue, 2019; Young et al., 2021). Inflammatory factors promote HSC activation and chronic inflammation promotes HSC depletion (Baldridge et al., 2010; Essers et al., 2009; Matatall et al., 2016; Pietras et al., 2016). However, HSCs remain mainly quiescent (Pietras et al., 2011) and increase in number with age in most mouse strains (Morrison et al., 1996). This suggests the existence of mechanisms to protect HSCs from chronic inflammation in adult bone marrow. Regulatory T cells protect HSCs from immune cells after allogeneic transplantation (Fujisaki et al., 2011; Hirata et al., 2018), raising the question of whether there are factors that protect HSCs from immune cells and sustain HSC quiescence in normal adult bone marrow.

Adiponectin binds two receptors, AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, which have ceramidase activity that increases upon adiponectin binding. We found adiponectin receptors are non-cell-autonomously required in hematopoie-



**Figure 4.** A complex combination of cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic mechanisms sustain adult HSCs by suppressing inflammation, including adiponectin expression by adipocytes and LepR+ cells.

tic cells to promote HSC quiescence and self-renewal (Meacham et al., 2022). Adiponectin receptor signaling suppresses inflammatory cytokine expression by myeloid cells and T cells, including interferon gamma (IF-Ny) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF). Without adiponectin receptors, the levels of these factors increase, chronically activating HSCs, reducing their self-renewal potential, and depleting them during aging. Pathogen infection accelerates this loss of HSC self-renewal potential. Blocking IFNy or TNF signaling partially rescues these effects. Adiponectin receptors are thus required in immune cells to sustain HSC quiescence and to prevent premature HSC depletion by reducing inflammation.

In adiponectin or adiponectin receptor deficient mice, myeloid cells and T cells secrete inflammatory cytokines, chronically activating HSCs, reducing their self-renewal potential, and depleting them during aging. Niche cells thus sustain adult HSCs by suppressing inflammation by immune effector cells.

### Conclusions

LepR<sup>+</sup> stromal cells regulate hematopoiesis and osteogenesis in the bone marrow through several different kinds of mechanisms:

1. They are the main source of factors required for the maintenance of

HSCs and several early restricted progenitors, including SCF and Cxcl12 (Ding and Morrison, 2013; Ding et al., 2012).

- 2. They regulate vascular regeneration after myeloablation by synthesizing Angpt1 (Zhou et al., 2015) and VEGF-C (Fang et al., 2020).
- 3. A subset of LepR<sup>+</sup> cells are the SSCs that give rise to the osteoblasts and adipocytes that form in adult bone marrow (Zhou et al., 2014). LepR<sup>+</sup> cells are the bone marrow cells that give rise to mesenchymal stem cells in culture. The osteoblasts formed by LepR<sup>+</sup> cells contribute the maintenance of adult skeletal bone mass and the repair of certain kinds of bone injuries. The adipocytes formed by LepR<sup>+</sup> cells promote the regeneration of HSCs and hematopoiesis after myeloablation (Zhou et al., 2017).
- 4. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells secrete bone-forming growth factors that are necessary for the maintenance of adult skeletal bone mass, including Osteolectin (Shen et al., 2019; Yue et al., 2016).
- 5. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells mediate the effects of load-bearing exercise on osteogenesis and lymphopoiesis by sensing mechanical forces transmitted along arterioles in the bone marrow as a result of opening of the Piezo1 mechanically activated cation channel (Shen et al., 2021).
- 6. LepR<sup>+</sup> cells and adipocytes suppress inflammation in adult bone marrow by secreting adiponectin, which suppresses the expression of inflammatory cytokines by immune effector cells (Meacham et al., 2022). This is necessary for the maintenance of quiescent HSCs throughout adult life.

## Acknowledgements

This review summarizes a lecture given at a Pontifical Academy of Sciences Workshop on "Stem Cells and Their Promise for Regenerative Medicine" in Vatican City in May 2022. S.J.M. is a Howard Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI) Investigator, the Mary McDermott Cook Chair in Pediatric Genetics, the Kathryn and Gene Bishop Distinguished Chair in Pediatric Research, the director of the Hamon Laboratory for Stem Cells and Cancer, and a Cancer Prevention and Research Institute of Texas Scholar. This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (DK118745), the Moody Medical Research Institute, the Josephine Hughes Sterling Foundation, and the Robert J. Kleberg, Jr. and Helen C. Kleberg Foundation (all to S.J.M).

C.E.M. performed some of the work described in this review and helped to write the review. Her work was supported by a Postdoctoral Fellowship from the American Cancer Society (PF-13-245-01-LIB).

#### References

- Acar, M., Kocherlakota, K.S., Murphy, M.M., Peyer, J.G., Oguro, H., Inra, C.N., Jaiveola, C., Zhao, Z., Luby-Phelps, K., and Morrison, S.J. (2015). Deep imaging of bone marrow shows non-dividing stem cells are mainly perisinusoidal. Nature 526, 126-130.
- Augustin, H.G., Koh, G.Y., Thurston, G., and Alitalo, K. (2009). Control of vascular morphogenesis and homeostasis through the angiopoietin-Tie system. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10, 165-177.
- Baccin, C., Al-Sabah, J., Velten, L., Helbling, P.M., Grunschlager, F., Hernandez-Malmierca, P., Nombela-Arrieta, C., Steinmetz, L.M., Trumpp, A., and Haas, S. (2020). Combined single-cell and spatial transcriptomics reveal the molecular, cellular and spatial bone marrow niche organiza- Cordeiro Gomes, A., Hara, T., Lim, V.Y., tion. Nat Cell Biol 22, 38-48.
- Baldridge, M.T., King, K.Y., Boles, N.C., Weksberg, D.C., and Goodell, M.A. (2010). Quiescent haematopoietic stem cells are activated by IFN-gamma in response to chronic infection. Nature 465, 793-797.
- Bannwarth, S., Giordanengo, V., Lesimple, J., and Lefebvre, J.C. (1998). Molecular cloning of a new secreted sulfated mucin-like protein with a C-type lectin domain that is expressed in lymphoblastic cells. J Biol Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G., Chem 273, 1911-1916.
- Baryawno, N., Przybylski, D., Kowalczyk, M.S., Kfoury, Y., Severe, N., Gustafsson, M., Hofree, M., et al. (2019). A Cellular Taxonomy of the Bone Marrow Stroma in Homeostasis and Leukemia. Cell 177, Ergen, A.V., Boles, N.C., and Goodell, M.A. 1915-1932.e1916.
- Berg, A.H., Combs, T.P., Du, X., Brownlee, M., and Scherer, P.E. (2001). The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances Essers, M.A., Offner, S., Blanco-Bose, W.E.,

hepatic insulin action. Nat Med 7, 947-953.

- Chambers, S.M., Shaw, C.A., Gatza, C., Fisk, C.J., Donehower, L.A., and Goodell, M.A. (2007). Aging hematopoietic stem cells decline in function and exhibit epigenetic dysregulation. PLoS Biol 5, e201.
- Comazzetto, S., Murphy, M.M., Berto, S., Jeffery, E., Zhao, Z., and Morrison, S.J. (2019). Restricted Hematopoietic Progenitors and Erythropoiesis Require SCF from Leptin Receptor<sup>+</sup> Niche Cells in the Bone Marrow. Cell Stem Cell 24, 477-486 e476.
- Comazzetto, S., Shen, B., and Morrison, S.J. (2021). Niches that regulate stem cells and hematopoiesis in adult bone marrow. Dev Cell 56, 1848-1860.
- Herndler-Brandstetter, D., Nevius, E., Sugiyama, T., Tani-Ichi, S., Schlenner, S., Richie, E., Rodewald, H.R., et al. (2016). Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niches Produce Lineage-Instructive Signals to Control Multipotent Progenitor Differentiation. Immunity 45, 1219-1231.
- Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. Nature 495, 231-235.
- and Morrison, S.J. (2012). Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 481, 457-462.
- K., Kokkaliaris, K.D., Mercier, F., Tabaka, Eklund, L., and Saharinen, P. (2013). Angiopoietin signaling in the vasculature. Exp Cell Res 319, 1271-1280.
  - (2012). Rantes/Ccl5 influences hematopoietic stem cell subtypes and causes myeloid skewing. Blood 119, 2500-2509.

Waibler, Z., Kalinke, U., Duchosal, M.A., and Trumpp, A. (2009). IFNalpha activates dormant haematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Nature 458, 904-908.

- Fagiani, E., and Christofori, G. (2013). Angiopoietins in angiogenesis. Cancer Lett 328, 18-26.
- Fang, S., Chen, S., Nurmi, H., Leppanen, V.M., Jeltsch, M., Scadden, D., Silberstein, L., Mikkola, H., and Alitalo, K. (2020). VEGF-C protects the integrity of the bone marrow perivascular niche in mice. Blood 136, 1871-1883.
- Reed, D., Erickson, M.R., Yen, F.T., Bihain, B.E., and Lodish, H.F. (2001). Proteolytic cleavage product of 30-kDa adipocyte complement-related protein increases fatty acid oxidation in muscle and causes weight loss in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 2005-2010.
- Fujisaki, J., Wu, J., Carlson, A.L., Silberstein, L., Putheti, P., Larocca, R., Gao, W., Saito, T.I., Lo Celso, C., Tsuyuzaki, H., et al. (2011). In vivo imaging of Treg cells providing immune privilege to the haematopoietic stem-cell niche. Nature 474, 216-219.
- Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y.M., Day, R.B., Schuettpelz, L.G., Christopher, M.J., Borgerding, J.N., Nagasawa, T., and Link, D.C. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. Nature 495, 227-230.
- Henry, C.J., Casas-Selves, M., Kim, J., Zaberezhnyy, V., Aghili, L., Daniel, A.E., Jimenez, L., Azam, T., McNamee, E.N., Clambey, E.T., et al. (2015). Aging-associated inflammation promotes selection for adaptive oncogenic events in B cell progenitors. J Clin Invest 125, 4666-4680.

Himburg, H.A., Termini, C.M., Schlussel,

L., Kan, J., Li, M., Zhao, L., Fang, T., Sasine, J.P., Chang, V.Y., and Chute, J.P. (2018). Distinct Bone Marrow Sources of Pleiotrophin Control Hematopoietic Stem Cell Maintenance and Regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 23, 370-381 e375.

- Hiraoka, A., Sugimura, A., Seki, T., Nagasawa, T., Ohta, N., Shimonishi, M., Hagiya, M., and Shimizu, S. (1997). Cloning, expression, and characterization of a cDNA encoding a novel human growth factor for primitive hematopoietic progenitor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 7577-7582.
- Fruebis, J., Tsao, T.S., Javorschi, S., Ebbets- Hirata, Y., Furuhashi, K., Ishii, H., Li, H.W., Pinho, S., Ding, L., Robson, S.C., Frenette, P.S., and Fujisaki, J. (2018). CD150(high) Bone Marrow Tregs Maintain Hematopoietic Stem Cell Quiescence and Immune Privilege via Adenosine. Cell Stem Cell 22, 445-453 e445.
  - Hooper, A.T., Butler, J.M., Nolan, D.J., Kranz, A., Iida, K., Kobayashi, M., Kopp, H.G., Shido, K., Petit, I., Yanger, K., et al. (2009). Engraftment and reconstitution of hematopoiesis is dependent on VEG-FR2-mediated regeneration of sinusoidal endothelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 4, 263-274.
  - Hu, E., Liang, P., and Spiegelman, B.M. (1996). AdipoQ is a novel adipose-specific gene dysregulated in obesity. J Biol Chem 271, 10697-10703.
  - Kiel, M.J., Yilmaz, O.H., Iwashita, T., Yilmaz, O.H., Terhorst, C., and Morrison, S.J. (2005). SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell 121, 1109-1121.
  - Knospe, W.H., Blom, J., and Crosby, W.H. (1966). Regeneration of locally irradiated bone marrow. I. Dose dependent, longterm changes in the rat, with particular emphasis upon vascular and stromal reaction. Blood 28, 398-415.

- Kopp, H.G., Avecilla, S.T., Hooper, A.T., Shmelkov, S.V., Ramos, C.A., Zhang, F., and Rafii, S. (2005). Tie2 activation contributes to hemangiogenic regeneration after myelosuppression. Blood 106, 505-513.
- Li, X.M., Hu, Z., Jorgenson, M.L., Wingard, J.R., and Slayton, W.B. (2008). Bone marrow sinusoidal endothelial cells undergo nonapoptotic cell death and are replaced by proliferating sinusoidal cells in situ to maintain the vascular niche following lethal irradiation. Exp Hematol 36, 1143-1156.
- Maeda, K., Okubo, K., Shimomura, I., Funahashi, T., Matsuzawa, Y., and Matsubara, K. (1996). cDNA cloning and expression of a novel adipose specific collagen-like factor, apM1 (AdiPose Most abundant Gene transcript 1). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 221, 286-289.
- Maeda, N., Shimomura, I., Kishida, K., Nishizawa, H., Matsuda, M., Nagaretani, H., Furuyama, N., Kondo, H., Takahashi, M., Arita, Y., et al. (2002). Diet-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking adiponectin/ACRP30. Nat Med 8, 731-737.
- Masamoto, Y., Arai, S., Sato, T., Yoshimi, A., Kubota, N., Takamoto, I., Iwakura, Y., Yoshimura, A., Kadowaki, T., and Kurokawa, M. (2016). Adiponectin Enhances Antibacterial Activity of Hematopoietic Cells by Suppressing Bone Marrow Inflammation. Immunity 44, 1422-1433.
- Matatall, K.A., Jeong, M., Chen, S., Sun, D., Chen, F., Mo, Q., Kimmel, M., and King, K.Y. (2016). Chronic Infection Depletes Hematopoietic Stem Cells through Stress-Induced Terminal Differentiation. Pietras, E.M., Mirantes-Barbeito, C., Fong, Cell Rep 17, 2584-2595.
- Meacham, C.E., Jeffery, E.C., Burgess, R.J., Sivakumar, C.D., Arora, M.A., Stanley, A.M., Hildinger, E.M., Crane, G.M.,

Zhao, Z., and Morrison, S.J. (2022). Adiponectin receptors sustain hematopoietic stem cells throughout adulthood by protecting them from inflammation. Nature Cell Biology. Published online.

- Mio, H., Kagami, N., Yokokawa, S., Kawai, H., Nakagawa, S., Takeuchi, K., Sekine, S., and Hiraoka, A. (1998). Isolation and characterization of a cDNA for human mouse, and rat full-length stem cell growth factor, a new member of C-type lectin superfamily. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 249, 124-130.
- Morrison, S.J., and Scadden, D.T. (2014). The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 505, 327-334.
- Morrison, S.J., Wandycz, A.M., Akashi, K., Globerson, A., and Weissman, I.L. (1996). The aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 2, 1011-1016.
- Nakano, Y., Tobe, T., Choi-Miura, N.H., Mazda, T., and Tomita, M. (1996). Isolation and characterization of GBP28, a novel gelatin-binding protein purified from human plasma. J Biochem 120, 803-812.
- Oguro, H., Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). SLAM family markers resolve functionally distinct subpopulations of hematopoietic stem cells and multipotent progenitors. Cell Stem Cell 13, 102-116.
- Ohashi, K., Parker, J.L., Ouchi, N., Higuchi, A., Vita, J.A., Gokce, N., Pedersen, A.A., Kalthoff, C., Tullin, S., Sams, A., et al. (2010). Adiponectin promotes macrophage polarization toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype. J Biol Chem 285, 6153-6160.
- S., Loeffler, D., Kovtonyuk, L.V., Zhang, S., Lakshminarasimhan, R., Chin, C.P., Techner, J.M., Will, B., et al. (2016). Chronic interleukin-1 exposure drives

haematopoietic stem cells towards precocious myeloid differentiation at the expense of self-renewal. Nat Cell Biol 18, 607-618.

- Pietras, E.M., Warr, M.R., and Passegue, E. (2011). Cell cycle regulation in hematopoietic stem cells. J Cell Biol 195, 709-720.
- Scherer, P.E., Williams, S., Fogliano, M., Baldini, G., and Lodish, H.F. (1995). A novel serum protein similar to C1q, produced exclusively in adipocytes. J Biol Chem 270, 26746-26749.
- Zhang, J., Nosyreva, E.D., Du, L., Murphy, M.M., Hu, S., Yi, Y., Kara, N., et al. (2021). A mechanosensitive peri-arteriolar niche for osteogenesis and lymphopoiesis. Nature 591, 438-444.
- Shen, B., Vardy, K., Hughes, P., Tasdogan, A., Zhao, Z., Yue, R., Crane, G.M., and Morrison,
- S.J. (2019). Integrin alpha11 is an Osteolectin receptor and is required for the maintenance of adult skeletal bone mass. Elife 8.
- Surendar, J., Frohberger, S.J., Karunakaran, I., Schmitt, V., Stamminger, W., Neumann, A.L., Wilhelm, C., Hoerauf, A., and Hubner, M.P. (2019). Adiponectin Limits IFN-gamma and IL-17 Producing CD4 T Cells in Obesity by Restraining Cell Intrinsic Glycolysis. Front Immunol 10, 2555.
- Thomson, B.R., Heinen, S., Jeansson, M., Ghosh, A.K., Fatima, A., Sung, H.K., Onay, T., Chen, H., Yamaguchi, S., Economides, A.N., et al. (2014). A lymphatic defect causes ocular hypertension and glaucoma in mice. J Clin Invest 124, 4320-4324.
- Tikhonova, A.N., Dolgalev, I., Hu, H., Sivaraj, K.K., Hoxha, E., Cuesta-Domínguez, Á., Pinho, S., Akhmetzyanova, I., Gao, J., Witkowski, M., et al. (2019). The bone marrow microenvironment at single-cell resolution. Nature 569, 222-228.

Valletta, S., Thomas, A., Meng, Y., Ren, X.,

Drissen, R., Sengul, H., Di Genua, C., and Nerlov, C. (2020). Micro-environmental sensing by bone marrow stroma identifies IL-6 and TGFbeta1 as regulators of hematopoietic ageing. Nat Commun 11, 4075.

- Wilk, S., Jenke, A., Stehr, J., Yang, C.A., Bauer, S., Goldner, K., Kotsch, K., Volk, H.D., Poller, W., Schultheiss, H.P., et al. (2013). Adiponectin modulates NK-cell function. Eur J Immunol 43, 1024-1033.
- Shen, B., Tasdogan, A., Ubellacker, J.M., Yamaguchi, N., Argueta, J.G., Masuhiro, Y., Kagishita, M., Nonaka, K., Saito, T., Hanazawa, S., and Yamashita, Y. (2005). Adiponectin inhibits Toll-like receptor family-induced signaling. FEBS Lett 579, 6821-6826.
  - Yamashita, M., and Passegue, E. (2019). TNF-alpha Coordinates Hematopoietic Stem Cell Survival and Myeloid Regeneration. Cell Stem Cell 25, 357-372 e357.
  - Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Waki, H., Terauchi, Y., Kubota, N., Hara, K., Mori, Y., Ide, T., Murakami, K., Tsuboyama-Kasaoka, N., et al. (2001). The fat-derived hormone adiponectin reverses insulin resistance associated with both lipoatrophy and obesity. Nat Med 7, 941-946.
  - Young, K., Eudy, E., Bell, R., Loberg, M.A., Stearns, T., Sharma, D., Velten, L., Haas, S., Filippi, M.D., and Trowbridge, J.J. (2021). Decline in IGF1 in the bone marrow microenvironment initiates hematopoietic stem cell aging. Cell Stem Cell 28, 1473-1482 e1477.
  - Yue, R., Shen, B., and Morrison, S.J. (2016). Clec11a/osteolectin is an osteogenic growth factor that promotes the maintenance of the adult skeleton. Elife 5.
  - Zhang, J., Wu, Q., Johnson, C.B., Pham, G., Kinder, J.M., Olsson, A., Slaughter, A., May, M., Weinhaus, B., D'Alessandro, A., et al. (2021). In situ mapping identifies

distinct vascular niches for myelopoiesis. *Nature 590*, 457-462.

- Zhou, B.O., Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2015). Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells regulate the regeneration of their niche by secreting Angiopoietin-1. *Elife 4*, e05521.
- Zhou, B.O., Yu, H., Yue, R., Zhao, Z., Rios, J.J., Naveiras, O., and Morrison, S.J. (2017). Bone marrow adipocytes promote

the regeneration of stem cells and haematopoiesis by secreting SCF. *Nat Cell Biol 19*, 891-903.

Zhou, B.O., Yue, R., Murphy, M.M., Peyer, J.G., and Morrison, S.J. (2014). Leptin-receptor-expressing mesenchymal stromal cells represent the main source of bone formed by adult bone marrow. *Cell Stem Cell 15*, 154-168.

# **INNATE ALLERGY AND INTESTINAL CELL FATE**

#### **RICHARD M. LOCKSLEY**

Sandler Distinguished Professor of Medicine, UCSF and HHMI, San Francisco, USA

Immune cells infiltrate all organs of the body. Traditionally identified by roles in host defense, tissue immune cells are now known to contribute to homeostasis of stem cell niches in organs throughout life. Positioned during embryogenesis, innate immune cells derived from yolk sac and fetal liver are gradually replaced by cells derived from adult bone marrow, creating cellular layers through ontogeny that interact to respond to local perturbations ranging from circadian to metabolic to pathologic events. Helper lymphocytes elaborate cytokines using canonical modules that orchestrate interactions among lymphoid, myeloid and non-hematopoietic tissue cells. Although lacking antigen receptors, innate helper lymphocytes, or ILCs, are abundant in small intestine, where allergy-associated ILC2s contribute to small intestine physiology by altering epithelial cell fate after feeding using a pathway hijacked by intestinal helminths. Uncovering immune pathways involved in organ homeostasis may lead to understanding diseases of increasing prevalence, such as food allergy, and might be exploited to enhance healthspan.

The foundations of immunology were advanced by recognition of the fatal infectious complications accompanying genetic loss of rearranging T and B cell antigen receptors that pioneered bone marrow, hematopoietic stem cell, and gene replacement therapies that are covered by others in this Symposium. Successes drove the focus of immunology towards understanding the processes of adaptive immunity that generate the rearranged receptors necessary to protect from environmental pathogens, and that remain the goal of successful vaccines. A prescient contribution by Charlie Janeway from a 1989 Cold Spring Harbor Symposium addressed immunologists' 'dirty little secret' that successful immunization required administration of the antigen with an 'adjuvant', usually containing microbial products from mycobacteria or pertussis with alum (1). Janeway pointed out that randomly generated receptors could not alone discriminate 'non-self from 'self' antigens and reasoned that evolutionarily encoded receptors that recognized conserved molecules from infectious organisms likely occur at the time of antigen receptor engagement, thus guiding the T cell towards meaningful commitment and avoidance of autoimmunity. Janeway's insights accounted for the adjuvant requirement and led to discovery of what was later designated 'signal 2' required for successful T cell signaling. Later studies from his lab and others led to the discovery of Toll-like receptors, a family of leucine-rich repeat proteins that decorate macrophages, dendritic cells and B cells, which constitute the major cells that present peptide antigens to helper T cells. Toll-like receptors (TLRs), deeply rooted in evolution and named for Drosophila Toll involved in dorsal-ventral patterning and (shown later) host defense, sparked a frenzy of research, resulting in not only Nobel Prizes but also discovery of families of Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) arrayed across the surface, cytosol and endosomal vacuoles of human cells, including 10 TLRs, ~15 C-type lectin, ~15 nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like and ~15 RIG-I-like and AIM2-like nucleic acid receptors, that engage the spectrum of constituents from bacteria, fungi and viruses, and lead to elaboration of signal 2 required for optimal T cell activation. Modifying mRNA to bypass PRR engagement was a critical engineering feat in developing RNA vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 as recognized by the 2021 Lasker Award to Kariko and Weissman (2).

Seminal studies by Mossman and Coffman in the late 1980s from DNAX Institute at Schering-Plough identified subsets of T helper cells, designated type 1 and type 2, as distinguished by the groups of cytokines they produced (3). T helper 1 (Th1) cells secreted interferon-gamma (IFNg), involved in classical activation of myeloid cells for host defense, whereas T helper 2 (Th2) cells secreted IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 involved in allergic immunity, including the alternative activation of macrophages, recruitment of eosinophils, and B cell switching to IgE antibodies that arm mast cells and basophils. Two decades later, Cua and Kastelein from DNAX pioneered studies leading to discovery of the third T cell subset and further work quickly elucidated the factors important for establishing and maintaining Th17 cells in mice and humans (4). Th17 cells produce IL-17 cytokines, which mediate neutrophil accumulation associated with clearance of cell debris and microbes during acute injury, and IL-22, which induces epithelial cell proliferation and secretion of antimicrobial peptides.

The discovery of subsets of T helper cells pushed identification of the transcriptional programs that establish the three effector cytokine modules, eventually resulting in the epigenetic model of T helper cell differentiation by which naïve CD4 helper T cells are instructed by dendritic cells and PRR-elicited signals to mature into effector T cells that migrate to tissues to elaborate their respective cytokines. Further study revealed that not only

adaptive CD4T cells selected by peptides embedded in classical MHC molecules, but also unconventional CD4T cells, including NKT cells, MAIT cells and gdT cells expressing receptors selected on noncanonical MHC molecules, could be grouped according to the three helper cell subsets (5). Finally, a group of innate lymphoid cells, later designated ILCs (6), which lack expression of antigen receptors altogether, was recognized over years of study, culminating with the discovery of 'allergic-like' ILC2s in 2010, to complete the three canonical groups based on core transcription factor dependence and cytokine outputs that mirrored those of adaptive and unconventional T cell subsets. Thus, three stereotyped outputs characterize effector mechanisms by which helper lymphocytes confront perturbations in body tissues (here, we won't consider regulatory and follicular T cells, which mainly communicate with other lymphocytes). The lack of antigen receptors on ILCs creates the opportunity to uncover tissue signals that activate these pathways and align with the demands of basal homeostasis (7).

Outputs from tissue resident helper lymphocytes organize acute response to injury (type 3 associated with IL-17/IL-22-associated immunity) and recall (type 1 associated with IFNg and TNFa), and can be conceptualized respectively as acute neutrophilic responses, whether sterile or infectious, and memory, by which host tissues respond more quickly to a second challenge as designated by 'trained' immunity (8). Type 3 and type 1 responses are initiated by PRRs arrayed on multiple cell types, including at epithelial barriers, which induce inflammatory cytokines to activate these distinct immune modules in innate and adaptive immune cells. The third output, associated with allergy, is less obviously associated with host health, and is proposed to organize aversive responses (e.g.; itch, cough, vomiting, diarrhea, etc.) associated with noxious environmental insults but also epithelial adaptations (e.g.; increased mucus) (9). Type 2 responses are initiated by a group of cytokines designated 'alarmins', that are expressed from distinct types of sentinel cells in response to perturbations of homeostasis. Receptors for alarmin cytokines are expressed constitutively on tissue resident ILC2s, positioning these cells as integrated sensors of tissue disruption. Multiple functional and GWAS studies have implicated alarmin cytokines like IL-33, TSLP, IL-25 and IL-18 or their receptors in allergic pathology, and therapeutics targeting alarmins are active against allergic diseases.

Innate lymphoid cells emerge from fetal liver around E14 in the mouse and at comparable periods in human fetal development around the time of villus initiation in the small intestine. Like macrophages, ILC2s expand in overlapping waves during fetal, postnatal and adult life, enter tissues, proliferate and activate tissue-specific transcriptomes before adopting a predominantly tissue-resident state (10). Largely maintained by locally deposited and self-renewing precursors, turnover from adult-derived ILC2 precursors occurs with variable kinetics that generally reflect epithelial turnover in the tissue of residence, with more rapid turnover in intestine and skin and slower turnover in adipose and lung. Upon perturbations that stimulate continued activation, ILC2s proliferate and enter the blood, resulting in circulating ILC2s and cytokines that mediate effects at distal tissues (11). The potent cytokine potential of ILC2s has implicated these cells in pathologic allergic states while increasing studies have begun to implicate these cells in tissue homeostasis (12). Numbers of tissue ILC2s are relatively unaffected in germfree mice and fetal human small intestine contains IL-13+ ILC2s, suggesting that tissue residency and cytokine profiles are independent of the microbiota.

Our interest in the role of ILC2s in small intestine physiology began with investigations of eosinophil circadian variation, which was driven by metabolic rather than circadian cues (13). Activated ILC2s produce the eosinophil survival factor, IL-5, and IL-13, which induces release of eosinophilic chemotactic factors by stromal cells, suggesting that activation of intestinal ILC2s with feeding underpinned the oscillations by which blood eosinophils diminish with feeding and increase with fasting. Indeed, fasting was associated with diminished IL-5 production by lamina propria ILC2s, which increased and was accompanied by IL-13 production with feeding, driven in part by induction of the neuropeptide VIP. Thus, feeding induced small intestinal ILC2 activation, production of IL-5 and IL-13, and entry of blood eosinophils into gut tissue, consistent with the decrease in circulating eosinophils in response to nutrient intake. Intestinal eosinophils may be important in tissue remodeling in response to luminal perturbations through release of proteases and growth factors, and further research is needed to understand the basic biology of these cells and their involvement in normal gut physiology.

Although ILC2s integrate multiple synergistic signals from tissues to activate and produce cytokines, the alarmin cytokines IL-33, IL-25 and TSLP constitute key contributors; in the absence of all 3 signaling pathways, activation of both innate ILC2s and adaptive Th2 cells is greatly attenuated in most tissues (14). Single-cell sequencing studies revealed high expression of the IL-25 receptor on small intestine lamina propria ILC2s (15), and epithelial tuft cells were subsequently identified as the unexpected source of IL-25 (16,17). Tuft cells and goblet cells expand remarkably

RICHARD M. LOCKSLEY



**Figure 1.** Coiled small intestinal 'Swiss' rolls from uninfected mice (Resting) or mice 7 days after infection with a parasitic nematode, *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*, with tuft cells (green) delineated along the villi.

after challenge with parasitic helminths, which elicits proliferation and activation of small intestinal ILC2s (Fig. 1). Recognized over 60 years ago by their blunt, long apical microvilli extending into the hollow lumen, tuft cells are rare chemosensory cells in most mucosal epithelia of vertebrate organs, including upper and lower respiratory tract, gastrointestinal and parts of the genitourinary tract, and within endodermal-derived medullary epithelial cells of the thymus. Intestinal tuft cells are post-mitotic cells derived from columnar crypt stem cells and typically turnover during the normal 3-5 days of villus transit from crypt to apex. Tuft cells in other tissues are long-lived, reflecting slower epithelial turnover in organs like lung or gallbladder. Tuft cells use taste-associated signaling from upstream GPCRs via the Ca++-activated cation channel TRPM5 to depolarize and activate canonical effector outputs, including IL-25, eicosanoids including leukotrienes and prostaglandin D2, ATP and acetylcholine, reflecting unique outputs among epithelial cells (18). Although historically given distinct names in different tissues, such as tuft cells in gut, brush cells in trachea, and microvillus cells in the oronasal epithelia, all tuft cells depend on expression of the transcription factor Pou2F3, suggesting that epithelial cells that depend on Pou2F3 and express typical taste cell signaling pathways and these canonical outputs can all be considered members of the tuft cell family, a designation that includes type 2 taste cells which sense umami, sweet and bitter (19). Expression of various taste and vomeronasal receptors, as well as multiple other GPCRs, suggests that tuft cells are chemosensory cells arrayed to detect luminal signals and transfer information to host cells, which in small intestine serves to change the epithelial boundary by altering cell fate among transit amplifying cells.

Constitutive expression of IL-25 in tuft cells suggests that ILC2 activation initiates a feed-forward circuit to increase tuft and goblet cell numbers until the luminal signal becomes attenuated. ILC2 activation is driven both by IL-25 from the increased numbers of tuft cells but also by release of cysteinyl leukotrienes from tuft cells that synergize to drive proliferation and cytokine production. The resultant epithelial alterations account for the increased goblet cell and mucus response that accompany intestinal helminth infection. These effects were genetically traced to IL-13 generated by ILC2s downstream of IL-25 in tuft cells and upstream of direct effects of IL-13 on epithelia, as shown the ability of exogenous IL-13 to increase tuft cell numbers in organoids that was dependent on epithelial expression of IL-4Ra, the signaling component of the IL-13 receptor. Deleting the ubiquitin-modifying enzyme A20 (TNFAIP3), a negative regulator of IL-25 signal transduction, in ILC2s caused spontaneous IL-25-mediated small intestinal adaptation in mice characterized by lengthening and increased muscle mass with elevated numbers of ILC2s and tuft cells, thus attesting to the constitutive activity of this pathway in situ (20). These small intestinal adaptations were stable over time and associated with persistent alterations in tuft cell and ILC2 numbers. The affected mice were resistant to subsequent helminth infection explaining an observation termed 'concomitant' immunity by which intestinal helminth infection establishes a resistant state that impedes maturation of new eggs or larvae from the same or even different helminths. Intriguingly, resistance to injury at distal mucosal sites, such as lung and conjunctivae, also occurs, reflecting the circulation in blood of ILC2s and their cytokines that accompany proliferation and egress from perturbed tissues (11,21).

The appearance of mice with increased numbers of tuft cells in several academic research facilities led to identification of infection by unsuspect-

ed cecal Tritrichomonas muris, a parabasalid protist widespread in feral animals, that, like helminths, induces the small intestinal tuft cell-ILC2 circuit (22). T. muris are obligate anaerobes with an array of enzymes that degrade complex plant polysaccharides: related Tritrichomonads constitute the cellulose-degrading organisms found in various species of termites. Rather than mitochondria, protists use hydrogenosomes, which lack the electron transport chain, to generate ATP via decarboxylation and oxidation of pyruvate resulting in production of the metabolites acetate and succinate. Small intestine tuft cells prominently express GPR91, the succinate receptor, and succinate was sufficient to induce tuft cell IL-25, ILC2 activation and initiation of circuit amplification that was lost after deletion of tuft cells. TRPM5 or IL-25, establishing a role for small intestine tuft cells in luminal succinate sensing (20). Additional GPCRs are being discovered that define the chemosensory spectra of not only intestinal tuft cells, but also tuft cells in other organs that express diverse GPCRs that establish the repertoire by which these epithelial sensors deconvolute their microenvironment.

Helminth parasites and protists, widespread in the animal kingdom, likely evolved to induce the adapted intestinal state to facilitate generation of eggs and larvae while avoiding immune attack and generating a host niche resistant to further colonization. While intestinal parasitism has decreased, the rising prevalence of diseases like food allergy in Westernized cultures is ascribed to the 'hygiene hypothesis', which proposes aberrant immune deviation driven by exposure to microbiota and nutrients that deviate from developmental programs initiated during embryogenesis and early perinatal life as established earlier in evolutionary history (23). Food allergy, an immune attack on ingested nutrients resulting in symptoms ranging from bloating and hives to life-threatening anaphylaxis, impacts almost 10% of children in the United States at great economic cost. Animal models and human studies implicate type 2 immunity in food allergy. often driven by IgE-mediated recognition of harmless ingredients shared by common food groups. The rising prevalence of food allergy raises the possibility that this pathologic response reflects dysregulation of a physiologic role for type 2 immunity in monitoring food quality, perhaps driven by metabolites or unnatural chemical constituents in modern processed diets (24). In this model, positive food qualities are sensed by enterocytes and enteroendocrine cells whereas negative food qualities are sensed by chemosensory cells like tuft cells and serotonin- and histamine-secreting enterochromaffin cells; both become 'coded' and reinforced by neural circuitry. Whereas some ingestants can be directly sensed by genetically encoded receptors like GPR91 for succinate or bitter receptors on type 2 taste cells, akin to PRRs in type 1 and type 3 immunity, others become 'associated' with negative outcomes during ingestion and 'tagged' through induction of adaptive type 2 immunity, leading to IgE and the arming of mucosal mast cells that degranulate and mediate aversive responses upon subsequent exposure. Thresholds for detection of high-quality nutrients or noxious ingestants likely differ, with higher sensitivity for the latter necessary to protect the host from harmful entities hidden in food. As such, the ILC2-tuft cell feed-forward circuit would represent a food-triggered amplification system enacted to increase detection of potentially toxic constituents once the threshold for ingestion has occurred. Intestinal pathobionts have hi-jacked the process to drive intestinal adaptation and enhance host resilience in support of their reproductive niche. Indeed, intestinal parasitic infection promoted colonization resistance from bacterial pathogens and attenuated inflammatory bowel disease pathology (25,26).

An additional component of the small intestinal feeding response consists of anticipatory propagation of information via hormone and neural circuitry to the distal small intestine to coordinate the response to food intake. A second ILC2 population in the small intestine resides in the muscularis mucosa embedded within the dense network of nerves and macrophages constituting the enteric nervous system. Expression of the IL-13 receptor on populations of enteric neurons (27) and macrophages, which communicate to regulate intestinal physiology, raises the possibility that the second ILC2 population plays a role in propagation of information to the enteric nervous system. In contrast to lamina propria ILC2s, which express the IL-25 receptor, muscularis ILC2s express the IL-33 receptor and produce IL-5 and IL-13 in response to this alarmin cytokine. Intestinal IL-33 is expressed in multiple cell types near the crypt base, including fibroblastic reticular cells and lymphatic endothelial cells in proximity to the enteric plexus. While we continue to refine this area of research, our working hypothesis suggests a three-part process by which luminal information regarding food quality is transferred to ILC2s and crypt transit-amplifying cells to ensure optimal detection and handling of both positive- and negative-quality ingestants by the small intestine, revealing an intrinsic system commandeered by luminal helminths to enable parasitism (Fig. 2).

In summary, an unusual subset of innate lymphocytes that produce cytokines typically associated with allergic diseases populates the small intestine in the lamina propria and muscularis during development and



**Figure 2.** A potential signaling cascade activated by food in the small intestine. Parasites bypass the cascade and directly activate tuft cells to drive the circuit.

1. Intestinal nutrients signal through epithelial and submucosal lamina propria cells to activate ILC2s.

2. IL-13 initiates the IL-25 feed-forward tuft cell circuit.

3. Crypt-associated signals activate muscularis ILC2s (insert: green, ILC2s; purple, neurons) in the enteric plexus.

becomes activated to secrete cytokines after ingestion of food. Through a pathway that involves epithelial nutrient detection and relay through lamina propria support cells, intestinal ILC2s are activated to mediate a secretory cell bias among transit amplifying cells, thus increasing goblet and tuft cell production by a forward-amplifying circuit. Increased mucus and enhanced surface area and peristalsis impact gut physiology to optimize nutrient extraction while also increasing the detection capacity for ingested toxins and irritants. Further understanding the links between innate immune cells, stem cell outputs and small intestinal physiology promises to reveal insights into intestinal health and disease. Innate tissue-resident immune cells, including macrophages and ILCs, interact with stem cell niches and affect physiology in many organs (28), and further research defining these pathways are likely to provide substantial opportunities for improving human health.

#### Acknowledgements

The author thanks lab members and colleagues for discussion, Chang Liao (and BioRender) and Satoshi Koga for help with Fig. 2, and funding from HHMI, the National Institutes of Health and the Sandler Asthma Basic Research Center at UCSF

#### References

- 1. Janeway, Jr., CA. 1989. Approaching the 7. Kotas ME, Lockslev RM. 2018. Why inasymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harbor Symp 8. Quant Biol 54:1-13.
- 2. Kariko K, Buckstein M, Ni H, Weissman D. 2005. Suppression of RNA recognition by Toll-like receptors: the impact of nucleotide modification and the 9. evolutionary origin of RNA. Immunity 23:165-75.
- 3. Mosmann TR, Coffman RL. 1989. 10. Schneider C\*, Lee\* J, Koga S, Ricar-Th1 and Th2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. Annu Rev Immunol 7:145-73.
- 4. Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE. 2007. IL-17 family cyeffector T cell lineages. Annu Rev Immunol 25:821-52.
- 5. Mayassi T, Barreiro LB, Rossjohn J, Jabri B. 2021. A multilayered immune system through the lens of unconventional T cells. Nature 595:501-10.
- 6. Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie ANJ, Menate lymphoid cells: 10 years on. Cell 174:1054-66.

- nate lymphoid cells? Immunity 48:1081-90.
- Netea MG, Joosten LAB, Latz E, Mills KH, Natoli G, Stunnenberg HG, O'Neill LA, Xavier RJ. 2016. Trained immunity: a program of innate immune memory in health and disease, Science 352:aaf1098.
- Palm NW, Rosenstein RK, Medzhitov R. 2012. Allergic host defenses. Nature 484:465-472.
- do-Gonzalez R, Nussbaum JC, Smith LK, Villeda SA, Liang H-E, Locksley RM. 2019. Tissue-resident group 2 innate lymphoid cells differentiate by layered ontogeny and in situ perinatal priming. Immunity 50:1425-1438.
- tokines and the expanding diversity of 11. Huang Y, Mao K, Chen X, Sun M-A, Kawabe T, Li W, Usher N, Zhu J, Urban, Jr, JF, Paul WE, Germain RN. 2018. S1P-dependent interorgan trafficking of group 2 innate lymphoid cells supports host defense. Science 359:114-119.
  - 12. Rankin LC, Artis D. 2018. Beyond host defense: emerging functions of the immune system in regulating complex tissue physiology. Cell 173:554-67.
- bius RE, Powrie F, Spits H. 2018. In- 13. Nussbaum JC, Van Dyken SJ, von Moltke J, Cheng LE, Mohapatra A, Molofsky AB, Thornton EE, Krummel MF,

Chawla A, Liang H-E, Lockslev RM. 2013. Type 2 innate lymphoid cells 21. Campbell L, Hepworth MR, Whitingcontrol eosinophil homeostasis. Nature 502:245-248.

- 14. Van Dyken SJ, Nussbaum JC, Lee J, Molofsky AB, Liang H-E, Pollack JL, Gate RE, Haliburton GE, Ye CJ, Marson A, Erle DJ, Locksley RM. 2016. A tissue checkpoint regulates type 2 immunity. Nat Immunol 17:1381-1387.
- Schneider C, Lee J, Nussbaum JC, Liang H-E, Vaka D, Eckalbar WL, Molofsky AB, Erle DJ, Locksley RM. 2018. Tissue signals imprint ILC2 identity with anticipatory function. Nature Immunol 19:1093-1099.
- sley RM. 2016. Tuft cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. Nature 529:221-225.
- M, Matsumoto I, Dardalhon V, Cesses P, Garnier L, Pouzolles M, Brulin B, Bruschi M, Harcus Y, Zimmermann VS, testinal epithelial tuft cells initiate type 2 mucosal immunity to helminth parasites. Nature 529:226-230.
- 18. Schneider C, O'Leary CE, Locksley RM. 2019. Regulation of immune responses by tuft cells. Nature Reviews Immunol 19:584-593.
- 19. O'Leary CE, Schneider C, Locksley RM. 2019. Tuft cells - systemically dispersed sensory epithelia integrating immune and neural circuitry. Annu Rev Immunol 37:47-72.
- 20. Schneider C, O'Leary CE, von Moltke 27. Drokhlyansky E, Smillie CS, Van Wit-J, Liang H-E, Yan Ang Q, Turnbaugh PJ, Radhakrishnan S, Pellizzon M, Ma A, Lockslev RM. 2018. A metabolite-triggered tuft cell-ILC2 circuit drives small

intestinal remodeling. Cell 174:271-284.

- ham-Dowd J, Thompson S, Bancroft AJ, Hayes KS, Shaw TN, Dickey BF, Flamar A-L, Artis D, Schwartz DA, Evans CM, Roberts IS, Thornton DJ, Grencis RK. 2019. ILC2s mediate systemic innate protection by priming mucus production at distal mucosal sites. I Exp Med 216:2714-2723.
- 15. Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Van Dyken SJ, 22. Howitt MR, Lavoie S, Michaud M, Blum AM, Tran SV, Weinstock JV, Gallini CA, Redding K, Margolskee RF, Osborne LC, Artis D, Garrett WS. 2016. Tuft cells, taste-chemosensory cells, orchestrate type 2 immunity in the gut. Science 351:1329-1333.
- 16. von Moltke J, Ji M, Liang H-E, Lock- 23. Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. 2017. The immunology of the allergy epidemic and the hygiene hypothesis. Nat Immunol 18:1076-1083.
- 17. Gerbe F, Sidot E, Smyth DJ, Ohmoto 24. Florsheim EB, Sullivan ZA, Khoury-Hanold W, Medzhitoz R. 2020. Food allergy as a biological food quality control system. Cell 184:1440-54.
  - Taylor N, Maizels, RM, Jay P. 2016. In- 25. Ramanan D, Bowcutt R, Lee SC, Tang MS, Kurtz ZD, Ding YI, Honda K, Gause WC, Blaser MJ, Bonneau RA, LimYAL, Loke P, Cadwell C. 2016. Helminth infection promotes colonization resistance via type 2 immunity. Science 353:608-612.
    - 26. Broadhurst MJ, Leung JM, Kashyap LV, McCune JM, Loke P. 2010. IL-22 CD4 T cells are associated with therapeutic Trichuris trichiura infection in an ulcerative colitis patient. Sci Transl Med 2:60ra88.
    - tenberghe N, Ericsson M, Griffin GK, Eraslan G, Dionne D, Cuoco MS, Goder-Reiser MN, Sharova T, Kuksenko O, Aguirre AJ, Boland GM, Graham D,

Rozenblatt-Rosen O, Xavier RJ, Regev28. Naik S, Larsen SB, Cowley CJ, FuchsA. 2020. The human and mouse enteric<br/>nervous system at single-cell resolution.E. 2018. Two to tango: Dialog between<br/>immunity and stem cells in health and<br/>disease. Cell 175:908-920.

# ORGANOIDS

# THE USE OF ORGANOIDS TO MODEL HUMAN DISEASE

#### HANS CLEVERS

Hubrecht Institute, Oncode Institute, Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences (KNAW) and UMC Utrecht, The Netherlands. Roche Pharma & Early Development, Basel, Switzerland

## Abstract

When an oocyte is fertilized, it divides and – within days – stem cells arise. These embryonic stem cells (ESCs) build the entire body with all its organs and specialized cells. Consequently, they are said to be 'pluripotent'. Once the body plan is established, the individual organs are maintained and repaired lifelong by much more specialized stem cells, dedicated to the organ in which they reside. These are termed tissue stem cells or adult stem cells (ASCs). Since ASCs produce only a limited number cell types, they are termed 'multipotent'. Together, these two stem cell types hold promise for eternal life in the (probably distant) future. Meanwhile stem cells are rapidly changing the face of biomedical science and are actively being applied in the clinic. Below, I discuss principles of stem cell biology and of the mini-organs that can be grown from stem cells outside the human body, in the lab.

\*\*\*

It was in World War II when stem cells came to prominence. Radiation sickness was first described by the Red Cross Hospital Surgeon Terufumi Sasaki when nuclear bombs were dropped on Hiroshima and Nagasaki. Dr Nagasaki noted the gradual decrease of white blood cells from the blood of patients within weeks after the exposure to radiation. Subsequent observations in the 1950s revealed that bone marrow cells reversed the loss of blood cells when injected intravenously into radiated recipients. The conclusion from these experiments was simple and powerful: rare but powerful cells exist within the bone marrow that protect against the consequences of radiation. These cells produce all known varieties of blood cells: platelets, white cells and red cells. Moreover, they can recreate themselves, a phenomenon called self-renewal. Inspired by these findings, Thomas and coworkers endeavored to develop the transplantation of these bone marrow stem cells for therapeutic purposes. Realizing that it would not be straightforward to transplant cells between unrelated individuals, their first attempt involved identical twins, one of whom suffered from leukemia and received bone marrow from the healthy sibling.

Bone marrow transplantation then rapidly developed further. An important step involved the replacement of a 'qualitative' phenomenon – the rescue of blood cell production by bone marrow from a donor – by a much more defined procedure. For this, the exact identity of the elusive multipotent hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) needed to be established.

For this, the Toronto-based stem cell scientists Till and McCulloch devised a simple, animal-based lab test allowing to visualize HSCs. This so-called spleen focus-forming assay proved that individual bone marrow cells could indeed generate large numbers of all other blood cell types. Combined with a series of *in vitro* technologies that were developed later, the definitive identification of clonogenic HSCs was accomplished which heralded the start of the still sprawling HSC discipline.

Sixty years beyond these breakthrough discoveries, bone marrow- and cord blood-derived HSC transplantation now represents one of the routine therapeutic modalities used for malignant disease in hematology, but also for certain autoimmune diseases and even for multiple sclerosis.

From decades of studies on HSCs, a generally accepted definition of HSC attributes and of the architecture of the differentiation hierarchy driven by HSCs has arisen.

1) A key definition of an HSC involves the potential to recreate itself, i.e. to self-renew. This attribute is termed *longevity*; 2) A single HSC can produce all blood cell types. This attribute is termed *multipotency*. Direct daughters of HSCs are proliferative and while they increase their numbers, they gradually specialize into one of the different cell type lineages: platelets, red blood cells, lymphocytes, monocytes, granulocytes. This process involves a highly controlled stepwise choreography and is *irreversible*.

In the past few decades, new technologies have allowed the identification of stem cells in a variety of solid organs and tissues. These tissues can crudely be classified into two groups. In most organs (such as prostate, lung, or liver), cells do not divide much – if at all – under normal conditions. Yet, these organs can display vigorous waves of cell division when damaged. Other organs (such as the skin, or the inner lining of esophagus, stomach and gut) show constant cell division. This results in the continuous replacement of the pertinent tissues by healthy, young cells. The bone marrow and the blood cells that are generated from HSCs belong to this second class of tissues.



Figure 1. Joannis Nathanael Lieberkühn, thesis 1745. Museum Boerhave, Leiden, the Netherlands.

Research in our lab has focused on the cells that cover the insides of the small bowel. The tissue that they form is called the intestinal epithelium. While studying the intestinal epithelium, we have come to realize that intestinal ASCs display a series of highly unexpected attributes, some of which also define ASCs in other solid organs. The small bowel epithelium is highly compartmentalized in so-called crypt-villus units. Mouse guts comprise about one million of such units while the human small intestine might contain some one billion of these. A villus protrudes from the wall of the short bowel into the central 'channel' or lumen; this architecture dramatically increases the capacity of the intestinal lining to absorb nutrients from the gut lumen. The villus surface consists of a single layer of specialized cells that perform various functions to digest food and absorb nutrients, while keeping unwanted entities such as indigestible food components, bacteria etc., outside the body proper.

Within a villus, blood vessels allow the further transit of nutrients towards the liver. Surrounding the villus base, 8-10 small pits protrude outward into the wall of the gut. These pits were first discovered by a young German scientist, Jonathan Nathanael Lieberkühn (1711-1756), in Leiden in the Netherlands (Fig. 1). They have since been named crypts of Lieberkühn. For his studies, he injected heated wax into blood vessels of isolated organs to visualize tissue architecture. In the middle of the last century, it was realized that crypts are the site where the most active stem cells of the mammalian body reside. These intestinal stem cells drive a stem cell hierarchy which populates the remainder of the crypt as well as the surface of the villi. Six main cell types can be distinguished (Fig. 2).

Enterocytes represent the most common cell type on the villus and are responsible for the absorption of nutrients and liquids. For this, it carries



Figure 2. The six lineages of the intestinal epithelium produced from CBC cells.

a large number of tiny folds on its surface, together forming the so-called brush border, again to maximize nutrient absorption. Paneth cells are located at the base of crypts; their main function involves the defense against luminal microbes.

They perform this function through the production and secretion of bactericidal peptides and proteins. The function of Tuft cells remains somewhat elusive but they appear to play a key role in immunity against helminths. Goblet cells are secretory cells which produce mucus to enable smooth transport of the food bolus through the gut lumen and to restrict entry of microbes into the host body. Enteroendocrine cells come in five or six flavors, each producing a unique set of hormones, which control many aspects of metabolism, hunger and satiety.

Lastly, Microfold (M) cells only occur in the intestinal lining that covers specialized lymphoid structure that are termed Peyer's patches. M cells transport small and large antigenic particles from the gut lumen to the underlying lymphoid cells and thus play a key role in establishment and maintenance of mucosal immunity.

Leblond (Fig. 3) and Stevens were the first to describe the kinetics of the physiological behavior of the stem cell hierarchy of the intestinal crypt-vil-



Figure 3. Charles Philippe Leblond (1910-2007) French-Canadian stem cell pioneer.

lus stem cell units. Their landmark study was published in 1947 and was performed on rats. They observed that adult rats constitutively generate new cells in great numbers in their crypts. They also claimed – to the disbelief of many – that the lifespan of a single intestinal epithelial cell would not be much more than a few days. They acknowledged also the consequence of this observation: the dramatic, daily production of cells in crypts had to be in cue with a location elsewhere in the crypt-villus units where the cells – after having enjoyed a brief lifespan – would meet their demise. Leblond and Stevens thus wrote, "…the cells formed in the crypts of Lieberkuhn move upward along the side of the villi to be ejected when they reach the villi tips". An immediate conclusion from these notions would be that the intestinal stem cells that drive the vigorous French-Canadian stem cell pioneer's cell replacement would live at or near the base of the crypts.

In contrast to all other cells of the intestinal epithelium, the stem cells would be defined by two key attributes: they should continuously regenerate themselves (longevity) and they should produce all other cells of the tissue (multipotency).

Formulated more directly: As a laboratory mouse lives about three years, crypt stem cells should be able to persist for three years, and during that time should continuously generate enterocytes, goblet cells, Paneth cells, enteroendocrine cells and M cells. J.P. Leblond initiated the research into the identity of the stem cells of intestinal crypts. Leblond and Cheng first made a key observation: Paneth cells are not the only cell type present at the bottom of the crypt. Intermingled between the large, non-dividing Paneth cells with their eye-catching granules, careful examination using electron-microscopic techniques unearthed the existence of a tiny cell type, consisting of little more than a nucleus and a few organels.

These cells turned out to divide every day for the lifetime of the mouse and based on their columnar morphology, they were termed crypt base columnar (CBC) cells. Joseph Paneth also noted these cells in his study from 1887 in which he described the Paneth cells (Fig. 4).

Much more recently, Nick Barker and others in my lab identified *Lgr5* as an exclusive molecular flag, present uniquely in CBC cells. Nick Barker went on to create a number of knock-in mice targeting the *Lgr5*-locus (Fig. 4). Using these mice lines, we confirmed all essential predictions made originally by Leblond: The CBC cell, which uniquely expresses Lgr5, is the crypt stem cell. It continuously divides and does so lifelong. It generates all other cell types of the epithelium. Paneth cells are a key part of the stem cell niche which supports the vigorous activity of the CBC



**Figure 4.** Images of the CBC stem cell in crypts. Left: Paneth, J. (1887). Ueber die secernirenden Zellen des Dünndarm-Epithels. *Archiv f mikrosk Anatomie*. Right: Barker et al. (2007). Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by the marker gene LGR5. *Nature*.

stem cell. Non-stem cells display plasticity and can dedifferentiate to become CBC cells, when the original CBC cells are lost.

In the early 2000s it was widely believed that ASCs could not be maintained outside the human or mouse body for more than a few days, let alone that ASCs could be encouraged to increase their numbers in a Petri dish. It is still true that after almost seven decades of the clinical application of bone marrow transplantation, all attempts to amplify HSC numbers in vitro have remained futile. The advantages of such stem cell expansion in vitro are obvious. Currently, it takes HSCs isolated from one donor to treat one patient. If stem cell numbers could be boosted in vitro, multiple patients could be treated with a stem cell isolate obtained from a single donor, or a patient could be treated multiple times using a single stem cell sample. Based on our observation that CBC cells undergo one cell cycle each day, CBCs have gone through one thousand consecutive cell cycles in the gut of an aged lab mouse. We had previously determined which growth signals are key to maintain active CBC cells in a mouse in vivo. Based on these observations, Toshiro Sato in our lab designed a 3-dimensional culture system for CBC cells with the intention to amplify their numbers in vitro. The approach is based on a hydrogel consisting of collagen and Laminin (Basement Membrane Extract, or MatrigelR). To the hydrogel,
the Wnt agonist R-spondin1 is added. We later discovered that R-spondins are ligands of the 7-transmembrane Lgr5 receptor. Two other key growth factors are Epithelial Growth factor and Noggin, a BMP-blocking secreted protein. When single CBC cells, sorted from Lgr5-GFP mice, are placed in this hydrogel-based medium, defined structures grew out, rather than the expected lumps of CBC stem cells. Careful analysis of these structures revealed that they contained all cell types of the gut epithelium, in normal ratios and at their normal location: Paneth cells and CBC stem cells at the base of the protruding crypts and all other cell types lining the central lumen. Dr Toshi Sato named these ever-expanding structures "mini-guts". A more scientific term is 'small intestinal epithelial organoids'. The term 'organoid' is now broadly used for structures that are grown from stem cells and that recapitulate key features of the organ of interest in terms of architecture, cell type composition and function.

Thus, "mini-guts" are grown in vitro from a single Lgr5 stem. They faithfully phenocopy central aspects of the physiology of normal gut epithelium. Bud structures that emanate from the periphery of organoids contain resident CBC cells, Paneth cells and rapidly-dividing transit-amplifying cells. These crypt-like buds create a flow of differentiated cells of the various lineages towards the lining of the central lumen. The dynamics of this process closely mimics that of the crypt-villus units of the small intestine: CBC cells generate daughter cells each day. These daughter cells themselves proliferate for a while, after which they mature into any of the prototypic cell types and after some days die and are discarded into the luminal space of the organoids.

A large batch of mini-guts was grown from a single adult colonic CBC cell, isolated from the Lgr5-GFP transgenic mouse line. The resulting organoids were transplanted in the lab of our collaborator Mamoru Watanabe. They were introduced intraluminally into the inflamed colons of several dozen mice treated with the chemical DSS to induce a colitis-like syndrome. The transplanted mini-gut organoids integrated fully into the damaged wall of the DSS-treated colons and maintained functionality for the duration of the experiment. Based on these and subsequent experiments, Watanabe and colleagues have embarked on a project to treat treatment-resistant inflammatory bowel disease patients with autologous colon epithelial organoids.

Since these initial mini-gut studies, we and many others have developed protocols to grow organoids from numerous other mouse and human organs (Fig. 5).



**Figure 5.** Different organoid types. From top left to bottom right: Airway; airway infected with RSV virus (virus in green); cervix; liver; intestine infected with SARS-CoV2 (white).

These protocols invariably allow the establishment of organoids that capture key characteristics of the organ of interest. Adult stem cell-based organoids simply require a small piece of tissue, obtained from a biopsy or from a surgical resection sample as starting material. A parallel technology starting from pluripotent stem cells was originally pioneered by DrYoshiki Sasai, who focused on generating structures of the central nervous system and the retina. ASC-related organoid approaches exploit the maintenance and repair capacity of adult stem cells, which are fully fated towards the organ in which they reside. By contrast, pluripotent stem cell-derived organoids exploit the capacity of ES cells or iPS cells to generate each part of a mammalian body; the organoids are fated in vitro towards the organ of interest by mimicking the developmental journey they would have experienced in the developing embryo. A multitude of technologies, discoveries and applications have emerged around this organoid concept. Breathtaking types of organoids derived from iPS cells are the cerebral organoids (or "mini-brains" of Lancaster and Knoblich), and the mini-kidneys of Melissa Little and colleagues from Melbourne.

Organoids representing human tissues are increasingly embraced by basic biomedical scientists. Organoids derived from healthy human tissues find applications as alternatives to animal experimentation. Human organoids may also better represent diseases: when directly grown from cancers, they appear superior models of human cancer when compared to 'classical' cancer cell lines. Organoids also find applications in other disease areas: In infectiology, organoids allow the study of a variety of pathogens, be it bacteria such as the stomach ulcer-causing Helicobacter; viruses such Noro- and influenza viruses, RSV and the SARS-CoV2 virus, and eukaryotic microbes such as Cryptosporidium.

Organoids model hereditary diseases such as cystic fibrosis. In oncology, organoids can be directly grown from tumors and they are now believed to faithfully recapitulate tumor cells of individual patients.

Organoids are being validated for personalized medicine strategies. Tissue samples taken from patients can be grown as organoids to serve as avatars of the pertinent patient. Drug testing of the avatar-organoid predicts and allows tailoring of drug- or radiation-based treatment of individual patients. Indeed, organoid approaches already allow rapid ex vivo testing of drug responses on tissue samples obtained from individual patients. As a preeminent case study, a minigut-based cystic fibrosis (CF) assay yields a test result within 14 days after obtaining a small biopsy from a given CF individual. The outcome of this test is unambiguous in predicting if the patient will respond clinically to the CF medicine. In the Netherlands, the CF organoid test has been performed for a majority of CF patients. When a positive assay result is obtained, the corresponding CF individual will be prescribed the (expensive) CF medicine. Organoids offer a similar opportunity to cancer patients (see above). A number of clinical studies has already underscored the high predictive value of cancer organoid-based drug sensitivity screening in a personalized health care setting.

Cancer organoid-based assays allow evaluation of multiple therapeutic regimens prior to selecting the most optimal one to be given to the patient. It will however still take some years before this approached is validated well enough to become a routine diagnostic tool. For that, organoid derivation and drug screening will require automation and a significant improvement in terms of speed and cost.

#### References

This manuscript summarizes a lecture given at Vatican City in 2022. It was based on several reviews written by the author.

1. Clevers H (2015) What is an adult stem<br/>cell? Science 350, 1319-1320, doi: 10.1126/<br/>science.aad7016.prototype stem cell compartment. Cell 154,<br/>274-284, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.004.<br/>3. Clevers H (2013) The intestinal crypt, a2. Clevers H (2013) The intestinal crypt, aopment and diseases with organoids.

*Cell* 165, 1586-1597 doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2016.05.082.

4. Geurts, M., Van der Vaart, J., Beumer, J., and Clevers, H. The Organoid Platform: Promises and Challenges as Tools in the Fight against COVID-19. *Stem Cell Reports* 16, 412-418. doi: 10.1016/j.stem-cr.2020.11.009.

## ORGANOID ASSAYS FOR IN VITRO AND IN VIVO MODELS OF LUNG DISEASE & CANCER

#### Carla F. Kim and Andrea Shehaj

Stem Cell Program and Divisions of Hematology/Oncology and Pulmonary & Respiratory Diseases, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA 02115, USA; Harvard Stem Cell Institute, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA; Department of Genetics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA. carla.kim@childrens.harvard.edu

Chronic and acute lung diseases are amongst the leading causes of morbidity worldwide (Soriano et al., 2020). Due to their prevalence and severity, which is further exacerbated with aging, these diseases require further understanding from a cellular and molecular perspective. The lung encapsulates a variety of cell niches including the trachea, bronchioles, and alveolar space, which are supported by the smooth muscles, fibroblasts, and endothelium. When analyzing the varying lung diseases such as bronchopulmonary dysplasia, cystic fibrosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pulmonary fibrosis, and SARS-COV-2, one common thread of lung disease is a depletion or dysfunction of lung alveolar epithelial cells, bronchiolar or airway epithelial cells, or both (Figure 1). Therefore, better understanding how lung cell niches protect and repair the epithelial cells may allow us to combat these chronic and acute lung conditions. To a large extent the specialized niches control stem cell self-renewal and differentiation in the lung (Lee et al., 2014). It has been previously shown that lung repair processes are mediated via progenitor cells in the lung. Therefore, these progenitor cells serve an important function in the lung microenvironment. There is an



**Figure 1.** Lung morphology of normal and diseased lung. (A) Morphology of a normal lung. (B) Morphology of a diseased lung. *Modified from American Lung Association, Berkeley Lab, Google images.* 

abundance of progenitor cells in the lung, such as basal cells in the trachea, Alveolar type II cells (AT2 cells) in the alveolar space, Club cells in the bronchioles, and many others. In order to better understand lung disease emergence and progression, as well as its potential repair process, it is important to further understand these important progenitor cells.

Previous work in our lab has demonstrated the ability of organoids to model the progenitor cell properties of alveolar and bronchiolar cell types (Lee et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2005). The three-dimensional (3D) organoid co-culture system we developed involves the co-culturing of epithelial EP-CAM<sup>+</sup> cells (SCA1<sup>-</sup> or SCA1<sup>+</sup>) with supporting lung mesenchymal cells in Matrigel. These 3D culture systems are able to mimic the lung niche and advance the understanding of lung biology. SCA1<sup>+</sup> lung epithelial cells give rise to both alveolar and bronchiolar organoids, modeling the progenitor



**Figure 2.** Schematic of bronchiolar and alveolar organoid cultures. (A) Lung 3D Co-culture system utilizing SCA1+ or SCA1- progenitor cells, lung stromal cells and growth factors. (B) Depiction of bronchiolar organoids. From left to right: anatomical diagram of bronchioles, representative IF images of bronchiolar morphology via GFP staining, H & E images, IF staining for blue, DAPI; green, SPC; red, CCSP. (C) Depiction of alveolar organoids. From left to right: anatomical diagram of alveolar sacs, representative IF images of alveolar morphology via GFP staining, H & E images, IF staining, H & E images, IF staining of alveolar space for blue, DAPI; green, SPC; red, CCSP. *Lung anatomical illustration adapted from Healthwise Inc.* 

cell capacity of multipotent bronchioalveolar stem cells (BASCs), whereas SCA1<sup>-</sup> lung epithelial cells give rise to only alveolar organoids, modeling the capacity of AT2 cells. In the context of oncogenic Kras expression, AT2 cell organoids mimic tumor progression *in vivo* tumor progression and recapitulate early-stage lung adenocarcinoma in patients (Figure 3)(Dost et al., 2020). This resource could aid in identifying transcriptional and proteomic differences that distinguish normal epithelium from lung cancer. Thus, organoids serve as a useful tool to model numerous lung diseases and understand their mechanisms and progression.

Aging is a predominant risk factor for chronic lung diseases and lung cancer. Despite its significant impact, the impact of aging on lung progenitor cell functions remains largely understudied from a cellular perspective. Previous work has demonstrated lung progenitor population changes, compromised repair, and epigenetic instability as a result of aging in mice (Schneider et al., 2021). Specifically, in our laboratory, we have seen a change in the frequency of lung alveolar progenitor cells with aging. The changes largely show a shift toward significantly fewer AT2 cells and significantly more bronchiolar progenitors including BASCs (Rowbotham et al.,



**Figure 3.** Shared properties of mouse models of lung cancer, mouse AT2 cell organoid cultures, iPSC-derived AT2 cell organoids with samples from patients with KRAS mutant lung cancer. In all 4 contexts, AT2 cells exhibit loss of AT2 identity after expression of oncogenic KRAS. *Modified from Dost and Moye et al., Cell Stem Cell, 2020.* 

bioRxiv, 2021). Additionally, changes in organoid-forming efficiency and typology have been demonstrated with age. Organoids grown from SCA1-epithelial cells from old mice yielded a lower alveolar colony-forming efficiency than organoids grown from cells taken from young mice. A similar trend was observed when analyzing organoids grown from SCA1<sup>+</sup> epithelial cells with old mice yielding a lower alveolar colony-forming efficiency than young mice. However, organoids grown from SCA1<sup>+</sup> epithelial cells from old mice yielded a higher bronchiolar organoid-forming efficiency.

Besides the effects aging has on lung progenitor cells, we found aging causes epigenetic alterations, such as a decrease in Lysine 9 methylation. This was indicated by H3K9me2 fluorescence data showing a lower fluorescence value for old mice as compared to young mice. Lysine 9 methylation depletion modeling through use of an inhibitor of G9a, the methyl-transferase that bi- and tri-methylates lysine 9, reduced alveolar progenitor activity in organoid cultures. Aging has also been shown to increase lung damage post alveolar injury via bleomycin (Hecker et al., 2014). We have recapitulated this phenotype with depletion of Lysine 9 methylation in young mice by G9a inhibitor administration. Bleomycin-injured mice suffered greater persistent lung damage when G9a inhibitors were administered. Interestingly, mice depleted of Lysine 9 methylation showed an expansion of bronchiolar progenitors and a decrease in alveolar progenitors, suggesting that, at the expense of alveolar progenitors, bronchiolar progenitor cell activity is enhanced. All of these differences demonstrate how



**Figure 4.** H3K9me2 depletion in young mice impairs alveolar progenitor activity. (A) Schematic depicting *in vitro* G9ai organoid experiments. (B) Quantification of organoid forming efficiencies from SCA1- progenitor cells +/- G9ai. \*=p<0.05. (C) Quantification of organoid forming efficiencies from SCA1+ progenitor cells +/- G9ai. *Image adapted from Rowbotham et al., bioRxiv, 2021.* 

one key aspect of aging in the lung may be the abrogation of epigenetic regulation mediated by G9a, which changes the dynamics of how different progenitor cell types are used in repair and regeneration (Rowbotham et al., bioRxiv, 2021).

Recent studies in lung biology have identified lung progenitor cells that may one day be used to treat varying pulmonary diseases (Barkauskas et al., 2013; Hong et al., 2001; Kathiriya et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2005; Rawlins et al., 2009; Louie et al., 2022). Current treatment modalities for patients suffering from pulmonary diseases largely rely on whole or partial lung transplantation from donor lungs. Due to the shortage of donor lungs, an alternative to whole and partial lung transplantations would be useful in combating these varying pulmonary diseases. A potential alternative may be to utilize lung progenitor cells as a treatment modality. For example, alveolar type I and AT2 cells may be useful in treating idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, as these are the lung cell types impacted throughout the course of this disease. Our laboratory has tested the potential of lung organoid cells to be transplanted into the lung while retaining progenitor status, a critical aspect



**Figure 5.** Lung organoid cells are retained in the lung after transplantation. (A) Representative picture of IF staining on mouse transplanted with alveolar organoid cells. Images taken at 40x magnification. (B) Representative picture of IF staining of applicable lung area showing blue, DAPI; green, SPC; and red, DsRed. (C) IF staining of DAPI. (D) IF staining of SPC. (E) IF staining of DsRed. *Modified from Louie et al., Cell Reports, 2022.* 

for use in future treatment modalities (Louie et al., 2022). We conducted a multi-faceted study, analyzing the engraftment of these cells, their gene expression program via single-cell RNA sequencing, and their proliferative potential after re-injury in recipient mice. We transplanted organoids derived from Sca1- cells and organoids derived from Sca1+ cells into bleomycin injured mice. We then analyzed mice at varying time points and investigated the transplanted cells via flow analysis, immunohistochemical staining, and RNA sequencing. Transplanted AT2 cells expressed the AT2 marker surfactant protein C (SPC), suggesting engraftment of the organoid cells (Figure 5). Single cell RNA sequencing revealed that transplanted and native cells were transcriptionally similar but distinct from the organoid cluster. Furthermore, flow cytometry analysis and immunostaining showed a similar proliferation potential for transplanted cells and native AT2 cells in the lung (Louie et al., 2022). In conclusion, we were able to show that alveolar cells maintained in organoid cultures retain progenitor cell activity after transplantation, an important concept for their potential future use in therapy.

Besides the relevant uses of the organoid system as a tool for investigating lung cancer and disease using mouse models, there have been many new advances that shed new light on the identity of human lung progenitor cells and how to maintain the diversity of lung cell types in organoid cultures. For example, recent work has identified progenitor cell populations in anatomical structures that only exist in the human lung (Basil et al., 2022, Murthy et al., 2022). Such discoveries and many more are required to understand the complexity of human lung biology and how to intervene when lung homeostasis goes awry in a clinical setting. Organoids may serve as a useful and feasible treatment modality for lung diseases in the future, depending on the injury and cell populations impacted. Alveolar organoids provide treatment for surfactant protein deficiency, Hermansku-Pudlak Syndrome, pulmonary fibrosis, and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Airway organoids may help in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, cystic fibrosis, and bronchiolitis. Future treatment options made possible through organoid modeling or organoid transplantations have the potential to treat a variety of chronic and acute diseases, impacting many patients worldwide.

#### **Literature Cited**

Barkauskas, C.E., Cronce, M.J., Rackley, C.R., Bowie, E.J., Keene, D.R., Stripp, B.R., Randell, S.H., Noble, P.W., and Hogan, B.L.M. (2013). Type 2 alveolar
Cells are stem cells in adult lung. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 3025–3036.
Basil, M.C., et al., Morrisey, E.E. Human distal airways contain a multipotent secre-

tory cell that can regenerate alveoli. *Nature* 604, 120-126 (2022).

- Dost AFM, Moye AL, Vedaie M, Tran LM, Fung E, Heinze D, Villacorta-Martin C, Huang J, Hekman R, Kwan JH, Blum BC, Louie SM, Rowbotham SP, Sainz de Aja J, Piper ME, Bhetariya PJ, Bronson RT, Emili A, Mostoslavsky G, Fishbein GA, Wallace WD, Krysan K, Dubinett SM, Yanagawa J, Kotton DN, Kim CF. Organoids Model Transcriptional Hallmarks of Oncogenic KRAS Activation in Lung Epithelial Progenitor Cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 2020 Oct 1;27(4):663-678.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2020.07.022. Epub 2020 Sep 4. PMID: 32891189; PMCID: PMC7541765.
- Hecker L, Logsdon NJ, Kurundkar D, Kurundkar A, Bernard K, Hock T, Meldrum E, Sanders YY, Thannickal VJ. Reversal of persistent fibrosis in aging by targeting Nox4-Nrf2 redox imbalance. *Sci Transl Med.* 2014 Apr 9;6(231):231ra47. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008182. PMID: 24718857; PMCID: PMC4545252.
- Hong, K.U., Reynolds, S.D., Giangreco, A., Hurley, C.M., and Stripp, B.R. (2001). Clara cell secretory protein-expressing cells of the airway neuroepithelial body microenvironment include a label-retaining subset and are critical for epithelial renewal after progenitor cell depletion. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 24, 671-681.
- Kathiriya, J.J., Brumwell, A.N., Jackson, J.R., Tang, X., and Chapman, H.A. (2020). Distinct Airway Epithelial Stem Cells Hide among Club Cells but Mobilize to Promote Alveolar Regeneration. *Cell Stem Cell* 26, 346-358.e4.
- Kim, C.F.B., Jackson, E.L., Woolfenden, A.E., Lawrence, S., Babar, I., Vogel, S., Crowley, D., Bronson, R.T., and Jacks, T. (2005). Identification of bronchioalveolar stem cells in normal lung and lung cancer.

Cell 121, 823-835.

- Lee, J.-H., Bhang, D.H., Beede, A., Huang, T.L., Stripp, B.R., Bloch, K.D., Wagers, A.J., Tseng, Y.-H., Ryeom, S., and Kim, C.F. (2014). Lung stem cell differentiation in mice directed by endothelial cells via a BMP4-NFATc1-thrombospondin-1 axis. *Cell* 156, 440-455.
- Murthy P.K.L., et al., Purushothama, R.T. Human distal lung maps and lineage hierarchies reveal a bipotent progenitor. *Nature* 604, 111-119 (2022). https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-022-04541-3.
- Rawlins, E.L., Okubo, T., Xue, Y., Brass, D.M., Auten, R.L., Hasegawa, H., Wang, F., and Hogan, B.L.M. (2009). The role of Scgb1a1+ Clara cells in the long-term maintenance and repair of lung airway, but not alveolar epithelium. *Cell Stem Cell* 4, 525-534.
- Rowbotham, S.P., Pessina P., Garcia de Alba Rivas C., Li, J., Wong I.G., Yoon, J., Fahey, C., Moye, A., Chongsaritsinsuk, J., Bronson, R., Sui, S.J.H., Kim, C.F. Chromatin alterations in the aging lung change progenitor cell activity. *bioRxiv*, posted July 15, 2021. https://doi. org/10.1101/2021.07.15.452072.
- Schneider JL, Rowe JH, Garcia-de-Alba C, Kim CF, Sharpe AH, Haigis MC. The aging lung: Physiology, disease, and immunity. *Cell* 2021 Apr 15;184(8):1990-2019. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.03.005. Epub 2021 Apr 2. PMID: 33811810; PMCID: PMC8052295.
- Soriano, J.B., Kendrick, P.J., Paulson, K.R., Gupta, V., Abrams, E.M., Adedoyin, R.A., Adhikari, T.B., Advani, S.M., Agrawal, A., Ahmadian, E., et al. (2020). Prevalence and attributable health burden of chronic respiratory diseases, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet Respir. Med. 8, 585-596.

### MODELING THE HUMAN BRAIN IN DEVELOPMENT AND DISEASE

#### JUERGEN KNOBLICH

Institute of Molecular Biotechnology of Austrian Academy of Sciences (IMBA), Vienna BioCenter (VBC), Vienna, Austria. Correspondence: juergen.knoblich@imba.oeaw.ac.at

#### Abstract

Inspired by the iron-clad tenacity of past scientists we set out to understand the mechanisms of life's bricks, how they divide, which genes direct them, how they differentiate into specific lineages and how this intricate orchestration goes awry.

Much of the bridging between past and contemporary neuroscience lies in maintaining a close-knit relationship between the sciences that study the mind and reductionist science. It is through health that we conceptualize the fundamental properties of its nature but through disease that we appreciate them. Neurological disorders gather our attention as they challenge and alter communication and relationships by limiting and then extending them. To study phenotypes associated with human brain development, function, and disease, it is necessary to use experimental systems that are accessible, ethically justified, and can replicate human context.

Human pluripotent stem cell (hPSC)-derived brain organoids offer such a system, which faithfully reiterates features of early human neurodevelopment *in vitro*, including the generation, proliferation, and differentiation of neural progenitors into neurons and glial cells and the complex interactions among the diverse, emergent cell types of the developing brain in three-dimensions (3D). In recent years, numerous brain organoid protocols and related techniques have been developed to recapitulate aspects of embryonic and fetal brain development in a reproducible and predictable manner. Coupling our ground-breaking cerebral organoid technology with elegantly tailored cutting-edge genetic manipulations has enabled us to efficiently screen for disease-linked mutations serving as a boon when studying human neurobiology and neurodevelopmental disorders. Altogether, these different organoid approaches provide distinct bioassays to unravel novel, disease-associated phenotypes and mechanisms.

\* \* \*

To say that the human cerebral cortex is the organ of civilization is to lay a very heavy burden on so small a mass of matter. – C. Judson Herrick (1926)

Understanding the brain is probably the greatest task of human biology for it encapsulates the purpose of humankind. The brain births ideas, feelings, cultures, motion, reflex, wisdom, and identity. It is an organ that has nothing short of divided and fused, perplexed and intrigued populations throughout history. The light shines on it; no dimming in sight, not even so much as a flicker as we gather ourselves sedulously attempting to satisfy our scorching thirst from ploughing away at its many facets for the chance of grasping its veritable nature.

The Greek philosopher Aristotle believed that memory and consciousness were found in the heart, coining what we now refer to as emotional intelligence. The Egyptians, however, first described the basic anatomy of the brain and made the connection that it controls movement. The brain as an organ has interested populations and cultures amass, many reaching the same conclusions. Much of the early knowledge was based on observations by doctors who made poignant connections between human behavior, physiology and the brain.



Descarte's portrait by Frans Hals. Public domain.



Descartes's illustration of mind-body dualism in "Treatise of Man". Public domain.

A thousand years later the French philosopher Descartes distinguished the brain from the mind, thereby introducing the pertinent notion of dualism. This planted the seed that flowered into the scientific revolution where the brain earns the leading role sprouting different fields of neuroscience research. Like all sciences, neuroscience was approached from the macroscopic to the microscopic scale, offering plenty of fascinating discoveries and contributing to deep and often controversial discussions along the way.

The fascination over the complexity and importance of the human brain ensures quick progress in teasing out its many layers of anatomy and diverse functions. Strolling along the neuroscience history aisles one notices the quick succession of discoveries with Purkinje (Purkyně) describing the neuron, Broca identifying the region responsible for speech and Pavlov examining the physiology of involuntary reflexes earning him a Nobel Prize in Medicine. Soon after, electroencephalography (EEG) is developed to measure electrical activity in the brain and Sir Charles Sherrington wins the Nobel Prize for describing the existence of synapses and how reflexes occur as a result of nerves extending into muscles. A decade later Isidor Rabi wins the Nobel Prize for discovering nuclear magnetic resonance which made the development of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) possible. Several researchers bring evidence that solidified Julius Bernstein's hypothesis that action potential is a product of ionic conductance. These technological breakthroughs permit Joseph Erlanger and Herbert Gasser to document the existence of different action potentials across different cells which ultimately leads to their Nobel Prize winning discovery of the velocity of action potentials. Progress in physiological neuroscience is accompanied by the confirmation that acetylocholine is a neurotransmitter marking a landmark discovery for molecular neuroscience.

The variety of emerging fields quickly creates the need for more unified efforts in teasing out the complexity of our brain and it is now officially recognized as an independent discipline. The fast-paced progress in its diverse fields highlights the need for deeper understanding of our nervous system by looking down to its founding units.

At this point a set of groundbreaking discoveries are made that influence and impact biology and medicine globally in an unprecedented way. Wilhelm His and Santiago Ramón y Cajal independently notice the presence of cells from which all types of neurons arise before migrating from the place of origin to increasingly more distant locations.[1,2] Ernest McCulloch and James Till identify the existence of cells in the adult bone marrow which can self-renew and are hematopoietic giving rise to all blood cell types, inaugurating the field of stem cell research. [3] As scientists curiously peak down the microscope into life's building blocks, cell biology and medicine have, unbeknown to them, been revolutionized. Martin Evans and Matthew Kaufman isolate and culture mouse embryonic stem cells opening up the possibility to study the function of specific genes during disease.[4] Soon after, James Thompson reports the derivation and culturing of human embryonic stem cells that retain their pluripotent state; their ability to give rise to different cell types.[5] Shinya Yamanaka astounds the scientific community by making a remarkable discovery that adult mouse fibroblasts can be reprogrammed into reacquiring a pluripotent state, much like that of mouse embryonic stem cells and calls them induced pluripotent cells (iPSCs).[6] Together with Takahashi they successfully derive iPSCs from human fibroblasts as well, alleviating the considerable and understandable ethical concerns of using human embryonic material for stem cell research.[7]

The hallmark properties of stem cells are the ability to self-renew by dividing indefinitely into daughter cells, while at the same time retaining the capacity to commit daughter cells to lineage-specific differentiation which

					()	()	z
	2D cell culture	C.elegans	D. melanogaster	D. rerio	M. musculus	PDX	Human organoids
Ease of establishing system	✓/X	1	1	1	1	1	1
Ease of maintenance	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Recapitulation of developmental biology	×	1	1	1	1	×	1
Duration of experiments	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Genetic manipulation	1	1	1	1	1	×	1
Genome-wide screening	1	1	1	1	×	×	1
Physiological complexity	×	1	1	1	1	1	1
Relative cost	1	1	1	1	1	1	$\checkmark$
Recapitulation of human physiology	1	1	V	1	1	1	1
	10-	10	Death a tech	L. VALANCE	11.		

✓ Best ✓ Good ✓ Partly suitable X Not suitable

**Figure 1. Comparison of organoids with other model systems.** The most common model organisms that are used in biomedical research are Caenorhabditis elegans, Drosophila melanogaster, Danio rerio and Mus musculus, along with patient-derived xenografts (PDX). These models, as well as 2D cell cultures and human organoids, are assessed here for their relative benefits and limitations. Relative scores are represented as being the best (dark green tick), good (light green tick), partly suitable (yellow tick) and not suitable (red cross). Xenografts, tissues or organs transplanted between different species. (Figure from Kim, J et al., 2020).

is the more differentiated progeny that drives tissue specific development. Stem cells can be isolated from the blastocyst stage of the developing embryo, but they are also found to persist in niches of adult tissues, including the brain. Neural stem cells, like all stem cells, play important roles in tissues homeostasis, and in development. In adult organisms, they ensure continuous replacement of dying or damaged cells, while during development they generate most of the cell types in a developing organ. To fulfill this task, stem cells can maintain an undifferentiated state, but at the same time generate daughter cells that are lineage-restricted and ultimately undergo terminal differentiation. Understanding how the balance between self-renewal and differentiation is controlled within a stem cell lineage is important since defects in the control of this process can result in tissue degeneration or tumorigenesis. Neural stem cells are the focus of my lab's research, and our work has offered many insights into what is, "there".

Building on the fundamental idea that biological mechanisms are conserved throughout evolution, biomedical research focuses on animal model organisms. Animal experimentation is widely used as a proxy for understanding human embryonic development and organ function.[8] A menagerie of animal species, both vertebrate and invertebrate, are employed in an attempt to answer more direct questions. Each model offers particular strengths (Fig 1).[9] Although some extrapolations lead to valid knowledge, other speculations do not translate quite as fluently. Human physiology is profoundly different from the mouse model system: it is perhaps unsurprising that there are huge differences in metabolism between humans and laboratory models, given that humans develop far slower than the other models[10] or the fact that continuous oscillations in the hippocampus, for the purpose of spatial navigation of rodents, are found not to be true in bats or monkeys. Even further, several biological phenomena that are specific to humans are not amenable to being reproduced in animal models. The human brain, for example, is far more complex than its mouse counterpart, owing partly to human-specific developmental events and mechanisms.[11] Neurons in the human cortex, for example, arise from a cell type (outer radial glia) that is either not present – or is present only in minute numbers - in rodents.[11] Despite this and with, perhaps, a reluctant recognition that not all knowledge from the animal kingdom transcribes to the human, armies of scientists methodically reveal distinct aspects of brain development by using animal models.

Drosophila and Caenorabditis elegans models are instrumental in elucidating the principles of stem cell self-renewal and differentiation, uncovering molecular parallels for this process in different species. Understanding that one way to generate cellular diversity during development is to segregate cell-fate determinants predominantly into one daughter cell upon division, inspires us and others to ask how this process comes to be. Work mostly done in the fruitfly, *Drosophila*, suggests two different mechanisms by which this remarkable task can be achieved.[12] Already in interphase, cells which undergo such intrinsically asymmetric divisions use apical-basal or planar polarity of the surrounding tissue to set up an axis of polarity. As they enter mitosis, this axis is used to polarize the distribution of protein determinants and to orient the mitotic spindle so that



**Figure 2. Extrinsic and intrinsic regulation of stem cell self-renewal by asymmetric cell division.** (A) Stem cells can set up an axis of polarity during interphase and use it to localize cell fate determinants asymmetrically in mitosis. Orientation of the mitotic spindle along the same polarity axis ensures the asymmetric segregation of determinants into only one of the two daughters. (B) Stem cells may depend on a signal coming from the surrounding niche for self-renewal. By orienting their mitotic spindle perpendicularly to the niche surface, they ensure that only one of the two daughter cells continues to receive this signal and maintains the ability to self-renew. (Figure taken from Knoblich, JA, 2008).

these determinants are inherited by only one of the two daughter cells. Alternatively, they can orient their division plane so that only one of the two daughter cells maintains contact with the niche and stem cell identity (Fig. 2).[13] A stem cell, by orienting its mitotic spindle perpendicularly to the niche surface, ensures that only one daughter cell can maintain contact with the stem cell niche and retain the ability to self-renew. In contrast to intrinsically asymmetric cell divisions, which usually follow a predefined developmental program, niche-controlled stem cell divisions offer a high degree of flexibility. Occasionally, the stem cell can divide parallel to the niche, thereby generating two stem cells to increase stem cell number or to compensate for occasional stem cell loss. For this reason, niche mechanisms are more common in adult stem cells, whereas intrinsically asymmetric divisions predominate during development.

Clarifying the mechanism of asymmetric cell division in the Drosophila nervous system becomes the starting point of my contributions to stem cell biology. Building on what I learned during my post-doctoral work, [14,15] I teamed up with extraordinary and brave scientists in my lab to develop a conceptual framework for how the asymmetric cell division process occurs. We proposed, tested, and showed that an axis of polarity is established during interphase guiding both the orientation of the mitotic spindle and the asymmetric localization of protein determinants during mitosis. Over several years, we identified a near-complete set of proteins involved in the various stages of the process and achieved a mechanistic understanding of asymmetric cell division. We found that it is the asymmetric localization of the so-called Par-proteins that establishes the polarity axis to guide asymmetric cell division. In mitosis, a polarized attachment site for microtubules established by the proteins Pins, Galphai and Mud orients the mitotic spindle while the kinase aPKC detaches protein determinants (Numb, Prospero and Brat) from one side and guides their accumulation at the opposite site (Fig. 3).[16-20] This mechanism enjoyed wide acceptance in the field and became part of most developmental biology textbooks. Importantly it is conserved in mammalian stem cells highlighting the relevance of asymmetric cell division in stem cell biology, especially considering the compelling connections to tumorigenesis that begin to emerge, like, for example, the link we make between cellular metabolism and immortalization of tumor-initiating cells by performing targeted metabolomics and in vivo genetic screening.[21]

Matching a gene to its function is necessary in detangling developmental processes but it is also a laborious process. Genetic screens become the



**Figure 3. Axis of polarity establishment during asymmetric cell division.** During interphase, Par proteins (like aPKC) localize asymmetrically creating a polarity axis which during mitosis will serve to guide asymmetric cell division. During mitosis, microtubules attach a polarized site to orient the mitotic spindle and aPKC locally phosphorylates cell fate protein determinants to guide them to the opposite site. Ultimately, the cell fate determinants Numb, Pros, and Brat segregate into the small daughter cell, the ganglion mother cell (GMC) that divides only once more to generate two differentiating neurons.

go-to method for the elucidation of developmental pathways, and work done in invertebrates is followed by an analysis of evolutionary conservation in mammalian model systems, often leading to clinical translation for humans. Pioneers Christiane Nüsslein-Volhard and Eric Wieschaus paved the way by screening through massive numbers of randomly induced mutant fly embryos for defects in developmental patterning and classified 15 genes as the key players during embryonic development in Drosophila.[22] In the wake of the discovery of stem cells and the establishment of the key tenets of stemness, another technology is appearing in an entirely unexpected way. As Andrew Fire and Craig Mello investigated gene expression regulation in C. elegans, they observed that double-stranded RNA blocks the expression of the respective gene and named this approach RNA interference (RNAi).[23] The ability to silence specific genes overcomes the main drawback of random mutagenesis approaches in that it is gene specific. RNAi allows large-scale genetic screens to reveal the functions of many genes through development. Consequently genome-wide RNAi studies are performed in mammalian stem cell cultures.[24,25]

Naturally, the wish to study stem cells *in situ* arises where the interactions with the surrounding niche and the tissue-specific characteristics of individual lineages are maintained. In *Drosophila*, this becomes possible through the establishment of a transgenic RNAi library that can be expressed in a tissue-specific manner.[26] Together with my team we became the first to perform genetic screens in a tissue-specific manner within an entire organism. We focused on external sensory organs, where defects in asymmetric cell division or Notch signaling lead to visible phenotypes, like gain or loss of bristles. We used a library of 20,000 transgenic RNAi lines generated by Barry Dickson that resulted in informative loss-of-function phenotype data for 23% of all protein coding Drosophila genes, a data set that is still regularly queried by others in the field.[27]

Armed with all this knowledge, we now wonder how the finely tuned yet fragile homeostatic balance between stem cell self-renewal and differentiation is regulated. We perform genetic screens on neural stem cells using genome-wide transgenic RNAi and identified 620 genes that are potentially involved in controlling this balance in Drosophila neuroblasts (larval brain stem cells).[28,29] We quantified all phenotypes and derived measurements for proliferation, lineage, cell size, and cell shape. We identified a set of transcriptional regulators essential for self-renewal and integrated hierarchical clustering with interaction data to create functional networks to uncover the control of neuroblast self-renewal and differentiation. Our data revealed key roles for the chromatin remodeling Brm complex, the spliceosome, and the TRiC/CCT-complex showing that the alternatively spliced transcription factor Lola and the transcriptional elongation factors Ssrp and Barc control self-renewal in neuroblast lineages.[28,29] These efforts truly laid solid foundations for the mechanistic discoveries that ensued on stem cell immortalization and tumorigenesis.

Studies in Drosophila undoubtedly enriched our scientific acumen of neural development but the gnawing need to intimately explore the least understood organ of our body is ever-present. The complex architecture and function of the human brain enables us to perform higher cognitive functions. Abnormalities in the structure or function of the brain can lead to severe neurological and psychiatric disorders. It is becoming increasingly clear that many neurological and psychiatric disorders have their roots in neurodevelopment.[30,31] However, determining the neurodevelopmental cause and mechanisms of these brain disorders is challenging, due to the limited access to human brain tissues. Given the large evolutionary distance between mouse and human, and the immense elaboration of the primate brain in size and complexity, there are many features unique to human brain development and diseases that are not seen in rodent systems.[32]

Standing on the shoulders of giants we can now see much farther than we ever thought possible and diving into the unknowns of the human brain seems to be more within our reach. But first a bridge must be built. A new model that does not rely on human primary material is needed. Madeline Lancaster, in my laboratory, replaces mortar and pestle with pipette and culture dish and attempts to use human pluripotent stem cells to model key developmental events of the human brain *in vitro*. By combining classical cell culture approaches with recently developed methods enabling cells to grow three-dimensionally, we developed cerebral organoids, a tissue culture method that recapitulates human brain development.[33] The gap between animal models and human beings has been bridged.

Human brain organoids, otherwise known as cerebral organoids, are hPSC-derived self-organizing human pluripotent stem cell-derived three-dimensional culture systems that develop various discrete, although



Figure 4. Progression of cerebral organoid development from human PSCs. (a) A colony of feeder-dependent human ESCs showing typical pluripotent morphology with clear boundaries and a uniform texture. (b) An EB at day 5 showing evidence of ectodermal differentiation, as indicated by the presence of brightened surface tissue, whereas the center is quite dark with dense non-ectodermal tissue. The EB also has a smooth surface, indicating healthy tissue. (c) An early organoid at day 10 showing smooth edges and bright optically translucent surface tissue consistent with neuroectoderm (arrow). This organoid also contains small buds of ectodermal tissue that is not organized radially (arrowhead). (d) Image of the neuroectodermal tissues embedded in Matrigel droplets on a sheet of dimpled Parafilm. The tissues are visible as small white specks within the droplet (arrow). (e) An organoid at day 14, after embedding in Matrigel, showing evidence of neuroepithelial bud outgrowth (arrows) that are optically clear and in several cases surround a visible lumen. Other outgrowths and migrating cells are also visible (arrowheads) that are not neuroepithelial. (f) The spinning bioreactor setup in the tissue culture incubator. Organoids are visible within the bioreactor as small white floating specks. (g) An organoid at day 28 of the protocol, revealing many large neural tissues (arrows) that have greatly expanded once embedded in the Matrigel. Scale bars, 200  $\mu$ m (a–c,e,g) and 5 mm (d). (Figure from Lancaster et al., 2014).

interdependent, brain regions. Cerebral organoids recapitulate the neurodevelopmental scheme to generate 3D tissue architectures that mimic various features of the developing fetal brain pertaining to cellular composition and tissue structure. [34] hPSCs cultured in appropriate media conditions form an embryoid body [35] or a spheroid [36] and undergo neural induction to adopt the neuroectodermal fate. [33,36,37] The neuroectodermal progenitors self-organize into multiple 3D structures featuring apical lumens called neural rosettes or neural buds reminiscent of the neural tube. After 1 month in culture, organoids exhibit neuronal differentiation



**Figure 5. Staining for brain regions and neuronal cell identities.** (a) Staining for neurons (TUJ1, green) and progenitors (SOX2, red) in a large continuous cortical tissue within an organoid. Note the organized apical progenitor zone surrounded by basally located neurons. (b) A forebrain region of an organoid staining positive for the marker FOXG1 (red). (c) Choroid plexus stains positive for the marker TTR (green), and it displays convoluted cuboidal epithelium. (d) Hippo-campal regions stain positive for the markers PROX1 (green) and FZD9 (red), although the cells fail to spatially organize into recognizable dentate gyrus and CA regions. (e) Staining for mitotic radial glia (P-vimentin (P-vim), green) in a cortical region reveals inner radial glia undergoing mitosis at the apical membrane (arrows), whereas outer radial glia undergo mitosis outside the ventricular zone (arrowheads). All radial glia are marked by SOX2 (red). (f) Staining for cortical layer identities of advanced organoids (75 d). Later-born superficial-layer identity (SATB2, red) neurons populate more superficial regions of the organoid, whereas early-born deep-layer identity (CTIP2, green) neurons populate deeper regions of the organoid. DAPI in a–e labels nuclei (blue). Samples in a–e are 30-35 d after initiation of the protocol. Scale bars, 100 µm (a,b) and 50 µm (c–f). (Figure from Lancaster et al., 2014).

(TUJ1, fig. 4), leading to progressive expansion and thickening of cerebral tissues (Fig. 4).[38] By 2 months, different brain regions are visible, including forebrain and hippocampus (Fig. 5).[38]

The path to cerebral organoid generation is exciting but nothing short of challenging. Knowing we have made the first big leap into the systematic investigation of human brain development and disease we dedicate much time and effort to deepen our understanding and broaden our tool kit. We use brain organoids to examine the cell biological basis of a form of microcephaly, a disorder involving small brain size.[33,39,40] In fact, a variety of neurological disorders can be examined in cerebral organoids. We use RNA interference and patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cells to model microcephaly, a disorder that has been difficult to model in mice. We demonstrate premature neuronal differentiation in patient organoids, a defect that could help to explain the disease phenotype.

We then initiated the development of more organoid-based human disease models.[41] We were able to reproduce the events leading to human brain cancer formation by electroporating mutagenic DNA constructs and introducing brain cancer specific mutations. Importantly, the new methodology allowed some of the key events in human brain cancer, like the invasive nature of cancer cells, to be replicated in vitro.[41] We demonstrated the usefulness of our cancer models for drug treatment by inhibiting tumor growth using EGFR inhibitors and predicting drug effects in a patient and tumor type specific manner. Cerebral organoids become very useful for elucidating and characterizing the teratogenic effects of the ZIKA virus and for predicting its mechanism of infection.[42,43] In an attempt to extend those observations, we modelled the pathology of Herpes Simplex Virus in organoids. We succeeded in recreating the pathology and could identify a potential therapeutic strategy for eliminating the virus from the fetal brain.[44] We therefore convincingly showed that three-dimensional organoids can recapitulate development and disease even in this most complex human tissue.

While we agree that organoids enable disease modeling in complex and structured human tissue, *in vitro*, like most 3D models, they lack sufficient oxygen supply, leading to cellular stress. We hypothesized that drawbacks might prevent proper lineage commitment. We therefore set out to analyze brain organoid and fetal single cell RNA sequencing (scRNAseq) data using our own and other datasets totaling over 190,000 cells. We described a unique stress signature found in all organoid samples, but not in fetal samples. We demonstrated that cell stress is limited to a defined organoid

cell population, and developed Gruffi, an algorithm that uses granular functional filtering to filter out stressed cells from any organoid scRNAseq dataset in an unbiased manner.[45] In this way, we offer a robust way to bioinformatically control for the adverse effects of cell stress thereby improving developmental trajectories and strengthening resemblance to fetal data.

In parallel we developed variable organoid protocols that permitted us to study different parts of brain development. We pushed the boundaries by achieving the faithful reproduction of long-range neuron migration in the human brain by assembling dorsally and ventrally patterned organoids (Fig. 6). We recreated a polarity axis and demonstrated that this axis is maintained throughout the organoid culture, leading to correct interactions between the two brain parts. Like in the real human cortex, interneurons within these cultures correctly migrated from the ventral to the dorsal part allowing us to investigate their migration in real time and to test the effect of specific signaling pathways by using specific inhibitors.[46]

We and others share our appreciation for what seems to be a new technology with enormous potential. We now have a versatile tool that can be coupled with genetic screening permitting us distinct bioassays to unravel novel, disease-associated phenotypes and mechanisms. It comes as no surprise that we are enthusiastically combining decades of multi-disciplinary research outcomes and organoid technology to investigate what other model organisms helped frame the hypotheses on. In recent years, multiple breakthrough discoveries have been made, and groundbreaking methodologies have been developed. The most prominent of these is the development of the CRISPR-LICHT approach, which is a method for genetic screening in 3D organoid systems that can now be applied to any set of human disease genes and any organoid system (Fig. 7).[47] The development of the CRIS-PR-Cas9 endonuclease technology has made diverse methods of genetic engineering readily available to all researchers.[48-51] Unlike the previous technologies, the Cas9 endonuclease is guided to the genomic sequence of interest as a means to generate a DSB by a guide RNA sequence (gRNA), making the system highly versatile and easy to apply.[52] We combined CRISPR/LICHT, CRISPR/Cas9 dropout screening with lineage barcoding to overcome the intrinsic variability of organoids (Fig. 7). This genetic loss-of-function screening within the modern era of organoid technology allows us to search through sets of genes that are suspected to be involved in a specific human brain disorder.[47] We gather definite proof of gene-specific disease relevance while generating an organoid disease model that can be further exploited by the community to portray the disease mechanism

or test therapeutic targets. The CRISPR-LICHT technology permits us to establish a mathematical model for organoid growth and to perform a statistical power analysis for the screen to define its scale and interpret its result. Using the methodology, we screened through 173 candidate microcephaly genes, identifying the unfolded protein response as a new process determin-



**Figure 6. Fused cerebral organoids as a model for cell migration.** (a) Schematic of the cerebral organoid fusion coculture method. (b) Representative widefield images at different stages of the organoid fusion procedure. Organoids are independently labeled with the indicated fluorescent reporters. (c) Tile-scan image of a of a ventral::dorsalCycA organoid fusion cryosection immunostained for a ventral (NKX2-1+) and a dorsal (TBR1+) marker. (d) Tile-scan image of a ventral/GFP+::dorsalCycA/tdTomato+ organoid fusion cryosection immunostained for GFP and tdTomato. (Figure from Bagley et al., 2017).

ing brain size in humans. Not only are we able to identify microcephaly genes with CRISPR-LICHT, but we also pinpoint a specific mechanism involved in controlling the size of the brain. The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) was identified as a main hub in controlling extracellular matrix protein secretion (Fig. 8). This mechanism affects the integrity of the tissue, and thus the brain size, and was identified as one cause of microcephaly.

The speed of discoveries is gathering momentum and we seem to be reaching one goal after the other with what appears to be effortless poise but which I can attest to being the merited success of many dedicated and charismatic scientists that lend their talent to stem cell research. It is true that the hypothesis-driven scientist fearlessly tests the *status quo* putting knowledge to practice and creating platforms for what will be the next ordinary or extraordinary step when claiming the unknown. As we approach the present times there is one more discovery we eagerly share. While using cerebral organoids to show that overproduction of mid-gestational human interneurons causes Tuberous Sclerosis Complex (TSC), a severe neuro-developmental disorder, we identified a previously uncharac-



**Figure 7. Screening in human cerebral organoids using CRISPR-LICHT identifies microcephaly-associated genes.** Scheme describing the screening methodology. Stepwise introduction of gRNA and lineage barcode (LB) as well as cell barcode (CB) are indicated. FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorting; NGS, next generation sequencing. (Figure from Esk et al., 2020).



**Figure 8.** *IER3IP1* deletion results in a microcephalic phenotype and increased UPR and ER stress. (A) Bright-field images of WT and IER3IP1 KO lines 1 to 3 at day 42. Scale bars, 500 μm. (B) EM images of ER structures in neural rosette areas of WT and IER3IP1 KO organoids 1 to 3. Arrowheads indicate ER structures. (Figure adapted from Esk et al., 2020).



Figure 9. During mid-gestation, CLIP cells residing in the CGE generate interneurons that migrate into the cortex. (Top right) In TSC, CLIP cells generate brain tumors and cortical tubers. Heterozygous mutations in TSC2 result in excessive proliferation of CLIP cells, generating cell types of cortical tubers (orange) as well as brain tumors (red). During progression, the healthy allele is lost because of cnLOH, increasing tumor proliferation. Image: Kellie Holoski/Science.



**Figure 10. EGFR inhibition reduces tumor burden.** (A) Immunostaining for pS6 and EGFR identified tumors (red lines) in the control group (DMSO) in both patients. Tumors were reduced through Afatinib and Everolimus treatment. (B) Quantification of tumor area per organoid. Tumors were identified as regions of overlapping pS6 and EGFR staining. Although tumors were detected in DMSO-control for both patients, Afatinib or Everolimus treatment both reduce tumor burden Scale bars, (A) 1 mm. (Figure from Eichmüller et al., 2022).

terized population of caudal late interneuron progenitors, the CLIP-cells (Fig. 9).[53] We showed that developmental processes specific to humans are responsible for malformations of cortical development (MCDs), which result in developmental delay and epilepsy in children. In TSC, CLIP cells over-proliferate, generating excessive interneurons, brain tumors, and cortical malformations (Fig. 10). Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition reduces tumor burden, identifying potential treatment options for TSC

and related disorders. The identification of CLIP cells reveals the extended interneuron generation in the human brain as a vulnerability for disease. In addition, this work demonstrates that analyzing MCDs can reveal fundamental insights into human-specific aspects of brain development. We predict that this work will have a long-lasting fundamental impact on the entire field of brain research and will sooner or later find its place in freshly updated textbooks on the disease.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The brain, like no other organ, births all thoughts and involuntary triggers. As a consequence, it is a treasure chest storing cardinal information; hard to penetrate, retrieve and even understand. It is perhaps not random that many neuroscientists have originally studied philosophy while others moved from bench science to questioning the mind, its powers and limitations, its flexibility to expand and collapse on the path to enlightenment. Such dynamic processes hosted within a tissue that is highly organized and almost fragile.

Human brain development is, therefore, correctly described as a complex series of dynamic and adaptive processes that are genetically determined and environmentally influenced and which operate throughout development, finally resulting in an organ that is responsible for the widest array of functions we know to exist. Attempting to decipher the genetic codes and molecular pathways that govern cellular function during brain development has been a long and arduous process. The discovery and characterization of stem cells revealed the tangles within the process while instrumentally influencing our understanding by offering the opportunity to make stem cell attributes our asset. Taking advantage of their self-organizing ability, we built a model that was the missing link between knowledge acquired from animal models and the mystery of the human brain.

Born from the passion for evolving science to understand life, methodological developments have always been central to overcoming seemingly impossible obstacles turning improbable outcomes to acquired knowledge. Our lab has significantly contributed in shaping contemporary and future research on brain development in health and disease by careful, almost pedantic experimentalism, and with concentrated focus on multi-disciplinary, expansive and strategic research that pushes the boundaries daring to address the big open questions. At the heels of brain organoid technology, we intertwined quick and efficient gene editing to model diseases that were intractable in mice, including forms of microcephaly and brain cancer. The comparable complexity between human cerebral organoids and primary tissue promises to further our grasp of human-specific complex diseases such as autism and epilepsy but also as patient-specific *in vitro* cancer models, and for predictive drug testing. Single-cell technologies enhanced our ability to analyze molecular phenotypes at cellular resolution and detect emergent phenotypes that are difficult to tease out with traditional investigation methods.[54] Further adaptation of diverse single-cell -omics technologies to brain organoids expanded the set of discernable phenotypes, otherwise hidden, such as novel cell types and/or states that are altered during disease like in our microcephaly and tuberous sclerosis models. Without a doubt the field of brain organoid research is still young, but its applicability, diversity and potential encourage expedient progress. Given the rapid technical advances in the field, we believe that human organoid systems will provide unprecedented opportunities to improve human health.

To conclude, the brain is an organ that is more understood now than ever before but still to such a narrow degree. Despite the jaw-dropping advancements across all scientific disciplines of neuroscience, we remain far away from fully understanding it, although we appreciate the circuitous complexity of its nature. Attempting to predict what the path will look like in the future would only prove us wrong but what we know for certain is that, as described in this review, neuroscience research resembles a sequel that always has you wishing for more.

#### References

- Ramón y Cajal, S. 1852–1934. Textura del sistema nervioso del hombre y de los vertebrados: 6. estudios sobre el plan estructural y composición histológica de los centros nerviosos adicionados de consideraciones fisiológicas fundadas en los nuevos descubrimientos. Volumen II (1904). 7.
- His, W. Zur Geschichte des menschlichen Rückenmarkes und der Nervelwurzeln. *Abh. k. säch. Ges. Wiss., Math.-Phys. Cl.* 13, 477-514 (1887).
- McCulloch, E.A. & Till, J.E. Perspectives on the properties of stem cells. *Nature Medicine* vol. 11 (2005).
- Evans, M.J. & Kaufman, M.H. Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. *Nature* 292 (1981).
- Thomson, J.A. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science (80-.)

(1998) doi:10.1126/science.282.5391.1145. Yamanaka, S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse fibroblasts by four transcription factors. in *Cell Proliferation* vol. 41 (2008).

- Takahashi, K. & Yamanaka, S. Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from Mouse Embryonic and Adult Fibroblast Cultures by Defined Factors. *Cell* 126 (2006).
- Franco, N.H. Animal Experiments in Biomedical Research: A Historical Perspective. *Animals* 3, 238–273 (2013).
- Kim, J., Koo, B.K. & Knoblich, J.A. Human organoids: model systems for human biology and medicine. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* vol. 21 (2020).
- 10. Kuzawa, C.W. *et al.* Metabolic costs and evolutionary implications of human brain

111 (2014).

- 11. Lui, J.H., Hansen, D.V. & Kriegstein, A.R. Development and evolution of the human neocortex. Cell 146, 18-36 (2011).
- 12. Horvitz, H.R. & Herskowitz, I. Mechanisms of asymmetric cell division: Two Bs or not two Bs, that is the question. Cell vol. 68 (1992).
- 13. Knoblich, J.A. Mechanisms of Asym- 24. Ding, L. et al. A Genome-Scale RNAi metric Stem Cell Division. Cell vol. 132 (2008).
- 14. Knoblich, J.A., Jan, L.Y. & Jan, Y.N. prospero during cell division. Nature vol. 377 (1995).
- 15. Kraut, R., Chia, W., Jan, L.Y., Jan, Y.N. & Knoblich, J.A. Role of inscuteable in orienting asymmetric cell divisions in Drosophila. Nature vol. 383 (1996).
- 16. Schober, M., Schaefer, M. & Knoblich, J.A. Bazooka recruits inscuteable to orient asymmetric cell divisions in Drosophila neuroblasts. Nature 402 (1999).
- 17. Schaefer, M., Petronczki, M., Dorner, 28. Neumüller, R. A. et al. Genome-Wide D., Forte, M. & Knoblich, J.A. Heterotrimeric G proteins direct two modes of asymmetric cell division in the Drosophila nervous system. Cell 107 (2001).
- 18. Betschinger, J., Mechtler, K. & Knoblich, J.A. The Par complex directs asymmetric cell division by phosphorylating the cytoskeletal protein Lgl. Nature 422 (2003).
- 19. Betschinger, I., Mechtler, K. & Knoblich, J.A. Asymmetric Segregation of the Tumor Suppressor Brat Regulates Self-Renewal in Drosophila Neural Stem Cells. 31. Silbereis, J.C., Pochareddy, S., Zhu, Y., Li, Cell 124 (2006).
- 20. Wirtz-Peitz, F., Nishimura, T. & Knoblich, J.A. Linking Cell Cycle to Asymmetric Division: Aurora-A Phosphoryl-Localization. Cell 135 (2008).
- 21. Bonnay, F. et al. Oxidative Metabolism Drives Immortalization of Neural Stem (2020).

- development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 22. Wieschaus, E. & Nüsslein-Volhard, C. The Heidelberg Screen for Pattern Mutants of Drosophila: A Personal Account. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology vol. 32 (2016).
  - 23. Timmons, L., Tabara, H., Mello, C.C. & Fire, A.Z. Inducible systemic RNA silencing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Mol. Biol. Cell 14 (2003).
  - Screen for Oct4 Modulators Defines a Role of the Paf1 Complex for Embryonic Stem Cell Identity. Cell Stem Cell 4 (2009).
- Asymmetric segregation of numb and 25. Hu, G. et al. A genome-wide RNAi screen identifies a new transcriptional module required for self-renewal. Genes Dev. 23 (2009).
  - 26. Dietzl, G. et al. A genome-wide transgenic RNAi library for conditional gene inactivation in Drosophila. Nature 448 (2007).
  - 27. Mummery-Widmer, J.L. et al. Genome-wide analysis of Notch signalling in Drosophila by transgenic RNAi. Nature 458, 987-992 (2009).
  - Analysis of Self-Renewal in Drosophila Neural Stem Cells by Transgenic RNAi. Cell Stem Cell 8, 580-593 (2011).
  - 29. Eroglu, E. et al. SWI/SNF complex prevents lineage reversion and induces temporal patterning in neural stem cells. Cell 156 (2014).
  - 30. Hu, W.F., Chahrour, M.H. & Walsh, C.A. The diverse genetic landscape of neurodevelopmental disorders. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet. 15 (2014).
  - M. & Sestan, N. The Cellular and Molecular Landscapes of the Developing Human Central Nervous System. Neuron vol. 89 (2016).
- ates the Par Complex to Regulate Numb 32. Zhao, X. & Bhattacharyya, A. Human Models Are Needed for Studying Human Neurodevelopmental Disorders. American Journal of Human Genetics vol. 103 (2018).
- Cells during Tumorigenesis. Cell 182, 33. Lancaster, M.A. et al. Cerebral organoids model human brain development and mi-

crocephaly. Nature (2013) doi:10.1038/ nature12517.

- ganogenesisin a dish: Modeling development and disease using organoid technologies. Science (80-.). 345 (2014).
- 35. Watanabe, K. et al. A ROCK inhibitor 46. Bagley, J.A., Reumann, D., Bian, S., permits survival of dissociated human embryonic stem cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 25 (2007).
- 36. Pasca, A.M. et al. Functional cortical neurons and astrocytes from human pluripo- 47. Esk, C. et al. A human tissue screen tent stem cells in 3D culture. Nat. Methods 12 (2015).
- 37. Eiraku, M. et al. Self-Organized Formation of Polarized Cortical Tissues from ESCs and Its Active Manipulation by Extrinsic Signals. Cell Stem Cell 3 (2008).
- 38. Lancaster, M.A. & Knoblich, J.A. Generation of cerebral organoids from hu- 49. Cong, L. et al. Multiplex Genome Enman pluripotent stem cells. Nat. Protoc. 9, 2329-2340 (2014).
- 39. Gilmore, E.C. & Walsh, C.A. Genetic causes of microcephaly and lessons for neuronal development. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Developmental Biology vol. 2 (2013).
- Maintenance of Continuous Stratified Cortical Neuroepithelium by Laminin-Containing Matrix in Mouse ES Cell Culture. PLoS One 7 (2012).
- bral organoids model brain tumor formation. Nat. Methods (2018) doi:10.1038/ s41592-018-0070-7.
- 42. Garcez, P.P. et al. Zika virus: Zika virus impairs growth in human neurospheres 53. Eichmüller, O.L. et al. Amplification of and brain organoids. Science (80-.). 352 (2016).
- 43. Qian, X. et al. Brain-Region-Specific Organoids Using Mini-bioreactors for Mod- 54. Camp, J.G., Platt, R. & Treutlein, B. Mapeling ZIKV Exposure. Cell 165, 1238-1254 (2016).
- 44. Krenn, V. et al. Organoid modeling of Zika and herpes simplex virus 1 infections

reveals virus-specific responses leading to microcephaly. Cell Stem Cell 28 (2021).

- 34. Lancaster, M.A. & Knoblich, J.A. Or- 45. Vertesy, A. et al. Cellular stress in brain organoids is limited to a distinct and bioinformatically removable subpopulation. bioRxiv (2022).
  - Lévi-Strauss, J. & Knoblich, J.A. Fused cerebral organoids model interactions between brain regions. Nat Methods 14, 743-751 (2017).
  - identifies a regulator of ER secretion as a brain-size determinant. Science (80-.). 370, 935-941 (2020).
  - 48. Wiedenheft, B., Sternberg, S.H. & Doudna, J.A. RNA-guided genetic silencing systems in bacteria and archaea (2012) doi:10.1038/nature10886.
  - gineering Using CRISPR/Cas Systems HHS Public Access. Science (80-.). 339, 819-823 (2013).
  - 50. Mali, P. et al. RNA-Guided Human Genome Engineering via Cas9 NIH Public Access. Science (80-.). 339, 823-826 (2013).
- 40. Nasu, M. et al. Robust Formation and 51. Woo Cho, S., Kim, S., Min Kim, J. & Kim, J.-S. Targeted genome engineering in human cells with the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease (2013) doi:10.1038/ nbt.2507.
- 41. Bian, S. et al. Genetically engineered cere- 52. Pickar-Oliver, A. & Gersbach, C.A. The next generation of CRISPR-Cas technologies and applications. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. doi:10.1038/s41580-019-0131-5.
  - human interneuron progenitors promotes brain tumors and neurological defects. Science (80-.). 375, (2022).
  - ping human cell phenotypes to genotypes with single-cell genomics. https://www.science.org

# **STEM CELLS AND DISEASE STATES**

# TARGETING THE GEROZYME 15-PGDH TO REGENERATE AND REJUVENATE AGED MUSCLES

HELEN M. BLAU, PH.D.

Baxter Laboratory for Stem Cell Biology, Stanford, CA, USA

### Introduction

Aging is an inescapable fact of life. The young and vibrant babe grows to glowing adulthood and then progressively ages, becoming decrepit and worn, as stunningly depicted by the Viennese painter, Gustav Klimt (Fig. 1). Aging is thought to bring wisdom, but for many individuals, their later years are characterized by decline and discomfort as body systems slow and eventually fail. This is a problem that impacts billions of people around the world. Throughout history people have sought means to reverse aging, or to maximize healthspan, time spent free from ailments. From Idun and her magic apples, to the Peaches of Immortality of Chinese Mythology, to the Ambrosia of the Ancient Greeks, to Sir Galahad and the Holy Grail, to Ponce de Leon's Fountain of Youth, humanity has been on a quest for a balm to ameliorate aging.



**Figure 1. The Three Ages of Woman by Gustav Klimt.** Completed in Austria in 1905, the painting features three women at various stages, symbolizing the cycle of life.
To halt aging, a number of strategies have been invoked such as caloric restriction, telomere extension, inducing pluripotency reprogramming in vivo, reversing the methylation clock, and senolytics. Yet to date, these approaches have yet to be proven efficacious in mammals, let alone humans. As depicted by *Nature* (2018), while our lifespan has increased, our healthspan has not (Fig. 2). Both men and women are living longer, however, the increased numbers of years are plagued by chronic disease.[1] The question of utmost importance is: How can we extend quality of life?

An organism, in all its complexity, arises from a single cell. That first cell is pluripotent, it has the potential to become every cell type the body needs. All the information required is encoded within its DNA. Cells divide and specialize during development. The process is highly regulated but can be influenced by both genetic and environmental factors throughout fetal development, infancy, and childhood. Young adulthood can be considered a period of maintenance, where cells persist in homeostasis, a



**Figure 2. Life expectancy has increased, but healthspan remains the same.** Advances in modern medicine have significantly extended human lifespan, however many of the years gained are spent with chronic disease. Healthspan, or the years spent in good health free of such diseases, has not increased proportionally. Figure adapted from Bellantuono et al., *Nature*, 2018.

stable state of equilibrium. However, as we age, cells and tissues change again, becoming progressively dysfunctional.

The hope of stem cell biology and regenerative medicine is that this process can be stabilized or even reversed to allow for robustly enhanced healthspan. By targeting stem cells, the building blocks of the body's specialized tissues, and elucidating mechanisms and drugs that can rejuvenate their function, we seek to enhance the quality of life. Below I chronicle work by my group and others, focused on understanding cell plasticity and stem cells, particularly as they relate to muscle aging and rejuvenation.

### **Plasticity of Cell Fate**

In the 1980s, a long-held view in the field of cell and developmental biology was that the differentiated state of mammalian cells was fixed and irreversible. As an assistant professor I was inspired to challenge this dogma by John Gurdon's groundbreaking research showing that a highly specialized intestine cell nucleus could be reprogrammed to give rise to an entire frog if transplanted into an enucleated oocyte.[2,3] Using a non-dividing heterokaryon cell-fusion system, my lab showed that silent muscle genes could be activated in specialized human cells of all three embryonic lineages: endoderm, mesoderm, and ectoderm.[4,5] Building upon a large body of work that potently employed interspecies cell hybrids to monitor gene expression, map genes to chromosomes, and establish the existence of trans-acting repressors, [6-8] we developed a heterokaryon system in which the two fused cell types did not divide and remained stably intact. In this syncytial cell, chromosomes were not lost or reorganized, and the existence of transacting activators of gene expression could be definitively established for the first time. This system enabled us to show that previously silent muscle genes could be activated in human cells specialized as keratinocytes, fibroblasts, or hepatocytes, providing evidence that the mammalian differentiated state could be altered. The success of our approach arose from the crucial insight that gene dosage must be biased in favor of the desired cell fate outcome – in other words, an excess of muscle nuclei encoding trans-acting factors is required to activate expression of muscle genes in the nonmuscle cell type. Importantly, our experiments showed that the mammalian differentiated state is not terminal, but instead requires constant management to be maintained.

This body of work changed how the field viewed cell fate and was featured on the front cover of the "Frontiers in Biology" issue of *Science* in 1985.[4,5,6,7] The broad significance of our work across phyla is

highlighted in a review I wrote with David Baltimore, "Differentiation requires continuous regulation".[9] Our findings established that the stable differentiated cell state is controlled by mechanisms that are dynamic and reversible.

This concept and the demonstration of the plasticity of the mammalian differentiated state has since been brilliantly highlighted by the elegant experiments of Shinya Yamanaka showing that upon overexpression of four transcription factors, differentiated mammalian cells give rise to pluripotent stem cells.[12] This advance revolutionized the field of stem cell biology and regenerative medicine. It provided the ultimate demonstration that cell fate could be changed and allowed the modeling of human development and disease in culture in a manner not previously possible.

The demonstration of cell fate plasticity has prompted new thinking about the process of aging. Is it possible that aged tissues and stem cells can be reprogrammed to a "youthful" state? Could this state be propagated via a heritable molecular memory? Would such an approach rejuvenate the function of a tissue? Is this a way to increase healthspan?

#### **Overcoming Blocks to Cell Plasticity**

While robust regeneration of amputated limbs or injured hearts occurs via a process of dedifferentiation in several orders of lower vertebrates including urodele amphibians and zebrafish, mammalian differentiated cells in an intact organism only exhibit limited regeneration under normal circumstances. Pioneering work with these species has provided many seminal insights.[13,14] A critical step in the process of urodele limb and heart regeneration is the acquisition of proliferative potency. This is achieved by reentry into the cell cycle of postmitotic cells that retain their specified identity. Jason Pomerantz, Kosta Pajcini and I postulated that mammals gained tumor suppressors at the expense of regeneration. We used an evolutionary comparison to identify differences between humans and newts that could underlie their disparate regenerative capacity.[15-17] Newts lack the cell cycle regulatory protein p19/Arf (encoded by the Ink4a locus, a tumor suppressor which first arose in chickens; designated as p14 in humans). Additionally, newt limb regeneration involves inactivation of another tumor suppressor, the cell cycle regulator Rb, by phosphorylation. We wondered if Rb and Arf could also be the major cell-cycle regulators that restrict dedifferentiation in mammals? We addressed this question by showing that following transient inactivation of both Rb and Arf, post-mitotic murine skeletal muscle cells were induced to dedifferentiate,

proliferate, and contribute to muscle repair in vivo. The use of photoactivated laser microdissection and laser pressure catapulting to isolate single, morphologically intact, adherent, primary differentiated cells (myocytes) allowed the unambiguous identification of clones from individual post-mitotic cells. Our results show that differentiation of mammalian cells is reversed by inactivation of Arf and Rb, and support the hypothesis that Arf evolved at the expense of regeneration. The induction of dedifferentiation demonstrated here catalyzed alternative approaches to stem cells for the regeneration of mammalian tissues such as the heart.

#### **Characterization of Muscle Stem Cells**

Despite these advances, regenerative medicine stalled for years, as we lacked a method to isolate and purify muscle stem cells in order to probe their properties and discern how to augment their function in culture. The muscle stem cell (MuSC) was first identified by Alexander Mauro and depicted in a single electron micrograph as a satellite cell adjacent to a my-



**Figure 3. Substrate rigidity is key to maintaining 'stemness' in culture.** MuSCs have robust regenerative capacity in vivo that is rapidly lost in culture. We combined a novel bioengineered substrate that recapitulates key biophysical and biochemical niche features and a highly automated single-cell tracking algorithm to show that substrate elasticity is a potent regulator of MuSC fate in culture. MuSCs cultured on soft hydrogel substrates that mimic the elasticity of muscle proliferate in vitro and promote regeneration when transplanted into mice as shown by BLI. Figure adapted from Gilbert et al., *Science*, 2010.

ofiber.[18] However, not until a half a century later did scientists acquire a means to prove Mauro right. Identification of the hallmark MuSC transcription factors by Michael Rudnicki[19] and Margaret Buckingham[20] were major breakthroughs. I recruited engineers, chemists, and artificial intelligence experts to address the problem of muscle stem cell isolation and maintenance in culture. Building on the foundational work of prior investigators, we established parameters for prospectively isolating skeletal muscle stem cells from adult tissues by fluorescence activated cell sorting.[21] We developed a second technique, bioluminescence imaging (BLI), to validate the 'stemness' of the isolated cells by single cell transplantation.[21] BLI enabled assessment of the dynamics and magnitude of muscle stem cell engraftment over time. Further, single stem cell transplants assessed by BLI showed that MuSCs met the quintessential definition of a stem cell established for hematopoiesis: self-renewal and differentiation. Using bioengineered 'niches', we overcame a major hurdle: the stem cell properties of MuSCs were rapidly lost in culture. We showed that MuSC function is exquisitely sensitive to substrate elasticity (Fig. 3, 4). If plated on stiff tissue culture plastic, MuSC function is lost, whereas on hydrogels with a stiffness matching healthy young muscle, stemness is preserved. [22] This work provided a functional link between substrate elasticity and maintenance



**Figure 4. Cells are exquisitely sensitive to substrate stiffness**. Some surfaces can be too soft (2 KPa), and others are too stiff (42 KPa). The natural stiffness of muscle tissue found in our bodies (12kPa) is just right; hydrogels mimicking that elasticity maintain the stem cell state *in vitro*. Image by Stephane Corbel/Blau lab.

of muscle stem cell self-renewal following transplantation, establishing a niche paradigm with broad utility for enhancing the regenerative behavior of stem cell types in diverse specialized tissues.

### Aged Muscle Stem Cells Have Diminished Regenerative Capacity

Using these techniques, we encountered another roadblock. We found that muscle stem cell function declines markedly during aging due to the acquisition of cell intrinsic defects, which in conjunction with cell-extrinsic systemic factors, are largely responsible for the decreased regeneration observed with aging (Fig. 5A). A small molecule screen identified an inhibitor (SB202) of the aging-associated p38 MAP kinase that enabled stem cell expansion in vitro, but the cells remained dysfunctional. We surmounted this problem by cultivating the stem cells on elastic hydrogels together with SB202 (Fig. 5B-D). This work provided fresh insights that a synergy of biophysical and biochemical signals could expand and rejuvenate the function of the aged stem cell population. Indeed, not only was stem cell engraftment robustly enhanced post injury, but also strength, as aged mice transplanted with the treated stem cells exhibited twitch and tetanic forces on par with young mice (Fig. 5D).[23,24] In parallel, other groups targeted this and other signaling pathways to restore function to aged MuSCs.[23-31] This body of work suggests a therapeutic strategy for the development of an autologous cell therapy to treat localized muscle wasting.

# Capitalizing on Immune Signaling to Augment and Rejuvenate Muscle Regeneration

All forms of muscle injury, from exercise to severe trauma, generate an inflammatory response. We sought to capitalize on mechanisms associated with this natural wound healing mechanism. In particular, we wished to increase the regenerative function of the endogenous MuSCs resident in muscle tissues. We hypothesized that a transiently induced inflammatory mediator could regulate MuSC function and play a crucial role in regeneration. Mining the transcriptomic database from our lab and others for genes expressed by activated MuSCs, we found that the G-protein coupled receptor, EP4, a prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) receptor, was among the top hits.

Further research in my lab uncovered Prostaglandin E2 as an essential component of the immune response and repair process that is orchestrated by MuSCs after injury,[32] in accordance with findings by Pavlath showing that regeneration is impeded in mice in which the PGE2 synthetic enzyme, COX-2, is inhibited.[33] My lab found that genetic ablation of the PGE2



**Figure 5. SB rejuvenates function of Aged MuSC populations on soft hydrogels.** A. Aged MuSCs engraft less efficaciously than young. B. Screen identified p38MAPK inhibitor SB202 as a factor that improves aged MuSC proliferation. C. SB202, combined with culture on soft hydrogels renders engraftment of aged MuSCs on par with young. D. increase in engraftment leads to a rescue of function. Mice transplanted with SB202 treated MuSCs grown on hydrogel exhibit increased regenerative potential and restoration of strength on par with young. Figures adapted from Cosgrove et al., *Nature Med* 2014 and Blau et al., *Nature Med* 2015.

receptor EP4 on MuSCs leads to a loss of strength after muscle damage (Fig. 6). Similarly, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, commonly used to treat pain after exercise (a form of muscle injury), inhibit endogenous PGE2 synthesis and hinder regeneration leading to decreased strength. These loss of function experiments highlight the crucial role of PGE2 in muscle repair. PGE2 is essential to the proliferation and survival of MuSCs,



**Figure 6.** Loss of PGE2 signaling in MuSCs impairs regeneration and recovery of strength **post-injury.** Genetic ablation of the EP4 receptor blocks PGE2 signaling and impairs muscle regeneration. Consequently, EP4KO injured mice recover less well than controls. Their muscles have lower Twitch force (strength). (A). The use of NSAIDS, such as ibuprofen or Tylenol, inhibits PGE2 synthesis, part of the natural healing response, and show a similar loss of force (B). Figure adapted from Ho et al., *PNAS* 2017.

evident from single cell lineage tracking experiments by timelapse microscopy and from transcriptome analysis of PGE2 treated cells. Importantly, an acute treatment entailing co-injection of PGE2 together with FACS-purified MuSCs augments their engraftment and regeneration of damaged muscles. Moreover, injection of PGE2 alone into injured muscle suffices to induce endogenous stem cells resident in the tissue to increase in numbers and enhance muscle repair. These findings suggest PGE2 as a therapeutic to speed recovery from muscle damage due to trauma or disease.

# A Strategy for the Treatment of Sarcopenia, Age-associated Muscle Wasting

Sarcopenia, or the age-associated loss of muscle mass and function, has a profound effect on survival. Sarcopenia is associated with prolonged recovery from falls and surgical interventions, which in turn is associated with loss of independence, increase in hospitalization, and ~\$20 billion in annual healthcare expenditures in the United States alone. An estimated 5% of people aged >65 have sarcopenia, rising to ~30% by age 80. Owing to its multifactorial etiology, untangling the causal molecular pathways underlying sarcopenia has proven challenging and there are currently no treatments to counter it.



**Figure 7. 15-PGDH overexpression in young mice leads to muscle atrophy and loss of strength.** Young mice treated with SW, a small molecule that inhibits degradation of PGE2 by 15-PGDH, effectively boosting PGE2 levels (A). Compared to vehicle-treated controls, the muscles of young SW-treated mice are less strong (B, C) and are smaller (D), phenotypes typically seen in aged mice. Figure adapted from Palla et al., *Science* 2021.



**Figure 8. 15-PGDH pharmacological inhibition augments aged muscle mass, strength, and endurance.** Aged mice were treated with SW to boost PGE2 levels by inhibiting 15-PGDH. Compared to vehicle-treated controls, the muscles of aged SW-treated mice are larger (top) and stronger (bottom left). In addition, SW treated mice have improved endurance as demonstrated by time to exhaustion running on a treadmill (bottom right). Figure adapted from Palla et al., *Science* 2021.

We hypothesized that a systemic increase in PGE2 might have a widespread beneficial effect on muscles of aged individuals. This led us to the discovery that the enzyme which degrades PGE2, 15-Hydroxprostaglandin Dehydrogenase (15-PGDH), is a pivotal molecular determinant of aging,[34] which we term a "gerozyme". We found that dysregulation of PGE2 homeostasis is a major driver of skeletal muscle wasting in aging. Increasing 15-PGDH levels in young mice shrinks and weakens their muscles, mimicking the effect of years of aging in one month (Fig. 7). Conversely, reducing the activity of 15-PGDH by genetic knockdown or using a small molecule inhibitor in old mice increases PGE2 and leads to improvement in their overall health. After one month of treatment, old mice can run longer distances on a treadmill, their muscles are larger, and 10-15% stronger (Fig. 8).



**Figure 9. 15-PGDH inhibition impacts multiple pathways to improve aged muscle function.** A. Treatment of mouse muscle with SW downregulates the expression of ubiquitin-related genes and atrogenes to levels more typical to those seen in the muscles of young mice. B. We also observed rescue of the mitochondrial master regulator PGC1a to levels typical of young mice in old mice treated with SW. C, D. This led to a restoration of mitochondrial morphology to a youthful state. Adapted from Palla et al., *Science* 2021.

Sarcopenia is a multifactorial disease that results from a compendium of dysregulated signaling pathways that culminate in chronic inflammation, muscle denervation, and defective mitochondria. The pleiotropic beneficial effect that modulating 15-PGDH activity has on sarcopenic muscle suggests that PGE2 is upstream of the molecular changes characteristic of sarcopenic muscle. Restoration of PGE2 levels in aged mice to those found in young reverses the mitochondrial damage and loss of function in sarcopenic muscle, in accordance with other cAMP-inducing agents. PGE2 reduces deleterious TGF-beta signaling components, including myostatin expression, a common target of muscle anti-aging strategies (Fig. 9A). Expression of atrogenes, the ubiquitin ligases that lead to protein degradation, is diminished by PGE2 (Fig. 9A). Autophagy, which is increased when PGE2 is elevated, is likely responsible for the dramatic tissue remodeling seen after SW treatment of aged mice. Strikingly, myofibril alignment is markedly improved, and the distended vacuous mitochondria characteristic of aged muscles are replaced by organelles with the compact morphology and augmented metabolic function characteristic of young muscles (Fig. 9B-D). These synergistic interactions induced by PGE2 following 15-PGDH inhibition drive the dramatic remodeling and rejuvenation of aged muscle tissue structure, mass and strength.[34]

#### PGE2 signaling is critical for muscle maintenance, regeneration, & rejuvenation

#### PGE2 rejuvenates aged MuSC function in regeneration:

- PGE2 is an essential inflammatory metabolite for muscle regeneration body's natural healing mechanism
- · PGE2 is required and sufficient for muscle stem cell (MuSC) proliferation, survival, expansion and engraftment
- PGE2 heritably alters MuSC function epigenetic modifications
- PGE2 rejuvenates aged muscle fiber function:
- 15-PGDH degrades PGE2 and is a novel hallmark of aged muscles and other aged tissues
- · Benefit derives from physiologic modulation of "pro-inflammatory" metabolite to youthful level
- Mouse muscle strength is increased 15% in one month humans >50 yr lose 10% muscle mass/decade
- · Targeting pivotal regulator of muscle aging, 15-PGDH, may be a therapeutic strategy to counter sarcopenia

#### Conclusion

The potency of PGE2 arises from its dual targets: muscle stem cells and myofibers. Because the PGE2 degrading enzyme,15-PGDH, can be inhibited using a small molecule drug, there is potential to translate this discovery to the clinic for the treatment of sarcopenia or other muscle wasting disorders. Our finding that endurance, evident as time to exhaustion on a treadmill is increased, suggests that in addition to muscle, the function of other tissues may be augmented. Indeed, our findings likely have relevance of broad scope, as elevated 15-PGDH expression is detected in numerous aged tissues. We suggest that the 15-PGDH "gerozvme" is a master regulator of muscle aging.

#### References

- 1. Bellantuono, I. Find drugs that delay many diseases of old age. Nature 554, 293-295 (2018).
- 2. Blau, H.M. Sir John Gurdon: father of nuclear reprogramming. Differ. Res. Biol. Divers. 88, 10-12 (2014).
- gene activity. Endeavour 25, 95-99 (1966).
- 4. Blau, H.M. et al. Plasticity of the differentiated state. Science 230, 758-766 (1985).
- 5. Blau, H.M., Chiu, C.P. & Webster, C. ar genes in stable heterocaryons. Cell 32, 1171-1180 (1983).
- 6. Ephrussi, B. & Weiss, M.C. Hybrid somatic cells. Sci. Am. 220, 26-35 (1969).
- 7. Harris, H., Miller, O.J., Klein, G., Worst, P. & Tachibana, T. Suppression of malignancy by cell fusion. Nature 223, 363-368 (1969).
- 8. Ringertz, N.R. & Savage, R.E. Cell Hybrids (Academic Press, 2014).
- 9. Blau, H.M. & Baltimore, D. Differentiation requires continuous regulation. I. Cell Biol. 112, 781-783 (1991).
- 10. Chiu, C.P. & Blau, H.M. Reprogramming cell differentiation in the absence of DNA synthesis. Cell 37, 879-887 (1984).
- 11. Chiu, C.P. & Blau, H.M. 5-Azacytidine permits gene activation in a previously noninducible cell type. Cell 40, 417-424 (1985).
- 12. Takahashi, K. & Yamanaka, S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by
- 13. Brockes, J.P. & Kumar, A. Comparative

aspects of animal regeneration. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 24, 525-549 (2008).

- 14. Poss, K.D. Advances in understanding tissue regenerative capacity and mechanisms in animals. Nat. Rev. Genet. 11, 710-722 (2010).
- 3. Gurdon, J.B. The cytoplasmic control of 15. Pajcini, K.V., Corbel, S.Y., Sage, J., Pomerantz, J.H. & Blau, H.M. Transient inactivation of Rb and ARF yields regenerative cells from postmitotic mammalian muscle. Cell Stem Cell 7, 198-213 (2010).
  - Cytoplasmic activation of human nucle- 16. Blau, H.M. & Pomerantz, J.H. Re"evolutionary" regenerative medicine. JAMA 305, 87-88 (2011).
    - 17. Pomerantz, J.H. & Blau, H.M. Tumor suppressors: enhancers or suppressors of regeneration? Dev. Camb. Engl. 140, 2502-2512 (2013).
    - 18. Mauro, A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J. Biophys. Biochem. Cytol. 9, 493-495 (1961).
    - 19. Rudnicki, M.A. et al. MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell 75, 1351-1359 (1993).
    - 20. Montarras, D. et al. Direct isolation of satellite cells for skeletal muscle regeneration. Science 309, 2064-2067 (2005).
    - 21. Sacco, A., Doyonnas, R., Kraft, P., Vitorovic, S. & Blau, H.M. Self-renewal and expansion of single transplanted muscle stem cells. Nature 456, 502-506 (2008).
    - 22. Gilbert, P.M. et al. Substrate elasticity regulates skeletal muscle stem cell self-renewal in culture. Science 329, 1078-1081 (2010).
  - defined factors. Cell 126, 663-676 (2006). 23. Cosgrove, B.D. et al. Rejuvenation of the muscle stem cell population restores

strength to injured aged muscles. Nat. Med. 20, 255-264 (2014).

- 24. Blau, H.M., Cosgrove, B.D. & Ho, 30. Bernet, J.D. et al. p38 MAPK signal-A.T.V. The central role of muscle stem cells in regenerative failure with aging. Nat. Med. 21, 854-862 (2015).
- 25. Conboy, I.M., Conboy, M.J., Smythe, G.M. & Rando, T.A. Notch-mediat- 31. Bouché, M., Muñoz-Cánoves, P., Rossi, ed restoration of regenerative potential to aged muscle. Science 302, 1575-1577 (2003).
- 26. Price, FD. et al. Inhibition of JAK- 32. Ho, A.T.V. et al. Prostaglandin E2 is es-STAT signaling stimulates adult satellite cell function. Nat. Med. 20, 1174-1181 (2014).
- 27. Chakkalakal, J.V., Jones, K.M., Basson, rupts muscle stem cell quiescence. Nature 490, 355-360 (2012).
- 28. Keefe, A.C. et al. Muscle stem cells contribute to myofibres in sedentary adult mice. Nat. Commun. 6, 7087 (2015).
- 29. Sousa-Victor, P., Muñoz-Cánoves, P. & Perdiguero, E. Regulation of skeletal muscle stem cells through epigenetic

mechanisms. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 21, 334-342 (2011).

- ing underlies a cell-autonomous loss of stem cell self-renewal in skeletal muscle of aged mice. Nat. Med. 20, 265-271 (2014).
- F. & Coletti, D. Inflammation in muscle repair, aging, and myopathies. BioMed Res. Int. 2014, 821950 (2014).
- sential for efficacious skeletal muscle stem-cell function, augmenting regeneration and strength. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 114, 6675-6684 (2017).
- M.A. & Brack, A.S. The aged niche dis- 33. Bondesen, B.A., Mills, S.T., Kegley, K.M. & Pavlath, G.K. The COX-2 pathway is essential during early stages of skeletal muscle regeneration. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 287, C475-483 (2004).
  - 34. Palla, A.R. et al. Inhibition of prostaglandin-degrading enzyme 15-PGDH rejuvenates aged muscle mass and strength. Science 371, eabc8059 (2021).

## CELLULAR REPROGRAMMING APPROACHES TO CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

#### DEEPAK SRIVASTAVA, M.D.

Gladstone Institutes and University of California San Francisco Email: Deepak.Srivastava@gladstone.ucsf.edu

#### Introduction

Heart disease remains the number one non-infectious cause of death worldwide in adults and newborns. Survivors with heart disease are often left with damaged hearts due to the inability of the mammalian heart to regenerate itself. As a result, globally over 25 million people suffer from heart failure where the cardiovascular system is unable to support the body's normal activities. Genetic causes of valve disease and congenital malformations, present in one percent of all live births, have been discovered, but the cause for a majority is still unknown and no disease-modifying therapies are available clinically.

A deep understanding of gene networks involved in cardiac cell fate and morphogenesis during development has enabled relatively precise control of cell fate decisions in vitro. The ability to control programming and reprogramming of human cells is now possible and is used to not only generate human induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, but also to differentiate pluripotent cells into desired cell types for transplantation, to understand disease mechanisms, and to discover new therapeutics. Here we will provide some examples of how control of fate decisions involving cellular reprogramming is providing hope for cardiac regeneration and new therapeutic development.

#### **Cellular Reprogramming for Regenerative Medicine**

In recent years, redeployment of key networks by discrete combinations of transcription factors (TFs) and translational regulators has enabled reprogramming of somatic cells to induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, demonstrating the power of a limited number of factors to dictate cell-fate decisions [1,2]. More recently, somatic cells have been reprogrammed directly toward multiple cell types *in vitro* using combinations of transcription factors and/or microRNAs with varying degrees of efficiency, including the cardiomyocyte, neuronal, and hepatocyte fates, among other cell types [3]. Because the heart has limited regenerative potential and has a vast pool of fibroblasts, the ability to reprogram endogenous cardiac fibroblasts into cardiomyocyte-like cells has emerged as a promising approach to restore function to damaged hearts.

Our lab initially pioneered the conversion of cardiac fibroblasts toward a cardiomyocyte-like cell with a combination of Gata4, Mef2c and Tbx5 (GMT) [4,5]. Many groups have reproduced and advanced the technology with various combinations of genes and microRNAs and chemicals [6]. We termed these cells "induced cardiomyocytes" (iCMs), as they developed sarcomeric structures and calcium transients typical of cardiomyocytes. Although there was significant heterogeneity to the iCMs, the more fully reprogrammed iCMs had action potentials that were most similar to adult ventricular myocytes, consistent with lineage tracing evidence that reprogrammed cells did not go through a cardiac progenitor stage during their transition [4]. However, most of the cells transdifferentiated in vitro were only partially reprogrammed.

Because the objective with this strategy was to harness the endogenous cardiac fibroblasts for regeneration without needing to use cell-based therapy, we delivered GMT in vivo retrovirally after ischemic injury in mice and successfully converted resident non-myocytes to cardiomyocyte-like cells. Genetic lineage-tracing studies in mice were performed to demonstrate that dividing non-myocytes infected by retroviruses could be converted into iCMs [5] progressively over a period of 4 weeks. iCMs in this setting developed sarcomeres, with ~50% of reprogrammed cells develop-



Figure 1. Direct conversion of fibroblasts to induced cardiomyocyte-like cells (iCMs).

ing contractile activity when isolated in single-cell suspension, compared to less than 0.1% when reprogrammed *in vitro*. Importantly, we found evidence for electrical coupling of the *in vivo* reprogrammed iCMs with endogenous cardiomyocytes and other iCMs, and reprogrammed cells were most similar to ventricular cardiomyocytes electrically and transcriptomically. *In vivo* delivery of GMT intramyocardially decreased scar size and attenuated cardiac dysfunction after coronary ligation, as assessed by MRI and echocardiography. As expected, cardiomyocytes within the scar area of GMT-treated mice represented newly born iCMs as determined by lineage tracing experiments (Fig. 1).

To advance cardiac reprogramming technology, we and others described overlapping but distinct combinations of factors that could reprogram human fibroblasts into a more cardiomyocyte-like state. This included a combination of MEF2C, its co-activator, MYOCARDIN, and TBX5 [7,8]. This technology is now being developed toward a clinical trial by Tenaya Therapeutics, where reprogramming factors have been packaged into a single AAV vector with initial efficacy observed in the pig model. Future clinical trials in patients with heart failure will determine if this regenerative approach can result in improved cardiac function and avoidance of heart transplant or death.

#### Cellular Reprogramming for Disease Modeling and Drug Discovery

Human mutations with large effect size, as observed for monogenic diseases, hold the greatest promise for successful disease modeling using human iPS-derived cells, with the hope that underlying mechanisms will be relevant to more common forms of disease. However, use of iPS-derived models for understanding more complex disease will also be important, albeit more challenging. Here, we will consider examples of both cases as they relate to heart disease.

#### iPS-Derived Therapeutic Development for Calcific Aortic Valve Disease

Calcific aortic valve disease (CAVD) is the third leading cause of adult heart disease and is responsible for over 100,000 valve replacements annually in the United States alone. The disease progresses in an age-dependent fashion. Bicuspid aortic valve (BAV), a congenital malformation which occurs in 1-2% of the population and involves the formation of two rather than the normal three valve leaflets, is a major risk factor for early valve calcification, although the mechanism for the calcification had been unknown. Our group previously reported two families with heterozygous nonsense mutations in the membrane-bound transcription factor, NOTCH1 (N1), which led to BAV and severe aortic valve calcification in adults [9]. Valve thickening also occurred, and pathology ranged from neonatal to adult onset. Further studies have identified *N1* mutations in additional familial cases of BAV and CAVD, as well as in approximately 4% of sporadic CAVD cases, underscoring the importance of *N1* in this disease [10,11]. In mice, endothelial cell (EC)-specific deletion of the N1 ligand JAGGED1 results in aortic valve calcification and malformed valves [12], consistent with a critical role for the ECs lining the valve in the malformation. Despite the recognition of *N1* mutations as a cause of CAVD, as well as SMAD6 [13], there are currently no medical treatments available for CAVD patients.

Recent studies from our group suggest the pathology involves reprogramming of valve endothelial cells into osteoblast-like cells with activation of gene networks that promote calcification. Using human iPSC-derived ECs, we showed that heterozygous nonsense mutations in N1 disrupt the epigenetic architecture, resulting in de-repression of latent pro-osteogenic and -inflammatory gene networks (Fig. 2) [14]. Hemodynamic shear stress activated anti-osteogenic and anti-inflammatory networks in  $N1^{+/+}$ , but not N1<sup>+/-</sup> iPSC-derived ECs [14]. N1 haploinsufficiency altered H3K27ac at N1-bound enhancers determined by chromatin immunoprecipitation followed by sequencing (ChIP-seq), dysregulating downstream transcription of over 1000 genes. The gene pathways that were perturbed were implicated in osteogenesis and inflammation. Computational analyses of the disrupted N1-dependent gene network by integrating datasets revealed regulatory nodes, particularly the transcription factors, SOX7, TCF4 (mediating Wnt signaling) and SMAD1 (mediating Bmp signaling), that were upregulated in the mutant setting (Fig. 2). Remarkably, knockdown of just SOX7 and TCF4 restored the gene network dysregulated by N1 haploinsufficiency toward the wild-type (WT) state (14). Importantly, primary ECs grown from explanted valves from patients with CAVD show a similar dysregulation in gene expression [15], supporting the clinical relevance of these findings.

We introduced the mouse  $N1^-$  allele into mice lacking the telomerase RNA component (TERC), resulting in shortened telomeres over successive generations of breeding. TERC<sup>-/-</sup> mice are relatively normal for up to 5 generations of breeding, each with progressively shorter telomeres. Although  $N1^{+/-}$  mice have normal echocardiographic findings at baseline, crossing this strain to mice lacking TERC over successive generations ( $mTR^{-/-}$ generation 1–3, referred to as  $mTR^{G1}$ - $mTR^{3}$ ) demonstrated that in

CELLULAR REPROGRAMMING APPROACHES TO CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE



**Figure 2.** Disruption of Notch 1 signaling derepresses osteogenic and inflammatory gene networks in endothelial cells, resulting in valve calcification. (Theodoris et al., *Cell*, 2015).

the setting of shortened telomeres,  $N1^{+/-}$  mice develop age-dependent AV thickening, calcification, and stenosis as well as pulmonary valve (PV) stenosis, mimicking the range of human disease caused by N1 haploinsufficiency [16]. 40-50% of  $N1^{+/-}$   $mTR^{G2}$  mice developed significant histologic evidence of aortic valve calcification within 2 months of age, and ~30% had severe enough aortic or pulmonary valve stenosis to detect echocar-diographically, represented by acceleration of blood flow across the valve. Most strikingly, immunohistochemistry of aortic valve sections revealed the presence of Runx2-positive cells in the valve. Runx2 is a "master transcriptional regulator" of the osteoblast fate, consistent with the conclusion from the human iPSC study that the underlying pathology in CAVD is a cellular reprogramming event of a valve cell into an osteoblast-like state. Thus, this mouse model both effectively recapitulated many aspects of the human disease state and supported conclusions of the human iPSC model. It also provided an in vivo model in which to test potential therapies.

Given the mechanistic insights we developed through our gene network analyses, we sought to identify small molecules that could correct the gene expression dysregulated by N1 haploinsufficiency. Small molecules are traditionally screened for their effects on one to several outputs at most, from which their predicted efficacy on the disease as a whole is extrapolated. However, determining the gene regulatory networks driving human disease allows the design of therapies targeting the underlying disease mechanism rather than primarily symptomatic management. In principle, mapping the architecture of the dysregulated network could enable screening for molecules that correct a gene network's core regulatory elements rather than peripheral downstream effectors that will likely have only limited influence on the disease process.

Accordingly, we designed a targeted RNA-seq strategy assaying expression of over 100 genes that were either predicted central regulatory nodes or peripheral genes positioned within varied regions of the N1-dependent network in human iPSC-derived ECs determined by whole transcriptome RNA-seq [14,15]. We evaluated these genes in isogenic wild-type (WT) or  $N1^{+/-}$  iPS-derived ECs exposed to either DMSO or each of 1595 small molecules. To screen small molecules for this effect, we used machine learning approaches to classify the network gene expression by targeted RNA-seq as WT or  $N1^{+/-}$  based on isogenic ECs of each genotype exposed to vehicle. This strategy resulted in a total of 7 hits that were ultimately validated. The molecule, XCT790, had the largest corrective impacts on the network.

We performed a pre-clinical trial with the drug candidates by treating 4-week-old  $N1^{+/-} mTR^{G2}$  mice with daily intraperitoneal injection



**Figure 3.** XCT790 inhibits valve stenosis in Notch1<sup>+/-</sup>Terc<sup>-/-</sup> mice. (A) Aortic valve (AV) or (B) Pulmonary valve (PV) peak velocity by echo-cardiography in N1<sup>+/-</sup>/mTRG2 mice treated with XCT790 or control solvent (AV \*P = 0.017). (Theodoris et al., *Science*, 2021).



Figure 4. XCT790 reverses gene dysregulation in primary aortic valve endothelial cells from explanted valves of CAVD patients. Expression of the key regulatory nodes SOX7, TCF4, and SMAD1 in normal tricuspid aortic valves (nTAV), calcified TAV (cTAV), or calcified bicuspid aortic valves (cBAV) ECs by RNA-seq (\*P < 0.05). nTAV, n = 5; cTAV, n = 9; cBAV, n = 12. (Theodoris et al., *Science*, 2021).

of each compound for 30 days. Consistent with the gene network shift in human iPSCs, XCT790 treatment was the most effective in vivo and was sufficient to prevent aortic valve stenosis in vivo by echocardiography and showed a trend of reducing pulmonary valve stenosis by echocardiography (Fig. 3). Compared to control solvent, XCT790 also significantly reduced the thickness of treated aortic and pulmonary valves, and calcification of aortic valves.

We tested whether the effect of XCT790 could generalize to primary AV ECs from multiple patients with sporadic CAVD. We performed RNAseq in primary human AV ECs cultured from explanted normal tricuspid AVs (nTAVs, n=5), calcified tricuspid AVs (cTAVs, n=9), and calcified bicuspid AVs (cBAVs, n=12) treated with XCT790 or DMSO. Overall, there was a significant overlap in genes dysregulated in N1-haploinsufficient ECs with those dysregulated in the same direction in cTAV ECs and cBAV ECs. XCT790 was effective in broadly correcting the dysregulated genes back to the normal state in both primary cTAV and cBAV ECs, including the key nodes regulators, SOX7, TCF4 and SMAD1 (15) (Fig. 4).

XCT790 is annotated to be a highly specific compound that targets the orphan nuclear receptor ERR $\alpha$  (estrogen-related receptor  $\alpha$ ), with little cross-reactivity with the estrogen receptor (ER). Thus, by inhibiting ERR $\alpha$ , XCT790 may function to block the aberrantly activated pro-osteogenic signaling in *N1*-haploinsufficient cells to prevent valve stenosis and calcification. Further development of XCT790 or a chemical derivative is underway for clinical advancement of this potential medical therapy which was based on human genetic studies, iPS-based interrogation of mechanism, gene network correcting drug discovery, and in vivo drug efficacy.

#### Discovery of novel gene candidates for congenital heart disease by intersecting iPSbased proteomics and genetics

While monogenic causes of heart disease have been informative, these are relatively rare. Genetic analyses of over 3,000 proband-parent trios in the Pediatric Cardiac Genomics Consortium (PCGC) revealed that *de novo* monogenic aberrations were found to collectively contribute to ~10% of congenital heart disease (CHD) cases, while rare inherited and copy number variants have been identified in ~1% and 25% of cases, respectively [17]. Additionally, polygenic and oligogenic inheritance models, where multiple genetic variants with epistatic relationships are implicated, have been proposed as mechanistic explanations for certain complex phenotypes. A recent study from our group highlighted the involvement of genetic modifiers in

human cardiac disease [18], but the net contribution of oligogenic inheritance remains to be determined. A barrier to a complete understanding of CHD's etiology is its immense genetic heterogeneity. Estimates based on *de novo* mutations alone indicate that more than 390 genes may contribute to CHD pathogenesis [19]. Despite the growing catalogue of human genome variants, the cause of over 50% of CHD cases remains unknown [17].

Cardiac malformations have been linked to variants in tissue-enriched cardiac transcription factors that are expressed more widely. Such transcription factors typically form complexes with other tissue-enriched and ubiquitous proteins to orchestrate specific developmental gene programs. Missense variants in transcription factors can disrupt specific interactions with other proteins, affecting their transcriptional cooperativity and causing disease [20]. In CHD specifically, an excess of protein-altering *de novo* variants from the Pediatric Cardiac Genomic Consortium's cohort were found in ubiquitously expressed chromatin regulators that partner with cardiac transcription factors to regulate the expression of key developmental genes [21]. This led us to hypothesize that protein-protein interactors of transcription factors associated with CHD may be enriched in disease-associated proteins, even if these proteins are not tissue-specific.

GATA4 and TBX5 are two essential transcription factors and among the first identified monogenic etiologies of familial CHD. Subsequent studies demonstrated that TBX5 and GATA4 cooperatively interact on DNA throughout the genome to regulate heart development [20,22]. Disruption of the physical interaction between these proteins or with other specific co-factors by missense variants can impair transcriptional cooperativity and lineage specification, and ultimately cause cardiac malformations [20,23]. Therefore, the unbiased identification of human GATA4 and TBX5 (GT) protein interactors during cardiogenesis could highlight disease mechanisms and aid in predicting the impact of protein-coding variants in CHD.

To identify the GATA4 and TBX5 protein interactome (GT-PPI) in the relevant human cardiac cells, we used human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac progenitors (CPs) and identified antibodies against each endogenous factor that were effective for affinity purification and mass spectrometry (AP-MS). Using CRISPR Cas9-gRNA ribonucleo-proteins, we generated clonal *TBX5* or *GATA4* homozygous knockout hiPSC lines as negative controls. This approach yielded 272 proteins in total, which comprised several of the previously reported GATA4 and TBX5 interactors as well as novel interactors (24). Mutations in several of these interactors have been previously associated with human or mouse cardiac malformations, highlighting the potential of this approach for disease-gene discovery. Use of human iPS-derived cardiac progenitors was essential for this approach, as the same type of AP-MS resulted in a set of interactors that were not enriched for variants in CHD probands.

To determine whether the GT-interactors identified in human CPs might help predict genetic risk factors for CHD, we assessed their intersection with *de novo* variants (DNVs) and very rare (minor allele frequency (MAF)  $<10^{-5}$ ) inherited loss-of-function variants found in over 3,000 CHD probands from the PCGC. We used a permutation-based statistical test to analyze the frequency of variants in GT-interacting proteins among the CHD probands compared to the control group. The analysis indicated that protein-altering DNVs were significantly more likely to be found within GT interactors in the CHD cohort relative to the control cohort by nearly 6-fold for GATA4 interactors, and 4-fold for TBX5 interacting proteins (Fig. 5). By contrast, very rare inherited loss-of-function variants occurred in GT-PPI proteins with the same frequency in control and CHD groups.

We developed a prioritization score for the DNVs that incorporated gene, residue and proband information that appeared to effectively rank the potential impact of each missense DNV. To experimentally test the importance of missense mutations predicted to play a role in CHD, we focused on a high-scoring GATA4-interacting protein, GLYR1, which is a chromatin reader involved in chromatin modification and regulation of gene expression through nucleosome demethylation [25]. The *GLYR1* 



**Figure 5. GATA4 and TBX5 interactome reveals enrichment in de novo variants associated with CHD.** Results of permutation-based test for genomic variation indicated from PCGC CHD and control cohorts within the GATA4 or TBX5 inter-actomes in cardiac progenitors.

missense CHD DNV we detected involved the substitution of a highly conserved proline with a leucine at amino acid (aa) 496. This amino acid change disrupted GLYR1 interaction with GATA4 [24].

Analyses of DNA occupancy in iPS-CPs found a statistically significant overlap between GLYR1 and GATA4-bound gene bodies, identifying a defined subset of GATA4 and GLYR1-bound genes, mostly upregulated in CPs vs hiPS cells and with greater enrichment in heart development GO terms compared to GLYR1-only and GATA4-only occupied gene bodies.

Evaluation of a human iPS cell line containing the GLYR1 proline to leucine (P496L) missense mutation found in the patient suggested that the P496L variant affects GLYR1 DNA occupancy and transcriptional regulation of a discrete set of target genes co-bound by GATA4, several of which have been involved in human cardiac malformations and cardiomyopathies. Overall, these data demonstrated a detrimental impact of the GLYR1 P496L variant in CM differentiation, associated with altered GLYR1 genomic occupancy and gene regulation at a discrete set of loci co-bound by GATA4.

In order to assess the biological importance of the GLYR1 P496L variant *in vivo*, we generated a mouse line harboring a P495L single nucleotide variant in *GLYR1* (*Glyr1*<sup>P495L/+</sup>), homologous to human P496L, using CRISPR-Cas mediated genome editing. Over half of the mutant mice died at birth, many with ventricular septal defects (VSDs). Thus, this model provided evidence for the biological importance of GLYR1 in cardiac development, and demonstrates a deleterious effect of the P495L variant *in vivo*.

To assess whether there was a GATA4-GLYR1 genetic interaction in mice, we crossed  $Glyr1^{P495L/+}$  mice to GATA4-mutant mice. Whole mount, histology and echocardiography analysis showed that compound  $Glyr1^{P495L/+}$ : Gata4<sup>+/-</sup> hearts had complete penetrance of cardiac septal defects, including about 80% represented by atrio-ventricular septal defects (AVSDs). These data provide *in vivo* evidence for the biological relevance of the GLYR1 P496L variant and its interaction with GATA4 in human disease. Furthermore, the results experimentally validate the approach of identifying the interactomes of disease-causing proteins and evaluating genetic variants in the interactors.

#### Conclusions

In summary, the use of cellular reprogramming technologies has facilitated novel methods of cardiac regeneration by directly reprogramming resident cardiac fibroblasts into new cardiomyocyte-like cells, led to the recognition of aberrant cellular reprogramming as the basis for aortic valve disease, and revealed novel genes contributing to CHD. Each of these findings establish the foundation for novel therapeutic approaches to human heart disease.

#### References

- 1. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663-76. PubMed PMID: 16904174.
- 2. Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J. Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V. Stewart 8. R, Slukvin, II, Thomson JA. Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science (New York, NY. 2007;318(5858):1917-20. PubMed PMID: 18029452.
- 3. Srivastava D, DeWitt N. In vivo cellular reprogramming: The next generation. Cell. 2016;166(6):1386-96. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2016.08.055. PubMed PMID: 27610565; PMCID: PMC6234007.
- 4. Ieda M, Fu J, Delgado-Olguin P, Vedantham V, Havashi Y, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D. Direct reprogramming of fibroblasts into functional cardiomyocytes by defined factors. Cell. 2010;142:375-86. PMC2919844.
- 5. Qian L, Huang Y, Spencer CI, Foley A, Vedantham V, Liu L, Conway SJ, Fu J, Srivastava D. In vivo reprogramming of murine cardiac fibroblasts into induced cardiomyocytes. Nature. 2012;485:593-8; PMCID: PMC3369107.
- gramming comes of age: Recent advance and remaining challenges. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2022;122:37-43. Epub 2021/07/ 27. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2021.07.010. PubMed PMID: 34304993: PMCID: PMC8782931.
- 7. Fu JD, Stone NR, Liu L, Spencer CI, Qian L, Hayashi Y, Delgado-Olguin

P, Ding S, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D. Direct reprogramming of human fibroblasts toward a cardiomyocyte-like state. Stem Cell Reports. 2013;1(3):235-47. Epub 2013/12/10. doi: 10.1016/j. stemcr.2013.07.005. PubMed PMID: 24319660; PMCID: PMC3849259.

- Mohamed TM, Stone NR, Berry EC, Radzinsky E, Huang Y, Pratt K, Ang YS, Yu P, Wang H, Tang S, Magnitsky S, Ding S, Ivey KN, Srivastava D. Chemical enhancement of in vitro and in vivo direct cardiac reprogramming. Circulation. 2017;135:978-95. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.116.024692. PubMed PMID: 27834668; PMCID: PMC5340593.
- 9. Garg V, Muth AN, Ransom JF, Schluterman MK, Barnes R, King IN, Grossfeld PD, Srivastava D. Mutations in NOTCH1 cause aortic valve disease. Nature. 2005;437(7056):270-4. PubMed PMID: 16025100.
- PubMed PMID: 20691899; PMCID: 10. Foffa I, Ait Ali L, Panesi P, Mariani M, Festa P, Botto N, Vecoli C, Andreassi MG. Sequencing of NOTCH1, GATA5, TG-FBR1 and TGFBR2 genes in familial cases of bicuspid aortic valve. BMC Med Genet. 2013;14:44. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-14-44. PubMed PMID: 23578328; PMCID: PMC3637327.
- 6. XieY, Liu J, Qian L. Direct cardiac repro- 11. Mohamed SA, Aherrahrou Z, Liptau H, Erasmi AW, Hagemann C, Wrobel S, Borzym K, Schunkert H, Sievers HH, Erdmann J. Novel missense mutations (p.T596M and p.P1797H) in NOTCH1 in patients with bicuspid aortic valve. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2006;345(4):1460-5. PubMed PMID: 16729972.

- 12. Hofmann II, Briot A, Enciso J, Zovein AC, Ren S, Zhang ZW, Radtke F, Sidothelial deletion of murine Jag1 leads to valve calcification and congenital heart defects associated with Alagille syndrome. Development. 2012;139(23):4449-60. doi: 10.1242/dev.084871. PubMed PMID: 23095891; PMCID: PMC3509736.
- 13. Gillis E, Kumar AA, Luyckx I, Preuss C, Cannaerts E, van de Beek G, Wieschendorf B, Alaerts M, Bolar N, Vandeweyer G, Meester J, Wunnemann F, Gould RA, Zhurayev R, Zerbino D, Mohamed SA, Mital S, Mertens L, Bjorck HM, Franco-Cereceda A, McCallion AS, Van Laer L, Verhagen IMA, van de Laar I, Wessels MW, Messas E, Goudot G, Nemcikova M, Krebsova A, Kempers M, Salemink S, Duijnhouwer T, Jeunemaitre X, Albuisson J, Eriksson P, Andelfinger G, Dietz HC, Verstraeten A, Loeys BL, Mibava Leducq C. Candidate gene resequencing in a large bicuspid aortic valve-associated thoracic aortic aneurysm cohort: SMAD6 as an important contributor. Front Physiol. 2017;8:400. Epub 2017/07/01. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00400. PubMed PMID: 28659821; PMCID: PMC5469151.
- 14. Theodoris CV, Li M, White MP, Liu L, He D, Pollard KS, Bruneau BG, Srivastava D. Human disease modeling reveals integrated transcriptional and epigenetic mechanisms of NOTCH1 haploinsufficiency. Cell. 2015;160:1072-86. PubMed PMID: 25768904; PMCID: PMC4359747.
- 15. Theodoris CV, Zhou P, Liu L, Zhang Y, Nishino T, Huang Y, Kostina A, Ranade SS, Gifford CA, Uspenskiy V, Malashicheva A, Ding S, Srivastava D. Network-based screen in iPSC-derived cells reveals therapeutic candidate for heart valve disease. Science (New York, NY. 2021;371(6530). Epub 2020/12/12. 10.1126/science.abd0724. doi: Pu-

bMed PMID: 33303684; PMCID: PMC7880903.

- mons M, Wang Y, Iruela-Arispe ML. En- 16. Theodoris CV, Mourkioti F, Huang Y, Ranade SS, Liu L, Blau HM, Srivastava D. Long telomeres protect against age-dependent cardiac disease caused by NOTCH1 haploinsufficiency. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(5):1683-8. doi: 10.1172/ JCI90338. PubMed PMID: 28346225; PMCID: PMC5409071.
  - 17. Zaidi S, Brueckner M. Genetics and genomics of congenital heart disease. Circ Res. 2017;120(6):923-40. Epub 2017/03/18. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRE-SAHA.116.309140. PubMed PMID: 28302740; PMCID: PMC5557504.
  - 18. Gifford CA, Ranade SS, Samarakoon R, Salunga HT, de Soysa TY, Huang Y, Zhou P, Elfenbein A, Wyman SK, Bui YK, Cordes Metzler KR, Ursell P, Ivey KN, Srivastava D. Oligogenic inheritance of a human heart disease involving a genetic modifier. Science (New York, NY. 2019;364(6443):865-70. Epub 2019/05/31. doi: 10.1126/science. aat5056. PubMed PMID: 31147515; PMCID: PMC6557373.
  - 19. Homsy J, Zaidi S, Shen Y, Ware JS, Samocha KE, Karczewski KJ, DePalma SR, McKean D, Wakimoto H, Gorham J, Jin SC, Deanfield J, Giardini A, Porter GA, Jr., Kim R, Bilguvar K, Lopez-Giraldez F, Tikhonova I, Mane S, Romano-Adesman A, Qi H, Vardarajan B, Ma L, Daly M, Roberts AE, Russell MW, Mital S, Newburger JW, Gaynor JW, Breitbart RE, Iossifov I, Ronemus M, Sanders SJ, Kaltman JR, Seidman JG, Brueckner M, Gelb BD, Goldmuntz E, Lifton RP, Seidman CE, Chung WK. De novo mutations in congenital heart disease with neurodevelopmental and other congenital anomalies. Science (New NY. 2015;350(6265):1262-6. York, Epub 2016/01/20. doi: 10.1126/science. aac9396. PubMed PMID: 26785492; PMCID: PMC4890146.

- 20. AngYS, Rivas RN, Ribeiro AJ, Srivas R, Rivera J, Stone NR, Pratt K, Mohamed TM, Fu JD, Spencer CI, Tippens ND, Li M, Narasimha A, Radzinsky E, Moon-Grady AJ, Yu H, Pruitt BL, Snyder MP, Srivastava D. Disease model of GATA4 mutation reveals transcription factor cooperativity in human cardiogenesis. Cell. 2016;167(7):1734-49. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2016.11.033. PubMed PMID: 27984724; PMCID: PMC5180611.
- 21. Zaidi S, Choi M, Wakimoto H, Ma L, Jiang J, Overton JD, Romano-Adesman KK, Carriero NJ, CheungYH, Deanfield J, DePalma S, Fakhro KA, Glessner J, Hakonarson H, Italia MJ, Kaltman JR, Kaski J, Kim R, Kline JK, Lee T, Leipzig J, Lopez A, Mane SM, Mitchell LE, Newburger JW, Parfenov M, Pe'er I, Porter G, Roberts AE, Sachidanandam R, Sanders SJ, Seiden HS, State MW, Subramanian S, Tikhonova IR, Wang W, Warburton D, White PS, Williams IA, Zhao H, Seidman JG, Brueckner M, Chung WK, Gelb BD, Goldmuntz E, Seidman CE, Lifton RP. De novo mutations in histone-modifying genes in congenital heart disease. Nature. 2013;498(7453):220-3. doi: 10.1038/na-PMCID: PMC3706629.
- 22. Luna-Zurita L, Stirnimann CU, Glatt S, Kaynak BL, Thomas S, Baudin F, Samee MA, He D, Small EM, Mileikovsky M, Nagy A, Holloway AK, Pollard KS, Muller CW, Bruneau BG. Complex Interdependence Regulates Heterotypic Transcription Factor Distribution

and Coordinates Cardiogenesis. Cell. 2016;164(5):999-1014. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2016.01.004. PubMed PMID: 26875865; PMCID: PMC4769693.

- 23. GargV, Kathiriya IS, Barnes R, Schluterman MK, King IN, Butler CA, Rothrock CR, Eapen RS, Hirayama-Yamada K, Joo K, Matsuoka R, Cohen JC, Srivastava D. GATA4 mutations cause human congenital heart defects and reveal an interaction with TBX5. Nature. 2003;424(6947):443-7. PubMed PMID: 12845333.
- A, Bjornson RD, Breitbart RE, Brown 24. Gonzalez-Teran B, Pittman M, Felix F, Thomas R, Richmond-Buccola D, Huttenhain R, Choudhary K, Moroni E, Costa MW, Huang Y, Padmanabhan A, Alexanian M, Lee CY, Maven BEJ, Samse-Knapp K, Morton SU, McGregor M, Gifford CA, Seidman JG, Seidman CE, Gelb BD, Colombo G, Conklin BR, Black BL, Bruneau BG, Krogan NJ, Pollard KS, Srivastava D. Transcription factor protein interactomes reveal genetic determinants in heart disease. Cell. 2022;185(5):794-814 e30. Epub 2022/02/20. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2022.01.021. PubMed PMID: 35182466.
- ture12141. PubMed PMID: 23665959; 25. Yu S, Li J, Ji G, Long Ng Z, Siew J, Ning Lo W, Ye Y, Yuan Chew Y, Chau Long Y, Zhang W, Guccione E, Han Loh Y, Jiang Z-H, Yang H, Wu Q. Npac is a co-factor of histone H3K36me3 and regulates transcriptional elongation in mouse embryonic stem cells. Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics. 2021. doi: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gpb.2020.08.004.

## TOWARDS COMBINED *EX VIVO* CELL AND GENE THERAPY FOR EPIDERMOLYSIS BULLOSA

#### **MICHELE DE LUCA**

Centre for Regenerative Medicine "Stefano Ferrari", University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Modena, Italy

Over three decades of research on both adult stem cells and somatic derivatives of pluripotent stem cells are culminating in remarkable clinical results. The combined disciplines of cell therapy, gene therapy and tissue engineering, broadly known as regenerative medicine, have the potential to revolutionize the treatment of previously incurable injuries and rare, orphan diseases.[1]

In 1975, the first human epidermal keratinocyte culture was established by Prof. Howard Green. Less than 10 years later, the lives of two children suffering from full-thickness burns on over 95% of their body surface were saved using autologous keratinocyte cultures.[2] Since then, such cultures have been used worldwide to treat thousands of patients with massive third-degree burns.[3]

This stunning achievement heralded the age of modern regenerative medicine and paved the way toward the development of ex vivo cell therapies of other epithelial injuries, as, for instance, severe ocular burns. [4] Corneal transparency is critical for visual acuity and relies on stromal avascularity, proper organization of collagen fibers and epithelial integrity. Repair and renewal of the corneal epithelium are sustained by stem cells located in the basal layer of the limbus, the narrow zone between the cornea and the bulbar conjunctiva.[5] Ocular burns affecting the central part of the cornea can be treated by a keratoplasty, but extensive chemical burns affecting also the limbus lead to limbal stem cell deficiency (LSCD), making keratoplasty ineffective.[5] LSCD is characterized by neovascularization, chronic inflammation, stromal scarring, and invasion of the cornea by bulbar conjunctival cells, with consequent corneal opacification and loss of vision. In unilateral LSCD, an option to prevent the conjunctival over-growth is to restore the limbus by grafting limbal fragments taken from the uninjured eye. The finding that limbal cultures include corneal stem cells fostered the therapeutic application of autologous limbal cultures, which led to regeneration of a fully functional corneal epithelium and restoration of visual acuity not only in unilateral LSCD but also in severe bilateral corneal damage.[4,5] Indeed, 1–2 mm2 of healthy limbus in one eye suffices to generate limbal cultures able to restore the corneal epithelium of both eyes[4,6] (Figure 1A).

The knowledge acquired during the implementation of such advanced therapies fostered the development of combined cell and gene therapy for genetic skin diseases, such as Epidermolysis Bullosa (EB).

#### **Epidermolysis Bullosa**

EB is a heterogeneous group of rare, dominantly or recessively inherited, genetic disorders characterized by recurrent blistering of the integument. Blisters arise, spontaneously or upon minimal mechanical stress or trauma, because of the extreme skin fragility caused by mutations in genes encoding various structural proteins of the epidermal-dermal junction.[7] Common features of many EB forms include damage of ocular surface, upper airways, oral mucosa, and gastrointestinal and renal systems, as well



**Figure 1.** Advance therapies for squamous epithelia. (A) A small (1-2 mm<sup>2</sup>) biopsy is taken from the limbus of the healthy eye of patients with unilateral chemical burn-dependent total limbal stem cell deficiency (LSCD), severe bilateral ocular burns or of unburned skin areas (4-10 cm<sup>2</sup>). Clonogenic keratinocytes including holoclones are cultivated and used to prepare autologous fibrin-cultured grafts. Grafts are then applied on the corneal surface of injured eyes after removal of the conjunctival or on the skin burn after wound bed preparation. Within one week after grafting, the surface is covered with a fully functional epithelium. (B) *Ex vivo* combined cell and gene therapy. Clonogenic keratinocytes are cultivated from a small skin biopsy (2-9 cm<sup>2</sup>), transduced with  $\gamma$ RVs vector carrying the appropriate transgene or genetically modified with gene editing strategies, and used to prepare transgenic epidermal grafts, which are transplanted on surgically prepared body sites. The presence of corrected long-lived epidermal stem cells in the graft ensures a permanent skin restoration.

as hair, nail and enamel defects. More than 1,000 mutations on at least 16 structural genes cause distinct clinical manifestations, ranging from mild to severe, with local or generalized involvement and significant morbidity and mortality. This variety depends on several molecular (targeted protein, type of mutation and degree of function loss, mode of inheritance and genetic background) and phenotypic (distribution and severity of the lesions, involvement of mucosae) factors. Severe EB forms can be early lethal and generalized EB frequently leads to aggressive squamous cell carcinoma (SCC).[7]

EB encompasses 4 major forms, primarily based on the level of skin cleavage, that is intraepidermal in EB simplex (EBS), within the lamina lucida in JEB, beneath the lamina densa in DEB and at multiple levels within and/or beneath the basement membrane in Kindler syndrome (KEB).[7]

EBS is the most common form of EB and can arise from mutations in 7 different genes. Over 75% of EBS is due to dominantly inherited genetic changes affecting *KRT5* and *KRT14*, the genes encoding keratin 5 (K5) and keratin 14 (K14), which form the intermediate filament network of basal keratinocytes. Mutations in highly conserved amino acids within the helix initiation or termination motifs lead to severe EBS, which is characterized by blisters, often leading to chronic erosions, covering the entire skin surface and affecting several mucous membranes. Aminoacidic substitutions in other K5/K14 regions lead to localized EBS, marked by milder clinical manifestations usually restricted to the extremities. Very rare, severe (in some cases lethal) forms of EBS are caused by recessively inherited nonsense or missense *KRT5* and *KRT14* pathogenic variants. EBS can also be caused by mutations in plectin (encoded by *PLEC*) and dystonin (encoded by *DST*), which are hemidesmosome proteins that anchor keratin filaments to the plasma membrane.[7]

JEB is one of the most devastating forms of EB. It is due to recessively inherited mutations in genes encoding the heterotrimeric protein laminin 332 (LAMA3, LAMB3, LAMC2), collagen XVII (COL17A1), integrins  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  (ITGA6, ITGB4) and integrin  $\alpha 3$  (ITGA3). The most severe forms of JEB are caused by mutations affecting laminin 332 and integrins  $\alpha 6\beta 4$ , whilst mutations in COL17A1 and ITGA3 usually have a milder phenotype. Patients carrying biallelic premature termination codons leading to absence of laminin 332 or  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  (severe JEB) usually die within 2 years after birth. Approximately 40% of patients with intermediate JEB die before adolescence, whilst adults have a high risk of developing SCC. Missense or splicing mutations that allow residual expression of the protein, even if truncated and only partially functional, can significantly reduce the severity of the phenotype, suggesting that low expression of one component can still sustain its interactions with the binding partners.[7]

Dystrophic EB (DEB) can be dominantly or recessively inherited and is due to over 200 mutations in *COL7A1*, the gene encoding collagenVII (C7), the main component of anchoring fibrils. Dominant DEB has a mild phenotype with blisters primarily involving the extremities. In contrast, Recessive DEB (RDEB) can be ravaging, being characterized by massive blistering and scarring, disabling joint contractures and pseudosyndactyly, all of which highly reduce the patients' quality of life. Severe RDEB usually results from biallelic *COL7A1* premature termination codons, but variants include nonsense or splice site mutations, deletions or insertions, 'silent' glycine substitutions or non-glycine missense mutations within triple helix or non-collagenous NC-2 domains. The nature and the positions of these mutations correlate with the severity of the phenotype. Patients with generalized RDEB almost invariably develop aggressive, highly metastatic SCC.[7]

KEB is caused by mutations in *FERMT1*, the gene encoding fermitin family homolog 1 (kindlin-1), an intracellular protein of focal adhesions. Blisters can occur within basal keratinocytes, along the lamina lucida and below the lamina densa of the basement membrane. Features include skin fragility and mild photosensitivity, poikiloderma, palmoplantar hyperkeratosis and high risk of developing SCC in adulthood. As with other EB forms, several mucous membranes can be involved.[7]

#### Combined Cell and Gene Therapy for Junctional Epidermolysis Bullosa

*LAMB3*-dependent generalized intermediate JEB was the first genetic skin disease successfully tackled by *ex vivo* combined cell and gene therapy.[8] Autologous epidermal cultures transduced with a gamma-retroviral vector ( $\gamma$ RV) carrying a *LAMB3* cDNA were grafted on patients' selected skin areas, upon surgical removal of blistering epidermis and proper preparation of the wound bed.

Transgenic grafts restored large non-healing epidermal lesions in two adult JEB patients[8,9] (Figure 1B). More recently, transgenic epidermal cultures proved to be life-saving, as they restored virtually the entire epidermis of a seven-year-old boy suffering from a devastating form of JEB with very poor prognosis.[10] Through the entire 6-year follow-up, his newly formed epidermis remained robust and resistant to mechanical stress, freed from blisters or erosions. It expressed normal levels of laminin-332, had normal thickness and continuity of the basement membrane and, notably, unveiled normal would healing upon injuries. The regenerated epidermis was entirely transgenic, as *LAMB3* mRNA and laminin 332 were both uniformly and seamlessly detected in all the analyzed skin sections. No immune response or inflammation were observed.[11]

In summary, all three patients presented a stable, fully functional, blister-free epidermis with normal expression of laminin 332 at the epidermal-dermal junction and a normal number of mature hemidesmosomes. [8-10] Despite the very high number (between 1x107 to 4x108) of transgenic clonogenic keratinocytes transplanted per patient, no adverse events have been observed (up to 16 years of follow-up).[12] In particular, neither cellular transformation nor aberrant clonal expansion have been so far detected in the regenerated transgenic skin.[11,13] An oncoming multicenter European Phase II/III clinical trial (referred to as Hologene 5) aims to confirm safety and efficacy of transgenic epidermal cultures on a larger number of *LAMB3*-JEB patients (NCT05111600).[14]

#### Combined Cell and Gene Therapy for Dystrophic Epidermolysis Bullosa

Autologous cultured keratinocytes transduced with a  $\gamma$ RV carrying a *COL7A1* cDNA (earlier referred to as LEAES and today as EB-101), have been used to restore the expression of C7 on 42 skin wounds on 7 RDEB patients (NCT01263379)[15] (Figure 1B). At 2-year follow-up, more than 70% of the treated wounds healed and expressed C7 assembled in functional anchoring fibrils on at least 50% of their surface, which significantly improved the clinical picture. No adverse events related to the use of  $\gamma$ RV-corrected cells were reported.[16] An ongoing Phase III clinical trial aims to confirm safety and efficacy on a larger number of RDEB patients (NCT04227106).

In collaboration with Johann Bauer and colleagues, we obtained similar results in a similar Phase I/II trial (NCT02984085), using autologous epidermal cultures transduced with the same type of yRV used for gene therapy of JEB. However, while the *LAMB3*-transgenic epidermis exhibits a fully functional, seamless basement membrane and a normal number of mature hemidesmosomes, *COL7A1*-transduced keratinocytes were able to partially restore the expression of C7, hence they regenerated a sort of 'mosaic' patterned epidermis (our unpublished data). This difference could be, at least in part, ascribed to a lower transduction efficiency of  $\gamma$ RV-*COL7A1*, as compared to  $\gamma$ RV-*LAMB3*, and to competition between untransduced and transgenic RDEB keratinocytes, which is unlikely to occur in the JEB scenario. In fact, signals emanating from the interaction of laminin 332 with integrins  $\alpha 6\beta 4$  induce nuclear localization YAP, a transcriptional co-activator sustaining human epidermal stem cells.[17] *LAMB3*-JEB triggers YAP inactivation and leads to epidermal stem cell depletion, supporting the notion that JEB is an adhesion and a stem cell disease. It follows that genetic correction of *LAMB3*-JEB rescues not only cell adhesion but also epidermal stemness, thus conferring to transgenic JEB keratinocytes a selective advantage over the untransduced counterpart, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.[17] Such a selective advantage does not hold true for RDEB clonogenic keratinocytes. This hurdle might be exceeded by a substantial improvement of the efficiency of RDEB keratinocyte transduction.

#### Tackling dominantly inherited EB

Gene addition strategies can successfully tackle a significant number of severe, recessively inherited genetic diseases, but are unsuitable to correct dominant mutations. The discovery of the CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing system now allows to precisely target genomic loci, hence discriminate wild-type and mutant alleles. The CRISPR/Cas9 technology is under investigation in keratinocytes, fibroblasts or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) for gene editing of many forms of EB.[18] Base editing is emerging as potentially suitable for correcting EB point mutations. The refinement of base editing in the form of 'prime editing' represents a further progress, potentially able to edit the vast majority of all pathogenic EB mutations. [19,20] However, gene editing approaches are largely at the preclinical stage. Once fully developed, they could also be applied to recessively inherited EB, provided that their efficiency in targeting epidermal stem cells (see below) would be comparable to that of gene addition strategies.

## Long-term epidermal regeneration relies on transgenic epidermal stem cells, detected as holoclone-forming keratinocytes

Squamous epithelia are constantly renewed. Being the first protective barrier against the external environment, these epithelia receive daily assaults, such as wounds, that need timely repair. Long-lived keratinocyte stem cells, residing both in the epidermal basal layer and in the bulge of the hair follicle, are responsible for such regeneration and repair processes. [21] They have the unique capacity to self-renew and to generate committed progenitors – often referred to as transient amplifying (TA) cells – that generate terminally differentiated keratinocytes after a limited number of

cell divisions.[10]

Even though they were not called stem cells at the time, keratinocytes cultured in 1975 in Green's laboratory matched the definition of stem cells as we know them today. In fact, human clonogenic keratinocytes are endowed with an impressive proliferative potential and consist of stem cells and TA progenitors. A crucial step towards their identification and isolation was taken in 1987, when Barrandon and Green succeeded in cultivating human keratinocytes at a clonal level, hence identified three types of clonogenic keratinocytes giving rise to clones referred to as holoclones, meroclones and paraclones.[22] They can be isolated both from a tissue biopsy and a keratinocyte primary culture.[12]

Initially described in the skin, they were found also in other stratified epithelia, such as cornea, urethra and oral mucosa.[23] All clonal types are endowed with proliferative capacity.[23] But while paraclones can undergo only few population doublings, holoclones and meroclones can produce dozens of cell doublings. The onset of replicative senescence is determined by clonal conversion, namely progressive decline in the proportion of holoclones and meroclones and progressive increase of paraclones, the latter generating only aborted colonies.

Cultured epithelial grafts contain all clonal types. Thorough analysis of data accumulated during over 30 years of clinical application of such cultures have provided compelling, yet indirect, evidence that holoclones and meroclones/paraclones are generated by stem cells and TA progenitors, respectively. For instance, permanent restoration of a transparent, renewing corneal epithelium, as well as a renewing epidermis, strictly requires a defined number of holoclone-forming cells in the culture.4 But formal evidence of holoclone-forming cells being authentic, long-lived, self-renewing stem cells was gained only through the in-depth analysis of the transgenic epidermis that restored the skin of JEB patients. Using proviruses as clonal genetic marks, clonal tracing of the newly formed transgenic epidermis has unambiguously shown that holoclone-forming cells are long-lived, self-renewing stem cells, necessary and sufficient to sustain the human epidermis. They continuously generate meroclones and paraclones that, as expected from TA progenitors, are short-lived and, although instrumental for proper tissue regeneration and wound healing, are progressively lost during epidermal renewal. In a nutshell, clonal tracing has shown that the main feature distinguishing the holoclone-forming cell from the other keratinocyte clonal types, is its self-renewal and long-term regenerative capacity.[10]

It follows that cultured epidermal grafts must contain an adequate number of holoclone-forming cells to permanently sustain the regenerated epidermis.[24] While paraclones could be identified based on their morphology (small irregular colonies containing large and flattened cells), holoclones and meroclones cannot be distinguished based on their growth rate and behavior and/or their shape and size. Thus, by no means a colony forming efficiency assay, which measures the number (and shape) of colonies, would suffice to establish the number of holoclone-forming cells harboring a cultured epidermal graft. Such number can be attained by a formal clonal analysis.[10]

Fundamental insights into stem cells of interfollicular epidermis and hair follicle have been gathered from murine studies, but not always murine findings apply to humans. For instance, the murine epidermis does not contain the same types of clonogenic keratinocytes found in the human skin. Nevertheless, an important step toward molecular definition of human holoclones came from the discovery of p63 as a key transcription factor sustaining murine squamous epithelia.[25,26] In fact, p63-null mice lack all stratified epithelia and have major defects in their limb and craniofacial development. [25,26] This phenotype could be explained by either inability of the p63-null ectoderm to develop into epithelial lineages and/ or lack of stem cell character necessary to sustain epithelial morphogenesis and renewal. Subsequently, it has been shown that  $\Delta Np63\alpha$ , a specific p63 isoform, underpins the proliferative, regenerative capacity of mammalian epithelial stem cells. [27] In humans,  $\Delta Np63\alpha$  is highly expressed by epidermal and limbal holoclones and it progressively declines during keratinocyte clonal conversion. [28] Quantification of  $\Delta Np63\alpha$  bright cells has been used as a pre-transplantation assay to evaluate the number of holoclones contained in a limbal/corneal culture.4

Strikingly, permanent restoration of a functional corneal epithelium in patients receiving limbal cultures for the treatment of severe chemical burns requires a defined number of  $\Delta Np63\alpha$  bright holoclone-forming cells in the culture.[4] This assay, however, has not yet been validated for epidermal cultures.

YAP is a transcriptional co-activator driving cell proliferation in many types of stem and progenitor cells and a key regulator of mechanotransduction. Unphosphorylated YAP translocates to the nucleus, where it induces target genes through interaction with TEAD transcription factors.

Phosphorylation of YAP in defined serine residues results in its sequestration, hence functional inactivation, into the cytoplasm by 14-3-3 proteins.[29] YAP interacts with  $\Delta$ Np63 $\alpha$  in sustaining self-renewal and proliferative/regenerative capacity of holoclone-forming cells.17 The transcriptomic profile of single human keratinocytes unveiled that FOXM1, a transcription factor member of the forkhead box family, acts downstream of YAP.30 Nuclear YAP and FOXM1 are highly expressed in epidermal holoclones but virtually undetectable in meroclones and paraclones. In contrast, phosphorylated YAP and 14-3-3 $\sigma$  are barely detectable in holoclones and progressively increase during clonal conversion. Accordingly, the ablation of either YAP or FOXM1 induces the selective disappearance of holoclones, whilst enforced YAP or FOXM1 (or ablation of 14-3-3 $\sigma$ ) halt clonal conversion and sustain holoclone-forming cells indefinitely.[30]

Both microarray and single cell RNA-seq data have also shown that holoclone-forming cells display other common stem cell features, such as genes regulating DNA repair, chromosome segregation, spindle organization and telomerase activity, and are enriched in genes regulating microtubules and actin polymerization.[30]

Although a human holoclone molecular signature is thus emerging, further development of single cell genetic and epigenetic analyses is required and should give more insights that could allow to prospectively distinguish epidermal holoclones from the other clonal types.

#### Conclusion

There is no cure for EB. Available therapies are palliative, only partially alleviating the devastating clinical manifestations, hence they are not sufficient to provide decisive relief from pain, symptoms and mental stress achieve satisfactory living standards for these patients. Long-lasting, curative therapies are urgently needed, and several attempts have been made in this respect. As of today, gene correction in combination with cell-based approaches focus on individually designed treatments, holding promises for more effective results. The increasing number of clinical trials assessing such innovative, advanced molecular therapies resurges new hopes to definitively tackle this devastating disease. But none of these advanced approaches have yet made it to a routine therapy. The genetic and phenotypic EB heterogeneity (and the ambitiousness of a regenerative medicine approach) would require the convergence of multiple expertise and disciplines, including stem cell biology, developmental and molecular biology, genetics, tissue engineering and, not to say, a deep knowledge of all the clinical and surgical features of the different forms of the disease. Hence, a multidisciplinary collaborative effort is critical.
#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the European Research Council (ERC) Advanced Grant HOLO-GT (No. 101019289) to MDL. We thank Michele Palamenghi for Figure 1.

#### References

- 1. De Luca, M. et al. Advances in stem cell Nat Cell Biol 21, 801-811, doi:10.1038/ s41556-019-0344-z (2019).
- 2. Gallico, G.G., 3rd, O'Connor, N.E., Compmanent coverage of large burn wounds with autologous cultured human epithelium. N Engl J Med 311, 448-451, doi:10.1056/NE-IM198408163110706 (1984).
- 3. De Luca, M., Pellegrini, G. & Green, H. 12. De Rosa, L. et al. Toward Combined Regeneration of squamous epithelia from stem cells of cultured grafts. Regen Med 1, 45-57, doi:10.2217/17460751.1.1.45 (2006).
- 4. Rama, P. et al. Limbal stem-cell therapy 13. De Rosa, L. et al. Long-term stability and and long-term corneal regeneration. N Engl J Med 363, 147-155, doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0905955 (2010).
- 5. Pellegrini, G., Rama, P., Mavilio, F. & De Luca, M. Epithelial stem cells in corneal regeneration and epidermal gene therapy. J Pathol 217, 217-228, doi:10.1002/ path.2441 (2009).
- 6. Pellegrini, G. et al. Long-term restoration of damaged corneal surfaces with autologous cultivated corneal epithelium. Lancet 349, 990-993, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(96)11188-0 (1997).
- 7. Bardhan, A. et al. Epidermolysis bullosa. Nat Rev Dis Primers 6, 78, doi:10.1038/ s41572-020-0210-0 (2020).
- 8. Mavilio, F. et al. Correction of junction- 16. Eichstadt, S. et al. Phase 1/2a clinical trial al epidermolysis bullosa by transplantation of genetically modified epidermal stem cells. Nat Med 12, 1397-1402, doi:10.1038/nm1504 (2006).
- 9. Bauer, J. W. et al. Closure of a Large 17. De Rosa, L. et al. Laminin 332-Depend-Chronic Wound through Transplantation of Gene-Corrected Epidermal Stem Cells. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 137, 778-

781, doi:10.1016/j.jid.2016.10.038 (2017).

- research and therapeutic development. 10. Hirsch, T. et al. Regeneration of the entire human epidermis using transgenic stem cells. Nature 551, 327-332, doi:10.1038/ nature24487 (2017).
- ton, C.C., Kehinde, O. & Green, H. Per- 11. Kueckelhaus, M. et al. Transgenic Epidermal Cultures for Junctional Epidermolysis Bullosa - 5-Year Outcomes. N Engl J Med 385, 2264-2270, doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa2108544 (2021).
  - Cell and Gene Therapy for Genodermatoses. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 12, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a035667 (2020).
  - safety of transgenic cultured epidermal stem cells in gene therapy of junctional epidermolysis bullosa. Stem Cell Reports 2, 1-8, doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.11.001 (2014).
  - 14. De Rosa, L. et al. Hologene 5: A Phase II/III Clinical Trial of Combined Cell and Gene Therapy of Junctional Epidermolysis Bullosa. Front Genet 12, 705019, doi:10.3389/fgene.2021.705019 (2021).
  - 15. Siprashvili, Z. et al. Safety and Wound Outcomes Following Genetically Corrected Autologous Epidermal Grafts in Patients With Recessive Dystrophic Epidermolysis Bullosa. JAMA 316, 1808-1817, doi:10.1001/jama.2016.15588 (2016).
    - of gene-corrected autologous cell therapy for recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. JCI Insight 4, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.130554 (2019).
    - ent YAP Dysregulation Depletes Epidermal Stem Cells in Junctional Epidermolysis Bullosa. Cell Rep 27, 2036-2049

e2036, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.04.055 (2019).

- 18. Kocher, T., Petkovic, I., Bischof, J. & Koller, U. Current developments in gene Opin Biol Ther, 1-14, doi:10.1080/14712 598.2022.2049229 (2022).
- 19. Kocher, T. & Koller, U. Advances in bullosa. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 182, 81-109, doi:10.1016/bs.pmbts.2020.12.007 (2021).
- 20. Anzalone, A.V., Koblan, L.W. & Liu, 27. Senoo, M., Pinto, F., Crum, C.P. & D.R. Genome editing with CRIS-PR-Cas nucleases, base editors, transposases and prime editors. Nat Biotechnol 38, 824-844, doi:10.1038/s41587-020-0561-9 (2020).
- 21. Blanpain, C. & Fuchs, E. Epidermal stem cells of the skin. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 22, 339-373, doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010305.104357 (2006).
- 22. Barrandon, Y. & Green, H. Three clonal types of keratinocyte with different capacities for multiplication. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84, 2302-2306 (1987).
- 23. Maurizi, E. et al. Regenerative Medicine 30. Enzo, E. et al. Single-keratinocyte tranof Epithelia: Lessons From the Past and Future Goals. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 9, 652214, doi:10.3389/fbioe.2021.652214 (2021).
- 24. Pellegrini, G. et al. The control of epidermal stem cells (holoclones) in the treatment of massive full-thickness burns

with autologous keratinocytes cultured on fibrin. Transplantation 68, 868-879, doi:10.1097/00007890-199909270-00021 (1999).

- therapy for epidermolysis bullosa. Expert 25. Mills, A.A. et al. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. Nature 398, 708-713, doi:10.1038/19531 (1999).
- gene editing strategies for epidermolysis 26. Yang, A. et al. p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. Nature 398, 714-718, doi:10.1038/19539 (1999).
  - McKeon, F. p63 Is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. Cell 129, 523-536, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.045 (2007).
  - 28. Pellegrini, G. et al. p63 identifies keratinocyte stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 3156-3161, doi:10.1073/pnas.061032098 (2001).
  - 29. Li, Y., Wang, J. & Zhong, W. Regulation and mechanism of YAP/TAZ in the mechanical microenvironment of stem cells (Review). Mol Med Rep 24, doi:10.3892/ mmr.2021.12145 (2021).
  - scriptomic analyses identify different clonal types and proliferative potential mediated by FOXM1 in human epidermal stem cells. Nat Commun 12, 2505, doi:10.1038/s41467-021-22779-9 (2021).

## TREATMENTS FOR LEUKEMIA THROUGH UNDERSTANDING HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS: EMERGENCE FROM THE CAVE

#### CATRIONA H.M. JAMIESON, MD PHD

Professor of Medicine; Director, Sanford Stem Cell Clinical Center Deputy Director Moores Cancer Center University of California, San Diego; cjamieson@health.ucsd.edu

#### Background

"Slowly, his eyes adjust to the light of the sun. First he can see only shadows. Gradually he can see the reflections of people and things in water and then later see the people and things themselves. Eventually, he is able to look at the stars and moon at night until finally he can look upon the sun itself" Allegory of the Cave, Republic, Plato (516a)

In the Allegory of the Cave, Plato describes how prisoners in a cave see only the shadows on the wall compared with the freed prisoner who in the light of day can see things themselves (Fig. 1).[1]

During a turbulent time in history when the threat of nuclear war was looming, Till and McCulloch discovered a functional rather than a phenotypic shadow of hematopoiesis. By performing quantitative transplantation assays in irradiated mice, they identified a bone marrow-resident dormant cell with multi-lineage differentiation, homing and self-renewal potential that could resist radiation exposure – the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC).[2,3]

Subsequently, Spangrude, Heimfeld and Weissman used fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis to prospectively purify and characterize the cell surface markers that defined mouse HSCs whereby 30 of the cells could rescue 50 percent of irradiated mice.[4] These studies were followed in close succession by the identification of human hematopoietic stem cell populations.[5] The ontogeny of both mouse and human HSCs was further defined by Mikkola and Orkin and refined by Coller, Frenette, Morrison, Suda and Trumpp who underscored the importance of quiescence for HSC maintenance in bone marrow niches.[6,7]

As a counterbalance to normal hematopoiesis, seminal research performed by Nowell, Hungerford, Rowley, Witte, Daley, Van Etten and BalTREATMENTS FOR LEUKEMIA THROUGH UNDERSTANDING HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELLS: EMERGENCE FROM THE CAVE



Figure 1. Depiction of Plato's Allegory of the Cave, Cornelis van Haarlem, 1604.

timore demonstrated that a single fusion gene, BCR-ABL, was necessary and sufficient to initiate chronic phase chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), thereby setting the stage for molecularly targeted therapeutic strategies that enabled operational cures albeit with a high risk of relapse following discontinuation of therapy.[3,8] This could be explained at least in part by the discovery by Holyoake and Eaves in mice and Jamieson and Weissman and colleagues in humans that the BCR-ABL gene occurred in a dormant HSC population but was not sufficient to drive blast crisis transformation. [3,8] Rather, malignant reprograming of granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMP) into leukemia stem cells (LSCs) by unregulated beta-catenin and CD47 upregulation fueled blast crisis transformation of CML.[9] Discovery of the leukemia stem cells (LSCs) in AML by Dick and colleagues demonstrated that there were clonal hierarchies that dictated therapeutic resistance as defining feature of human leukemias.[10] Moreover, the indelible yet seemingly capricious effects of environmental stress and aging on human benign, pre-malignant and malignant HSC biology continue to be an enigma.

Over the course of six decades, functional hematopoietic stem cell research has provided a strong rationale for identifying human-specific cell autonomous and non-cell autonomous drivers of accelerated aging, pre-malignant and malignant hematopoiesis and thereby enable the rapid development and implementation of interception strategies that are predicated on preventing pre-leukemia stem cell (pre-LSC) transformation into leukemia stem cells (LSCs).[2-39]

#### Inflammaging and Clonal Hematopoiesis of Indeterminate Potential

An increasingly thorough understanding of the molecular, phenotypic and functional underpinnings of normal HSC homeostasis has provided a framework for elucidating drivers of pre-malignant hematopoiesis in stressful microenvironments.[12,13]

As a result of momentous advances in stem cell whole genome and RNA sequencing, combined with single cell spatial genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics and perhaps more importantly transformative stem cell functional analyses that quantify tissue-specific stem cell responses to different environmental exposures, essential insights can be made into intrinsic and extrinsic drivers of HSC aging and pre-leukemic development.

While host innate and adaptive immune responses evolved to protect stem cells and other cells involved in tissue homeostasis from viral and bacterial pathogens, chronic immune activation is associated with systemic signaling driven by pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNFalpha), interferon (IFN alpha, beta, gamma) and interleukins (IL-1, IL-6), by activated T cells and tissue resident macrophages. Both mouse model studies and humanized model systems show that aging is associated with a decrease in neutrophil respiratory burst; a functional decline in macrophage production of Toll-like receptors as well as chemokine and cytokine production resulting in decreased T cell proliferative potential and reduced NK cell activity that leads to diminished immune surveillance against pre-leukemic cells. However, other aspects of immunity increase with aging as evidenced by increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from elderly compared with young individuals in response to mitogens in vitro (Fagiolo). Moreover, IL-6 levels have been shown to be higher in centenarians. Indeed, chronic inflammation has long been linked with accelerated tissue aging, particularly in the hematopoietic system, and is now termed, *inflammaging*. However, the role of stem cell inflammaging in HSC homeostasis and pre-leukemic development has not been clearly elucidated.[13]



### Life histories of myeloproliferative neoplasms inferred from phylogenies

Clonal fitness is determined by the type and temporal sequence of somatic mutation acquisition.



**Figure 2.** Molecular Determinants of Hematopoietic Stem Cell Identity and Clonal Hematopoiesis Under Conditions of Stress. Upper panel: In response to proteotoxic insults, the cell mounts adaptive responses to maintain protein quality control. These stress response pathways also regulate hematopoietic stem cells (reviewed in Chua, Van Der Werf, Jamieson, Signer. Cell Stem Cell 2020). Lower panel: whole genome sequencing reveals that clonal fitness is determined by the type and temporal sequence of mutation acquisition (Nangalia et al. *Nature* 2022).

Recently, both macroenvironmental and microenvironmental drivers of inflammaging in hematopoietic and other tissue-specific stem cells have come to the fore as major arbiters of pre-cancer stem cell generation and evolution to self-renewing cancer stem cells, which evade host innate and adaptive immune responses. Seminal mouse and zebrafish model studies have demonstrated that HSC aging is typified by myeloid lineage bias, reduced dormancy and diminished regenerative (self-renewal) potential. Subsequent studies confirmed that the same is the case for human HSCs and spawned the field of clonal hematopoiesis (CH). While clonal somatic DNA mutations in epigenetic modifier genes, including TET2 and DN-MT3A, in stem cell populations increase the risk of developing acute myeloid leukemia (AML) as well as cardiovascular death, there may be some protective effects with regard to Alzheimer's disease.[3] The complexity of clonal stem cell dominance has become apparent as a result of high resolution single cell sequencing that demonstrates that some mutations in splicing factor related genes emerge later in life and provide a greater clonal competitive advantage and potential for AML development than classic epigenetic modifier gene mutations.[15] However, the propensity to develop AML varies substantially between individuals, thereby suggesting that host environmental exposures and immune haplotypes may shape the trajectory of these stem cell clone wars.

#### Pre-Leukemic Evolution of Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Recent provocative data suggest that hematopoietic stem cell aging may be accelerated by acquisition of somatic DNA mutations early in life and that the usually indolent process of clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential (CHIP) may be superseded later in life by more rapidly dividing, splicing factor gene mutated clones that form the apex of an oligoclonal and ultimately malignant hierarchy.[14-20] While there is substantial variation in the occurrence and clonal trajectories of CHIP between monozygotic twins thereby underscoring the importance of environmental exposures and epigenetic factors in the evolution of CHIP, those with CHIP have shorter telomeres.[15]

In addition to radiation and toxic exposure-induced somatic DNA mutagenesis, pre-leukemia stem cells (pre-LSC) generation from hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells may be driven by activation of primate-specific cytidine-to-thymidine (C-to-T) DNA editing enzymes.[21] As human longevity is extended by advances in precision medicine; the global spread of viral and bacterial pathogens induces acute and chronic inflammatory responses; and immune dysfunction is elicited by advanced age and stem cell stress-inducing environments, including low earth orbit (LEO) as space exploration expands, extrinsic exposures will start to gain even greater relevance with regard to accelerated human aging and pre-leukemia stem cell



**Figure 3.** Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Pathways to Aging, Pre-Leukemia and Leukemia. During aging, normal HSCs acquire mutations that lead to lineage bias, apoptosis resistance, loss of tumor suppression, evasion of host immune responses that expand pre-leukemic progenitors that acquire deregulated self-renewal capacity (*Cell* 2008).

generation coupled with immune dysfunction.[22] These mutations result in cell differentiation (lineage) bias and evasion of apoptosis as well as evasion of host innate and adaptive immune responses (Fig. 3). Recent research performed by our group and others suggests that inflammatory cytokine-activated APOBEC3C induces C-to-T somatic DNA mutagenesis thereby fueling pre-leukemic stem cell generation in myeloproliferative neoplasms (Fig. 4).[21] This niche-dependent inflammatory cytokine milieu combined with evasion of host innate as well as adaptive immune responses enables pre-leukemic clonal escape and expansion.

#### Malignant Reprogramming of Progenitors into Leukemia Stem Cells

Cumulative data suggest that some clonal HSC mutations enhance sensitivity to inflammatory growth factor signaling, including JAK2 V617F, MPL and CALR. For the most part, these mutations lead to the generation



**Figure 4.** Inflammatory Cytokine Activated APOBEC<sub>3</sub>C Fuels Pre-leukemic hematopoiesis in HSCs. Whole genome sequencing of 38 myeloproliferative neoplasm CD<sub>3</sub>4+ stem and progenitor cells revealed APOBEC<sub>3</sub>-induced C-to-T DNA mutagenesis patterns (*Cell Reports* 2021).

of myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs), which are initiated by pre-leukemic stem cells with myeloid skewed differentiation potential, loss of dormancy and a propensity to migrate to extramedullary niches, including the spleen, thereby resulting in myeloproliferative neoplasm development (Fig. 3, 4). Comparative whole genome sequencing of purified hematopoietic stem cells and mature cells in saliva from the same individuals with myeloproliferative neoplasms suggest that germline mutations may predispose individuals to chronic inflammatory cytokine signaling that enhances inflammaging. CH and pre-leukemic stem cell generation.[21] Protracted activation of primate-specific anti-viral DNA editing enzymes, such as APOBEC3 cytidine deaminase enzymes, in response to chronic pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling can induce cytidine to thymidine (C-to-T) mutations thereby promoting clonal somatic mutagenesis in stem cell populations.[21] Moreover, APOBEC3C fueled expansion of the progenitor pool triggers ADAR1 activation resulting in increased RNA editing. including of STAT3, and evasion of tumor suppression. Overexpression of ADAR1 and missplicing of GSK3beta fuel activation of beta-catenin thereby resulting in malignant reprogramming of myeloid progenitors into self-renewing leukemia stem cells that drive blast crisis transformation in chronic myeloid leukemia and myeloproliferative neoplasms (Fig. 5).

#### **Reversal of Malignant Progenitor Reprogramming**

Increased expression of the inflammatory cytokine inducible splice isoform of ADAR1, ADAR1 p150 (ADAR-202) has been linked to progression and therapeutic resistance of 20 different malignancies. Moreover, RNA splicing deregulation also promotes leukemia stem cell in both



**Figure 5.** Malignant Progenitor Reprogramming Drives Blast Crisis Transformation of CML (*NEJM* 2004).



**Figure 6.** Two routes to ADAR1p150 inhibition. Upper panel: Rebecsinib prevents splicing mediated ADAR1 activation.29 Lower panel: Fedratinib prevents STAT3-mediated transcriptional activation and of ADAR1.[21]

adult and pediatric patients. While splicing modulators show some signs of clinical efficacy, including E7107 and H3B-8800, ocular toxicity or insufficient efficacy against LSC in AML, respectively, have limited their use. Recently, we completed CIRM and NCI-funded pre-IND studies with a selective splicing modulator, Rebecsinib (17S-FD0895), that prevents splicing-mediated activation of ADAR1 into pro-malignant isoform, p150 (Fig. 6).[29]

Other strategies for inhibiting LSC self-renewal are under development and include N6-methyl adenosine RNA targeted therapeutics, small molecule APOBEC3 inhibitors, anti-sense oligonucleotide (ASO) targeting of upstream ADAR1 activators and cytokine signaling disruption with Cirmtuzumab and other LSC-targeted monoclonal antibody therapies.<sup>34</sup> Deregulation of sonic hedgehog signaling has also proven to be an LSC Achilles heel with glasdegib targeted small molecule inhibition resulting in doubling of survival for elderly patients with AML.<sup>20,33</sup> Also, deregulated programmed cell removal remains a key arbiter of LSC escape from host innate immune responses. Targeted inhibitors of the "don't eat me signal", including CD47 and its ligand, SIRP alpha, are currently undergoing clinical development for LSC eradication in AML. Additional strategies to enhance innate and adaptive immune eradication of LSC include inhibition of immune editing that leads to HLA class 1 loss and induced pluripotent stem cell as well as lipid nanoparticle derived NK cell activation and macrophage repolarization strategies.

In summary, human hematopoietic stem cell informed therapeutic development aimed at inhibiting pre-LSC and LSC propagation may reduce rates of therapeutic resistance and ultimately allow patients to emerge from the cave of uncertainty and see the light of treatment free remission.

#### References

- 1. Allegory of the Cave, Republic, Plato (516a).
- 2. McCulloch EA, Till JE. Radiat Res. 6. Mikkola H, Orkin S. Development 2005; 1961;14:213-22.
- 3. Rossi DJ, Jamieson CH, Weissman IL. 7. Pinho S, Frenette PS. Nat Rev Molecular Stems cells and the pathways to aging and cancer. Cell. 2008 Feb 22;132(4):681-96. 8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.036.PMID: 18295583.
- 4. Spangrude GJ, Heimfeld S, Weissman IL. 9. Jamieson CH, Ailles LE, Dylla SJ, Mui-Science 1988; 241:58-62.
- 5. Baum CM, Weissman IL, Tsukamoto A, Buckle A-M, Peault B. Proc Natl Acad Sci

USA 1992; 89:2804-08.

- 133:3733-3744.
- Cell Biol 2019;20:303-320.
- Majeti R, Jamieson C, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Leeper NJ, Wernig G, Weissman IL. Annu Rev Med. 2022 Jan 27;73:307-320.
- jtjens M, Jones C, Zehnder JL, Gotlib J, Li K, Manz MG, Keating A, Sawyers CL, Weissman IL. N Engl J Med. 2004 Aug

12;351(7):657-67.

- Jaiswal S, Jamieson CH, Pang WW, Park CY, Chao MP, Majeti R, Traver D, van Rooijen N, Weissman IL. *Cell.* 2009;138(2):271-85.
- 11. Bonnet D, Dick JE. Nat Med. 1997;3:730-7.
- Jamieson CH, Gotlib J, Durocher JA, Chao MP, Mariappan MR, Lay M, Jones C, Zehnder JL, Lilleberg SL, Weissman IL. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006 Apr 18;103(16):6224–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601462103. PMID: 16603627.
- Chua BA, Van Der Werf I, Jamieson C, Signer RAJ. Cell Stem Cell. 2020 Feb 6;26(2):138-159. doi: 10.1016/j. stem.2020.01.005.PMID: 32032524.
- 14. Jaiswal S, Ebert BL. Science. 2019; 366(6465):eaan4673.
- Fabre MA, McKerrell T, Zwiebel M, Vijayabaska MS, Park N, Wells PM, Rad R, Deloukas P, Small K, Steves CJ, Vassiliou GS. *Blood*. 2020;135(4):269–273.
- Fagiolo U, Cossarizza A, Scala E, Fanales-Belasio E, Ortolani C, Cozzi E, Monti D, Franceschi C, Paganelli R. *Eur J Immunol.* 1993, 23: 2375–2378.
- 17. Ershler WB, Keller ET. Annu Rev Med. 2000, 51: 245-270.
- G de Benedictis, G Carrieri, O Varcasia, M Bonafe, C Franceschi. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2000 Jun;908:208–18.
- Abrahamsson AE, Geron I, Gotlib J, Dao KH, Barroga CF, Newton IG, Giles FJ, Durocher J, Creusot RS, Karimi M, Jones C, Zehnder JL, Keating A, Negrin RS, Weissman IL, Jamieson CH. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2009 Mar 10;106(10):3925-9.
- Zhao C, Chen A, Jamieson CH, Fereshteh M, Abrahamsson A, Blum J, Kwon HY, Kim J, Chute JP, Rizzieri D, Munchhof M, VanArsdale T, Beachy PA, Reya T. *Nature*. 2009;458(7239):776-9.
- 21. Jiang Q, Isquith J, Ladel L, Mark A, Holm F, Mason C, He Y, Mondala P, Oliver I, Pham J, Ma W, Reynoso E, Ali S, Morris IJ, Diep R, Nasamran C, Xu G,

Sasik R, Rosenthal SB, Birmingham A, Coso S, Pineda G, Crews L, Donohoe ME, Venter JC, Whisenant T, Mesa RA, Alexandrov LB, Fisch KM, Jamieson C. *Cell Rep.* 2021;34(4):108670.

- 22. Garrett-Bakelman FE, Darshi M, Green SJ, Gur RC, Lin L, Macias BR, McKenna MJ, Meydan C, Mishra T, Nasrini J, Piening BD, Rizzardi LF, Sharma K, Siamwala JH, Taylor L, Vitaterna MH, Afkarian M, Afshinnekoo E, Ahadi S, Ambati A, Arva M, Bezdan D, Callahan CM, Chen S, Choi AMK, Chlipala GE, Contrepois K, Covington M, Crucian BE, De Vivo I, Dinges DF, Ebert DJ, Feinberg JI, Gandara JA, George KA, Goutsias J, Grills GS, Hargens AR, Heer M, Hillary RP, Hoofnagle AN, Hook VYH, Jenkinson G, Jiang P, Keshavarzian A, Laurie SS, Lee-McMullen B, Lumpkins SB, MacKay M, Maienschein-Cline MG, Melnick AM, Moore TM, Nakahira K, Patel HH, Pietrzyk R, Rao V, Saito R, Salins DN, Schilling JM, Sears DD, Sheridan CK, Stenger MB, Tryggvadottir R, Urban AE, Vaisar T, Van Espen B, Zhang J, Ziegler MG, Zwart SR, Charles JB, Kundrot CE, Scott GBI, Bailey SM, Basner M, Feinberg AP, Lee SMC, Mason CE, Mignot E, Rana BK, Smith SM, Snyder MP, Turek FW. Science. 2019;364(6436):eaau8650. doi: 10.1126/science.aau8650.
- Jiang Q, Isquith J, Zipeto MA, Diep RH, Pham J, Delos Santos N, Reynoso E, Chau J, Leu H, Lazzari E, Melese E, Ma W, Fang R, Minden M, Morris S, Ren B, Pineda G, Holm F, Jamieson C. *Cancer Cell*. 2019;35(1):81-94.e7.
- 24. Lazzari E, Mondala PK, Santos ND, Miller AC, Pineda G, Jiang Q, Leu H, Ali SA, Ganesan AP, Wu CN, Costello C, Minden M, Chiaramonte R, Stewart AK, Crews LA, Jamieson CHM. *Nat Commun.* 2017;8(1):1922.
- 25. Jiang Q, Crews LA, Holm F, Jamieson CHM. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017;17(6):381-392.

- 26. Holm F, Hellqvist E, Mason CN, Ali SA, Delos-Santos N, Barrett CL, Chun HJ, Minden MD, Moore RA, Marra MA, Runza V, Frazer KA, Sadarangani A, Jamieson CH. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2015;112(50):15444-9.
- 27. Goff DJ, Court Recart A, Sadarangani A, Chun HJ, Barrett CL, Krajewska M, Leu H, Low-Marchelli J, Ma W, Shih AY, Wei J, Zhai D, Geron I, Pu M, Bao L, Chuang R, Balaian L, Gotlib J, Minden M, Martinelli G, Rusert J, Dao KH, Shazand K, Wentworth P, Smith KM, Jamieson CA, Morris SR, Messer K, Goldstein LS, Hudson TJ, Marra M, Frazer KA, Pellecchia M, Reed JC, Jamieson CH. Cell Stem Cell. 2013;12(3):316-28.
- 28. Jiang Q, Crews LA, Barrett CL, Chun HJ, Court AC, Isquith JM, Zipeto MA, Goff DJ, Minden M, Sadarangani A, Rusert JM, Dao KH, Morris SR, Goldstein LS, Marra MA, Frazer KA, Jamieson CH. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2013;110(3):1041-6.
- 29. Crews LA, Balaian L, Delos Santos NP, Leu HS, Court AC, Lazzari E, Sadarangani A, Zipeto MA, La Clair JJ, Villa R, Kulidjian A, Storb R, Morris SR, Ball ED, Burkart MD, Jamieson CHM. *Cell Stem Cell*. 2016;19(5):599-612.
- 30. Sadarangani A, Pineda G, Lennon KM, Chun HJ, Shih A, Schairer AE, Court AC, Goff DJ, Prashad SL, Geron I, Wall R, McPherson JD, Moore RA, Pu M, Bao L, Jackson-Fisher A, Munchhof M, VanArsdale T, Reya T, Morris SR, Minden MD, Messer K, Mikkola HK, Marra MA, Hudson TJ, Jamieson CH. J Transl Med. 2015;13:98.
- 31. Zipeto MA, Court AC, Sadarangani A, Delos Santos NP, Balaian L, Chun HJ, Pineda G, Morris SR, Mason CN, Geron I, Barrett C, Goff DJ, Wall R, Pellecchia M, Minden M, Frazer KA, Marra MA,

Crews LA, Jiang Q, Jamieson CHM. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;19(2):177-191.

- 32. Pineda G, Lennon KM, Delos Santos NP, Lambert-Fliszar F, Riso GL, Lazzari E, Marra MA, Morris S, Sakaue-Sawano A, Miyawaki A, Jamieson CH. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:23885.
- 33. Martinelli G, Oehler VG, Papayannidis C, Courtney R, Shaik MN, Zhang X, O'Connell A, McLachlan KR, Zheng X, Radich J, Baccarani M, Kantarjian HM, Levin WJ, Cortes JE, Jamieson C. Lancet Haematol. 2015;2(8):e339-46.
- 34. Choi MY, Widhopf GF 2nd, Ghia EM, Kidwell RL, Hasan MK, Yu J, Rassenti LZ, Chen L, Chen Y, Pittman E, Pu M, Messer K, Prussak CE, Castro JE, Jamieson C, Kipps TJ. Cell Stem Cell. 2018;22(6):951-959.e3.
- 35. Ladel L, Jamieson CHM. Blood. 2021;138(20):1910-1911.
- 36. Geron I, Savino AM, Fishman H, Tal N, Brown J, Turati VA, James C, Sarno J, Hameiri-Grossman M, Lee YN, Rein A, Maniriho H, Birger Y, Zemlyansky A, Muler I, Davis KL, Marcu-Malina V, Mattson N, Parnas O, Wagener R, Fischer U, Barata JT, Jamieson CHM, Müschen M, Chen CW, Borkhardt A, Kirsch IR, Nagler A, Enver T, Izraeli S. *Nat Commun.* 2022;13(1):659.
- 37. Geron I, Abrahamsson AE, Barroga CF, Kavalerchik E, Gotlib J, Hood JD, Durocher J, Mak CC, Noronha G, Soll RM, Tefferi A, Kaushansky K, Jamieson CH. *Cancer Cell.* 2008;13(4):321-30.
- Mondala PK, Vora AA, Zhou T, Lazzari E, Ladel L, Luo X, Kim Y, Costello C, MacLeod AR, Jamieson CHM, Crews LA. *Cell Stem Cell.* 2021;28(4):623-636.e9.
- Jamieson C, Martinelli G, Papayannidis C, Cortes JE. Blood Cancer Discov. 2020;1(2):134-145.

## **LOOKING TO THE FUTURE**

## INFORMATIONAL MOLECULES AND DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

#### **ROBERT LANGER**

Institute Professor, Department of Chemical Engineering, Massachusetts Instituteof Technology, Cambridge, MA

#### Abstract

Informational molecules regulate numerous processes in the body. However, most of these – if used therapeutically – are difficult to deliver safely and effectively to patients. Our work in this area started in 1974 with our studies on isolating the first angiogenesis inhibitors and has continued to this day and includes developing approaches to deliver substances that can regulate stem cell behavior. Applications range from cancer treatments, to Covid vaccines, to regenerative medicine, including possibly restoring hearing.

#### Introduction

I started my postdoctoral career working with the late Judah Folkman, attempting to isolate the first inhibitor of angiogenesis (new blood vessel growth). To do this, it was critical to develop a bioassay for angiogenesis inhibitors, nearly all of which were macromolecules. We conceived of using a rabbit cornea assay where we could directly visualize blood vessel growth (Langer *et al.*, 1976) through an ophthalmic microscope. However, that assay could take up to several months, so it was critical to develop a very small biocompatible controlled release system that would not cause inflammation in the cornea, and that could slowly and continuously release macromolecules (*e.g.*, peptides, proteins, and nucleic acids). When I started my investigations, it was widely believed that only low-molecular weight lipophilic compounds – but certainly not ionic molecules, peptides, proteins, or nucleic acids – could be controllably delivered from biocompatible materials (*e.g.*, polymers, lipids) (Langer, 2019).

# Developing a method to control the movement of macromolecules and ionic species from biocompatible materials

Nonetheless, it was crucial to create such systems if we were going to isolate angiogenesis inhibitors. Thus, I began studying this problem by examining different materials with a known safety record in humans (Langer et al., 1981) as well as different formulation approaches (Langer and Folkman, 1976; Langer, 2019).

After several hundred failures, I discovered an approach that enabled the continuous release of different molecules including nucleic acids and proteins for up to 100 days (Figure 1). This discovery was initially ridiculed by the scientific community. My first nine research grant applications were rejected. No chemical engineering department in the country would hire me as a faculty member. So I ended up joining the Nutrition and Food Science Department at MIT. But the year after I joined, the department head who had hired me left, so a number of members of the senior faculty told me I should leave, too. As my colleague, Michael Marletta recalled:

One evening, I went to a faculty dinner with Bob Langer and some senior MIT professors. A senior scientist sat quizzing us while smoking a cigar. When the older scientist heard Langer's concept for ... drug delivery, he blew a cloud of smoke in Langer's face and said, "You better start looking for another job...".

Although much later, the National Academy of Sciences would cite this work as being "responsible for much of today's drug delivery technology" and *Nature* would cite this work for the "founding the field of controlled release drug delivery" these repeated rejections at this early stage in my career were devastating to me (Langer, 2019).

I recall Dr. Folkman suggesting we file a patent. In the 1970s, Boston Children's Hospital, where I started this research, had not filed a patent





before. However, they agreed to let us file one. However, for five years in a row, the patent examiner rejected the patent application. Then the head of the Hospital's Technology Transfer Office told me the patent would never be allowed and that I should stop trying to convince the examiner, since explaining the science was not working. However, I don't like to give up. As discussed earlier, when we started our research, many people told us that delivery of macromolecules from small particles was impossible – that it could never work. I wondered if anyone had written that down. So, in 1982, I did a citation search of our 1976 *Nature* paper, and I found many papers citing us. One of them, written by five of the leading materials scientists in the world, described the drug delivery field as follows:

Generally, the agent to be released is a relatively small molecule with a molecular weight of no larger than a few hundred. One would not expect that macromolecules, e.g. proteins, could be released in by such a technique because of their extremely small permeation rates ... However, Folkman and Langer have reported some surprising results that clearly demonstrate the opposite (Stannett *et al.* 1979).

"Surprising" was a critical word for the patent examiner. When the examiner saw that, he said if I could get written affidavits from all five scientists that they really wrote that, he would allow the patent. So I wrote them and they were all nice enough to write back that they really wrote it, and so the examiner agreed to allow the patent (U.S. Patent 4391797). Over time, this discovery enabled the practical use of many peptides, charged low-molecular pharmaceuticals, proteins, and nucleic acids. Since such molecules have extremely short half-lives in the body (minutes in some cases), a controlled release system must often be used (Langer, 2019).

These controlled release systems enabled us to isolate the first substances that could inhibit the vascularization of tumors (Langer *et al.*, 1976). Using the rabbit cornea and the controlled release pellets as a bioassay for tumor-induced vascularization, we assessed the inhibitory effect of many partially purified macromolecule fractions. Pellets of drug delivery system and pieces of tumor (V2 carcinoma) were placed in the corneal pockets in over 1000 corneas (Figure 2a). Normally, the tumors grew as thin plaques, inducing vessels to sprout from the edge of the cornea 4-6 days after implantation. Vessel length and tumor diameter were measured every few days.

When drug delivery pellets were empty or if a macromolecule fraction was inactive (as was almost always the case), vessels appeared as a dense carpet sweeping over the pellets toward the tumor (Figure 2b). When vessels penetrated the tumor, it grew rapidly, into a large protruding mass occu-



Figure 2.

pying nearly the entire cornea. Very similar results were obtained when pellets containing substances without inhibitory activity were tested. By contrast, when an inhibitor was present, vessels were sparse, grew slowly, and failed to grow in a zone surrounding the drug delivery pellet (Figure 2c). By the 4th week, many vessels were regressing. It was remarkable to see that the blood vessels were stopped in their tracks or even regressing with my own eyes every day.

This study (Langer *et al.*, 1976) established that angiogenesis inhibitors did, in fact, exist. Over many decades, the above controlled release systems have proven fundamental to the isolation and study *in vivo* of nearly all angiogenesis stimulators and inhibitors, as well as numerous other informational molecules in developmental biology studies (Langer, 2019).

There are also many controlled release systems used by patients worldwide that continuously release peptides for up to six months from a single injection (*e.g.* Lupron Depot©, Zoladex©, and Decapeptyl©). Similar or related microspheres or nanospheres, or other systems containing bioactive molecules have led to treatments of schizophrenia (Risperdal Consta©), alcoholism, opioid addiction (Vivitrol©), arthritis (Zilretta©), controlling bleeding (Floseal©, Surgiflo©), pituitary dwarfism (Nutropin Depot©), Type 2 Diabetes (Bydureon©), all drug eluting stents, and many other diseases. Nucleic acids like RNA are also protected and delivered from small particles. Examples are OnPattro© and all Covid mRNA vaccines (*e.g.*, SpikeVax©). (Langer, 2019; Dong *et al*, 2021).

One additional area where drug delivery may be useful is in tissue engineering/regenerative medicine. Every year millions of patients suffer tissue loss or end-stage organ failure. For the most part, physicians treat organ or tissue loss by transplanting organs from one individual into another, performing surgical reconstruction, or using mechanical devices such as kidney dialyzers. Although these therapies have saved and improved countless



Figure 3.

lives, they are imperfect solutions. In the early 1980s, my colleague, Jay Vacanti, who was head of the liver transplantation program at Boston Children's Hospital asked me if we could create a new liver. Prior to this, several research groups had worked to try creating two-dimensional systems to form certain tissues. We started to use two-dimensional cell/material systems as well. However, after much work in trying to grow liver cells in two-dimensional structures (e.g., Discs, Petri dishes) to test our prototypes, we realized that we could not get enough cells per unit volume to create tissue with enough liver function. One day, Jay was in Cape Cod and saw some seaweed. So, he called me and said, "Bob, could you make a polymer system that was three-dimensional, like seaweed, and if so, could that solve the surface-to-volume problem?" So, we did (see Figure 3) and these eventually led to new ways to create cartilage, spinal cords, blood vessels, and many other tissues and organs. It also helped lead to organs and tissues on a chip, which may reduce drug testing in animals and people (Langer, R., 2019., Molecular Frontiers Journal).

#### **Regenerative Medicine, Hearing Loss, and Drug Delivery**

One area of regenerative medicine where we combined novel drug delivery systems with discoveries in stem cell biology involves hearing loss. An estimated 1.1. billion people are at risk of disabling hearing loss worldwide for which there is currently no pharmacologic treatment. Chronic sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL) accounts for roughly 90% of this sensory deficit and is likely caused by noise, chemical, viral, and aging insults with potentially debilitating effects. In people with SNHL, audibility (loudness of sound) and intelligibility (clarity of words) deteriorate due to the aforementioned auditory insults. Except for "retrocochlear" hearing loss, more than 80% of chronic SNHL is due at least in part to loss of cochlear hair cells. While many vertebrates such as birds and reptiles generate hair cells spontaneously to restore hearing after various insults, mammals do not. Mammalian progenitor cells that produce hair cells during embryonic development persist into adulthood but are quiescent. (McLean, W., 2021) It occurred to us that Lgr5+ stem cells exist in other parts of the body and are precursors to hair cells. Although Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells have been expanded in vitro as organoids, homogenous culture of these cells has not been possible thus far. Building on the work of Hans Clevers, who collaborated with us in our initial study (Yin et al. 2014), we discovered that two small molecules (CHIR99021 and valproic acid (VPA), synergistically maintain self-renewal of mouse Lgr5+ intestinal stem cells resulting in nearly homogenous cultures. We found that the colony forming efficiency of cells from these cultures is  $\sim 100$ -fold greater than that of cells cultured in the absence of CHIR99021 and valproic acid (CV), and multilineage differentiation ability is preserved. We used these homogenous cultures to identify conditions employing simultaneous modulation of Wnt and Notch signaling to direct lineage differentiation into mature enterocytes, globet cells, and Paneth cells. We then showed that the combination of CHIRS99021 and valproic acid (VPA) acts synergistically to activate proliferation of quiescent mammalian cochlear progenitor cells in vitro from mice, nonhuman primates, and humans (McLean et al., 2017). Additionally, a murine ex vivo study showed the application of CHIR99021+VPA (CV) following aminoglycoside ototoxicity induced supporting cells in the organ of Corti expressing the leucine-rich repeat-combining G-protein receptor 5 (Lgr5) to divide and regenerate hair cells (McLean, W. et al., 2017).

Working with Jeff Karp, Will McLean, Chris Loose, David Lucchino, and others, we thought that applying compounds that regenerated hair cells could provide a novel approach to improve auditory function in subjects with chronic SNHL. CV was formulated for human use by developing a novel drug delivery system. In particular, we used a thermoreversible poloxamer named Pluronics that can be injected intratympanically as a liquid which will then transition to a gel in the middle ear to allow the prolonged diffusion into the cochlea. The combination of the gel and CV is called FX-322. It is important to note that this is the reverse of what





normally occurs with gels (normally increases in temperature decreases gelation). We then conducted clinical cochlear pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) studies to examine FX-322 as a potential therapy for restoration of hearing in patients with SNHL. We first evaluated spatial and temporal drug distribution in guinea pig cochlea. Predicted concentrations were compared to those that showed activity in *ex vivo* mouse and human studies. Drug concentrations were measured for samples of middle ear contents and perilymph to calibrate the human PK model and validate measured and modeled values. A Phase 1b clinical trial was conducted to assess safety of intratympanically administered FX-322 in adult human subjects with chronic SNHL and to study its PD effect on hearing. (McLean *et al.*, 2021)

In humans, comparison of baseline and Day 90 pure tone thresholds showed no statistically significant differences between the groups at any frequency. However, Day 90 pure-tone assessment showed that 4/15 FX-322-treated patient ears had 10 cB improvement at the highest test frequency (9kHz), whereas no placebo-treated ears showed this level of improvement. Changes in individual word recognition (WR) performance were analyzed to determine if any clinically meaningful change had occurred based on parameters set forth by Thornton and Raffin's binomial distribution. Of the 23 participants, 10 displayed a deficit in WR performance  $(\leq 90\%)$  before treatment so could be assessed for hearing improvement without a "ceiling effect". Of these ten patients, six were treated with FX-322 and four with placebo. Four of the six FX-322-treated ears showed statistically significant and clinically meaningful improvements from baseline to 90 days in the prespecified WR test, exceeding expected results of test-retest variability for this measure. In contrast, no placebo-treated ears showed statistically significant changes. The four FX-322-treated ears that had clinically meaningful improvements has an absolute mean (SE) WR increase of 35.4 (5.5) percentage points. FX-322-treated subjects' speech recognition improved over the duration of the study while placebo-treated subjects did not. In WR assessment, FX-322-treated ears showed a statistical improvement in percentage change from baseline scores versus placebo on average across all time points (p=0.029). The effects were sustained throughout the study, with the following least-square mean difference (SE)=18.3% (11.0); Day 30=14.2% (11.4); Day 60=s2.1% (11.4); and Day 90=21.9% (11.0) (McLean, W.J. et al., 2021).

Speech recognition in a noisy background using WIN also improved over time for FX-322-treated patient ears but not placebo-treated patient ears. Performance was quantified as the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR: 0-24 dB) consistent with 50% correct WR, with lower SNR values indicating better speech perception in background noise. Analyses showed a significant improvement in average SNR from baseline to Day 90 in FX-322treated ears (-1.3 dB; P=0.012) but not placebo-treated patient ears (-0.21 dB, p=0.71) (McLean, W.J. et al., 2021).

Individual responses across intelligibility tests for four FX-322-treated patient ears showed clinically significant improvements. Absolute improvements in WR from baseline to Day 90 range from 18 to 42% in these four patients. Two of these four ears showed substantial and clinically meaningful improvements in WIN testing from baseline to Day 90, with SNR improvements that exceeded the 3.1 dB threshold representing the theoretical difference exceeding expected test-retest variabilities established by Wilson and McArdle. Subjects from both etiologies and dose volume cohorts responded to treatment (McLean, W.J. et al., 2021). A summary of clinical data is shown in Figure 5.

#### Conclusion

In summary, the totality of the above studies has led to the first delivery systems for administering macromolecules and has helped enable the discovery of new angiogenesis inhibitors, the development of Covid vaccines, and many other new therapies. These delivery systems and extensions thereof have also played a role in regenerative medicine and could possibly play a role in new approaches for treating hearing loss.

#### References

Langer, R. & Folkman, J. (1976). Poly- vascularization. Science, 193: 70-72 mers for the sustained release of proteins and other macromolecules. Nature, 263: 791-800. ment of molecules. Quarterly Reviews of Biophys-

Langer, R. (2019). Chemical and biological approaches to regenerative medicine and tissue engineering. Molecular Frontiers Journal, 3:2, 122-128. https://doi.org/10.1142/ S2529732519400091

Langer, R., Brem, H. and Tapper, D. (1981). Biocompatibility of polymeric deliv- engineering, Science, 260: 920-926. ery systems for macromolecules, J. Biomed. Mat. Res., 15: 267-277.

Klein, M. and Folkman, J. (1976). Isolation Lgr5-positive cells from mammalian cochlea of a cartilage factor that inhibits tumor neo- and high-purity generation of sensory hair

Langer, R. (2019). Controlling the moveics, 52, E5. doi:10.1017/S0033583519000040.

Dong, Y., Hou, X., Zaks, T., Langer, R. (2021). Lipid nanoparticles for mRNA delivery. Nature Reviews Materials, DOI: 10.1038/ s41578-021-00358-0

Langer, R. & Vacanti, J. (1993). Tissue

McLean, W.J., Yin, X., Lu, L., Lenz, D.R., McLean, D., Langer, R., Karp, J.M., Langer, R., Brem, H., Falterman, K., & Edge, A. (2017). Clonal expansion of doi.org/10.1016.

Langer, R. and Karp, J. (2014). Niche-inde- Lee, D.J., Langer, R., Karp, J.M., Loose, C., pendent high-purity culture of Lgr5+ in- LeBel, C. (2021). Improved speech intellitestinal stem cells and their progeny, Nature gibility in subjects with stable sensorineural Methods, 11: 106-112. NIHMSID: 548435. hearing loss following intratympanic dos-PMC3951815

J.T.J., Salt, A.N., Hartsock, J.J., Wilson, S., 10.1097/MAO.000000000003120. PMID: Lucchino, D.L., Lenarz, T., Warnecke, A., 33617194; PMCID: PMC8279894.

cells. Cell Reports, 18(8), 1917-1929. https:// Prenzler, N., Schmitt, H., King, S., Jackson, L.E., Rosenbloom, J., Atiee, G., Bear, M., Yin, X., Farin, H., van Es, J., Clevers, H., Runge, C.L., Gifford, R.H., Rauch, S.D., ing of FX-322 in a phase 1b study. Otology McLean, WJ., Hinton, A.S., Herby, & Neurotology, Aug 1;42(7):e849-e857. doi:

## FINAL STATEMENT OF THE WORKSHOP ON LOOKING TO THE FUTURE: STEM CELLS, ORGANOIDS AND REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

#### Abstract

Stem cell therapies, once a dream, are now becoming a reality. The term stem cells dates back to the late 1800s at which time it referred to the fertilized egg, a pluripotent cell able to give rise to all of the complex cell types that comprise our body. In the 1960s and 1970s, scientists discovered that there are cells within adult tissues of the body that harbor many of the same special properties as *embryonic stem cells*. However, these adult stem cells have more restricted potential – they are specialized to replenish, rejuvenate, and repair the tissues in which they reside. As discussed in this workshop, recent advances in the development of cell and molecular biology tools have enabled the isolation, characterization and unprecedented manipulation of stem cells, heralding an era of breakthrough biological research and a revolution in the therapeutic application of stem cells in the clinic, known as "regenerative medicine".

Stem cell biologists now classify stem cells into two major types that exist during the lifecycle of multicellular organisms: embryonic stem cells, resulting from the early divisions of the egg, characterized by their "pluripotency", i.e. the capacity, that they share with the egg cell itself, to produce all the cell types found in the adult organism, and the *tissue-specific stem cells* present in the tissues and organs of the adult. The latter play an important role in renewing the cells of the various organs during the entire life. They are particularly active in tissues and organs in which the lifespan of the differentiated cells is short, like blood, skin and the inner cell layer covering the intestinal cavity, as well as in the repair of skeletal muscle after exercise of injury. These adult stem cells are highly specialized and can only produce the tissue in which they reside. They are "unipotent" or "multipotent".

Significant advances have been made in isolating, culturing and reintroducing adult stem cells into tissues. In addition, there has been remarkable progress in developing approaches to stimulate these tissue-resident stem cells *in situ* in the tissue. In addition, new stem cell technologies entail enlisting immune cells as anticancer agents. Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) can now be generated from skin or blood of mice or humans by overexpressing four key transcription factors. Scientists have learned to grow these iPSC in a dish and convert them into mini-versions of mouse and human organs. This so-called "organoid technology" opens new avenues for the study of development, physiology and disease and for personalized medicine. In the future, this technology coupled with advances in bioengineering, may yield cultured mini-organs that can replace organ transplants from donors which would constitute a breakthrough for regenerative medicine.

In this two day symposium, an international group of stem cell biologists, immunologists and engineers discussed advances in basic and clinical stem cell research that could lead to tractable solutions for patients with degenerative diseases, including Parkinson's disease, age-related macular degeneration, leukemia and other therapeutically recalcitrant malignancies, bone marrow failure syndromes, age-related muscle atrophy, epidermolysis bullosa, inherited valvular heart disease, and SARS-CoV-2.

The proceedings of this workshop will be dedicated to Professor Nicole Le Douarin without whose inspiration and dedication this meeting would not have occurred. Organized by PAS Academicians: Nicole Le Douarin, Elaine Fuchs, Helen M. Blau

#### **Issues and Agenda**

1. Advances in stem cell biology and regenerative medicine are accelerating at a remarkable pace. These advances are exciting as they promise to significantly impact human health and welfare. Currently, although the average human lifespan is increasing, healthspan is not. People are living longer, but this increase is associated with chronic disabling disease. There is a great need for interventions that improve the quality of life. Regenerative medicine offers the potential to accelerate and augment repair of damaged tissues by tissue-specific stem cells. Great strides have also been made of late in the production of "organoids", mini-organs from pluripotent stem cells that may serve as a replacement of organs. These advances promise to alleviate much suffering throughout the world.

2. Overcoming the need to find organ donors, who are limited in number, could save many lives and overcome ethical concerns. Many individuals wait years for a suitable transplant donor for a kidney, liver or heart. In addition, obtaining organs from healthy volunteer donors can lead to exploitation. Therefore, the ability to generate organs to replace those that have failed due to illness, injury, or combat would constitute a major medical advance. 3. Another ethical concern is the prevalence of Stem Cell Clinics that are not validated and promise therapies that are not proven to be efficacious. A prime example are mesenchymal stem cells that can be isolated from adipose tissues and then injected into the joints, for example the knee or hip. To date the benefit of such interventions remains to be proven. Indeed, the expanding clinical impact of stem cell research has motivated charlatans to exploit the public's belief in the potential of stem cell research by selling fake stem cell therapies to desperate patients. Thousands of companies have sprung up around the world, marketing products whose safety and effectiveness have not been proven in clinical trials and that are often implausible based on our understanding of the biology of the conditions they are claimed to treat. A critical challenge for the field is to enforce regulations that prevent the marketing of unproven stem cell therapies that victimize vulnerable patients.

4. Stem cell therapies are currently very expensive and this presents an obstacle to their dissemination globally. A way to reduce their price and make them available to needy populations throughout the world is of prime importance. One approach is to identify drugs that stimulate the endogenous stem cells that reside in many of our tissues and augment their function in situ. The cost of such treatments should be considerably lower than cell and organ-based treatments that require sterile environments and complex culture.

5. A major case in point is the global need for hematopoietic stem cells which can reconstitute the entire circulation. Human transfusions are needed for treatment of hemorrhage or severe anemia, for example after an injury, accident, or battle. Blood is in short supply worldwide and is a major life saving intervention. While blood and bone marrow donations remain life-saving and common practices in medicine, the blood supply is finite and unpredictable, prone to shortages, and subject to contamination with pathogens. While blood group matching is essential, the heterogeneity of human blood antigens and the wide variation in blood cell numbers in different donors means blood products lack the reliability of pharmaceuticals. The development of facile ways to generate these stem cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells of particular immune phenotypes could revolutionize treatments requiring delivery of blood and save lives worldwide.

6. An ethical issue that may arise in the future is the potential to generate human embryos in tissue culture. 10% of couples are infertile and in many

countries there is a shortage of embryos generated by in vitro fertilization and sometimes via incubation by surrogate mothers. Scientists are making significant progress in generating human sperm and oocytes from induced pluripotent cells in tissue culture. This suggests the possibility of fertilization in vitro. In fact, human blastocysts, an early developmental stage post fertilization, have been successfully produced in culture. While there are major gaps in our knowledge of early human development, and crucial scientific insights into human development could be gained that could enhance in vitro fertilization protocols, ethical issues arise. First, the technology is not sufficiently advanced to ensure the development of viable human embryos. Action has been taken by the International Society for Stem Cell Research (ISSCR) Guidelines for Stem Cell Research and Clinical Translation which concluded that human stem cell-derived embryos should never be transferred into the uterus of an animal or human and that the time in culture should be restricted to that required to address the specific scientific questions under study. With an ever-evolving frontier of stem cell science, embryology and genome editing, the philosophical and moral standards of professional conduct will continue to change and guidelines are needed from learned organizations such as the ISSCR that distinguish the permissible from impermissible realms of early embryo and embryonic stem cell research.

7. There remains a pressing need for developing more effective screening strategies that predict the propagation of malignantly transformed cells derived from stem cell products. While advances in stem cell technology have spawned a plethora of early stage therapies, two separate reports of leukemia development in patients who received lentiviral stem cell gene therapy for sickle cell disease have provided a cautionary note for the regenerative medicine field.

8. The remarkable pace of stem cell biology applications in regenerative medicine is in great part due to the foundational research performed in many cell types and organisms over the past 20 years in laboratories across the world. We are beginning to reap benefits from this global scientific effort and technologies like stem cell transplantation, induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), and organoids are poised to usher in a new age in medicine. It is important to note that many themes of tissue homeostasis, and alterations in disease and age are shared among different tissue and organ types, and even across diverse species including model systems such as pla-

naria and axolotls. This includes an understanding of the interplay between epithelial cells, immune cells, mesenchymal supporting cells and the extracellular matrix they produce. Extracellular matrix is key in the regulation and emergence of transitional cellular states that may be "frozen" in disease conditions. To address future challenges, and make progress in curing the incurable, and developing yet unimagined new technologies, it is essential that robust investments continue to be made in foundational, curiosity-driven research: the source of all new technologies. Cross-species research highlights the importance of continued basic science experimentation.

9. Finally, interactions and conversations like those that took place inside the walls of the Vatican on May 5-6, 2022, are essential to further and enhance our understanding of stem cell biology and regenerative medicine and how it can benefit mankind.

# Advances that are revolutionizing Regenerative Medicine

#### Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell (iPSC) Technology

10. The discovery by Shinya Yamanaka of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) created an alternative to embryonic stem cells (ESC). Upon expressing four transcription factors, the skin or blood cells of any human being can be made into pluripotent cells that can be propagated indefinitely and that can be differentiated into essentially any given specialized cell type, as is true for ESC. For example, this technology is leading to the generation of retinal pigment epithelial cells as a treatment for age-related macular degeneration (AMD) that leads to blindness in a large proportion of aged individuals. IPSC are also being successfully differentiated to generate corneal epithelia cells to repair physical damage to the cornea, to restore the retinal pigment epithelium and counter retinal degeneration, to create dopaminergic neurons for the treatment of Parkinson's Disease, and as cancer immunotherapies.

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder and is associated with significant health and financial burdens. The key motor symptoms of PD are caused by the loss of dopamine neurons in the midbrain. A healthy individual has about 300,000-400,000 midbrain dopamine neurons and the loss of greater than 50% of those neurons is thought to trigger symptoms of Parkinson's disease. The rather discrete loss of dopamine neurons in a defined brain region makes PD an attractive target for regenerative medicine, as only a limited number of new neurons might suffice to significantly impact motor function in an individual patient. Preclinical experiments in rats and early clinical trials using iPSC and ESC derived dopaminergic neurons in multiple countries appear promising for treating PD. An advantage is that challenges of mismatch and rejection by the immune system may not be an issue since the brain is relatively immune privileged. Only transient immunosuppression may be required.

11. A major hurdle for therapies outside the brain is the immune system which rejects cells that are of foreign origin, i.e. not 'self'. The generation of patient-specific cells that are not rejected by the immune system is prohibitive in cost. Efforts to automate the production of iPSC will help to reduce costs. In addition, a major effort is being devoted to the development of universal donor cells that can be used to treat everyone, or at least subsets of individuals with similar immune phenotypes. To reduce the risk of transplant rejection, gene editing technology is being used to alter genes involved in immune recognition, in particular HLA haplotypes.

12. **Blood.** Induced pluripotent stem cells offer the prospect of an inexhaustible, predictable, antigenically defined and pathogen-free source of red blood cells and platelets with precise dose-response properties. Such cells might one day become an appealing alternative to blood donation. Challenges that remain include producing functional red cells, platelets, lymphocytes and hematopoietic stem cells that mimic their native counterparts. In addition, improvements in cell manufacturing are needed to reduce costs and enable commercial viability. Considerable progress has been made to date from laboratories around the globe which has led to clinical trials testing platelets derived from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) for patients at risk of bleeding, as well as studies that have demonstrated marked anti-cancer activity for patients treated with iPSC-derived natural killer (NK) cells. There is still a great need for advances to generate more developmentally mature and robust T and NK cells for use in adoptive immunotherapies.

#### Model organisms

13. Scientific advances have always benefitted from the study of model organisms. Salamanders (axolotls) show remarkable regeneration of complete body part including limb, tails, jaws, heart and spinal cord and therefore represent an important model for studying how organs can be regenerated, and what is missing or blocked in mammals, including humans. There is a cellular memory, or 'zipcode' that dictates which body part is efficaciously regenerated following amputation at different sites along the limb of the axolotl. This memory can be altered and expanded by interactions of specific cells that secrete particular protein molecules like sonic hedgehog and Fgf8. Another model organism, the planarian, a flatworm, is capable of remarkable regeneration and in fact has pluripotent stem cells that can rescue viability and regenerative capacity in animals devoid of stem cells. Once specialized, these cells remain stably differentiated, but this state is not terminal, as the cells are capable of plasticity and if transplanted into foreign sites, can induce regeneration of these cell types. The lessons learned about site specific molecular memory for regeneration and plasticity of highly specialized cells in these organisms are instructive to studies in mammals.

#### Tissue specific stem cells and the immune response

14. In skin. When the skin confronts pathogens, its stem cells record their experience within the chromatin of their nucleus. Like the axolotl limb, a molecular memory is retained long after the inflammation has subsided and the skin pathology has returned to normal. Moreover, upon exposure to a second inflammatory encounter, the inflammation-experienced stem cells recall this memory and respond faster and with heightened reactions relative to the first encounter. The mechanisms of how our cells harbor. retain and recall epigenetic memory of inflammation are being resolved at a molecular level. These findings not only impact our understanding of normal wound repairs but also explain why in inflammatory disorders such as psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, asthma and inflammatory bowel disease, episodic bouts of inflammation are often heightened in severity and occur in the same areas. They also explain how prior inflammatory experience can cause robust responses triggered by different pathogens and other stimuli that have not been encountered before. These insights into "epigenetic inflammatory memory" may inform therapeutic strategies to erase the bad memories and retain the good ones. Diet may be one, as high fat diets exacerbate inflammatory memory.

15. **Innate immunity.** There are parallels to be drawn between skin and the small intestine epithelium. Activation of a cellular circuit between epithelial tuft cells by parasite metabolites, a subset of tissue-innate immune cells and differentiating gut lining cells increases production of protective mucus that leads to greater gut motility, thus protecting the epithelium

from further injury. Knowledge of the products generated by these rare innate immune cells that are capable of altering stem cell generation in the intestine could lead to interventions that protect the intestinal barrier during inflammatory diseases. In addition, they could yield new approaches to cancers that result from progressive injury and host pathology.

**Inflammation.** Although transient inflammation is essential to wound repair, a chronic inflammatory state, a characteristic of many aged tissues, can impede tissue-specific stem cells. In the bone marrow, persistent inflammation leads to hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) depletion. This loss can be countered in the blood by Leptin Receptor-expressing stromal cells in the bone marrow, which constitute a source of adiponectin, an anti-inflammatory cytokine that promotes HSC quiescence and self-renewal. Adiponectin suppresses myeloid cell and T cell production of interferon gamma and tumor necrosis factor, which when chronically increased, persistently activate the HSCs, leading to their depletion. This discovery of adiponectin as a component of the niche that is key to HSC maintenance with aging suggests that similar molecules likely play a crucial role in protecting stem cells from inflammation due to pathogen infection or aging in other tissues.

#### **Miniature Organs: Organoids**

16. **Gut.** The inner lining of the gut is entirely replaced each week of our life. This happens through the activity of a large number of diminutive stem cells that hide at the bottoms of the crypts in the gut wall. Each day, these stem cells divide to create daughter cells which briefly divide, after which they mature to perform any of about 10 different tasks having to do with food digestion and uptake. After about a week they are extruded from the gut lining and die. Stem cell biologists showed how this vigorous stem cell-driven process can be recreated in a plastic dish: single stem cell – when given the appropriate growth factors – creates a mini-version of the gut or "organoid". Indeed, a large number of organs can now be grown as organoids for the repair of diseased organs by transplantation.

Organoids can also be grown from malignant tumors from cancer patients. This allows tailoring of cancer therapy to the individual patient, by testing multiple drugs on the cultured mini-tumors of that patient to find the best individualized therapy. Mini-lungs and gut organoids can also be used to study infectious diseases of human organs, such as COVID-19.

Organoid technology is not limited to mammalian species. The venom glands of poisonous snakes, responsible for 150,000 deaths worldwide each

year, can be grown indefinitely in the lab as snake venom gland organoids. This offers hope for the development of cheap and effective therapies for snake bites. Moreover, snake venom has already been used as a starting point for around a dozen effective heart-, brain- and diabetes medicines. Given that the world is home to more than 2,000 venomous snake species and that each snake produces around 20 different toxins in its venom, organoid technology may allow development of a large number of novel venom-based medicines.

17. Lung. Chronic and acute lung diseases are among the leading causes of morbidity worldwide. Organoids, tiny structures that can now be grown from stem cells in culture dishes that resemble the three key regions in the lung: the trachea (windpipe), bronchioles (airways), and the alveolar space (alveoli, where gas exchange occurs). These three-dimensional culture systems are able to mimic the lung niche and are advancing the understanding of how stem and progenitor cells regulate lung biology in development and in lung disease. For example, alveolar cell organoids can mimic tumor progression mediated by the oncogene Kras and recapitulate early-stage lung adenocarcinoma in patients. In aging, organoid cultures have uncovered mechanisms that entail changes in lysine methylation regulated by methyltransferases. Organoids offer hope as treatments for lung diseases in the future, depending on the injury and cell populations impacted. Alternatively, the cellular and molecular changes in lung disease that organoids allow us to understand may pave the way for treatments that involve small molecules or other biologics.

18. **Brain.** The human brain is unique in its size and complexity. It is made up of 87 billion neurons that need to be born at the right time and form the right connections in order to achieve the enormous intellectual abilities we have as human beings. This complexity comes at a price: Brain disorders are among the most frequent, most devastating and least curable diseases. Cerebral organoids, three-dimensional human cell cultures derived from iPS, can recapitulate the development of the human brain. By growing cerebral organoids from patients suffering from brain disorders, the cellular events leading to disease can be recapitulated, opening new avenues for prevention and reversion. Tuberous Sclerosis, a severe childhood abnormality caused by defects in the mTOR signaling pathway, provides an example. The disease is caused by a type of cell that is found in humans and does not exist in most animals like mice. Analyzing human
disease in organoid culture can lead to unexpected insights, to the discovery of events that occur only in humans and to the development of new therapeutic strategies targeting these human specific processes.

## Stem cells to treat disease states

19. Skeletal muscle and aging. Aging is thought to bring wisdom, but for many individuals, their later years are characterized by decline and discomfort as body systems slow and eventually fail. This is a problem that impacts billions of people around the world. Throughout history, people have sought means to reverse aging, or to maximize healthspan, time spent free from ailments. Humans over the age of 50 lose 10% of their muscle mass per decade. All forms of muscle injury, from exercise to severe trauma, generate an inflammatory response. A recent highly promising approach to building muscle and countering the debilitating loss of muscle that accompanies aging (sarcopenia), capitalizes on mechanisms associated with this natural wound healing. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), an inflammatory metabolite generated from membrane phospholipids, is required and sufficient for muscle stem cell proliferation, survival, expansion and engraftment into injured tissues. In addition, PGE2 rejuvenates aged muscle fiber function, leading to tissue remodeling and a dramatic increase in mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolic function. This potent dual function of PGE2 was most clearly shown when PGE2 levels in aged mice were restored to levels found in young mice by small molecule inhibition of the prostaglandin degrading enzyme, 15-PGDH. A remarkable 15% increase in muscle mass and strength was observed after one month of treatment. These findings suggest that inhibition of 15-PGDH, now termed a "gerozyme" with a critical role in determining levels of PGE2, may serve as a therapeutic strategy to counter the loss of muscle mass and strength that plagues the ever-increasing proportion of aged individuals.

20. **The heart.** Heart disease remains the number one non-infectious cause of death worldwide in adults and infants. Survivors with heart disease are often left with damaged hearts due to the inability of the mammalian heart to regenerate itself. As a result, over 25 million people globally suffer from heart failure due to the inability of the cardiovascular system to support the body's normal activities. In addition, valve disease and congenital malformations result from genetic defects in 1% of all live births, but the etiology remains unknown and disease modifying therapies are lacking. To date, no bona fide cardiac stem cells have been identified in the heart.

One promising approach is to reprogram endogenous scar forming fibroblastic cells in situ to become functioning cardiac cells. Given its efficacy in mice and pigs, clinical trials are on the horizon. In another approach, iPSC derived cells were generated from patients' cells that recapitulate features of aortic valve disease, including generation of osteoblast-like cells that lay down the calcium leading to stenosis. Using machine learning to screen drugs that shift the entire dysregulated gene network in this patient iPSC-derived disease model led to the identification of a drug that has been effective in preventing and treating the valve disease in a mouse model. These examples highlight the potency of using iPSC to model human genetic disease. Further, they underscore how understanding the mechanisms by which stem cell fate decisions are regulated can lead to drugs that induce regeneration, yielding novel treatments.

21. The skin. These stem cells are currently the poster child of regenerative medicine. One of the most severe and life hindering blistering skin diseases, Junctional Epidermolysis Bullosa (JEB), was successfully treated in 2017 by genetically correcting a small number of a patient's epidermal stem cells (holoclones) in the laboratory, so that they could express the laminin protein (LAMB3) missing in JEB. When engrafted onto the boy, these genetically corrected, self-renewing epidermal stem cells took over and began producing healthy skin. Normally any trauma to the skin of junctional epidermolysis bullosa patients leads to painful skin lesions. This boy, who had not been able to leave the hospital for years before his treatment, now plays soccer and continues a life not thought possible prior to regenerative medicine therapy. The genetically engineered laminin is expressed in the appropriate location in the basal lamina and well-defined, organized hemidesmosomes comparable to those of healthy controls are apparent, indicative of a fully restored epidermal-dermal junction. There are other types of epidermolysis bullosa which harbor mutations in other structural genes and affect different layers of the skin. Although the epidermis can be regenerated and repaired by CRISPR corrected gene edited epidermal cells, challenges remain for regenerating the dermis and restoring proteins such as collagen 7.

22. Leukemia. Lentiviral reporters of HSC function and robust humanized mouse model systems have enabled a direct assessment of human benign, pre-malignant and malignant HSC aging and highlighted vital differences between human and mouse biology. APOBEC3C, a DNA editing enzyme, if overexpressed, leads to myeloproliferative neoplasms. It also induces ADAR1 activation leading to RNA editing to evade tumor suppression as well as the innate immune system. Various isoforms of ADAR1 have been identified whose activation can be prevented by a splicing modulator, which shows promise as new anti-cancer therapeutic. Increasing our basic science understanding of stem cell biology and how pre-leukemia stem cells are generated from HSCs is informing novel strategies to surmount blood derived cancers.

## Looking to the Future: informational molecules and delivery systems for regenerative medicine

23. Micro and nano particles have been instrumental in the delivery of large molecules including DNA and RNA to the body. This technology has enabled therapies for cancer and heart disease, and most recently proven invaluable for mRNA vaccine delivery for the prevention of COVID-19. In combination with cells, tissues and organs such as blood vessels and skin have been engineered. As organs on a chip, such constructs could reduce animal and human testing of drugs. A recent application of this technology entails generation of hair cells from stem cells in quantity delivered to the ear with novel solvents to restore the loss of hearing, which plagues a large proportion of the aged population. In early clinical trials, some patients were able to hear for the first time in over 30 years even in a moderately noisy environment. The applications of novel bioengineering technologies to enhance organoid maturation and function and to facilitate stem cell delivery in situ will be far reaching and stand to revolutionize regenerative medicine.

## **List of Participants**

Joachim von Braun PAS President Marcelo Sánchez Sorondo PAS Chancellor

Helen M. Blau Stanford Hans Clevers Hubrecht Institute Netherlands George Daley Harvard Medical School Michele De Luca University of Modena and Reggio Emilia Modena Italy Elaine Fuchs Rockefeller University NYC PAS Academician **Catriona Jamieson** University of California San Diego Carla Kim Harvard Medical School Juergen Knoblich IMBA Vienna PAS Academician **Robert Langer** Massachusetts Institute of Technology **Richard Locksley** University of California San Francisco Sean Morrison University of Texas Southwestern Medical School Dallas Janet Rossant University of Toronto Alejandro Sánchez Alvarado Stowers Institute for Medical Research **Deepak Srivastava** Gladstone Institutes Lorenz P. Studer Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Institute NYC Masayo Takahashi Kobe City Eye Hospital Japan **Elly Tanaka** IMP Research Institute of Molecular Pathology Vienna Shinya Yamanaka Kyoto University PAS Academician